JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting

Impact Factor (2023): 2.1 Volume 2 (2019), Issue 1 ISSN 2561-6722 Editor in Chief: Sherif Badawy, MS, MD, MBA

Contents

Original Papers

RenderX

Feasibility and Acceptability of a Culturally Tailored Website to Increase Fruit and Vegetable Intake and Physical Activity Levels in African American Mother-Child Dyads: Observational Study (e12501)	
Alicia Chung, Barbara Wallace, Monica Stanton-Koko, Azizi Seixas, Girardin Jean-Louis.	. 3
Online Information About Periviable Birth: Quality Assessment (e12524)	
Adriane Haragan, Carly Zuwiala, Katherine Himes.	14
Gamifying Breastfeeding for Fathers: Process Evaluation of the Milk Man Mobile App (e12157)	
Becky White, Roslyn Giglia, James White, Satvinder Dhaliwal, Sharyn Burns, Jane Scott.	22
Advancing Optimal Development in Children: Examining the Construct Validity of a Parent Reflective Functioning Questionnaire (e11561)	
Monica De Roo, Gina Wong, Gwen Rempel, Shawn Fraser.	38
Use of Physical Activity Monitoring Devices by Families in Rural Communities: Qualitative Approach (e10658)	
Iryna Sharaievska, Rebecca Battista, Jennifer Zwetsloot.	50
A Personalized eHealth Transition Concept for Adolescents With Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Design of Intervention (e12258)	
Katrine Carlsen, Mette Hald, Marla Dubinsky, Laurie Keefer, Vibeke Wewer.	59
Qualitative and Quantitative Evaluation of the Make Safe Happen App: Mobile Technology–Based Safety Behavior Change Intervention for Parents (e12022)	
Kristin Roberts, Rebecca McAdams, Orie Kristel, Alison Szymanski, Lara McKenzie.	70
Determination of Personalized Asthma Triggers From Multimodal Sensing and a Mobile App: Observational Study (e14300)	
Revathy Venkataramanan, Krishnaprasad Thirunarayan, Utkarshani Jaimini, Dipesh Kadariya, Hong Yip, Maninder Kalra, Amit Sheth.	82
What Women With Disabilities Write in Personal Blogs About Pregnancy and Early Motherhood: Qualitative Analysis of Blogs (e12355)	
Michelle Litchman, MJ Tran, Susan Dearden, Jia-Wen Guo, Sara Simonsen, Lauren Clark.	94
Procedures to Select Digital Sensing Technologies for Passive Data Collection With Children and Their Caregivers: Qualitative Cultural Assessment in South Africa and Nepal (e12366)	
Brandon Kohrt, Sauharda Rai, Khanya Vilakazi, Kiran Thapa, Anvita Bhardwaj, Alastair van Heerden.	108

JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting 2019 | vol. 2 | iss. 1 | p.1

Features and Educational Content Related to Milk Production in Breastfeeding Apps: Content Analysis Informed by Social Cognitive Theory (e12364)	
Suhail Sidhu, Kaoer Ma, Anna Sadovnikova	130
Concerns of Female Adolescents About Menarche and First Sexual Intercourse: Mixed Methods Analysis of Social Media Questions (e13158)	
Nikkie Hodgson, Elad Yom-Tov, William Strong, Priscilla Flores, Giselle Ricoy.	143
Usability and Acceptability of a Text Message-Based Developmental Screening Tool for Young Children: Pilot Study (e10814)	
Pamela Johnson, Jessica Bushar, Margaret Dunkle, Sharon Leyden, Elizabeth Jordan.	151
A 12-Week Electronic Mentoring Employment Preparation Intervention for Youth With Physical Disabilities: Pilot Feasibility Randomized Controlled Trial (e12088)	
Sally Lindsay, Elaine Cagliostro, Joanne Leck, Jennifer Stinson.	163
A 4-Week Electronic-Mentoring Employment Intervention for Youth With Physical Disabilities: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial (e12653)	
Sally Lindsay, Elaine Cagliostro, Jennifer Stinson, Joanne Leck	176
Exploring Brazilian Immigrant Mothers' Beliefs, Attitudes, and Practices Related to Screen Time Behaviors of Their Preschool-Age Children (e11791)	
Ana Lindsay, Carlos Moura Arruda, Márcia Machado, Mary Greaney.	187
A Free Virtual Reality Experience to Prepare Pediatric Patients for Magnetic Resonance Imaging: Cross-Sectional Questionnaire Study (e11684)	
Jonathan Ashmore, Jerome Di Pietro, Kelly Williams, Euan Stokes, Anna Symons, Martina Smith, Louise Clegg, Cormac McGrath	198
Cyberbullying Among Adolescents: Stakeholder-Driven Concept Mapping Approach (e12683)	209
	208

Original Paper

Feasibility and Acceptability of a Culturally Tailored Website to Increase Fruit and Vegetable Intake and Physical Activity Levels in African American Mother-Child Dyads: Observational Study

Alicia Chung¹, EdD, MPH; Barbara Wallace², PhD; Monica Stanton-Koko³, EdD, MPH; Azizi Seixas¹, PhD; Girardin Jean-Louis¹, PhD

¹New York University School of Medicine, New York, NY, United States ²Teachers College, Columbia University, New York, NY, United States

³Mercy College, Dobbs Ferry, NY, United States

Corresponding Author:

Alicia Chung, EdD, MPH New York University School of Medicine 180 Madison Avenue New York, NY, 10016 United States Phone: 1 646 501 2608 Email: <u>alicia.chung@nyumc.org</u>

Abstract

Background: African American youth (aged 8-14 years) do not adhere to national dietary and physical activity guidelines. Nonadherence to these recommendations contributes to disproportionate rates of obesity compared with their white counterparts. Culturally tailored electronic health (eHealth) solutions are needed to communicate nutrition and physical activity messages that resonate with this target population.

Objective: This study aimed to identify the impact of exposure to a website hosting culturally tailored cartoons to inspire fruit and vegetable uptake and physical activity levels in African American mother-child dyads.

Methods: Statistical analysis included paired sample t tests to evaluate knowledge gains, self-efficacy, and readiness to change. Adapted items from Prochaska's Stages of Change toward the following 4 behaviors were assessed with pre- and posttest surveys: (1) fruit and vegetable selection on my plate, (2) meal preparation, (3) fruit and vegetable selection outside of home, and (4) physical activity. Open-ended comments on videos from mother-child dyads were used to determine user acceptance. Observations of repeated responses during content analysis informed coding and development of key themes.

Results: A final sample size of 93 mother-child dyads completed the study. Mothers reported significant improvement from precontemplation or contemplation stages to preparation or action stages for (1) fruit and vegetable selection on her plate (P=.03), (2) meal preparation for her family (P=.01), (3) fruit and vegetable selection outside the home (P<.001), and (4) physical activity (P<.001). Significant improvements were found in knowledge, stage of change, and self-efficacy for the 4 target behaviors of interest (P<.001). Children's open-ended commentary reported vicarious learning and positive character identification with brown-skinned cartoons exhibiting healthful food and exercise behaviors. Mothers commented on the lack of accessible produce in their neighborhoods not depicted in the cartoon videos.

Conclusions: Culturally adapted cartoons that incorporate tailored preferences by African American families, such as race or demography, may help increase adherence to target health behaviors when developing eHealth behavior solutions.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12501) doi:10.2196/12501

KEYWORDS

childhood obesity; eHealth; social justice



Introduction

Background

Compared with their white counterparts (14%), African American (22%) children and adolescents are disproportionately affected by childhood obesity [1]. Poor adherence to the US Dietary Guidelines and physical activity recommendations has been consistently found to be major risk factors for obesity among minority youth, particularly among adolescents aged 12 to 19 years [2-5]. In a nationally representative sample of children and adolescents, black adolescents were the least likely to adhere to daily dietary targets of 5 or more servings of fruits and vegetables and more than 1 hour of physical activity. Nearly none (3%) of the children adhered to dietary fruit and vegetable targets, whereas 71% met physical activity goals [5]. Given the low adherence to dietary guidelines compared with physical activity, this study focused on 3 of the 4 target behaviors around healthy eating behaviors in African American youth.

Nonadherence to dietary recommendations can be attributed to a lack of tailored interventions that address the contextual, structural, and family environments that influence food choices. Inclusion of the family, especially the mother who generally makes food purchasing decisions for the family, serve as a crucial area to intervene to address food choice (proximally) and obesity (distally). Customized framing of dietary messages for mother and child aims to tailor messages that match the receivers' race, culture, ethnicity, demography, socioeconomics, or other preferences [6]. Tailored messages aim to ensure they are well received and accepted by the end user.

Programs that address multiple levels of the socioecological model have led to the successful engagement of minority communities [7]. This framework can be accounted for the personalization of tailored messaging to black mothers and their children. The levels of the socioecological model include intrapersonal (knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs), interpersonal (family and friends), environmental (physical structures in urban design), community (neighborhood access and safety), and policy levels (federal programs that affect food price, access, and quality). At the environmental level, structural factors such as limited access to healthy foods in one's neighborhood (ie, food desserts for healthy foods or food swamps of fast-food chains) presents the need for novel yet sustainable solutions to increase healthier food choice (proximal outcomes) and in turn reduce the high prevalence of obesity among African American adolescents (distal outcomes) [8]. At the interpersonal level, family influence plays an instrumental role in food choices and eating behaviors. Intrapersonal factors are influenced by education as well as messaging in one's surrounding environment. Thus, family-based interventions targeting both mother and child are needed to influence multiple levels of the family structure to reinforce messaging of key health behaviors.

Healthy People 2020 health communication and health information technology objectives aim to increase the proportion of social marketing in health promotion and health literacy communications available through media technology [9]. Nearly 75% of African American adults own a mobile phone device [10], serving as an opportune channel for disseminating health

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12501/
```

messages. Culturally tailored dietary education provided via digital media to mothers can effect wholesale change in a family's eating habits and food choice [11]. Tailored digital solutions may lead to the adoption of obesity prevention behaviors in African American children and parents [12,13].

Objective

We argue that to optimize uptake and adherence to culturally tailored electronic health (eHealth) nutrition and physical activity messaging interventions among black youth, it is critical to embed family-based food preferences and their contextual landscape that may spur self-referential thinking that resonates with the viewer. Incorporating these preferences is crucial to ensure receptiveness and behavior change [14]. Prior websites and gaming interventions have increased 100% fruit juice intake, vegetable consumption, and physical activity patterns and reduced body weight in African American youth [15-17]. Behavioral interventions targeting the African American mother and child as a family unit have not yet been explored.

This study aimed to assess the feasibility and acceptability of a culturally tailored website hosting cartoons to increase willingness to increase fruit and vegetable selection and physical activity among African American mother-child dyads.

Methods

Procedures

This study employed an observational study design. The Web-based trial began with the website storyboard, an outline of the digital story elements in a website [18]. Cartoons were created using the GoAnimate platform. Character dialogue in the scripts, developed and edited by health educators and mothers, ensure preferences of website content. Storytelling narrative via cartoon storyboards may be effective for influencing diet and physical activity change in minority youth [15-17]. Culturally appropriate cartoons, where health behaviors are modeled in a virtual representation of the viewer's self, employ role modeling constructs from Bandura's Social Cognitive Theory, which has led to successful behavior change in at-risk populations [19]. This theory served as the theoretical underpinning of this study and evidence-based approach for adherence of the target behaviors.

Final videos were uploaded from GoAnimate to YouTube and then onto the intervention website. The study setting was a website portal that included an embedded link to the study survey. Subjects were able to move freely from the study survey to the new website portal (for exploring the website and watching the 9 videos) and back to the survey to answer final questions.

Website

The website portal included an open-access website with dietary information and pictures following the US Department of Agriculture's MyPlate guideline introduced under the former First Lady, Michelle Obama. Moreover, 2-min cartoon videos on the following 4 target behaviors were included: (1) food choices for their plate, (2) meal preparation, (3) food choices when outside of the home, and (4) physical activity. Cartoons

XSL•FO RenderX

were depicted in the grocery store, school, home, and playground (see Multimedia Appendix 1 for a screenshot of one of the cartoons). Storylines were told from the mother's, child's, and teacher's perspective. Scripts were developed by health educators and finalized by the principal investigator.

Participants

Eligibility criteria included being female, aged 25 years or older, having at least a high school education, being the mother of a child between the ages of 8 to 14 years, and identified as African American. One child per mother was permitted. Participants were recruited via Web-based social media such as Facebook, electronic mail distribution lists, and Web-based Mommy blogger groups. The sampling frame included African American mothers with children in the United States. Flyers were posted at faith-based organizations and community centers throughout the New York City area. Participants were compensated with an opportunity to win a US \$300 prize, US \$200 prize, or US \$100 Amazon gift card lottery prize. All study activities were approved by the Teachers College Institutional Review Board in 2012. Data collection was conducted from January to April 2013.

Measures

Research measures and instruments included an open electronic survey questionnaire via Qualtrics. The internal consistency of survey items for mothers' global stage of change, knowledge, self-efficacy, and evaluation of website for the 4 behaviors before and after watching the 9 2-min cartoon-like videos was .951 (Cronbach alpha), and .898 (Cronbach alpha), respectively. Items were not randomized or alternated. Study participants created an alphanumeric unique identifier when beginning the pre- and posttest surveys. The survey was displayed on 10 screen pages, with 10 items displayed per page. Adaptive questioning was used with conditional response options for certain demographic and personal health background questions to reduce the number of questions asked, preserving only relevant question items. Respondents were able to review responses with a back button and review survey completion progress with a status bar. Nonresponse options were included, and all survey quantitative items were set to force-response settings. Qualitative feedback was obtained from open field response options.

Mothers viewed the website and watched the cartoons with their child. Quantitative questions asked self-assessed knowledge, self-efficacy, and stage of change in executing the target behaviors. Mothers reported their child's rating of the videos for motivating their personal behavior change with open-ended question responses. The purposive sample completed the survey on a voluntary and confidential basis (ie, indicating having read the informed consent for parents, including an electronic assent form for minors, as well as electronic participants' rights) as anonymous participants. The study measure required approximately 45 to 55 min for successful completion, including 15 to 20 min to complete pre- and posttest surveys. Data storage location, time length, and name of the primary investigator were clearly visible on the study eligibility, informed consent, and study website.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics of mothers' income, age, education, marital status, child age, gender, school enrollment, and self-reported health status for herself and her child was reported. A mixed-methods analysis was conducted. Statistical analysis included paired sample *t* tests, independent *t* tests, and backward stepwise regression to evaluate knowledge gains and self-efficacy. Pretest and posttest questions, adapted from Prochaska's Stages of Change Theory, aimed to determine how likely participants may be ready to perform and adhere to the following 4 target behaviors after viewing the website: (1) fruit and vegetable selection outside of home, and (4) physical activity. Backward stepwise regression analysis was conducted to determine the best predictor of a high score for the website. Incomplete data were dropped from the final dataset.

Open-Ended Feedback on Mothers' and Childs' Preferences for Video Improvements

Open-ended feedback captured comments on video quality and recommendations for improvement. Participants were asked to rate website and video quality based on aesthetics, literacy level, content, and recommendations for improvement. Mothers recorded their child's feedback on the videos and preferences for improvement. Finally, observations of repeated responses during content analysis informed coding and development of key themes. Thematic categories were developed based on commonalities in responses by mother and child, corresponding to their respective questions. Debriefing questions, categories, emergent themes, and direct quotes were used to develop tables in the Results section.

Results

Participant Description

A total of 641 African American mothers older than 25 years with children between the ages of 8 and 14 years began the Web-based study. The final sample included 93 mother-child dyads, indicating a 14.5% (93/641) response rate for those dyads that met the study criteria and successfully completed the study questionnaires (N=93). In this study, successful completion was defined by at least 100% completion of the survey responses. Internet protocol addresses were checked to identify potential duplicate entries. Of the 93 mother and child dyads that completed the study, 65% (60/93) were single mothers and reported an annual income between US \$20,000 and US \$60,000. Mothers were on average aged 38 years. Of the 93 children, 54% (50/93) were female and aged 10 years on average. A total of 69% (64/93) of children attended public school. After watching the study videos, a significant portion of the sample moved from their baseline readiness to change status to preparation, action, or maintenance stage for the target health behaviors. Qualitative questions assessed website acceptance and user preferences for improvement.

Statistical Analysis

A total of 15 paired sample t tests indicated significant improvement across 13 areas at the Bonferroni adjustment significance (0.05/15; P<.001; see Table 1). In the backward

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12501/
```

stepwise regressions, predictor variables that reported nonsignificant outcomes were removed from the model in a stepwise manner until a model with all significant predictors at P<.05 was obtained. Mothers who reported their children to be both overweight (beta=.109; P<.001) and underweight (beta=.881; P=.02) were predictors for higher overall ratings of the website. In addition, mothers with a lower educational level (beta=-.13; P=.05) or currently enrolled in school (beta=.589; P<.001), serving as a proxy for family socioeconomic status level, were at the significance level for being a predictor for a high global rating of the cartoons.

The results of Table 1 indicate significant improvements in mothers' level of knowledge, self-efficacy, and global stage of change scores for each of the 4 target behaviors (P<.001) reported. Average stage of change results was scored on a 1 to 5 scale, corresponding to precontemplation, contemplation, preparation, action, and maintenance. Mothers reported significant improvement from precontemplation or contemplation to preparation or action for eating outside of the home and physical activity.

Children's Feedback and Preferences for Video Improvements

Mothers' recordings of children's feedback were quantified based on thematic categories to children's open-ended responses. Participants were allowed to skip questions. Of the 93 children, 64% (60/93) positively viewed the cartoons and would recommend them. A total of 33% (30/93) children reported they learned about eating fruits and vegetables at home and away from home. In addition, 15% (14/93) found the videos on exercising educational, 9% (8/93) learned about cooking at home with mom, and 7% (7/93) wanted more examples on food choice selection. Overall, 10% (9/93) found the content boring, and 35% (33 of 93) thought the animation could be improved. Direct quotes from participants were categorized based on emergent themes (see Table 2).

Moreover, 64 out of 80 (80%) children reported that they would recommend the videos to other mothers and their children. Completion of open-ended questions was not required, and the respective n values are reflected as such. Children's reasons for not recommending the videos are listed in Table 3.

Table 1. Paired sample *t* tests stage of change, knowledge, and self-efficacy for mothers' pre- and postevaluation of the electronic health cartoon videos (N=93). Bonferroni adjustment significance (0.05/15; P=.003). All *P* values above .003 are considered nonsignificant and only those below .003 are considered statistically significant.

Paired sample <i>t</i> tests stage of change, knowledge, and	Stages of change, mean (SD)	t test	
self-efficacy for mothers		t value (df)	P value
Pair 1 ^a			
Prevideos	3.59 (1.25)	-2.15 (92)	.03
Postvideos	3.74 (1.97)	-2.15 (92)	.03
Pair 2 ^b			
Prevideos	4.22 (0.82)	-7.99 (92)	<.001
Postvideos	5.08 (1.22)	-7.99 (92)	<.001
Pair 3 ^c			
Prevideos	4.39 (1.22)	-10.17 (92)	<.001
Postvideos	5.38 (.77)	-10.17 (92)	<.001
Pair 4 ^d			
Prevideos	3.65 (1.28)	-2.643 (92)	.01
Postvideos	3.85 (1.10)	-2.643 (92)	.01
Pair 5 ^e			
Prevideos	4.37 (.11)	-8.16 (92)	<.001
Postvideos	5.18 (.79)	-8.16 (92)	<.001
Pair6 ^f			
Prevideos	4.43 (1.25)	-9.31 (92)	<.001
Postvideos	5.35 (.78)	-9.31 (92)	<.001
Pair 7 ^g			
Prevideos	3.00 (1.47)	-5.82 (92)	<.001
Postvideos	3.48 (1.07)	-5.82 (92)	<.001
Pair 8 ^h			
Prevideos	3.94 (1.40)	-9.36 (92)	<.001
Postvideos	5.06 (.79)	-9.36 (92)	<.001
Pair 9 ⁱ			
Prevideos	4.13 (.80)	-9.73 (92)	<.001
Postvideos	5.20 (1.30)	-9.73 (92)	<.001
Pair 10 ^j			
Prevideos	3.34 (1.30)	-5.69 (92)	<.001
Postvideos	3.70 (1.03)	-5.69 (92)	<.001
Pair 11 ^k			
Prevideos	4.52 (1.28)	-6.66 (92)	<.001
Postvideos	5.23 (.84)	-6.66 (92)	<.001
Pair 12 ^l			
Prevideos	4.38 (1.29)	-8.07 (92)	<.001
Postvideos	5.24 (.79)	-8.07 (92)	<.001

Pair 13^m

XSL•FO RenderX

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12501/

Paired sample <i>t</i> tests stage of change, knowledge, and self-efficacy for mothers		Stages of change, mean (SD)	t test	
			t value (df)	P value
	Prevideos	3.40 (1.10)	-6.02 (92)	<.001
	Postvideos	3.69 (.93)	-6.02 (92)	<.001
Pa	ir 14 ⁿ			
	Prevideos	4.23 (1.01)	-9.56 (92)	<.001
	Postvideos	5.32 (.65)	-9.56 (92)	<.001
Pa	ir 15 ⁰			
	Prevideos	4.33 (1.13)	-10.556 (92)	<.001
	Postvideos	5.30 (.66)	-10.556 (92)	<.001

^aPair 1: Mother's stage of change for fruits and vegetables selection on her plate.

^bPair 2: Mother's knowledge for fruits and vegetables selection on her plate.

^cPair 3: Mother's self-efficacy for fruit and vegetable selection on her plate.

^dPair 4: Mother's stage of change for selecting more fruits and vegetables when preparing family meals.

^ePair 5: Mother's knowledge for selecting more fruits and vegetables when preparing meals.

^fPair 6: Mother's self-efficacy for selecting more fruits and vegetables when preparing family meals.

^gPair 7: Mother's stage of change for selecting more fruits and vegetables outside of the home.

^hPair 8: Mother's level of knowledge for selecting more fruits and vegetables outside of the home.

ⁱPair 9: Mother's self-efficacy for selecting more fruits and vegetables outside of the home.

^jPair 10: Mother's stage of change for engaging in physical activity.

^kPair 11: Mother's level of knowledge for engaging in physical activity.

¹Pair 12: Mother's self-efficacy for engaging in physical activity.

^mPair 13: Global stage of change score.

ⁿPair 14: Global knowledge score.

^oPair 15: Global self-efficacy score.

Table 2. Children's reasons for recommending cartoon videos.

Emergent themes	Direct quotes
Dietary knowledge gains	"They're funny and help you learn more about what to eat if you want to eat healthy and stay healthy."
Dietary knowledge gains	"Because people need to eat better and I think that this is a good way to help people see that it is good to eat fruit and veggies."
Vicarious learning via character identification	"The people are brown skinned like me."
Vicarious learning via character identification	"Because they are cartoons and kids can relate to them and it might get the point across about healthy eating."
Vicarious learning via character identification	"Because some of my friends are fat and they have big bellies."
Influential for both mother and child	"Because some moms do not want their children to have diabetes."

Table 3. Children's reasons	for not recommend	ling videos.
-----------------------------	-------------------	--------------

Emergent themes	Direct quotes
Vicarious learning via an urban environment	"Maybe if the videos talked about why neighborhoods don't have certain foods. We live in Queens and can go to Fairway, Stop n Shop and Trader Joe's and even Whole Foods. My friends who live in the school's neighborhood can't."
Vicarious learning via an urban environment	"Just make it more compatible to an urban child's experience in day to day life situations."
Vicarious learning via character identification	"Better cartoon people and talk about how we kids may overeat when being bullied."
Animation quality and graphic design	"Add arms, legs, and necks to the characters, make the voices match the characters, find different ways to show excitement."

XSL•FO RenderX

Mothers' responses were analyzed for emergent themes, and direct quotes are provided—as shown in Table 4. Of the 93 mothers, 68 (73%) found the cartoons to be a good educational resource worth recommending to their peers, thereby diffusing the innovation. Moreover, 37% (34/93) mothers stated the

cartoons were educational about eating at home, eating away from home, and cooking with their child. Furthermore, 23% (21/93) mothers said they learned about exercising. A total of 26% (24/93) women commented that the website could have been improved with better graphics and animation. Finally, 16% (15/93) mothers commented that more activities should be included to make the website longer.

 Table 4. Mothers' reasons for recommending the website.

Emergent themes	Selected direct quotes
Dialogue via mother and child	"Helps start conversation about nutrition and exercise with children."
Dialogue via mother and child	"Because watching these videos with my child caused an instant change in my families' eating habit, but also more importantly in some way created an instant bond that we didn't know we lacked! We'll be preparing meals together more frequently and sharing lots of other parent/child activities!"
Dietary knowledge gains	"The website is very informative, I think there is a lot of information to be found on this website on creating healthy choices."
Diffusion of innovation	"I would recommend it because I believe there are many moms that may not know the various food groups and how to provide proper nutrition."

Discussion

Principal Findings

Our findings indicate that culturally adapted nutrition and physical activity messages can inspire African American mother-child dyads' readiness to adhere to national dietary and physical activity guidelines. This study aligns with previous research indicating that digital cartoon animation storytelling motivated mothers and children toward dietary and physical activity improvements [15-17,19-21]. Our eHealth intervention extends beyond prior interventions targeting only children and adolescents by incorporating the mother, thereby influencing the larger family unit. Our study was effective in increasing knowledge and self-efficacy in both mother and child. Both mother and child moved across the Stage of Change continuum from not thinking about or considering diet and physical activity improvements (precontemplation or preparation) to considering and carrying out diet and physical activity improvements (preparation or action or maintenance). Given that African American participation in eHealth interventions is low [22], culturally adapted animation may have helped with participation rates.

Mothers' Preferences for Culturally Tailored Animation

Our findings reinforce the importance of including mothers in Web-based behavior change interventions because they typically influence the food choice decisions for their families [23,24]. Children's food preferences into adolescence may be shaped by the foods they are exposed to early in life [25], which may be predisposed by mothers' own food preferences. Parental role modeling of food intake has also been shown to influence children's engagement in physical activity and food choices [26-28], which are adjunctive strategies in obesity prevention and management. Dwyer et al found a positive correlation between parent-adolescent dyad autonomous motivation and fruit and vegetable intake [29]. Similarly, Vepsäläinen et al reported that mother-child dietary patterns were stronger than father-child dietary patterns as a significant predictor for the child's food intake [30]. Targeting the family environment is crucial in inducing adherence to healthy dietary patterns among children and their families [31].

Comparisons With Prior Work

Prior interventions involving African American parent-child dyads related to healthy eating and physical activity were found in within-person interventions. The FIT Families trial in Michigan conducted from 2011 to 2013 [32] examined satisfaction and content acceptance of a 6-month family-based weight loss intervention. Semi-structured interviews with 136 African American adolescents (median age: 14 years) and caregivers of which 89.7% (122/136) were mothers reported that program components (parent involvement and weight loss counseling) and content (cognitive behavioral skills training, motivational interviewing, and contingency management) were helpful and acceptable. Identified areas of improvement included a need for more engaging skills-based learning, inclusion of exercise sessions, and the need for personalized tailoring to meet adolescent and caregiver interest. Parenting support, active learning, and individualized personalization were positive attributes of the intervention. Personalized tailoring of educational content was consistent feedback among our participants, reinforcing the significance of incorporating features that address interests and issues germane to the target population.

Berry et al evaluated the efficacy of a 5-year cluster-randomized controlled trial in North Carolina on diet and exercise education with coping skills training in elementary school children and their parents [33]. A total of 63.5% (117/184) of participant families were African American, 54.8% (101/184) of whom were mothers. The intervention included an hour of nutrition and exercise coping skills training and 45 min of exercise once a week for 12 weeks. Researchers aimed to examine changes in adiposity, weight, health behaviors, and self-efficacy in children and parents (n=184) in an 18-month program.

XSL•FO RenderX

Intervention group parents reported positive correlations between parent and child waist circumference (r=.409; P<.001), triceps (r=.332; P<.001), and subscapular (r=.292; P<.001) skinfolds compared with controls but failed to find significant correlations in nutrition and exercise self-efficacy and knowledge or change in children's and parents' body mass index. Changes in parent-child body weight could be attributed to the consistent physical activity component. Our study effectively increased knowledge and self-confidence to carry out diet and behavior change but does not measure any actual changes in body weight or actual food intake, indicating that an in-person component may help lead to participant weight loss.

Mothers' open-ended responses regarding video improvements included the preference for the cartoons to better depict food desserts. African American neighborhoods experience the highest rates of unhealthy food environments compared with whites and proportionally the highest rates of obesity and diabetes [34,35]. Character dialogue and backgrounds that illustrate limited access to healthy foods in their neighborhood environment would better reflect the experience of mothers when making food purchasing decisions and proffer possible solutions to overcome this challenge.

Children's Preferences for Culturally Tailored Animation

Cartoons are an effective tool for improving children's adherence to specific health behaviors [36]. Culturally tailored cartoons allowed for positive character identification and vicarious learning for African American children. Open-ended comments from children stating that they liked the videos "because they have brown skin like me," reflects a positive connection and identification with the characters viewed.

Vicarious learning through brown-skinned characters allows for positive reinforcement of healthful behaviors that is particularly important for African American children to be exposed to and identify with. Viewing brown-skinned cartoon characters is important for instilling self-esteem in children as part of their socioemotional development [37,38]. Evidence suggests children least prefer the color black with a positive happy emotion [39]. Instilling self-confidence in African American youth through vicarious learning could increase self-efficacy toward consuming a more healthful diet.

Limitations

Stages of Change pre- and posttest surveys assessed readiness toward the target behaviors but not actual consumption. Furthermore, child responses may have reflected the mother's interpretation as mothers served as a proxy respondent for their children. The study did not include other caregivers, such as grandmothers, who may also make food purchasing decisions and cook meals in the home. The study design assumes target participants have internet access. Moreover, 13% of African Americans do not use the internet [40]. Health literacy [41], internet self-efficacy [42], and parental consent form literacy [43] may have been enrollment barriers. Technological limitations hampered recommending the videos to others. Internet privacy is also a concern, given the degree of mistrust in the black community with the health care system [44].

Low sample size may have affected statistical power during study analysis. Response, social desirability, and selection bias may have been introduced. Methodological improvements could have addressed survey measures that were based on an adapted survey tool. Survey items should be validated for future use. External validity of this study may only apply to the target population.

Future Directions

Future research should evaluate the role of culturally tailoring as a mediator to influence behavioral outcomes. Explaining how cultural adaptations influence outcomes is critical to understanding their significance [45] and identifying preferable mechanisms for reaching this hard-to-reach population. Animation and content features preferred by this population could be important for future research.

Animation design improvements are needed in the next steps, especially for improving computerized cartoon voices that were a prominent concern in children's feedback. Privacy concerns and internet access may be areas to address when developing eHealth solutions targeting the African American community [10]. Future study design improvements could include interactive methods to increase engagement, such as photo uploads of before and after pictures of meals consumed and regularly updated website content.

Conclusions

This study demonstrated that culturally adapted cartoons may be an effective educational tool to inspire healthy behaviors in African American mother-child dyads. Future directions should incorporate key findings from this study for animation design to better reflect the preferences by the target population. Food justice issues commonly experienced in African American communities should be depicted graphically and reflected in character dialogue. Technological advances in mobile apps could draw upon these findings to develop solutions with preferred features by this target population to address their health needs. Self-monitoring tools with goal-setting attributes that have reported successful behavior change may also be considered, including the mother for collective participation and objective measurement.

Acknowledgments

AC was supported by funding from the National Institutes of Health (T32HL129953).



Authors' Contributions

AC and BW conceived the study concept and design. MS-K conducted the qualitative analysis. AS contributed to the Introduction and Discussion. GJ-L contributed to editing the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Screenshot of mother and children meal planning in grocery store. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 570KB - pediatrics_v2i1e12501_app1.pdf]

References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Prevalence of Childhood Obesity URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/</u> <u>childhood.html</u>
- Banfield EC, Liu Y, Davis JS, Chang S, Frazier-Wood AC. Poor adherence to US dietary guidelines for children and adolescents in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey population. J Acad Nutr Diet 2016 Jan;116(1):21-27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2015.08.010] [Medline: 26391469]
- 3. Gu X, Tucker K. Dietary intakes of the US child and adolescent population and their adherence to the current dietary guidelines: trends from 1999 to 2012. FASEB J 2017 Apr 01;31(1):1530-6860. [doi: 10.1096/fasebj.31.1_supplement.29.1]
- 4. Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Lawman HG, Fryar CD, Kruszon-Moran D, Kit BK, et al. Trends in obesity prevalence among children and adolescents in the United States, 1988-1994 through 2013-2014. J Am Med Assoc 2016 Jun 07;315(21):2292-2299. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.6361] [Medline: 27272581]
- Haughton CF, Wang ML, Lemon SC. Racial/ethnic disparities in meeting 5-2-1-0 recommendations among children and adolescents in the United States. J Pediatr 2016 Dec;175:188-194.e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.03.055] [Medline: 27112040]
- 6. Noar S, Harrington N. Tailored communications for health-related decision-making behavior change. In: Handbook of Health Decision Science. New York, NY: Springer; 2016:251-263.
- 7. McElfish P, Post J, Rowland B. A social ecological and community-engaged perspective for addressing health disparities among Marshallese in Arkansas. Int J Nurs Clin Pract 2016 Jul 30;3(1):3. [doi: <u>10.15344/2394-4978/2016/191</u>]
- 8. Cho D, Kim S. Interplay between self-efficacy and perceived availability at home and in the school neighborhood on adolescents' fruit and vegetable intake and energy-dense, low-nutrient food and sugary drink consumption. J Nutr Educ Behav 2018 Oct;50(9):856-867. [doi: 10.1016/j.jneb.2018.06.010] [Medline: 30146454]
- 9. Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. Health Communication and Health Information Technology URL: http://tinyurl.com/y75rpv44
- 10. Pew Research Center. 2018. Mobile Fact Sheet URL: http://www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheet/mobile/
- James DC, Harville C, Whitehead N, Stellefson M, Dodani S, Sears C. Willingness of African American women to participate in e-Health/m-Health research. Telemed J E Health 2016 Mar;22(3):191-197. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2015.0071</u>] [Medline: <u>26313323</u>]
- 12. Callender C, Thompson D. Text messaging based obesity prevention program for parents of pre-adolescent african american girls. Children (Basel) 2017 Dec 04;4(12) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/children4120105] [Medline: 29207536]
- Loh IH, Schwendler T, Trude AC, Anderson SE, Cheskin LJ, Lange S, et al. Implementation of text-messaging and social media strategies in a multilevel childhood obesity prevention intervention: process evaluation results. Inquiry 2018;55:46958018779189 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0046958018779189] [Medline: 29865969]
- 14. Burton WM, White AN, Knowlden AP. A systematic review of culturally tailored obesity interventions among African American adults. Am J Health Educ 2017 Apr 12;48(3):185-197. [doi: <u>10.1080/19325037.2017.1292876</u>]
- 15. Thompson D, Baranowski T, Cullen K, Watson K, Canada A, Bhatt R, et al. Food, fun and fitness internet program for girls: influencing log-on rate. Health Educ Res 2008 Apr;23(2):228-237. [doi: 10.1093/her/cym020] [Medline: 17595175]
- 16. Baranowski T, Buday R, Thompson DI, Baranowski J. Playing for real: video games and stories for health-related behavior change. Am J Prev Med 2008 Jan;34(1):74-82 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2007.09.027] [Medline: 18083454]
- Thompson D, Baranowski T, Cullen K, Watson K, Liu Y, Canada A, et al. Food, fun, and fitness internet program for girls: pilot evaluation of an e-Health youth obesity prevention program examining predictors of obesity. Prev Med 2008 Nov;47(5):494-497. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.07.014] [Medline: 18718846]
- University of Houston. Create Storyboards URL: <u>http://digitalstorytelling.coe.uh.edu/page.cfm?id=23&cid=23&sublinkid=37</u> [WebCite Cache ID 72lyBZaNy]
- LeRouge C, Dickhut K, Lisetti C, Sangameswaran S, Malasanos T. Engaging adolescents in a computer-based weight management program: avatars and virtual coaches could help. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2016 Jan;23(1):19-28. [doi: <u>10.1093/jamia/ocv078</u>] [Medline: <u>26159466</u>]

- 20. Lu AS, Baranowski T, Hong SL, Buday R, Thompson D, Beltran A, et al. The narrative impact of active video games on physical activity among children: a feasibility study. J Med Internet Res 2016 Oct 14;18(10):e272 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6538] [Medline: 27742605]
- Ugalde M, Brand L, Beltran A, Dadabhoy H, Chen T, O'Connor TM, et al. Mommio's recipe box: assessment of the cooking habits of mothers of preschoolers and their perceptions of recipes for a video game. JMIR Serious Games 2017 Oct 17;5(4):e20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/games.8142] [Medline: 29042344]
- 22. James DC, Harville C, Sears C, Efunbumi O, Bondoc I. Participation of African Americans in e-Health and m-Health studies: a systematic review. Telemed J E Health 2017 May;23(5):351-364. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2016.0067] [Medline: 27792475]
- 23. Brand L, Beltran A, Buday R, Hughes S, O'Connor T, Baranowski J, et al. Training vegetable parenting practices through a mobile game: iterative qualitative alpha test. JMIR Serious Games 2015;3(2):e6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/games.4081] [Medline: 26208899]
- 24. DeJesus JM, Gelman SA, Viechnicki GB, Appugliese DP, Miller AL, Rosenblum KL, et al. An investigation of maternal food intake and maternal food talk as predictors of child food intake. Appetite 2018 Aug 01;127:356-363. [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2018.04.018] [Medline: 29758271]
- 25. De Cosmi V, Scaglioni S, Agostoni C. Early taste experiences and later food choices. Nutrients 2017 Feb 04;9(2) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu9020107] [Medline: 28165384]
- Ickes S, Mahoney E, Roberts A, Dolan C. Parental involvement in a school-based child physical activity and nutrition program in Southeastern United States: a qualitative analysis of parenting capacities. Health Promot Pract 2016 Mar;17(2):285-296. [doi: 10.1177/1524839915616363] [Medline: 26785998]
- 27. Scaglioni S, De Cosmi V, Ciappolino V, Parazzini F, Brambilla P, Agostoni C. Factors influencing children's eating behaviours. Nutrients 2018 May 31;10(6) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu10060706] [Medline: 29857549]
- 28. Vaughn AE, Martin CL, Ward DS. What matters most-what parents model or what parents eat? Appetite 2018 Jul 01;126:102-107. [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2018.03.025] [Medline: 29604319]
- 29. Dwyer LA, Bolger N, Laurenceau J, Patrick H, Oh AY, Nebeling LC, et al. Autonomous motivation and fruit/vegetable intake in parent-adolescent dyads. Am J Prev Med 2017 Jun;52(6):863-871 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2017.01.011] [Medline: 28526363]
- Vepsäläinen H, Nevalainen J, Fogelholm M, Korkalo L, Roos E, Ray C, DAGIS consortium group. Like parent, like child? Dietary resemblance in families. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2018 Dec 03;15(1):62 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-018-0693-1] [Medline: 29970093]
- Suggs LS, Della BS, Rangelov N, Marques-Vidal P. Is it better at home with my family? The effects of people and place on children's eating behavior. Appetite 2018 Feb 01;121:111-118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2017.11.002] [Medline: 29122583]
- 32. Campbell-Voytal K, Hartlieb KB, Cunningham PB, Jacques-Tiura AJ, Ellis DA, Jen KL, et al. Evaluation of an evidence-based weight loss trial for urban African American adolescents and caregivers. J Nutr Health 2017;3(2) [FREE Full text] [Medline: 29520393]
- 33. Berry DC, McMurray RG, Schwartz TA, Hall EG, Neal MN, Adatorwovor R. Correction to: a cluster randomized controlled trial for child and parent weight management: children and parents randomized to the intervention group have correlated changes in adiposity. BMC Obes 2018;5:3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40608-018-0181-9] [Medline: 29424835]
- Lee DC, Gallagher MP, Gopalan A, Osorio M, Vinson AJ, Wall SP, et al. Identifying geographic disparities in diabetes prevalence among adults and children using emergency claims data. J Endocr Soc 2018 May 01;2(5):460-470 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1210/js.2018-00001] [Medline: 29719877]
- Cooksey-Stowers K, Schwartz MB, Brownell KD. Food swamps predict obesity rates better than food deserts in the United States. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2017 Dec 14;14(11) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph14111366] [Medline: 29135909]
- Frémont A, Abou TR, Wanin S, Lebras M, Ollier V, Nathanson S, et al. Cartoons to improve young children's cooperation with inhaled corticosteroids: a preliminary study. Pediatr Pulmonol 2018 Sep;53(9):1193-1199. [doi: <u>10.1002/ppul.24070</u>] [Medline: <u>29893057</u>]
- 37. McCloskey ML, Thompson DA, Chamberlin B, Clark L, Johnson SL, Bellows LL. Mobile device use among rural, low-income families and the feasibility of an app to encourage preschoolers' physical activity: qualitative study. J Med Internet Res 2018;1(2):e10858 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/pediatrics.10858]
- 38. Nelson K. Academic Symposium of Undergraduate Scholarship. 2016. Wheres the Represention? The Impact of White Washing on Black Children URL: <u>http://tinyurl.com/y2mmt73s</u>
- Bubna K, Hegde S, Rao D. Role of colors in pediatric dental practices. J Clin Pediatr Dent 2017;41(3):193-198. [doi: 10.17796/1053-4628-41.3.193] [Medline: 28422592]
- 40. Pew Research Center. 2018. Internt/Broadband Fact Sheet URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheet/internet-broadband/</u>
- 41. Yamashita T, Bardo AR, Liu D, Cummins PA. Literacy, numeracy, and health information seeking among middle-aged and older adults in the United States. J Aging Health 2018 Sep 27:898264318800918 (forthcoming). [doi: 10.1177/0898264318800918] [Medline: 30261796]

- 42. Karaseva A. Relationship of internet self-efficacy and online search performance of secondary school teachers. Procedia Soc Behav Sci 2016 Oct;231:278-285. [doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.09.103]
- Hadden KB, Prince LY, Moore TD, James LP, Holland JR, Trudeau CR. Improving readability of informed consents for research at an academic medical institution. J Clin Transl Sci 2017 Dec;1(6):361-365 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/cts.2017.312] [Medline: 29707258]
- 44. Hamel LM, Penner LA, Albrecht TL, Heath E, Gwede CK, Eggly S. Barriers to clinical trial enrollment in racial and ethnic minority patients with cancer. Cancer Control 2016 Oct;23(4):327-337 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/107327481602300404] [Medline: 27842322]
- 45. Joseph RP, Keller C, Affuso O, Ainsworth BE. Designing culturally relevant physical activity programs for African-American women: a framework for intervention development. J Racial Ethn Health Disparities 2017 Jun;4(3):397-409 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40615-016-0240-1] [Medline: 27178447]

Abbreviations

eHealth: electronic health

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 13.10.18; peer-reviewed by TL Christensen, N Thomas; comments to author 19.12.18; revised version received 31.12.18; accepted 31.12.18; published 22.03.19.
<u>Please cite as:</u>
Chung A, Wallace B, Stanton-Koko M, Seixas A, Jean-Louis G
Feasibility and Acceptability of a Culturally Tailored Website to Increase Fruit and Vegetable Intake and Physical Activity Levels in African American Mother-Child Dyads: Observational Study
JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12501
URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12501/
doi:
10.2196/12501
PMID:
31518320

©Alicia Chung, Barbara Wallace, Monica Stanton-Koko, Azizi Seixas, Girardin Jean-Louis. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 22.03.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Online Information About Periviable Birth: Quality Assessment

Adriane F Haragan¹, MD; Carly A Zuwiala², MD; Katherine P Himes³, MD, MS

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Kalispell Regional Healthcare, Kalispell, MT, United States

²Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Magee-Womens Hospital, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

³Department of Obstetrics, Gynecology and Reproductive Sciences, Magee-Womens Research Institute, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Katherine P Himes, MD, MS Department of Obstetrics, Gynecology and Reproductive Sciences Magee-Womens Research Institute University of Pittsburgh 300 Halket Street Pittsburgh, PA, 15228 United States Phone: 1 412 973 2249 Email: <u>himekp@upmc.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Over 20,000 parents in the United States face the challenge of participating in decisions about whether to use life support for their infants born on the cusp of viability every year. Clinicians must help families grasp complex medical information about their baby's immediate prognosis as well as the risk for significant long-term morbidity. Patients faced with this decision want supplemental information and frequently seek medical information on the Internet. Empirical evidence about the quality of websites is lacking.

Objective: We sought to evaluate the quality of online information available about periviable birth and treatment options for infants born at the cusp of viability.

Methods: We read a counseling script to 20 pregnant participants that included information typically provided by perinatal and neonatal providers when periviable birth is imminent. The women were then asked to list terms they would use to search the Internet if they wanted additional information. Using these search terms, two reviewers evaluated the content of websites obtained via a Google search. We used two metrics to assess the quality of websites. The first was the DISCERN instrument, a validated questionnaire designed to assess the quality of patient-targeted health information for treatment choices. The second metric was the Essential Content Tool (ECT), a tool designed to address key components of counseling around periviable birth as outlined by professional organizations. DISCERN scores were classified as *low quality* if scores were 2, *fair quality* if scores were 3, and *high quality* if scores were 4 or higher. Scores of 6 or higher on the ECT were considered high quality. Interreviewer agreement was assessed by calculated kappa statistic.

Results: A total of 97 websites were reviewed. Over half (57/97, 59%) were for-profit sites, news stories, or personal blogs; 28% (27/97) were government or medical sites; and 13% (13/97) were nonprofit or advocacy sites. The majority of sites scored poorly in DISCERN questions designed to assess the reliability of information presented as well as data regarding treatment choices. Only 7% (7/97) of the websites were *high quality* as defined by the DISCERN tool. The majority of sites did not address the essential content defined by the ECT. Importantly, only 18% of websites (17/97) indicated that there are often a number of reasonable approaches to newborn care when faced with periviable birth. Agreement was strong, with kappa ranging from .72 to .91.

Conclusions: Most information about periviable birth found on the Internet using common search strategies is of low quality. News stories highlighting positive outcomes are disproportionately represented. Few websites discuss comfort care or how treatment decisions impact quality of life.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12524) doi:10.2196/12524

KEYWORDS

RenderX

periviable birth; patient education; patient counseling; Internet resources

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12524/

Introduction

While the rate of survival with or without neurodevelopmental impairment for infants born between 22 and 25 weeks has improved over time, there is considerable uncertainty regarding short- and long-term prognosis for infants born during the periviable period [1-8]. Periviable birth, defined as delivery occurring from 20 0/7 weeks to 25 6/7 weeks, complicates roughly 20,000 deliveries annually in the United States. Survival with neonatal interventions ranges from roughly 10% at 22 weeks gestation to over 60% at 25 completed weeks [1]. The risk of long-term neurodevelopmental impairment remains high for all periviable infants who survive [1-5]. Women and families must navigate this uncertainty to make time-sensitive and value-laden decisions regarding obstetrical interventions for fetal benefit and neonatal care when periviable birth is imminent. Women facing periviable birth have expressed a desire for supplemental information after provider counseling [9-13].

Increasingly, patients are turning to the Internet for supplemental health information. Survey estimates suggest that over half of people in the United States search the Internet for health information [14]. While data specific to periviable birth are limited, studies of other preference-sensitive decisions suggest that both patients and providers support provision of supplemental information that presents the pros and cons of all reasonable treatment options. Health care providers remain skeptical about the value of the Internet as a source of unbiased supplemental information [11,15].

The usefulness of the Internet as a source of supplemental health information depends on the quality of information easily available to patients. There are now a number of validated assessment checklists—the DISCERN tool, Journal of American Medical Association Benchmarks, and Health On the Net Foundation Principles—to determine the quality of online information [16-18]. The aim of this study was to evaluate data regarding the quality of online information about periviable birth.

Methods

Defining Internet Search Terms

We recruited pregnant women at gestation of 37 weeks or more from the Magee-Womens Hospital, Pittsburgh, PA, outpatient obstetrical clinics to participate in this study during June 2016. Women were excluded if they had experienced a prior preterm birth or had experienced threatened preterm labor during their current pregnancy. We approached all women meeting inclusion criteria. Following informed consent, women were read a script describing a hypothetical situation in which they were faced with a preterm birth at 23-weeks' gestation. The script included information on short- and long-term outcomes, risks and benefits of obstetrical interventions for neonatal benefit, as well as care options for the neonate after delivery. The script was developed by input from members of the division of Maternal Fetal Medicine and Newborn Medicine at the University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, Pittsburgh, PA. Participants were then given a written survey asking them to identify the search engine they used most frequently and how often they searched for health

information online. They were then asked to list four search terms they would use to seek out additional information about periviable birth. They were also asked whether they would prefer to learn about (1) statistics regarding survival and outcomes for periviable neonates, (2) narrative descriptions about women who delivered in the periviable period and the outcomes for their neonates, or (3) both. Women were recruited until we reached saturation in themes of search terms. We did not recruit partners of pregnant women as they were not readily present at the clinical venues where we recruited participants.

Website Identification

Using the four most common search terms provided, two reviewers (AFH and CAZ) independently evaluated the informational content of websites found via a Google search. Additional websites listed by participants were WebMD and Wikipedia. Sites were excluded if they were non-English or if registration was required for access. Eligible websites were then independently reviewed on the same date. The first three pages of websites using the top four search terms were included in the evaluation, as marketing data demonstrate that only 1.6% of users click on links from the third page of results or beyond [19].

Analysis of Website Quality

Websites were classified into six main categories: (1) government, (2) scientific resources, (3) nonprofit and advocacy organizations, (4) news and media reports, (5) for-profit organizations, and (6) personal commentary (eg, personal blogs). Two metrics were used to evaluate the quality and content of the websites. The first was the DISCERN instrument, a validated questionnaire designed to assess the quality of patient-targeted health information for treatment choices [20]. We elected to use this tool because it is tailored to evaluate how well websites prepare patients and providers to engage in a shared decision-making process, the approach recommended to help families make decisions about neonatal care after periviable birth. Questions included in the DISCERN instrument fall into three main sections. Section 1 (Questions 1-8) addresses the reliability of the site and whether it can be trusted as a source of information about treatment choices. These questions address the sources of information used to compile the site, the website's ability to provide accurate and impartial information, and areas of uncertainty regarding treatment choices. Section 2 (Questions 9-15) focuses on specific details of the information about treatment choices. These questions examine the risks and benefits of each treatment choice and how well the site supports shared decision making. Section 3 (Question 16) is a subjective assessment by the reviewer of the overall quality of the website. Each question on the DISCERN tool is scored on a scale of 1 (low quality/not addressed) to 5 (high quality/fully addressed). We considered scores of 4-5 to be high quality, 3 to be fair quality, and 1-2 to be poor quality sources of information.

The DISCERN tool can be used for any health-related content area and, thus, is not specific to periviable birth. Therefore, a second metric was developed—the Essential Content Tool (ECT)—to address whether websites covered information defined as critical for decision making around periviable birth. This tool was developed in two phases. First, we extracted 21

XSL•FO RenderX

key components of periviable counseling as outlined by both the American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology and the American Academy of Pediatrics statements about periviable birth [21,22]. Content validity was evaluated by querying four physician members of the divisions of Maternal Fetal Medicine and Newborn Medicine to identify the minimum number of constructs necessary to provide families with essential information about periviable birth decision making. This process identified 10 essential topics pertinent to periviable birth. These included information about short- and long-term neonatal morbidity and mortality at different gestational ages as well as obstetrical interventions for neonatal benefit and options for neonatal care. We also assessed whether information was presented in a preference-sensitive manner: there is no right or wrong decision. All 10 domains are outlined in Multimedia Appendix 1. Thus, the ECT contains a total of 10 content questions that were scored dichotomously (present or not present). A website was considered of good quality if it addressed at least six of the content domains and high quality if it addressed at least eight of the content domains.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were calculated to characterize participants and summarize results of the DISCERN tool and the ECT. Interreviewer agreement was assessed by a calculated kappa statistic and descriptive statistics were performed. This study was approved by the University of Pittsburgh's Institutional Review Board.

Results

Patient Population and Search Terms

A total of 20 women were recruited for the first stage of the study. The median age of our patient population at the time of enrollment was 28 years (interquartile range [IQR] 25-30), 35% (7/20) had Medicaid insurance, 65% (13/20) had private insurance, and 50% (10/20) of the women were black. A total of 90% (18/20) of women had graduated high school. The median gestational age was 38.0 weeks (IQR 37.6-38.6) and 40% (8/20) were nulliparous. Of those surveyed, 85% (17/20) chose Google as their preferred search engine and 75% (15/20) reported they used the Internet to search for health information *often* or *all the time*.

Patients were asked to provide four search terms they would use to search for supplemental information online regarding periviable birth. Overall, participants recorded a total of 54 search terms. The four most common search terms elicited were (1) preterm birth, (2) birth at 23 weeks, (3) long-term effects of preterm birth, and (4) chances of survival at 23 weeks. These four responses or minor variations of these responses (ie, long-term complications of preterm birth) accounted for 83% (45/54) of total search terms provided by participants. Other search terms recorded by participants included the following: recurrence risk of preterm birth, prevention of preterm birth, resources available for people with preterm infants, and care decisions made by families facing periviable birth. Patients overwhelmingly desired both statistical information about survival and prognosis as well as patient narratives about their experiences with periviable birth, with 90% of women indicating they wanted both types of information.

Website Characteristics

After exclusion criteria were applied, 97 unique websites were reviewed out of a total of 120 possible websites (80.8%). Of those queried, 59% (57/97) were for-profit sites, news stories, or personal blogs; 28% (27/97) were government, hospital or research institution, or medical journal sites; and 13% (13/97) were nonprofit or advocacy sites. Most websites were from the United States (75/97, 77%), followed by the United Kingdom (17/97, 18%), Australia (3/97, 3%), and New Zealand (2/97, 2%).

Quality of Website Content: The DISCERN Tool

The DISCERN tool evaluates the reliability of website information as well as the quality of information about treatment choices. The reviewers defined "treatment" as neonatal interventions with the goal of sustaining the life of the neonate. Therefore, when the DISCERN tool asks if the website "addresses what would happen if no treatment was used or if there are alternatives to treatment," we interpreted this as the website referring to the option of comfort care and subsequent neonatal death.

Overall, websites scored poorly. A website could score a total of 80 points on 16 questions, 40 points on questions addressing the reliability of information (Questions 1-8), and 35 points on the questions addressing treatment choices (Questions 9-15). High scores indicate *high quality*. The distribution of scores is shown in Figure 1. While website quality was poor overall (see Figure 1A) with a median overall score of 36 (IQR 30-44), websites fell markedly short at discussing treatment options (see Figure 1C). The median score for the questions addressing treatment choices was 8 (IQR 7-13).

As indicated above (see Figure 1C), information on treatment choices was poor and this was particularly notable for questions addressing support for shared decision making. Only 10% (10/97) of the websites scored highly (4 or 5) on the question of whether it was clear there was more than one reasonable treatment choice or medical approach. A total of 68% of websites (66/97) scored poorly (<2) in acknowledging uncertainty around the best treatment options. Importantly, 16% (16/97) had evidence of strong bias indicating a completely unbalanced view of options available to patients experiencing a periviable birth. The bias was uniformly in favor of presenting the option of a trial of resuscitation and not presenting comfort care as an option.



Figure 1. Distribution of DISCERN scores overall (A), with regard to reliability of information (B) and information on treatment choices (C).



Website Content Using the Essential Content Tool

The ECT provides a more granular assessment of the quality of information as it pertains to periviable birth. Consistent with the findings using the DISCERN tool, most websites lacked the essential content necessary for periviable decision making as defined by the ECT. Only 38 of the 97 sites (39%) reviewed morbidity and mortality statistics by gestational age, and these were often not reflective of the current literature [1]. Roughly a quarter (27/97, 28%) reviewed obstetrical interventions for neonatal benefit, such as administration of betamethasone or magnesium for neuroprotection. Interestingly, the content area most commonly addressed by the queried websites (59/97, 61%) was the potential long-term outcomes for periviable neonates (eg, cognitive impairment, cerebral palsy, deafness, blindness, feeding difficulties, and oxygen requirement). Consistent with our findings from the DISCERN tool, only 18% (17/97) of websites presented a full range of care options for periviable infants, including comfort care. Few websites (10/97, 10%) characterized decision making around periviable birth as preference-sensitive, indicating that there is often no clear right or wrong choice in deciding to pursue life-sustaining interventions versus comfort care for the neonate. The complete distribution of scores for ECT are included in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Overall Website Quality

The overall quality of website content was measured using the last question on the DISCERN tool and by the presence of six

out of 10 essential domains as defined by the ECT. Only 7% (7/97) of the websites were thought to represent high-quality websites by both reviewers using the last question on the DISCERN tool, and 2% (2/97) were considered high quality according to the ECT. A total of 20% (19/97) of the websites were of good quality according to the ECT. Notably, over half (5/9, 56%) of the high-quality websites were found by our reviewers on page 2 or 3 of the search results. Additionally, 74% (14/19) of good-quality websites were from academic sources, governmental sources, or nonprofit organizations. Only 2 out of 19 (11%) of the good-quality websites according to the ECT were from a for-profit site. To illustrate high- and low-quality websites, we provided quotes demonstrative of the websites' messages. We found that many websites, particularly news stories and personal blogs, focused on sensational stories that do not always represent the more likely outcomes (see Table 1).

Interreviewer agreement was substantial with kappa ranging from .72 to .90 for the ECT questions and from .36 to .71 for the individual DISCERN questions. The stronger agreement within the ECT can be explained by the binary nature of the questions, while the DISCERN questions are answered using a 1-5 scale. When using a weighted kappa statistic to account for the degree of disagreement within the DISCERN questions, agreement was strong, with kappa ranging from .66 to .91 for the individual DISCERN questions.

Table 1. Content from high- and low-quality websites.

Haragan et al

Characteristics by DISCERN tool	Representative quotes		
High-quality website			
Address both survival and long- term disabilities	"For babies born at 23 or 24 weeks, the chance of survival if they receive intensive treatment is about 50:50. If the baby survives, they may have one or more of the problems described in this websiteAbout 1 in 4 or 1 in 5 children who survive have very serious problems affecting their movement or learning or both that mean they will need lifelong help and support for everyday activities." [23]		
	"The success of improved survival in very premature infants has raised some serious ethical issues. It is now possible to save more, smaller, and earlier babies. The difficult question is whether this is always in the best interest of the babyDecisions pertaining to these sensitive issues are influenced by a number of factors, not least by parental views." [24]		
Address patients' values	"Parents have difficult decisions to make at this time and your views and values are very important." [23]		
	"For some families, the worst thing that could happen is that their baby dies. For them, intensive treatment is the right choice as this gives the baby the best chance of surviving. For other families, the worst thing that could happen is that the baby has to go through intensive treatment and then survives with a serious disability. They worry about the effect on the child and on the rest of their family. For those families, comfort care may be the right choice. This option has the lowest chance of the baby surviving with a serious disability." [25]		
Encourage shared decision making	"If you don't know what would be best for your family and for your baby, you may find it helpful to talk to other members of your family. If there is time, you could speak to different medical specialists about your situation, eg, obstetricians and paediatricians." [23]		
	"Your doctors will talk with you about your situation and try to understand what is important for you and your family. There is no right or wrong answer." [25]		
Low-quality website			
Sensational news stories	"With his chances of survival being between 15-30 percent, sweet Haiden has beat the oddsWithin hours Emily gave birth to her 1.5-pound baby boy—14 hours away from the nearest hospitalEmily credits her boy's strong lungs, a makeshift incubator and her cruise's early arrival into a Puerto Rico dock. 'The doctors really tell us that he's a miracle baby,' Emily stated. 'It's a miracle he's here.'"		
	"They didn't think she was going to be alive, but I knew she was. Because I just knew it,'She remembered the dream she had the night before going into labor. In it, she said God told her he would take care of her daughter, but she had to have 'faith'"		
Biased testimonials	"studies show that depending on medical care, at 22 weeks—the age that Planned Parenthood is killing viable babies—preemies can survive with care. So, Trevor Frolek came into the world at 23 weeks. At the time of his birth, he weighed in at 1 pound, 6 ounces, and like many of the babies born alive in 'botched' abortions would do if given the chance, Trevor fought to stay alive. And stay alive he did. Trevor survived, and after spending the first year of his life in Fargo, North Dakota's Essential Health neonatal intensive care unit, weighing a healthy 20 pounds, he went home."		
	"She was fully human, just smaller than we had ever seen before in our lives. Four months later, Ava Joy came home with us as a completely healthy baby with a minor case of reflux."		
Statements with unclear sources of information	"A prematurity prevention program has been developed and implemented at the Pope Paul VI Institute for the last 25 yearsThis entire protocol cannot be properly discussed in a website such as this, however, it can be stated emphatically that the prematurity rate can be decreased with the use of this protocolFor the entire group, the comparison group had a preterm birth rate of 12.0 percent and the Pope Paul VI Institute group protocol only had a 7.0 percent prematurity rate and in that group, only 1.3 percent were at < to 33.9 weeks of gestation. This is three times less than the comparison group."		

Discussion

Principal Findings

The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, the Society for Maternal Fetal Medicine, and the American Academy of Pediatrics all emphasize the need for shared decision making regarding interventions for infants born during the periviable period [21,22]. Given patients frequently access the Internet for supplemental health information when faced with medical decision making, we sought to provide data regarding the quality of online information as it pertains to periviable delivery [11,12]. Our work revealed that the overwhelming majority of websites do not address content considered essential for patient education about the difficult

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12524/
```

RenderX

decisions surrounding periviable birth. Less than 20% of websites addressed comfort care as a treatment option in periviable neonates and, if mentioned, it was often a single sentence. Furthermore, only 10% of websites acknowledged that there is more than one reasonable approach to care—a frame that is critical to supporting shared decision making. Additionally, over 15% of websites were found to have strong bias in favor of neonatal resuscitation, potentially further eroding high preference-based decision making.

Roughly one in 10 websites were considered *high quality* by the DISCERN tool. The websites receiving the highest scores were nonprofit sites and government sites (eg, Wikipedia and the Australian Perinatal Practice Guidelines). Of concern, the highest-quality websites were often difficult to find within our

search, often listed on the second or third page of the results. Prior research has shown that 91% of Internet users do not go beyond the first page of search results [15]. The websites that Google ranks on the first page of their search results for any given search term are those considered the most relevant using a complex algorithm, which is constantly updated and revised. Therefore, it can be difficult to move high-quality sites to the front of the search results without search engine optimization consultants [26].

Prior studies have investigated the quality of online information for other preference-sensitive decisions, including treatment for localized breast cancer and treatment options for prostate cancer [27,28]. Consistent with our results, these studies concluded that although many websites address these topics, very few provide essential information necessary to actively participate in decision making related to treatment options. These studies suggest that there is a potential for the Internet to provide valuable information for patients, but it is up to their health care providers to identify high-quality websites to guide their patients.

Our study has several important strengths. First, ours is the first investigation to specifically investigate the quality of online information as it pertains to periviable birth. Additionally, the search terms we used were defined by patients and thus likely reflect the usual search strategies employed by the general population. Furthermore, we used two metrics to evaluate the individual websites—both a validated tool to assess the quality of information for preference-sensitive decisions as well as a content tool that specifically assessed information related to periviable birth. This approach allowed for a multidimensional evaluation of the websites that addressed both content-specific as well as big-picture concepts that support high-quality shared decision making. Finally, interviewer agreement was found to be strong after our analysis.

Our study also has several important limitations. First, the Internet search terms used in our study were generated by pregnant women at term, rather than women facing imminent periviable birth. This approach was taken after extensive deliberation with the study team and review board. We weighed the risk of the added stress and anxiety that participating in this study would cause a woman facing periviable birth versus the minimal added benefit that would come from asking the intended population to generate the search terms for our study. At the conclusion of our discussions, we felt a hypothetical approach with term women would generate realistic and useful search terms and opted for this approach. Second, we attempted to recreate how the patients would search the Internet for additional information regarding treatment options and outcomes surrounding a periviable birth and thus only one search engine was used, which may limit the generalizability of our findings. This search engine, however, was overwhelmingly picked as the search engine of choice by our sample population and still provided a large amount of pilot data. Third, the review of the websites was completed on personal computers, as opposed to mobile phones, which are often the modality used by patients. Over two-thirds of Americans now own a mobile phone, and 62% of mobile phone owners use their mobile phone to get information about a health care condition [14]. In light of this, it is possible that the search engine may have organized websites differently, and the websites themselves may be navigated differently for mobile phone users. We used a validated questionnaire specifically designed to assess the quality of patient-targeted health information for treatment choices. There are other elements of website design that could meaningfully impact the user experience and patient education that we did not assess. These include ease of readability and use of illustrative graphics. Neither the ECT nor the DISCERN tool include patient perspectives in what they would define as a high-quality website, and we acknowledge that patients may desire different content within websites than physicians. We did not take into account the idea that parents have different values and the role of incorporating their values into decision making regarding periviable delivery, but these are important areas of future research. Finally, we did not consider the Internet self-efficacy or health literacy of our population. These are important areas for future investigation.

Although not the major focus of our study, 90% of our survey population indicated that in addition to high-quality information about prognosis and treatment for periviable neonates, they also wanted to learn about other patients' experiences with periviable birth and periviable decision making. This suggests that there is a patient desire for the inclusion of narratives in the educational component of preference-sensitive counseling and that providing these narratives in a balanced fashion may be important. It also speaks to potential gaps in counseling by health care providers. Understanding these gaps is an important research effort of our group as well as others [12]. We hope that the information generated by this pilot study will lead to a larger, comprehensive review of online resources available to patients facing a periviable birth.

Conclusions

Moving forward, the creation of an evidence-based Internet resource that addresses both short- and long-term neonatal outcomes, patients' values, the importance of shared decision making, and the option for comfort care should be developed to help parents make treatment decisions when facing a periviable delivery.

Acknowledgments

All phases of this study were supported by a grant from the Beckwith Institute. The funding source had no role in study design or analysis of data.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 The 10 essential topics pertinent to periviable birth. [PPTX File, 2MB - pediatrics_v2i1e12524_app1.pptx]

References

- 1. Younge N, Goldstein RF, Bann CM, Hintz SR, Patel RM, Smith PB, Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Neonatal Research Network. Survival and neurodevelopmental outcomes among periviable infants. N Engl J Med 2017 Dec 16;376(7):617-628 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1605566] [Medline: 28199816]
- Stoll BJ, Hansen NI, Bell EF, Shankaran S, Laptook AR, Walsh MC, Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Neonatal Research Network. Neonatal outcomes of extremely preterm infants from the NICHD Neonatal Research Network. Pediatrics 2010 Sep;126(3):443-456 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-2959] [Medline: 20732945]
- Hintz S, Kendrick D, Vohr B, Poole W, Higgins R, National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Neonatal Research Network. Changes in neurodevelopmental outcomes at 18 to 22 months' corrected age among infants of less than 25 weeks' gestational age born in 1993-1999. Pediatrics 2005 Jun;115(6):1645-1651. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2004-2215</u>] [Medline: <u>15930228</u>]
- Hintz S, Kendrick D, Wilson-Costello D, Das A, Bell EF, Vohr BR, NICHD Neonatal Research Network. Early-childhood neurodevelopmental outcomes are not improving for infants born at <25 weeks' gestational age. Pediatrics 2011 Jan;127(1):62-70 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-1150] [Medline: 21187312]
- Mercier CE, Dunn MS, Ferrelli KR, Howard DB, Soll RF, Vermont Oxford Network ELBW Infant Follow-Up Study Group. Neurodevelopmental outcome of extremely low birth weight infants from the Vermont Oxford network: 1998-2003. Neonatology 2010 Jun;97(4):329-338 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000260136] [Medline: 19940516]
- Rysavy M, Li L, Bell E, Das A, Hintz SR, Stoll BJ, Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Neonatal Research Network. Between-hospital variation in treatment and outcomes in extremely preterm infants. N Engl J Med 2015 May 07;372(19):1801-1811 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1410689] [Medline: 25946279]
- Kusuda S, Fujimura M, Uchiyama A, Totsu S, Matsunami K, Neonatal Research Network, Japan. Trends in morbidity and mortality among very-low-birth-weight infants from 2003 to 2008 in Japan. Pediatr Res 2012 Nov;72(5):531-538 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/pr.2012.114] [Medline: 22922774]
- Stoll B, Hansen N, Bell E, Walsh MC, Carlo WA, Shankaran S, Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Neonatal Research Network. Trends in care practices, morbidity, and mortality of extremely preterm neonates, 1993-2012. JAMA 2015 Sep 08;314(10):1039-1051 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.10244] [Medline: 26348753]
- Kaempf J, Tomlinson S, Campbell B, Ferguson L, Stewart V. Counseling pregnant women who may deliver extremely premature infants: Medical care guidelines, family choices, and neonatal outcomes. Pediatrics 2009 Jun;123(6):1509-1515. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2008-2215</u>] [Medline: <u>19482761</u>]
- Ohlinger J, Kantak A, Lavin J, Fofah O, Hagen E, Suresh G, et al. Evaluation and development of potentially better practices for perinatal and neonatal communication and collaboration. Pediatrics 2006 Nov;118 Suppl 2:S147-S152. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2006-0913L</u>] [Medline: <u>17079617</u>]
- Grobman W, Kavanaugh K, Moro T, DeRegnier R, Savage T. Providing advice to parents for women at acutely high risk of periviable delivery. Obstet Gynecol 2010 May;115(5):904-909 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181da93a7] [Medline: 20410761]
- Tucker Edmonds B, Savage T, Kimura R, Kilpatrick S, Kuppermann M, Grobman W, et al. Prospective parents' perspectives on antenatal decision making for the anticipated birth of a periviable infant. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2019 Mar;32(5):820-825. [doi: 10.1080/14767058.2017.1393066] [Medline: 29103318]
- Raju T, Mercer B, Burchfield D, Joseph G. Periviable birth: Executive summary of a joint workshop by the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine, American Academy of Pediatrics, and American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Obstet Gynecol 2014 May;123(5):1083-1096. [doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000000243] [Medline: 24785861]
- 14. Smith A. Pew Research Center. Washington, DC: Pew Internet & American Life Project; 2015 Apr 01. US smartphone use in 2015 URL: <u>https://www.pewinternet.org/2015/04/01/us-smartphone-use-in-2015/</u> [accessed 2019-06-03] [WebCite Cache ID 78rPCc8kG]
- van Deursen AJ. Internet skill-related problems in accessing online health information. Int J Med Inform 2012 Jan;81(1):61-72.
 [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2011.10.005</u>] [Medline: <u>22079240</u>]

- 16. Charnock D, Shepperd S. Learning to DISCERN online: Applying an appraisal tool to health websites in a workshop setting. Health Educ Res 2004 Aug;19(4):440-446. [doi: 10.1093/her/cyg046] [Medline: 15155597]
- 17. Silberg W, Lundberg G, Musacchio R. Assessing, controlling, and assuring the quality of medical information on the Internet: Caveant lector et viewor--Let the reader and viewer beware. JAMA 1997 Apr 16;277(15):1244-1245. [Medline: 9103351]
- Boyer C, Selby M, Appel R. The Health On the Net Code of Conduct for medical and health web sites. Stud Health Technol Inform 1998;52 Pt 2:1163-1166. [Medline: 10384641]
- 19. Ghita ML, Loiz D, Petrescu P. Advanced Web Ranking. Craiova, Romania: Advanced Web Ranking; 2014. Google Organic CTR Study URL: <u>https://www.advancedwebranking.com/ctrstudy/</u> [accessed 2019-06-03] [WebCite Cache ID 78rQcHGsf]
- 20. Charnock D, Shepperd S, Needham G, Gann R. DISCERN: An instrument for judging the quality of written consumer health information on treatment choices. J Epidemiol Community Health 1999 Feb;53(2):105-111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jech.53.2.105] [Medline: 10396471]
- Cummings J, Committee on Fetus and Newborn. Antenatal counseling regarding resuscitation and intensive care before 25 weeks of gestation. Pediatrics 2015 Sep;136(3):588-595 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2015-2336</u>] [Medline: <u>26324869</u>]
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists and the Society for Maternal–Fetal Medicine, Ecker JL, Kaimal A, Mercer BM, Blackwell SC, deRegnier RA, et al. #3: Periviable birth. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2015 Nov;213(5):604-614. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ajog.2015.08.035</u>] [Medline: <u>26506448</u>]
- 23. South Australian Perinatal Practice Guidelines Workgroup. South Australian Perinatal Practice Guidelines. Parent Information: For Babies Born 23-24 Weeks. Adelaide, Australia: Department of Health, Government of South Australia; 2013 Sep 30. URL: https://www.sahealth.sa.gov.au/wps/wcm/connect/d1024b0042ac3768a346b7ad100c470d/ <u>Too+small+too+soon+-+babies+born+23%E2%80%9324+weeks.</u> pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CACHEID=d1024b0042ac3768a346b7ad100c470d [accessed 2019-05-22] [WebCite Cache ID 78Z8Z4Ocw]
- 24. Gandhi A. Patient. 2014 Sep 25. Premature babies and their problems URL: <u>https://patient.info/doctor/</u> premature-babies-and-their-problems [accessed 2019-05-22] [WebCite Cache ID 78Z92bFay]
- 25. Institute of Medicine. In: Butler AS, Behrman RE, editors. Preterm Birth: Causes, Consequences, and Prevention. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2007.
- 26. Yates E, Dixon L. PageRank as a method to rank biomedical literature by importance. Source Code Biol Med 2015;10:16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13029-015-0046-2] [Medline: 26664434]
- 27. Bruce J, Tucholka J, Steffens N, Neuman H. Quality of online information to support patient decision-making in breast cancer surgery. J Surg Oncol 2015 Nov;112(6):575-580 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jso.24046] [Medline: 26417898]
- Borgmann H, Wölm JH, Vallo S, Mager R, Huber J, Breyer J, et al. Prostate cancer on the Web: Expedient tool for patients' decision-making? J Cancer Educ 2017 Dec;32(1):135-140. [doi: 10.1007/s13187-015-0891-3] [Medline: 26234650]

Abbreviations

ECT: Essential Content Tool **IQR:** interquartile range

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 07.11.18; peer-reviewed by A Chung, J Jenkinson, J Taylor, B Van den Borne; comments to author 18.02.19; revised version received 29.03.19; accepted 26.04.19; published 07.06.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Haragan AF, Zuwiala CA, Himes KP Online Information About Periviable Birth: Quality Assessment JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12524 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12524/</u> doi:10.2196/12524

PMID:<u>31518325</u>

©Adriane F Haragan, Carly A Zuwiala, Katherine P Himes. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 07.06.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Gamifying Breastfeeding for Fathers: Process Evaluation of the Milk Man Mobile App

Becky White¹, BSc (HlthPr), GradCert, PhD; Roslyn C Giglia², BAppSci, GradDipDiet, MPH, PhD; James A White³, BSocSc, GradDip, PhD; Satvinder Dhaliwal¹, BSc (Hons), MSc, PhD; Sharyn K Burns^{1,4}, BEd, DipTch (HPE), GradDipHlthProm, MPH, PhD; Jane A Scott^{1,4}, BAppSc, GradDipDiet, MPH, PhD

¹School of Public Health, Curtin University, Perth, Australia

²Telethon Kids Institute, University of Western Australia, Perth, Australia

³Reach Health Promotion Innovations, Perth, Australia

⁴Collaboration for Evidence, Research and Impact in Public Health, Curtin University, Perth, Australia

Corresponding Author:

Jane A Scott, BAppSc, GradDipDiet, MPH, PhD School of Public Health Curtin University GPO Box U1987 Bentley Perth, 6845 Australia Phone: 61 8 9266 9050 Fax: 61 8 9266 2958 Email: jane.scott@curtin.edu.au

Abstract

Background: Mobile technology offers unique opportunities to reach people with health promotion interventions. Breastfeeding is an important public health issue, and fathers are a key support. Milk Man is a father-focused breastfeeding app that sought to engage fathers with information and conversation about breastfeeding, with the goal to impact positively on breastfeeding duration.

Objective: The study aimed to describe the process evaluation of the Milk Man app that was trialed in the Parent Infant Feeding Initiative randomized controlled trial.

Methods: The app used an information library, gamification, push notifications, and social connectivity via a Web-based conversation forum, which included polls and conversation starters, to engage fathers with breastfeeding information. Fathers had access to the app from approximately 32 weeks of gestation to 6 months postpartum. Process evaluation data were collected from a self-completed questionnaire administered via a Web-based link sent to participants at 6 weeks postpartum, and app analytics data were collected directly from the app. Quantitative data from both sources and qualitative responses to open-ended questions were used to triangulate findings to investigate patterns of usage and the effectiveness of each app engagement strategy to motivate and engage users.

Results: A total of 80.3% (586/730) of participants, who were randomized to receive the app, downloaded Milk Man. Push notifications and interest in what other fathers had posted in the forum were the 2 main motivators to app use. Fathers used the app most while their partners were still pregnant and in the weeks immediately after the birth of their baby. Perspectives on the gamification strategy were varied. However, at 6 weeks postpartum, approximately one-third of fathers still using the app said that the gamification elements were encouraging the app use. The ease of use of the app and the design were important elements that were rated positively. The conversation forum emerged as the hub of app activity; all but 1 of the most accessed library articles and external organization links had been prompted as part of a conversation starter. Fathers posted comments in the conversation forum 1126 times (average of 2.21 per user) and voted in polls 3096 times (average of 6 per user).

Conclusions: These results demonstrate that the Milk Man app was an acceptable source of breastfeeding information and support that fathers and fathers-to-be are prepared to use throughout the perinatal period. The app showed encouraging results with facilitating conversation between partners. The conversation forum was clearly central to the success of the app, and fathers provided suggestions for improvement. Gamification results were varied, yet it was a key motivator for some users. These results

provide valuable insight into the acceptability of the engagement strategies, including motivations for use and user perspectives on the app.

Trial Registration: Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry ACTRN12614000605695; https://www.anzctr.org.au /Trial/Registration/TrialReview.aspx?ACTRN=12614000605695

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12157) doi:10.2196/12157

KEYWORDS

mHealth; app; breastfeeding; fathers; gamification; socially connected; push notifications

Introduction

Breastfeeding

Breastfeeding is a key public health issue with well-evidenced health benefits for both infants and mothers [1,2]. For infants, short-term benefits include protection from gastrointestinal and respiratory tract infections, otitis media, and sudden infant death syndrome [3-5], and long-term benefits include a lower risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes [6]. For mothers, benefits include a reduction in the risk of ovarian and breast cancer, diabetes, and hypertension [2,7]. The World Health Organization recommends exclusive breastfeeding for the first 6 months of life, with breastfeeding to continue thereafter with the introduction of complementary foods [8]. Despite near-universal initiation of breastfeeding among Australian women [9], the latest available data (2014-2015) from the National Health Survey indicate that only one-quarter (24.7%) of infants are exclusively breastfed to at least 6 months [10], and less than 6 out of every 10 infants receive any breast milk at the age of 6 months [9]. These statistics have remained relatively stagnant for the last two decades or so [11], and new and innovative ways of increasing the duration and exclusivity of breastfeeding are urgently needed to ensure that most Australian children (and their mothers) receive maximum and continued benefits of breastfeeding.

Social Support and Breastfeeding

Although there are many complex factors that can impact on breastfeeding [12,13], social support is one of the most crucial [14]. In Western societies in particular, there is convincing evidence that fathers are a key source of breastfeeding support and influence decisions regarding both the initiation [15,16] and duration [17,18] of breastfeeding and contribute to maternal breastfeeding confidence [19,20]. Due to the value of this support, much research has been conducted to define what contributes to positive paternal support, and how health professionals can better support fathers [21-23]. Previous empirical and qualitative studies tells us that fathers want the following: more education to feel more empowered about their role in breastfeeding, increased social support, and help to overcome specific barriers (including public breastfeeding and perceived bonding postponement) [22-25].

However, while they are encouraged to, and often do, attend antenatal classes with their partners, these classes are generally directed at the mother, and men feel left out or feel that their role and their information and support needs are not a priority [26]. Furthermore, work commitments may limit a man's involvement in their partner's pregnancy care and the number

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12157/
```

XSL•F() RenderX of antenatal classes and appointments that they can attend [27]. Information and support, therefore, needs to be targeted toward men in a way that is appropriate and readily accessible [27].

Mobile Technology and Health Promotion

Electronic and mobile technology offers public health researchers unique opportunities to reach people with health information and tailored interventions with a wide reach and at a low cost. Parents have traditionally accessed the internet for information on pregnancy and early parenting [28,29], but newer digital media information sources, such as apps and social media platforms, are increasingly being used [28,30]. Men are seeking information about parenting and infant care (including breastfeeding), supporting and improving their relationship with their partner, and managing stress [29]. They are accustomed to ready and immediate access to information using digital technologies and want better access to information than that offered by health professionals [28]. Mobile technology can provide the user with accessible information despite geographical distance or time constraints, and the immediacy of this technology provides users with information when it is most needed [28]. Peer support can be provided through app-based and Web-based forums and can assist the transition to fatherhood by providing fathers with the opportunity to share information and experiences, mutual support, and the recognition that they are not alone with their problems [31,32].

Although digital technologies, including mobile apps, targeted at mothers have been used successfully to improve breastfeeding outcomes [33], there were no digital technology-based breastfeeding interventions specifically targeting fathers at the time this research was conceived. Smartphone ownership is almost universal (89%) among Australian adults across men and women [34]. The Milk Man app was conceived as a novel way of delivering targeted breastfeeding information to fathers in a readily accessible format. Little was known about how fathers would receive and use such an app. There is a growing consensus that the concept of engagement in digital health interventions encompasses a range of metrics including both usage and reported experience [35]. This paper adds to the evidence by describing the process evaluation of the Milk Man app, investigating which of the app engagement strategies were effective in motivating and engaging users in app use by using a combination of data from the app analytics framework as well as self-report data from a questionnaire.

Methods

The Milk Man App

Milk Man was a mobile app designed to provide fathers with information and support about breastfeeding and was developed to be trialed in the Parent Infant Feeding Initiative (PIFI), a 4-armed factorial randomized controlled trial (RCT; ACTRN12614000605695) [36]. The PIFI study aimed to examine the impact on breastfeeding duration of 2 separate father-focused breastfeeding interventions (a male-facilitated, father-focused, antenatal breastfeeding class and the Milk Man app) both in isolation and in combination, compared with a control group that received usual care.

The app's design and development have been described previously [37]; in brief, Milk Man was developed based on a best practice approach [38] that involved development by a multidisciplinary team, in consultation with new and expecting fathers and was based on the social cognitive theory [39]. A range of sophisticated engagement strategies, designed to encourage fathers to start and continue using the app, were employed. The app contained a comprehensive evidence-based information library presented in a colloquial and light-hearted manner. The library included information about a wide variety of breastfeeding-related topics and broader parenting topics, posted by the research team, that were designed to encourage fathers to read the information in the library. A list of the library headers has been included in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Fathers were placed into a group with others at a similar perinatal stage to facilitate relevant conversations. The conversation also used polls comprising multiple-choice questions, where users could choose an answer and view the aggregated responses of other users. Biweekly push notifications were used to alert the fathers to new content being added to this conversation and to remind them to check-in. The notifications were sent around lunchtime, and it read as follows: *there's a new conversation starting*. Users could swipe the notification to be taken directly to the new content in the conversation. The conversation forum was monitored by researchers throughout

the study [31]. The app's engagement strategy was underpinned by gamification. Gamification elements, such as points, badges, and leaderboards, were integrated into the app, and fathers received virtual rewards in the form of points for completing the actions the researchers wanted to encourage, such as reading articles and commenting on forum posts. A 2-tiered leaderboard system was introduced whereby participants could see their position on the leaderboard, both within their own group and within the whole cohort. Figure 1 shows the introductory onboarding screens shown to users when they first opened the Milk Man app, explaining the various components of the app, including the library, conversation, points, badges, and leaderboards.

Participants

Participants were recruited directly by members of the research team from hospital-based antenatal classes in metropolitan Perth, Western Australia, between August 2015 and December 2016. Couples were eligible to participate if they owned a compatible smartphone (iOS or Android), lived in Western Australia, had internet access, spoke English, and if both parents intended to coparent their child. Signed informed consent was obtained face to face from both fathers and mothers at the time of recruitment. The study was approved by the Curtin University Human Research Ethics Committee (HR 82/2014; May 14, 2014).

Study Design

Fathers randomized into either of the 2 intervention groups that had access to the Milk Man app were provided with instructions on how to access the app. There was no prescribed usage; participants were asked to use the app as they would use any other app. Fathers had access to Milk Man from when they signed up for the study (at an average of 32.5 gestational weeks) to 26 weeks postpartum. Questionnaire data were collected at recruitment and at 6 and 26 weeks postpartum. Preliminary analysis of the data revealed that app usage was the highest in the first 6 weeks and declined thereafter and that little new information was obtained from the 26 weeks questionnaire. Hence, this study reports results to 6 weeks postpartum.



Figure 1. Milk Man onboarding screenshots.



Process evaluation describes the implementation of an intervention and seeks to understand how the study functioned and how participants reacted [40]. A comprehensive evaluation plan was developed for the study that has been described previously [41]. On the basis of a framework developed by O'Grady et al [42], the evaluation plan outlined evaluation indicators over 5 distinct focus areas: *people, content, technology, computer-mediated technology,* and *health system integration*. The results of the process evaluation are presented according to these 5 areas of focus that are briefly defined below:

- People: Fathers' perspectives on the app including intentions and motivators for use and satisfaction with the app.
- Content: The library content built into the app and the dynamic user-generated content in the conversation forum. User' perspectives on the key engagement strategies are also included in this section including gamification and push notifications.
- Technology: This refers to describing and monitoring the software that was created to run the app, including tracking how participants used the app and the response of the software to operating system updates for the duration of the trial.
- Computer-mediated technology: This refers to the interaction of the users and the app interface and whether this supported community interaction. It includes examining how easy it was for participants to locate information and the usability of the app and the user perspectives on the app in general.
- Health system integration: The impact the app had on the participants' use of other services. These were measured through app-originated visits to external service provider's websites.

Quantitative evaluation data were collected from 2 different sources, a custom-built app analytics framework and a Web-based questionnaire, the link to which was sent to fathers via an email at 6 weeks postpartum. The analytic framework was embedded in the Milk Man app, and it recorded user actions performed in the app over time. These actions included app opens, the article reads, and engagement in the gamification and conversation forum. The framework allowed for more fine-grained analysis and data matching as compared with other commercially available frameworks and was integral to the ongoing monitoring of the robust process evaluation indicators. The questionnaire sought the fathers' perspectives of the Milk Man app. The questions were specific for this study and were guided by the key items that have been identified as important in app quality-engagement, functionality, aesthetics, information, and personal opinion [43]. Most questions required respondents to indicate on a 5-point Likert scale the degree to which they agreed or disagreed with a statement related to the usability and acceptability of the app, with some additional questions presented as an open text response or a multiple-choice question. To reduce participant burden, none of the questions in the questionnaire were compulsory to answer, and the denominators presented in this paper show the actual number of respondents to each individual question. Qualitative responses to open-ended questions are used as quotes to illustrate the sentiments of app users. The questions asked about the Milk Man app are included as Multimedia Appendix 2.

Results

Participant Characteristics

A total of 1426 couples were recruited to the RCT, with 51.19% (730/1426) of couples being assigned to an intervention group with access to Milk Man. Of these, 80.3% (586/730) of the fathers downloaded the Milk Man app, providing app analytics data. The fathers were asked to provide the date of birth of their baby, and this was needed to enable the 6-week questionnaire to be sent out and for mapping of the analytics over time. A total of 76.6% (559/730) and 60.1% (439/730) of the fathers completed the baseline and the 6-week questionnaires, respectively. Figure 2 shows the participant flow in the study.

A summary of baseline demographics for those with access to Milk Man is presented in Table 1. The median age of fathers (33.0 years) was similar to that of Australian fathers of newborn children (33.3 years) [44]. Most of the PIFI cohort (66.2%) were born in Australia, which also mirrors the general population (67%) [45]. However, they were more highly educated than the general population as only 25.4% of Australian men aged between 20 and 39 years have completed a Bachelor's degree or higher [46].

Process Evaluation Indicators

For clarity of reporting, throughout the Results section, participants are referred to as *respondents* when data derived from the questionnaires completed at 6 weeks are reported, and as *users* when data collected from the app analytics framework are reported.



Figure 2. Participant flowchart. PIFI: Parent Infant Feeding Initiative; DOB: date of birth; Q: Questionnaire.



Table 1. App group participant demographic characteristics.

Characteristic	Parent Infant Feeding Initiative, n (%)
Age (years; n=559)	
<30	97 (17.3)
30-34	249 (44.5)
35+	213 (38.1)
Education (n=550)	
High school or trade certificate	201 (36.5)
Undergraduate university education or higher	349 (63.5)
Country of birth (n=551)	
Australia/New Zealand	365 (66.2)
United Kingdom/Eire	69 (12.5)
Africa/Middle East	39 (7.1)
Asia	39 (7.1)
Other	39 (7.1)

XSL•FO RenderX

People

The majority of fathers responding to the 6-week questionnaire (367/390, 94.1%) indicated that they had downloaded the Milk Man app. The most common reasons given by respondents for not downloading the app were either *too busy* or *just not gotten around to it*. Motivators for using the Milk Man app are described in Figure 3. Push notifications were the highest reported motivating factor (n=164). This was followed by liking seeing what other dads had written (n=129) and the need to find information (n=109).

Overall, respondents' perspectives on the app were positive. In total, 247 of 296 responders (83.4%) agreed that the app was easy to use, and 231 of 296 responders (78.0%) said the visual design was appealing. Two-thirds of respondents would recommend the app to other fathers (199/296), and 59.0% of respondents agreed that it was interesting or fun to use (170/288). In terms of actual breastfeeding support, 54.6% of respondents (161/295) agreed that the app had made them more aware of how they could help with breastfeeding, and a similar proportion of respondents (160/296, 54.0%) indicated that the app had led to discussions with their partner.

Content

Information Library

App analytics data showed the range of library articles viewed by users was 0 to 79 (mean 11.46 per participant, SD 13.7). All

Figure 3. Motivators to use app (respondents could choose more than one response).

except 1 of the most frequently accessed articles were linked to via a conversation topic. Many of the library articles contained links to external sources including websites and YouTube videos. Users followed unique links to external sites (not including multiple visits to the same link over time) between 0 and 43 times. The average number of unique links followed per person was 3 (SD 5.3). The top 10 most followed links were all associated with topics in the conversation forum, either by a direct link from the topic or from a library article the topic linked to.

Overall, responses to the 6-week questionnaire, regarding perspectives on the library, were positive and demonstrated value to respondents. Two-thirds of respondents reported that they found the information easy to find (201/297, 67.7%) and that the links were appropriate and useful (194/296, 65.5%). The following comments from the 6-week questionnaire reinforce these results:

The information was useful and especially links to other websites and organisation[s].

It's helpful to have information at your fingertips. Informative, fun and covers different areas of breastfeeding.



http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12157/

A total of 72.3% of respondents (214/296) said that they learned new information from the library, whereas 78.4% of respondents (233/297) trusted the information. However, only 23.6% of respondents (70/296) reported using the app when they needed to find information, and 57.6% of respondents (171/297) agreed that the library contained enough information. The following comments were received from the fathers in the 6-week questionnaire:

Maybe more content in the LIBRARY that doesn't necessarily focus as much on breastfeeding but on other newborn baby facts/issues/problems/events.

It's actually very good like it is. More contents would be good though.

Conversation

The total number of comments posted in the conversation forum by users was 1126. The number of comments made by each participant ranged from 0 to 57 with an average of 2.21 (SD 5.246). The fathers used the conversation to offer and seek social support, to source connection and information, and to share experiences. Users voted on polls 3096 times.

The fathers were asked their perspectives on the conversation section of the app. The responses to each of the questions in the 6-week questionnaire are displayed in Table 2. Overall, 63.0% of respondents (186/295) agreed (choosing to agree or strongly agree) that it was good to hear from other dads; however, only 29.9% (89/297) agreed that they found the conversation engaging. In addition, 37.1% of respondents (110/296) reportedly returned to the conversation after first viewing the topic to see if there were any new comments in the thread.

Respondents to the 6-week questionnaire were also asked about the impact the app had on generating conversations. A total of 54.1% (160/296) said that the information in the app had led to conversations with their partner, and 52.5% (156/297) said that the conversation forum itself had prompted discussions. These results were more pronounced for those who used the app for a longer period. Of those respondents who had stopped using Milk Man before 6 weeks postpartum, 38.3% (54/141) said that the conversation forum had prompted a discussion with their partner, compared with 65.4% (102/156) who were still using it at 6-weeks postpartum. Similarly, only 34.3% (48/140) of respondents not using the app at 6 weeks postpartum said that the information in the app had prompted a discussion, compared with 71.8% (112/156) who were still using the app. Respondents also provided comments indicating that the app was raising new information:

[Good for] generating discussion for something not normally considered.

[I liked] Different topics provided that fathers may not have thought to discuss or read up on.

Due to the way fathers were grouped depending on when their baby was due, the sizes of some of the conversation groups were quite small (group numbers ranged from 16 to 47), and the small numbers in some groups impacted the level of conversation. Several of the fathers noted that having an active researcher participating in the conversation could be of benefit:

It's pretty quiet in there, hardly any interaction to comments. Need to get someone in there to reply to comments, get things going a bit in there.

The community is either not big enough or I am limited to only being exposed to what my own group posts. I find most of the time the conversation sections are empty. I post something and rarely does anyone else respond. I am 11th in the leaderboard and feel I have barely contributed. The people above me I have basically never seen post so maybe they used it a while ago and have since stopped?

Other suggestions for increasing collaboration included incorporating threaded replies and increasing the number of polls. A total of 4 fathers suggested incorporating a face-to-face aspect would be beneficial as well:

I think the app would work better if you had met the other dads a few times.

A real-world meetup would be nice as well - over a couple of beers.

The conversation was also one of the most commonly cited aspects that the fathers liked about the app. Some fathers reported that the conversation had helped them feel less alone and had created a sense of community. Others reported enjoying the polls, talking to others, and the humor:

Hearing from other dads; the community feel.

Helpful tips from other blokes who are in the same position.

It's a reminder that I'm not alone!

User perspectives on Milk Man Conversation Forum	Agree or strongly agree, n (%)	Neither agree nor disagree, n (%)	Disagree or strongly disagree, n (%)
I find the conversation engaging (n=297)	89 (29.9)	125 (42.1)	83 (27.9)
It was good hearing from other dads (n=295)	186 (63.0)	84 (28.5)	25 (8.5)
I sometimes returned to the conversation to see if there were any new comments (n=296)	110 (37.2)	88 (29.7)	98 (33.1)
I trusted the information in the conversation (n=297)	89 (29.9)	170 (57.2)	38 (12.8)
I have acted on advice that I have read in the conversation (n=297)	57 (19.2)	149 (50.1)	91 (30.6)

Table 2. User perspectives on the conversation.



Push Notifications

The most common thing that motivated the responders to the 6-week questionnaire to use the app was receiving the biweekly push notifications. This is reinforced by app analytics data on the usage of the app showing consistent spikes in activity on the days new content was added to the conversation and the push notifications were sent out. The usage over a 1-month period is displayed in Figure 4, demonstrating consistent spikes in activity on the days push notifications were sent out. This usage was typical of what was observed throughout the study. The average number of times that users swiped into the app from the push notifications was 2.5, and this indicated that although the swipe function was not highly used, the push notifications were a trigger for app use.

Gamification

Users earned points for their level of participation with the different components of the app. The number of points achieved by users ranged from 0 to 153 with an average of 22.24 per user (SD 25.6). Badges were another feature of the gamification strategy and were earned for completing certain actions. The most commonly achieved badges were as follows: voting on 5 polls (n=231), reading 10 articles (n=195), posting their first comment (n=187), opening the app 5 weeks in a row (n=184), and voting on 10 polls (n=155).

For those who were still using the app at 6-weeks postpartum, approximately one-third of respondents said that the gamification elements were encouraging that use. This included earning points (64/156, 41.0%), earning badges (54/156, 34.6%), and their position on the leaderboard (43/154, 27.9%). Those who had stopped using the app before completing the 6-week questionnaire were significantly less likely to agree that any of the gamification functions encouraged their use (P<.001).

Figure 4. App usage over a 1-month period.

There was a diverse range in respondents' opinions on the gamification. Some fathers reported enjoying the gamification elements and said that aspects of it actively encouraged their continued use of the app, with some reporting that it was their main motivator:

Have you seen my points? I'm totally kicking ass. [I liked] the competition aspect.

Others, however, did not like it and some respondents reported that it discouraged their use of the app. The following comments were posted in response to the open-ended questions asking what respondents liked about the app, and what could improve it:

Make it a little easier to earn points and badges, at least initially, to motivate use.

Review the points system as having points for people liking your comments etc creates scenarios of people making comments for the sake of it to get points.

Change out the leaderboard style for one where people earn status credentials, where people's credentials are listed next to their name on posts. E.g. such as how's it is done with reviewers in Amazon. Personally I do not want to be listed on a leaderboard on this kind of app; it didn't encourage me to use the app.

Technology

The app was built for the iOS and Android platforms and included a customized app analytics framework that tracked how and when individual fathers were using the app over time. Figure 5 shows the aggregated total number of unique days the app was opened each week, ranging from 10 weeks before birth, to 6 weeks after the birth of their baby. The graph shows that the highest usage of the app by fathers was in the week their baby was born.





Figure 5. Unique days app was opened over time.

700



During the implementation of the study (24 months), there were 4 operating system updates (2 iOS and 2 Android), and the app required updating a total of 4 times. A detailed log was kept of each technological event that happened over the trial period and the impact it had on the app intervention and app users. There were 2 major technological events that had an impact on the app during the intervention. The first was the retiring of the Parse service that was hosting the backend of the app, resulting in the need to migrate the backend to another hosting service midtrial. The second was the identification of a bug that prevented some users from viewing the conversation. Close monitoring of the analytics framework during and after these events demonstrated minimal impact on participants' use of the app and on the trial.

Computer-Mediated Technology

Findability, usability, and functionality are important concepts in information technology. Over two-thirds of respondents (199/297, 67.0%) agreed or strongly agreed that the information was easy to find within the app. A total of 83.4% (247/296) of respondents said that they found the app easy to use, and 78.0% (231/296) agreed that the visual design was appealing.

These findings were reinforced by qualitative data from the questionnaires. When asked what they liked about the app, comments about both the design and the ease of use were common. Of the 139 open-ended responses received, 23 specifically referenced the app design in a positive manner, and

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12157/

31 said they liked how easy the app was to use. Comments about the design of the app covered specific features such as the graphics, the visual design, the general layout, and how well it worked:

Well designed and very engaging.

I have no interest in the points thing but I thought it was good stuff, well done. I thought the app was really well put together.

Easy to use right on your smart phone to check regularly.

In considering the collaboration of the community, when examining responses to open-ended questions asking the fathers what they liked about Milk Man, many respondents (38/139, 27.3%) made specific suggestions for improving the conversation that would better support interaction and collaboration. The most common suggestion was for the fathers to be able to start their own conversation topics, as this was not available during the trial, and fathers could only comment on researcher-generated content:

Also, changing the format of the CONVERSATION aspect to maybe allow users to create their own conversation and polls on particular topics that they might be seeking guidance or support on.

A chat section where we can start conversations or ask questions and answer each other's questions. At

XSL•FO RenderX

the moment we can only talk about what Milk Man posts.

Health System Integration

Health system integration represents the larger system in which the intervention is being implemented. This was measured at the process evaluation level by examining how the app facilitated access to other services. Users used the app to access the websites of other health organizations a total of 912 times. This includes government and nongovernment health organizations. The 2 most common websites visited were the Raising Children Network (329) and the Australian Breastfeeding Association (264).

Discussion

Principal Findings

The findings described in this study demonstrate both the usage and user perspectives of the Milk Man mobile app. One of the strengths of this study is that app usage was not prescribed. The fathers were asked to use the app as they would use it in real life rather than, for example, being asked to spend a certain number of hours using it each week. This resulted in a wide variance in usage patterns, which is likely to reflect a real-life situation. The process evaluation provided 7 key insights:

- The Milk Man app intervention is an acceptable approach, and the weeks immediately around the time of their baby's birth may be a key time to reach fathers with information.
- The conversation forum emerged as the hub of app activity; however, there are ways it could be strengthened.
- Push notifications were an effective way of encouraging engagement.
- The library was well received and trusted, but the fathers wanted additional and more comprehensive information.
- Gamification can be a powerful motivator for usage for some members of this target group.
- The app showed encouraging results in facilitating conversations between partners.
- Working in partnership with the app developer throughout the trial was beneficial.

Acceptable Approach

The data show that the Milk Man app intervention was an acceptable approach and one that the fathers were prepared to engage with and received value from. User perspectives confirmed this, with high percentages of fathers agreeing that the app was easy to use, the visual design was appealing, and that they would recommend the app to other fathers. The usage data suggested that the weeks immediately before and after the birth of their baby may be a key time to reach fathers with information. Milk Man is the first breastfeeding app targeted to fathers, and the research on using digital interventions to reach new fathers is in its infancy. This finding of acceptability is important as other studies have demonstrated that while fathers are important in providing breastfeeding support to their partners, they can sometimes feel that antenatal education is not targeted to them [25,47,48].

The Conversation Forum Was Central

There was little in the literature to suggest how fathers would use a breastfeeding conversation forum; however, the forum emerged as the focal point of the app. When asked what motivated them to use the app, *liking seeing what other dads have written* was the second highest motivator. Almost all the most read library articles and external links followed from the app originated from links within the conversation forum. Our team has previously reported how fathers have used the app to seek and offer social support [31]. This finding is consistent with that of other researchers who have reported that fathers use parenting forums to find emotional support [28], with parenting websites being particularly helpful in supporting men's transition to fathering [49].

Whereas the conversation was clearly important, some of the overall perspectives on its value were relatively low. Although 63% of respondents said it was good hearing from other dads, only 30% found the conversation engaging, and only 30% trusted the information in the forum. There are real opportunities to explore further how this forum could best work on a population level, and participants had some suggestions for how to improve it.

The main suggestion was the ability for fathers to start their own conversation topics. Several fathers also suggested that having an active researcher participating in the conversation could be beneficial. Electronic coaching has been demonstrated as a promising approach to healthy lifestyle interventions [50], yet little is known about how this would impact a father-focused perinatal intervention. Having an active peer-facilitator embedded in the app may help to start conversations, to answer respondents, and increase opportunities for conversations and support. A higher percentage of fathers commented in the Milk Man conversation forum as compared with what has been observed in other studies [31]. Trialing the app on a population level will increase the number of fathers in each group and potentially impact the level and quality of conversation.

Push Notifications

The push notifications proved to be an effective way of encouraging engagement with a mobile app and the analytics data show that there was increased app activity on the days that new content was added to the app and the push notifications were sent out. This was reinforced by fathers stating that the push notifications were the highest factor motivating their use of the app. Push notifications have been associated with increased engagement in other studies [51], including with a workplace health promotion intervention reporting users being more likely to engage with the app in the 24 hours after a notification was sent [52]. There is a balance to be struck as too many push notifications may be annoying and cause people to turn them off, and too few may cause people to lose connection with the intervention. The Milk Man app sent 2 notifications each week, however, more may be acceptable, particularly in the weeks immediately before and after the birth of the baby when usage was at the highest. More research is needed to understand the optimal schedule.



Library

The use of the information in the library section was strongly associated with the conversation forum. Articles and websites that contained links from the conversation were more likely to be highly accessed. The app was useful as a gateway to other organizations. The top 2 external websites visited were national peak bodies (Raising Children Network and the Australian Breastfeeding Association) that are sources of credible and reliable information.

Fathers (79%) trusted the information in the library section, yet only 25% reported coming to the app when they needed to source information. The library contained information on topics broader than breastfeeding, including sleep, crying, fatherhood, and mental health among others. Despite this, there was a strong push for more diverse and greater quantity of content in the library. Repositioning the app to be both a breastfeeding *and* early parenting app may help with this. Recent research with new and expecting parents in Canada has highlighted the need for breastfeeding information to be provided in a broad context. [53] This needs assessment for an infant feeding website found that fathers most wanted information on the benefits of breastfeeding, identifying babies' cues, how fathers can be involved and help their partners with breastfeeding, and what to expect in the early days.

Gamification

Use of the gamification strategy was mixed in this study. Some fathers embraced it and it was their main motivator for using the app, whereas others reported that it had an adverse impact. There were differences in how people perceived gamification, with participants who were still using the app at 6-weeks postpartum being significantly more likely to report that the gamification functions were encouraging use, than those who stopped before 6 weeks. Other researchers have found that gamification can positively impact aspects of engagement [54], and more research is needed to better understand this dynamic in the context of Milk Man.

This study has shown that gamification can be a powerful motivator with this target group; however, care needs to be taken to better understand how its inclusion may impact those who reported not enjoying it, and the app should include the option of being fully functional without participation in the gamification.

Conversation Between Parents

A key intent of the app was to increase parental self-efficacy by encouraging communication between parents. This, along with increasing understanding and knowledge about breastfeeding, was important in giving parents the tools to work together. Throughout the app, the content regularly suggested that fathers *check-in* with their partners about different issues. Over half of the fathers overall said that the information in the app had led to a discussion with their partner. This was more apparent for those participants who were still using the app at 6 weeks postpartum. Aiming to keep people engaged with the app for a longer period may increase the level of discussion between partners. The findings from this study showed promising results in terms of fathers discussing or showing their partner something from the app. Research from a text messaging–based study for fathers has also found that targeted content delivered in a mobile intervention can encourage conversation between parents [55]. These are important findings as parents who work together to prepare for challenges and changes in the perinatal period fare better in terms of mental health outcomes compared with those who do not [56].

Partnership With App Developer

Many researchers have recommended bringing app developers onboard early in the ideation process and involving them in the project planning and implementation [38,57,58]. Our project benefited significantly from implementing this recommendation, and the app developer was engaged at the design and ideation phase of the study and remained a team member throughout. In addition, the app developer contributed heavily to the app's design and usability, both of which were key factors with many participants.

Trialing an app over a 24-month period is a long time, and there were several technological events identified over this time period, including software bugs and operating system updates. The customized analytics framework embedded in the app allowed for fine-grained monitoring of per-user use and early detection of technical issues. The issues that were identified could be addressed quickly and smoothly with minimal disruption to participants and the project implementation. Other studies have reported difficulties working with app developers or with technological challenges impacting the study implementation [59-61]. By engaging app developers as part of the research team and having them be, in part, responsible for monitoring the implementation throughout the trial, technological challenges are more likely to be identified earlier and addressed promptly.

Recommendations

This paper adds significant understanding of on how to effectively use a mobile app to reach fathers with information during the perinatal period and has resulted in the following recommendations for future research:

- In developing mobile apps for fathers, considered engagement is key. Incorporating regular push notifications that are carefully timed and linked to new content can be an effective way of encouraging engagement with a mobile app.
- Incorporating user consultation throughout the app development process and working in partnership with app developers are important steps.
- The weeks immediately around the birth of their child are likely to be a key time when fathers are receptive to new information, and more information and support should be targeted toward fathers at this important time.
- Gamification can be a powerful motivator with this target group; however, care needs to be taken to understand how its inclusion may impact those who do not enjoy it, and apps should be fully functional without participating in the gamification.



- The Milk Man app should be released publicly in Australia to enable research into the impact and the engagement of fathers on a national level.
- To standardize and ensure best practice in app development, public health researchers should consider broad process evaluation plans. Researchers should plan ways to closely monitor the robustness of the technology over time to ensure any impact on the intervention is identified and addressed quickly.

Strengths and Limitations

A strength of this study is the triangulation of robust and objective app usage data collected from the custom-built app analytics framework, with more subjective quantitative data collected from users via a Web-based questionnaire. The combination of both types of quantitative data was integral in understanding user involvement in the study and how that impacted on process evaluation indicators. The comprehensive approach to reporting on process evaluation provides a framework that can be adapted by other researchers. A notable limitation of this study was that not all participants completed the 6-week questionnaire, which resulted in a gap in understanding of their motivation to use the app. Having brief incidental assessments delivered through the app directly could have been one way of mitigating this loss.

A further limitation relates to the generalizability of the findings as all participants were from metropolitan Perth and were more highly educated than the general population, which may have biased the results. In addition, participants were recruited directly from antenatal classes. As these classes are recommended by care providers, but not mandated, this may have introduced a bias in that participants may already be more engaged with childbirth and breastfeeding than other members of the target group. Further research needs to be undertaken to understand the acceptability and impact of this method with people living outside of the Perth area, with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander parents, culturally and linguistically diverse parents, and with other specific populations.

Conclusions

Although this paper does not report on the effectiveness of the Milk Man mobile app in relation to breastfeeding outcomes, it does provide useful insights into the effectiveness of the innovative strategies that were incorporated in the app to encourage fathers to use the app. As this was the first breastfeeding app for fathers, little was known about how participants would interact with the app, and these comprehensive results will help guide future work in this area and with this target group. There are many different aspects that can affect the implementation of health promotion interventions using a mobile app. Having a process evaluation framework that is comprehensive and specifically focused on areas that include the robustness of the technology and interaction between users and the app interface, will provide an overall picture of usability and acceptability. This was significantly aided by the custom-built analytics framework embedded in the app. Reporting process evaluation indicators against a broad evaluation framework as described here will help researchers better understand and interpret app intervention studies.

Current research in this field highlights that fathers are important in breastfeeding, that they want to help support their partners, and that they need additional information and support. This study demonstrates that fathers are prepared to seek that information and support through a carefully designed mobile app. It was hypothesized that increasing paternal support for breastfeeding may have a positive impact on breastfeeding outcomes. This paper describes the way in which fathers used the Milk Man app; the next stage is to examine the impact of this on behavior change and breastfeeding outcomes. The strategies described here show encouraging results in engaging fathers and the learnings and recommendations from this research will inform the continued development of Milk Man to better support families.

Acknowledgments

The research on which this paper is based was conducted as part of the PIFI, which was funded by a Healthway Health Promotion Research grant (#24023). The authors are grateful to the fathers and mothers who participated in the intervention and to the staff of the participating hospitals who helped with recruitment. BKW would like to acknowledge scholarships from the Australian Government Research Training Program and Curtin University in supporting this research.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Milk Man library headers. [DOCX File, 18KB - pediatrics_v2i1e12157_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Questionnaire (Milk Man questions at 6 weeks postpartum). [DOCX File, 21KB - pediatrics_v2i1e12157_app2.docx]

References

	nu
XSL•	FO
Rend	erX

- 1. Ip S, Chung M, Raman G, Chew P, Magila N, DeVine D, et al. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. 2007. Breastfeeding and maternal and child health outcomes in developed countries URL: <u>https://archive.ahrq.gov/downloads/pub/evidence/pdf/brfout/brfout.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-06-06] [WebCite Cache ID 78v9xGv2v]
- Chowdhury R, Sinha B, Sankar MJ, Taneja S, Bhandari N, Rollins N, et al. Breastfeeding and maternal health outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Paediatr 2015 Dec;104(467):96-113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/apa.13102] [Medline: 26172878]
- Victora CG, Bahl R, Barros AJD, França GVA, Horton S, Krasevec J, Lancet Breastfeeding Series Group. Breastfeeding in the 21st century: epidemiology, mechanisms, and lifelong effect. Lancet 2016 Jan 30;387(10017):475-490. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01024-7] [Medline: 26869575]
- 4. Kørvel-Hanquist A, Djurhuus BD, Homøe P. The effect of breastfeeding on childhood otitis media. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 2017 Jul;17(7):45. [doi: 10.1007/s11882-017-0712-3] [Medline: 28589514]
- 5. Bowatte G, Tham R, Allen KJ, Tan DJ, Lau M, Dai X, et al. Breastfeeding and childhood acute otitis media: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Paediatr 2015 Dec;104(467):85-95. [doi: 10.1111/apa.13151] [Medline: 26265016]
- Horta BL, Loret de Mola C, Victora CG. Long-term consequences of breastfeeding on cholesterol, obesity, systolic blood pressure and type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Paediatr 2015 Dec;104(467):30-37. [doi: 10.1111/apa.13133] [Medline: 26192560]
- Schwarz EB, Ray RM, Stuebe AM, Allison MA, Ness RB, Freiberg MS, et al. Duration of lactation and risk factors for maternal cardiovascular disease. Obstet Gynecol 2009 May;113(5):974-982 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000346884.67796.ca] [Medline: 19384111]
- 8. World Health Organization. Exclusive breastfeeding statement URL: <u>https://www.who.int/nutrition/topics/</u> exclusive_breastfeeding/en// [WebCite Cache ID 6wd95whtz]
- 9. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. 2011. 2010 Australian National Infant Feeding Survey: indicator results URL: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/mothers-babies/2010-australian-national-infant-feeding-survey/contents/table-of-contents [accessed 2019-06-06] [WebCite Cache ID 78vATtmTM]
- 10. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2017. 4364.0.55.002 Health Service Usage and Health Related Actions, Australia, 2014-15: Breastfeeding URL: <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Lookup/by%20Subject/4364.0.55.</u> 002~2014-15~Main%20Features~Breastfeeding~10000 [accessed 2019-06-06] [WebCite Cache ID 78vAzAK19]
- Donath SM, Amir LH. Breastfeeding and the introduction of solids in Australian infants: data from the 2001 National Health Survey. Aust N Z J Public Health 2005 Apr;29(2):171-175. [Medline: <u>15915623</u>]
- 12. Dennis C. Breastfeeding initiation and duration: a 1990-2000 literature review. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs 2002;31(1):12-32. [Medline: <u>11843016</u>]
- Thulier D, Mercer J. Variables associated with breastfeeding duration. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs 2009;38(3):259-268. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1552-6909.2009.01021.x</u>] [Medline: <u>19538614</u>]
- 14. Meedya S, Fahy K, Kable A. Factors that positively influence breastfeeding duration to 6 months: a literature review. Women Birth 2010 Dec;23(4):135-145. [doi: 10.1016/j.wombi.2010.02.002] [Medline: 20299299]
- Scott JA, Binns CW, Graham KJ, Oddy WH. Temporal changes in the determinants of breastfeeding initiation. Birth 2006 Mar;33(1):37-45. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.0730-7659.2006.00072.x</u>] [Medline: <u>16499530</u>]
- Wolfberg AJ, Michels KB, Shields W, O'Campo P, Bronner Y, Bienstock J. Dads as breastfeeding advocates: results from a randomized controlled trial of an educational intervention. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2004 Sep;191(3):708-712. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ajog.2004.05.019</u>] [Medline: <u>15467529</u>]
- 17. Scott JA, Binns CW, Oddy WH, Graham KI. Predictors of breastfeeding duration: evidence from a cohort study. Pediatrics 2006 Apr;117(4):e646-e655. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-1991] [Medline: 16585281]
- Swanson V, Power KG. Initiation and continuation of breastfeeding: theory of planned behaviour. J Adv Nurs 2005 May;50(3):272-282. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2648.2005.03390.x</u>]
- 19. Hauck Y, Hall WA, Jones C. Prevalence, self-efficacy and perceptions of conflicting advice and self-management: effects of a breastfeeding journal. J Adv Nurs 2007 Feb;57(3):306-317. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2006.04136.x]
- 20. Swanson V, Power K, Kaur B, Carter H, Shepherd K. The impact of knowledge and social influences on adolescents' breast-feeding beliefs and intentions. Public Health Nutr 2006 May;9(3):297-305. [Medline: <u>16684380</u>]
- Al Namir HM, Brady A, Gallagher L. Fathers and breastfeeding: attitudes, involvement and support. Br J Midwifery 2017 Jul 2;25(7):426-440. [doi: <u>10.12968/bjom.2017.25.7.426</u>]
- 22. Mitchell-Box K, Braun KL. Fathers' thoughts on breastfeeding and implications for a theory-based intervention. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs 2012;41(6):E41-E50. [doi: 10.1111/j.1552-6909.2012.01399.x] [Medline: 22861175]
- Tohotoa J, Maycock B, Hauck YL, Howat P, Burns S, Binns CW. Dads make a difference: an exploratory study of paternal support for breastfeeding in Perth, Western Australia. Int Breastfeed J 2009;4:15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1746-4358-4-15] [Medline: 19943958]
- 24. Brown A, Lee M. An exploration of the attitudes and experiences of mothers in the United Kingdom who chose to breastfeed exclusively for 6 months postpartum. Breastfeed Med 2011 Aug;6(4):197-204. [doi: 10.1089/bfm.2010.0097] [Medline: 21657889]

- 25. Tohotoa J, Maycock B, Hauck Y, Howat P, Burns S, Binns C. Supporting mothers to breastfeed: the development and process evaluation of a father inclusive perinatal education support program in Perth, Western Australia. Health Promot Int 2011 Sep;26(3):351-361 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/heapro/daq077] [Medline: 21156662]
- 26. Sherriff N, Hall V, Panton C. Engaging and supporting fathers to promote breast feeding: a concept analysis. Midwifery 2014 Jun;30(6):667-677. [doi: 10.1016/j.midw.2013.07.014] [Medline: 23958385]
- 27. Singh D, Newburn M. National Childbirth Trust. 2000. Becoming a Father: Men's Access to Information and Support about Pregnancy, Birth and Life with a New Baby URL: <u>https://www.nct.org.uk/sites/default/files/related_documents/</u> Becoming%20a%20father.pdf [accessed 2019-06-06] [WebCite Cache ID 78vBhSa9K]
- 28. Lupton D, Pedersen S, Thomas GM. Parenting and digital media: from the early web to contemporary digital society. Sociol Compass 2016 Aug 2;10(8):730-743. [doi: 10.1111/soc4.12398]
- 29. Da Costa D, Zelkowitz P, Letourneau N, Howlett A, Dennis CL, Russell B, et al. HealthyDads. ca: what do men want in a website designed to promote emotional wellness and healthy behaviors during the transition to parenthood? J Med Internet Res 2017 Oct 11;19(10):e325 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7415] [Medline: 29021126]
- 30. Lupton D. The use and value of digital media for information about pregnancy and early motherhood: a focus group study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2016 Dec 19;16(1):171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-016-0971-3] [Medline: 27435182]
- 31. White BK, Giglia RC, Scott JA, Burns SK. How new and expecting fathers engage with an app-based online forum: qualitative analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jun 18;6(6):e144 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9999] [Medline: 29914862]
- 32. Niela-Vilén H, Axelin A, Salanterä S, Melender H. Internet-based peer support for parents: a systematic integrative review. Int J Nurs Stud 2014 Nov;51(11):1524-1537. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.06.009] [Medline: 24998788]
- Lau Y, Htun TP, Tam WS, Klainin-Yobas P. Efficacy of e-technologies in improving breastfeeding outcomes among perinatal women: a meta-analysis. Matern Child Nutr 2016 Dec;12(3):381-401. [doi: <u>10.1111/mcn.12202</u>] [Medline: <u>26194599</u>]
- 34. Deloitte. 2018. Mobile Consumer behaviour URL: <u>https://www2.deloitte.com/au/mobile-consumer-survey</u> [accessed 2019-06-06] [WebCite Cache ID 78vCCPIRR]
- Perski O, Blandford A, West R, Michie S. Conceptualising engagement with digital behaviour change interventions: a systematic review using principles from critical interpretive synthesis. Transl Behav Med 2016 Dec 13. [doi: 10.1007/s13142-016-0453-1] [Medline: 27966189]
- 36. Maycock BR, Scott JA, Hauck YL, Burns SK, Robinson S, Giglia R, et al. A study to prolong breastfeeding duration: design and rationale of the Parent Infant Feeding Initiative (PIFI) randomised controlled trial. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2015 Aug 1;15:159 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-015-0601-5] [Medline: 26231519]
- 37. White BK, Martin A, White JA, Burns SK, Maycock BR, Giglia RC, et al. Theory-based design and development of a socially connected, gamified mobile app for men about breastfeeding (Milk Man). JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Jun 27;4(2):e81 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.5652] [Medline: 27349756]
- 38. Dialogue Consulting. Guidelines for developing healthy living apps. Melbourne: VicHealth; 2015. URL: <u>https://www.vichealth.vic.gov.au/media-and-resources/app-developers [WebCite Cache ID 6fBRNjV5z]</u>
- 39. Bandura A. Social Foundations of Thought and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall; 1986.
- 40. Nutbeam D, Bauman A. Evaluation in a Nutshell. Sydney, NSW: McGraw-Hill Australia; 2006.
- 41. White BK, Burns SK, Giglia RC, Scott JA. Designing evaluation plans for health promotion mHealth interventions: a case study of the Milk Man mobile app. Health Promot J Austr 2016 Feb;27(3):198-203. [doi: 10.1071/HE16041] [Medline: 27784506]
- 42. O'Grady L, Witteman H, Bender JL, Urowitz S, Wiljer D, Jadad AR. Measuring the impact of a moving target: towards a dynamic framework for evaluating collaborative adaptive interactive technologies. J Med Internet Res 2009;11(2):e20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1058] [Medline: 19632973]
- Stoyanov SR, Hides L, Kavanagh DJ, Wilson H. Development and validation of the user version of the Mobile Application Rating Scale (uMARS). JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Jun 10;4(2):e72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.5849] [Medline: 27287964]
- 44. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 3301.0 Births, Australia, 2016 URL: <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/</u> <u>Previousproducts/3301.0Main%20Features32016?opendocument&tabname=Summary&prodno=3301.</u> <u>0&issue=2016&num=&view= [WebCite Cache ID 72IbwvnzU]</u>
- 45. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2017. Census reveals a fast changing, culturally diverse nation URL: <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/</u> ausstats/abs@.nsf/lookup/Media%20Release3 [WebCite Cache ID 6zg6NtAIp]
- 46. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2016. Census of Population and Housing (2016), TableBuilder. Findings based on use of ABS TableBuilder data URL: <u>http://www.abs.gov.au/websitedbs/censushome.nsf/h [WebCite Cache ID 72Ic8RVaG]</u>
- 47. Brown A, Davies R. Fathers' experiences of supporting breastfeeding: challenges for breastfeeding promotion and education. Matern Child Nutr 2014 Oct;10(4):510-526 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/mcn.12129] [Medline: 24720518]
- 48. Sherriff N, Hall V, Pickin M. Fathers' perspectives on breastfeeding: ideas for intervention. Br J Midwifery 2009 Apr;17(4):223-227. [doi: 10.12968/bjom.2009.17.4.41670]

- 49. Friedewald M, Fletcher R, Fairbairn H. All-male discussion forums for expectant fathers: evaluation of a model. J Perinat Educ 2005;14(2):8-18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1624/105812405X44673] [Medline: 17273428]
- 50. Lentferink AJ, Oldenhuis HK, de Groot M, Polstra L, Velthuijsen H, van Gemert-Pijnen JE. Key components in eHealth interventions combining self-tracking and persuasive eCoaching to promote a healthier lifestyle: a scoping review. J Med Internet Res 2017 Aug 1;19(8):e277 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7288] [Medline: 28765103]
- Alkhaldi G, Hamilton FL, Lau R, Webster R, Michie S, Murray E. The effectiveness of prompts to promote engagement with digital interventions: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jan 8;18(1):e6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4790] [Medline: 26747176]
- 52. Bidargaddi N, Almirall D, Murphy S, Nahum-Shani I, Kovalcik M, Pituch T, et al. To prompt or not to prompt? A microrandomized trial of time-varying push notifications to increase proximal engagement with a mobile health app. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Nov 29;6(11):e10123 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10123] [Medline: 30497999]
- 53. Abbass-Dick J, Xie F, Koroluk J, Alcock Brillinger S, Huizinga J, Newport A, et al. The development and piloting of an eHealth breastfeeding resource targeting fathers and partners as co-parents. Midwifery 2017 Jul;50:139-147. [doi: 10.1016/j.midw.2017.04.004] [Medline: 28448858]
- 54. Kelders SM, Sommers-Spijkerman M, Goldberg J. Investigating the direct impact of a gamified versus nongamified well-being intervention: an exploratory experiment. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jul 26;20(7):e247 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9923] [Medline: 30049669]
- 55. Fletcher R, May C, Kay Lambkin F, Gemmill AW, Cann W, Nicholson JM, et al. SMS4dads: providing information and support to new fathers through mobile phones a pilot study. Adv Ment Health 2016 Oct 26;15(2):121-131. [doi: 10.1080/18387357.2016.1245586]
- 56. Colquhoun G, Elkins N. Beyond Blue. 2015. Healthy Dads? The challenge of being a new father URL: <u>https://www.beyondblue.org.au/docs/default-source/research-project-files/bw0313-beyondblue-healthy-dads-full-report.pdf?sfvrsn=6f0243ea_0</u> [accessed 2019-06-06] [WebCite Cache ID 78vL6LpPv]
- 57. Lister C, West JH, Cannon B, Sax T, Brodegard D. Just a fad? Gamification in health and fitness apps. JMIR Serious Games 2014;2(2):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/games.3413] [Medline: 25654660]
- 58. Becker S, Miron-Shatz T, Schumacher N, Krocza J, Diamantidis C, Albrecht U. mHealth 2.0: experiences, possibilities, and perspectives. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2014;2(2):e24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3328] [Medline: 25099752]
- 59. Taki S, Lymer S, Russell CG, Campbell K, Laws R, Ong K, et al. Assessing user engagement of an mHealth intervention: development and implementation of the growing healthy app engagement index. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Jun 29;5(6):e89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7236] [Medline: 28663164]
- Hebden L, Cook A, van der Ploeg HP, Allman-Farinelli M. Development of smartphone applications for nutrition and physical activity behavior change. JMIR Res Protoc 2012 Aug;1(2):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.2205] [Medline: 23611892]
- 61. Curtis K. CBC Digi-Hub Blog. London: UCL; 2017. Riding the waves of mHealth development URL: <u>https://blogs.ucl.ac.uk/</u> <u>cbc-digi-hub-blog/2017/10/03/riding-the-waves-of-mhealth-development/</u> [accessed 2019-06-06] [WebCite Cache ID 78vd6wM3C]

Abbreviations

PIFI: Parent Infant Feeding Initiative **RCT:** randomized controlled trial

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 09.09.18; peer-reviewed by K Skelton, S Taki, Z Reis, L Morrison; comments to author 11.03.19; revised version received 24.04.19; accepted 17.05.19; published 20.06.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> White B, Giglia RC, White JA, Dhaliwal S, Burns SK, Scott JA Gamifying Breastfeeding for Fathers: Process Evaluation of the Milk Man Mobile App JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12157 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12157/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/12157</u> PMID:<u>31518324</u>

©Becky White, Roslyn C Giglia, James A White, Satvinder Dhaliwal, Sharyn K Burns, Jane A Scott. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 20.06.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is
properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Advancing Optimal Development in Children: Examining the Construct Validity of a Parent Reflective Functioning Questionnaire

Monica De Roo¹, MC; Gina Wong¹, RPysch, PhD; Gwen R Rempel², RN, PhD; Shawn N Fraser², PhD

¹Graduate Centre for Applied Psychology, Faculty of Health Disciplines, Athabasca University, Athabasca, AB, Canada ²Centre for Nursing and Health Studies, Faculty of Health Disciplines, Athabasca University, Athabasca, AB, Canada

Corresponding Author: Shawn N Fraser, PhD Centre for Nursing and Health Studies Faculty of Health Disciplines Athabasca University 1 University Drive Athabasca, AB, T9S 3A3 Canada Phone: 1 7804300590

Email: <u>shawnf@athabascau.ca</u>

Abstract

Background: Parental reflective functioning (PRF) is the capacity parents have to understand their own mental states and those of their children, as well as the influence of those mental states on behavior. Parents with greater capacity for PRF are more likely to foster secure attachment with their children. The Parental Development Interview is a gold standard measure of PRF but is hampered by cost, training, and length of administration. The 18-item Parent Reflective Functioning Questionnaire (PRFQ-18) is a simpler option developed to capture 3 types of PRF: (1) prementalizing, (2) parent's certainty, and (3) interest and curiosity surrounding a child's mental state.

Objective: The aim of this study was to examine the factor structure and select psychometric properties of the PRFQ in a sample of Canadian parents.

Methods: We examined the factor structure and discriminant and construct validity of the PRFQ-18 among 306 parents (males=120 and females=186) across Canada; the age range of children was 0 to 12 years. Parents also completed Web-based measures of perceived stress, parental coping, parenting competence, and social support.

Results: A confirmatory factor analysis confirmed the hypothesized 3-factor structure of the PRFQ-18 providing evidence that the PRFQ-18 may be a useful and practical measure of PRF in Canadian adults and showed minor revisions may improve the suitability of the PRFQ-18 for assessing PRF.

Conclusions: These results add support for the construct validity of the PRFQ-18.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e11561) doi:10.2196/11561

KEYWORDS

mentalization; parent reflective functioning; questionnaire design; parenting

Introduction

Background

RenderX

Decades of research unequivocally demonstrate that reflective processes enhance parental insight and sensitivity toward children's emotions [1-5]. Reflective functioning (RF), first introduced by Fonagy et al in 1991, describes an individual's cognitive capacity to recognize and interpret one's own mental state as well as the mental state of others to identify and comprehend the meaning behind behavior [2,6]. In the literature,

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e11561/

RF is akin to mentalizing, which is a fundamental and intrinsic human capacity to regulate affect and attune to interpersonal relationships [7]. Similarly, maternal mind-mindedness is described as a mother's ability to recognize her child as a separate agent with independent thoughts, experiences, and emotions [8], and parental insightfulness is defined as a parent's representation of their child's intentions and mental states [3].

Rather than a natural ability, RF is believed to develop through the internal organization of an individual's understanding of one's own and other's feelings and behaviors through

experiences, social and emotional information, meaning making [2,6], and interactions with primary caregivers [2,6,9]. In addition, social interactions, family structure, family size, parenting quality [9], and environmental responses [10] influence the development of RF. The development of the RF neurological function is noteworthy as it provides individuals with the ability to predict behavior, distinguish between manifestation and reality, and enhance interpersonal communications, self-organization [6], and impulse control and affect regulation [9]. Understanding the development of RF is crucial, given the relationship between how a parent chooses to respond to their child's needs, which affects the child's attachment status [2,4,11] as well as the child's development and capacity to mentalize [1], and circumscribes the health of the parent-child relationship overall [5,12].

Parental reflective functioning (PRF) pertains to a parent's proclivity to understand and comprehend mental states influencing their child's behavior [13], playing a crucial role in how parents respond to their child's needs and feelings [4,14] and behaviors [6]. PRF is a core cognitive capacity that connects parents to their child's emotions and also to their own early attachment experiences in an integrated way to see their parents' experience as distinct from their own and to provide a secure base for their own children [1,6,7].

PRF is described as an attachment-related concept [15], wherein parental ability to interpret a child's mental state and the parents' responsiveness, or lack thereof, act as a conduit that establishes the attachment status of children. In other words, a child's attachment status is emblematic of the parent's capacity for PRF. The interrelationships between attachment and (1) child psychopathology; (2) inflammation and health; (3) neurobiology; (4) empathy, compassion, and altruism; and (5) school readiness have been substantiated [16]. In addition, the quality of attachment to a parent has been shown to be predictive of numerous developmental outcomes in children such as general well-being, self-esteem, social competence with peers, problem-solving abilities, academic success, behavioral outcomes, and resilience [17-21].

Parents with high RF who possess clear mentalizing abilities have a positive influence on the biological, interpersonal, cognitive, and emotional experiences of the child [1]. They understand their own mental states and those of their children, as well as the influence of those mental states on behavior [1]. In addition, those with high RF are better able to perceive themselves as parents and their relationships with their child, therefore seeking out social support [22] and enhancing parental coping abilities [23].

Initial purposes of PRF measures were to directly measure maternal representations of their child [24] and the PRF functions that influence the intergenerational transmission of attachment [1,4]. The application of PRF measures has expanded to different contexts such as drug use disorders [25], mothers with childhood maltreatment [26,27], infant distress [28], and parenting programs [12,29-33].

The gold standard narrative-based RF measure assessing parental representations of their relationship with their child is the Parent Development Interview (PDI) [24]. The interview takes

XSL•FO

approximately 2 hours to administer and is audio recorded for transcribing. The original 45-item PDI scoring process involved a trained coder who utilized narrative data to evaluate RF across 4 factors: (1) awareness of the nature of mental states, (2) the ability to tease out underlying behavior of mental states, (3) identifying developmental aspects of mental states, and (4) the mental states in relation to the interviewer [24]. The PDI has been revised to a 40-item and 29-item measure to assess parent RF relative to their own child, their parents, and self (personal communication, A. Slade, January 2016). Trained coders rate each item on a Likert scale from -1 to 9 to produce an RF score [24]. A limitation in terms of application and use of the PDI is that the training and coding requirements for the PDI are time consuming and expensive. Clinicians and researchers may experience these prohibitive factors, making the PDI unattractive and unrealistic.

As an alternative to the narrative-based PDI, the Parent Reflective Functioning Questionnaire (PRFQ-18) is an 18-item self-report measure [13] which examines 3 domains of PRF: (1) prementalizing modes (PM), designed to capture a parent's inability to hold the child's mental state in mind; (b) interest and curiosity in mental states (IC), intended to capture the level of interest in parents thinking about their child's mental states; and (c) certainty about mental states (CMS), measuring a parent's acknowledgment that their thoughts about their child's mental states are accurate [13]. The main advantage of the PFRQ-18 is that it is a brief screening tool of RF designed to meet the growing demand of measures to assess the effectiveness of interventions to improve parent-child attachment and PRF [13].

The PRFQ-18 is an open source questionnaire available [34]. There is no training requirement; the questionnaire takes about 10 min to complete and the scoring syntax is downloadable. The questionnaire can be completed on paper or Web-based and is available in 10 languages. Parents rate each subscale item on a Likert scale from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 7 (*strongly agree*). The preliminary studies 1 and 2 [13] have provided evidence supporting the validity and reliability of the PRFQ-18 for measuring PRF.

In Study 1, PRF was examined in mothers with children aged 0 to 36 months [13]. Construct validity of the PRFQ-18 was supported with a confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) of a 3-factor model with a good fit (χ^2_{123} =217.73; *P*<.001; χ^2 /df=1.77; root mean square error of approximation [RMSEA]=.05; CI 0.04 to 0.06; comparative fit index [CFI]=.91; non-normed fit index [NNFI]=.91). Internal consistencies were good for PM (.70), IC (.82), and CMS (.75), and discriminant validity was identified in negative correlations between the PRFQ-18 factors and demographic features. As expected, PM was positively correlated to attachment avoidance, attachment anxiety, and symptomatic distress, whereas IC and CMS were not.

In Study 2, opposing results in the correlations between IC and CMS were found [13], revealing factorial variance across mothers and fathers. In contrast to Study 1, correlations between PRFQ-18 factors and demographic features were nonexistent

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e11561/

or moderately related to the subscales; no relationships were found between fathers PM, attachment, and symptomatic distress, indicating differences in factor loading among mothers and fathers. On the contrary, Study 2 identified similar correlations between parenting stress and mothers and fathers. Parenting stress had negative correlations with IC and CMS but positive correlations with PM on all subscales including parental competence. Furthermore, in Study 3, the PRFQ-18 was utilized with the Strange Situation Procedure (SSP) [35]. Preliminary studies found correlations between PM and IC and the SSP [13], supporting the notion that a parent's ability to hold their child's mental state is related to attachment security. Given that RF has previously been found to significantly correlate with infant attachment [2], Study 3 strongly supports the validity of the PRFQ-18 as an indicator of PRF.

These studies from the originators of the PRFQ-18 provide some initial information on the psychometric properties of the PRFQ-18, but further research is warranted to offer an independent examination of the construct validity of the PRFQ-18. The purpose of this study was to examine the construct validity of the PRFQ-18 in a diverse sample of Canadian parents.

Hypotheses

On the basis of results of existing studies of the PRFQ-18 and existing conceptualizations for PRF, we tested 6 hypotheses:

- 1. A CFA will support a 3-factor structure in the PRFQ-18, illustrating 3 distinct characteristics of RF (PM, IC, and CMS).
- 2. Small-to-moderate correlations will exist between the 3 PRFQ-18 subscales.
- 3. PM will negatively correlate with parental competence; IC and CMS will positively correlate with parental competence.
- PM will positively correlate with parenting stress; IC and CMS will negatively correlate with parenting stress.
- 5. PM will negatively correlate with social support; IC and CMS will positively correlate with social support.
- 6. PM will negatively correlate with parental coping; IC and CMS will positively correlate with parental coping.
- 7. The PFRQ-18 will demonstrate measurement invariance between men and women.

Methods

Ethical Approval

Ethical approval for this study was obtained through our university's Research Ethics Board. Subjects were then randomly contacted through SurveyMonkey's *Survey Audience* to participate in a study of *Experiences in Parenting*. The survey panel members were randomly selected, contacted, and screened by SurveyMonkey, and the authors had no role in the recruitment and selection process other than defining the inclusion criteria for SurveyMonkey. Eligible participants were parents of at least 1 child living in the home aged 12 years or under. After screening for eligibility, parents completed the Web-based PRFQ-18, 4 additional measures, and the demographic data form, 52 questions excluding demographic data questions. Only 1 parent from each household provided study data.

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e11561/
```

Measures

Parent Reflective Functioning Questionnaire

The PRFQ-18 [13] is an 18-item self-report measure for parents with children aged 0 to 5. It measures PRF across 3 domains: (1) PM (items 1, 4, 7, 10, 13, and 16), (2) IC (items 3, 6, 9, 12, 15, and 18), and (3) CMS (items 2, 5, 8, 11, 14, and 17). Parents are required to rate each subscale item on a Likert scale from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 7 (*strongly agree*). The questionnaire is available from the authors.

Parenting Sense of Competence Scale

The Parenting Sense of Competence Scale (PSOC) is a 17-item self-report measure for assessing parents' sense of confidence and satisfaction with their parenting [36]. Owing to poor factor loading for item 17 (.40), the PSOC was revised to a 16-item measure to assess parent sense of competence across 2 factors: (1) satisfaction and (2) efficacy and had good internal consistency for the total score (.79), satisfaction (.75), and efficacy (.76) [36]. Internal consistencies were reported .80 for both efficacy and satisfaction in mothers and .77 for efficacy and .80 for satisfaction in fathers [37]. Parents are required to rate each subscale item on a Likert scale from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 6 (*strongly agree*). Higher scores indicate greater parenting self-confidence. For our sample, satisfaction internal consistency estimates were alpha=.89 and omega=.92 and efficacy estimates were alpha=.86 and omega=.90.

Perceived Stress Scale

The Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) [38] is originally a self-reported 14-item measure to examine the degree to which individuals view situations as stressful. The original PSS had good reliability in 3 preliminary samples (.84, .85, and .86) and in 2 test-retest samples (.85 and .55). The PSS was later revised to a simple 4-item (items 2, 6, 7, and 14) scale with an alpha reliability coefficient of .60, identifying it to be an adequate brief measure of perceptions of stress [39]. The PSS requires individuals to rate 4 items on a Likert scale from 0 (*never*) to 4 (*very often*). For our sample, internal consistency estimates were .68 for alpha and .85 for omega.

Medical Outcome Study Social Support Survey

The Medical Outcome Study Social Support Survey (MOS-SSS) [40] 12-item measure has 4 social support domains (tangible support, emotional information support, affectionate support, and positive interaction) [40]. The MOS-SSS has exhibited excellent reliability (.94) and good internal consistency for tangible support (.87), emotional information support (.91), affectionate support (.88), and positive interaction (.92) [40]. The MOS-SSS requires individuals to rate each subscale item on a Likert scale from 1 (*none of the time*) to 5 (*all of the time*). For our sample, internal consistency for the subscales ranged from alpha=.91 to .93 and from omega=.94 to .98.

Parent Coping Scale

The Parent Coping Scale (PCS) [41] is a single item scale to assess parent's perception of their own ability to cope with parenting. A preliminary study of the PCS found strong intraclass correlation coefficients (.93) and concurrent criterion validity (.54) with the Parenting Self-Agency Measure [42].

XSL•FO RenderX

The PCS requires parents to respond to a single question ("How are you coping with being a parent these days?") on a response scale ranging from 1 (*I feel I am not coping at all these days*) to 5 (*I always feel I am coping really well—things never or hardly ever get on top of me*).

Data Analysis

Data were exported into IBM SPSS 23 for analysis. The data analysis was conducted in 3 stages. First, data were screened for outliers and missing data. Outliers were defined as unusually influential data or data with unusual or extreme values. For example, responses outside of possible ranges were considered unusual. Given the nature of the constrained response options (eg, Web-based Likert scales), we did not notice any unusual values. We also examined partial regression plots and did not notice any outliers. Screening for influential multivariate outliers was examined with Mahalanobis d-squared in IBM AMOS [43], and we noted no distinct values indicating influential outliers. Missing data were not imputed, given the small rates of missing data. Second, the hypothesized factor structure of the PRFQ-18 was tested using a CFA in IBM AMOS 23 graphics [43] and R 3.3.2 [44]. The CFA was conducted in the usual iterative fashion [45], that is, we tested the initial hypothesized factor structure as indicted in preliminary studies [13] followed by changes to the model based on model fit, nonsignificance of path coefficients, and/or substantive suggestions offered by modification indices. Model fit was determined by consulting multiple fit indices, consistent with suggested practice (eg, [46,47]). We consulted chi-square as a global fit index. Whereas this is not a particularly useful indicator of the fit of a given model owing to its sensitivity to sample size, for example (eg, as noted by Kelloway [48]), it can be useful in terms of model comparison [47]. Thus, a change in thechi-square value was used to test the improvement of a given model over a previous model. Other fit indices included the CFI, normed fit index

(NFI), NNFI, and RMSEA. Akaike's information criterion (AIC) was used as another indicator of comparative fit, where a lower AIC indicated a relatively better model fit. As noted, identifying precise cutoffs for model fit is probably unrealistic, given the behavior of fit statistics under varying conditions [20,49], as is shown by others [46]. Thus, we interpreted fit by consulting multiple indices and used a cutoff based upon adequate fit. Specifically, a fit of $\leq .08$ was deemed adequate for the RMSEA and Standardized Root Mean Square Residual, and a fit of \geq .90 was deemed adequate for the CFI, NFI, and NNFI [49]. Measurement invariance among men and women was tested using standard procedures [50], for example, using IBM AMOS 24 [43]. As we were only interested in testing whether or not the proposed CFA model held good for men and women, we tested configural, metric scale, and residual forms of invariance [49]. Finally, the relationships between the PRFQ-18 subscales and the subscales of the MOS-SSS, PSOC, PSS, and PCS data were investigated using bivariate correlations in IBM SPSS Statistics 23. RStudio (using R 3.3.2) was used to calculate ordinal alpha and omega forms of scale reliability [51] and to test for structural invariance.

Results

Sample Description

A total of 344 Canadian adult parents (aged 20 to 60 years) with at least 1 child between the age of 0 and 12 years were randomly sampled through SurveyMonkey's *Survey Audience*. After screening for eligibility, 317 participants completed the PRFQ-18 and 306 participants (120 male and 186 female) completed all study measures. Participant demographics of our diverse sample are reported in Table 1. Of the 306 participants who completed all study measures, most parents had 1 (n=106) or 2 (n=132) children in the home with 68 parents having more than 2 children in the home.



 Table 1. Demographics of the sample population.

Variable	Males (n=120), n (%)	Females (n=186), n (%)	Total (n=306), N (%)	
Age (years)				
20-29	15 (12.5)	33 (17.7)	48 (15.7)	
30-39	60 (50.0)	91 (48.9)	151 (49.3)	
40-49	36 (30.0)	55 (29.6)	91 (29.7)	
50-60	9 (7.5)	7 (3.8)	16 (5.2)	
Age of child(ren) in household (years)				
0-3	36 (30.0)	83 (44.6)	119 (38.9)	
4-6	52 (43.3)	64 (34.4)	116 (37.9)	
7-9	49 (40.8)	64 (34.4)	113 (36.9)	
10-12	37 (30.8) 65 (34.9)		102 (33.3)	
13 and older	23 (19.2) 45 (24.2)		68 (22.2)	
Children in household				
Biological	118 (38.6)	184 (60.1)	302 (98.7)	
Step	37 (12.1)	52 (17.0)	89 (29.1)	
Foster	32 (10.5)	51 (16.7)	83 (27.1)	
Adopted	32 (10.5)	51 (16.7)	83 (27.1)	
Education				
Less than high school degree	4 (3.3)	6 (3.2)	10 (3.2)	
High school degree or equivalent	20 (16.7)	26 (14.0)	46 (15.0)	
Some college but no degree	11 (9.2) 29 (15.6)		40 (13.1)	
Technical degree or diploma	26 (21.7) 44 (23.7)		70 (22.9)	
Bachelor's degree	44 (36.7)	59 (31.7)	103 (33.7)	
Graduate degree	15 (12.5)	22 (11.8)	37 (12.1)	
Household income (Can \$)				
0-24,999	6 (5.0)	14 (7.5)	20 (6.5)	
25,000-74,999	47 (39.1)	75 (40.4)	122 (39.9)	
75,000-124,999	44 (36.7) 62 (33.3)		106 (49.0)	
125,000-199,999	18 (15.1)	20 (10.8)	38 (20.3)	
200,000 and above	2 (1.7)	1 (.5)	3 (1.0)	
Prefer not to answer	3 (2.5)	14 (7.5)	17 (5.56)	
Relationship status				
Married	90 (75.0)	131 (70.4)	221 (72.2)	
Widowed	1 (0.8)	1 (0.5)	2 (1.0)	
Divorced	7 (5.8)	6 (3.2)	13 (4.2)	
Separated	3 (2.5)	10 (5.4)	13 (4.2)	
Common law	12 (10.0) 21 (11.3)		33 (10.8)	
Single, never married	6 (5.0)	(5.0) 16 (8.6)		
Open relationship	1 (0.8)	1 (0.5)	2 (1.0)	
Residence (province)				
Western Canada	32 (26.7)	71 (38.2)	103 (33.6)	
Eastern Canada	86 (71.1)	115 (61.9)	201 (65.7)	
Race/ethnicity				

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e11561/

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019 | vol. 2 | iss. 1 |e11561 | p.42 (page number not for citation purposes)

De Roo et al

Variable	Males (n=120), n (%)	Females (n=186), n (%)	Total (n=306), N (%)	
Asian and/or Pacific Islander	17 (14.0)	34 (18.2)	50 (14.7)	
African	2 (1.7)	0 (0.0)	2 (0.6)	
Black	1 (0.8)	1 (0.5)	2 (0.6)	
Canadian	8 (6.7)	14 (7.5)	22 (5.8)	
Caucasian	80 (66.7)	117 (62.9)	198 (58.2)	
European	3 (2.5)	1 (0.5)	4 (1.2)	
First Nations	0 (0.0)	4 (2.2)	4 (1.2)	
Latin	1 (0.8)	2 (1.1)	3 (0.9)	
Middle Eastern	2 (1.6)	2 (1.0)	4 (1.2)	
Mixed	3 (2.5)	3 (1.6)	7 (2.0)	
Prefer not to say	3 (2.5)	9 (4.8)	12 (3.5)	

Parent Reflective Functioning Questionnaire-18 Factor Structure

Factor structure analysis of the PRFQ-18 resulted in examining 4 different CFA models (see Table 2) utilizing 317 participants. The initial CFA model testing of the hypothesized 3-factor structure of the PRFQ-18 (PM, CMS, and IC) resulted in a reasonably poor model fit, as shown in Table 2. Results of the initial CFA indicated that Item 11 was not significantly (P=.10) contributing to the PRFQ-18 measure. To decipher whether or not the model fit could improve with the removal of Item 11, a second CFA was conducted. Results in Model 2 found improvements in the model fit in terms of the fit statistics reported in Table 2, and the chi-square difference test showed that the change in the chi-square value from Model 1 to 2 was significant (chi-square difference=138, P<.001). However, Model 2 showed a low standardized regression weight for Item 18 (.27). To attempt enhancing the model fit even further, Item 18 was removed in Model 3. After testing Model 3, results identified a more respectable model fit (see Table 2, chi-square difference test=.210 P<.001) and modification indices suggested a better model fit by adding a covariance between error terms 6 and 9. Adding a correlated error term between the errors for

Table 2. Fit statistics for confirmatory factor analysis mo	dels	3
---	------	---

items 6 and 9 further improved the model fit as seen in Table 2 (Model 4, chi-square difference test=52; P<.001). Model 4 resulted in a negative correlation between PM and IC (-.26) and positive correlations between CMS and IC (.36) and between CMS and PM (.37), suggesting that the PRFQ-18 measures 3 relatively independent characteristics of PRF (see Figure 1). On the basis of this model, internal consistencies for the PM, IC, and CMS subscales were alpha=.91, .88, and .88, and omega=.91, .92, and .95, respectively.

A test of measurement variance showed strong support for invariance between men and women. The test for configural invariance showed that the same factor model applied for both men and women (χ^2_{200} =435.60; *P*<.001; RMSEA=.062; 90% CI 0.054 to .070; CFI=.91; AIC=579.56). Measurement/metric invariance was also supported as seen in a change in chi-square, χ^2_{13} =8.42, *P*=.82, and a small change in CFI of .001. Compared with the measurement invariance, structural invariance and then residual invariance showed a change in CFI of less than .001 each. These results show strong support for invariance between men and women suggesting the tool functions similarly among men and women.

Model	Chi-square (<i>df</i>)	Chi-square/df	Root mean square error of approximation (90% CI)	Comparative fit index	Normed fit index	Non-normed fit index (Tucker Lewis Index)	Akaike Informa- tion Criterion	Standardized Root Mean Square Residual
Model 1 ^a	703 (132)	5.33	0.117 (0.109- 0.126)	.81	.78	.78	781	.144
Model 2	565 (116)	4.87	0.111 (0.102- 0.120)	.84	.81	.82	639	.137
Model 3	355 (101)	3.52	0.089 (0.079- 0.099)	.91	.87	.89	425	.081
Model 4	303 (100)	3.03	0.80 (0.070- 0.091)	.92	.89	.91	375	.077

^aInitial model contains all 18 items: Model 2 has Item 11 removed, Model 3 has Items 11 and 18 removed, and Model 4 adds a correlated error term to Model 3.

RenderX

Figure 1. The Parent Reflective Functioning Questionnaire (PRFQ) model without items 11 and 18.



Intercorrelations Among Measures

Following the CFA, we proceeded to examine the intercorrelations among study variables with the revised version of the PRFQ that does not include items 11 and 18. Complete data for these analyses were available for 306 participants.

Relationships With Parenting Sense of Competence

Similar to preliminary findings [13], the PSOC demonstrated a range of correlation results across the PRFQ-18 subscales (see Multimedia Appendix 1). Negative correlations were found between PM and satisfaction (r_{males} =-.65; $r_{females}$ =-.50) and efficacy for females ($r_{females}$ =-.14). This suggests that parents with an inability to hold their child's mental state also have a lower sense of satisfaction with their parenting and a lower sense of efficacy for mothers. As expected, the IC subscale was positively correlated with efficacy (r_{males} =.44; $r_{females}$ =.28) but

not with satisfaction. These results indicate that parents with relatively higher levels of interest and curiosity in their child's mental state also have relatively higher levels of satisfaction as a parent and perceptions of parental competence. Finally, the CMS subscale had positive correlations with both satisfaction in men (r_{males} =.21) and efficacy for both men and women (r_{males} =.43; $r_{females}$ =.32). This shows that parents who are more certain of their child's mental states report more efficacy for the parenting role. Furthermore, for fathers, more certainty around mental states was associated with more satisfaction around being a parent.

Relationships With Stress

Consistent with preliminary findings [13], both the IC $(r_{males}=-.17; r_{females}=-.09)$ and CMS $(r_{males}=-.16; r_{females}=-.13)$ subscales were negatively correlated with stress, but these were not significant. On the contrary, PM was positively correlated

XSL•F() RenderX

with stress (r_{males} =.30; $r_{females}$ =.27), that is, those reporting higher levels of stress had a relatively higher inability to hold their child's mental state, as expected.

Relationships With Social Support

As expected, correlation results from the MOS-SSS subscales varied across the PRFQ-18 subscales. The PM subscale was negatively correlated to tangible support (r_{males}=-.27; $r_{females}$ =-.13), emotional information support (r_{males} =-.21; $r_{females}$ =-.24), affectionate support (r_{males} =-.24; $r_{females}$ =-.28), and positive interaction (r_{males} =-.23; $r_{females}$ =-.23) subscales. That is, those reporting less social support tended to report higher levels of prementalization. The IC subscale was positively correlated to tangible support (r_{males} =.27; $r_{females}$ =.17), emotional information support (r_{males} =.19; $r_{females}$ = .19), affectionate support (r_{males} =.28; $r_{females}$ = .22), and positive interaction (r_{males}=.22; r_{females}=.19) subscales. Thus, those with relatively more social support reported higher levels of interest and curiosity in their child's state of mind. Finally, the CMS subscale also had positive but nonsignificant correlations with social support subscales.

Relationships With Parental Coping

In line with our hypothesis, the PCS had positive correlations with IC ($r_{males}=.37$) and CMS ($r_{males}=.33$; $r_{females}=.14$) and negative correlations among PM ($r_{males}=-.21$; $r_{females}=-.28$; see Multimedia Appendix 1). In other words, those with a relatively high ability to cope with parenting also display better levels of mentalization than those with a relatively lower ability to cope.

Relationships Between Mothers and Fathers

Interestingly, key findings identified a variety of commonalities between mothers and fathers. Both mothers and fathers had negative correlations among PM (r_{males}=-.65; r_{females}=-.50) and satisfaction. In addition, both mothers and fathers had positive correlations between both IC (r_{males} =.44; $r_{females}$ =.28) and CMS $(r_{males}=.43; r_{females}=.32)$ with efficacy. On the contrary, mothers had negative correlations (r_{females}=-.27) and fathers had nonsignificant correlations between PM and efficacy. In correspondence to preliminary findings [13], we found positive correlations among PM (r_{males} =.30; $r_{females}$ =.27) and parental stress for both mothers and fathers [13], that is, a higher perceived stressful situation was associated with low mentalization in parents. In addition, both mothers and fathers had negative correlations between PM and social support subtypes. The exception was tangible support which was not related to prementalization in women. Overall, parents with more social support tended to have higher levels of RF. Finally, results showed negative correlations within PM and parental coping but only positive links with IC in fathers. Overall, these findings suggest that parents with high RF capabilities are better able to cope with parenting but that the type of RF related to coping might vary between mothers and fathers.

Discussion

Overview

The PRFQ is a brief self-report instrument designed to assess parent RF capacities [13]. Support for the validity of the PRFQ-18 has been presented previously in mothers and fathers [13]. To date, we have been unable to find any independent studies examining the factor structure and testing the discriminant and construct validity of the PRFQ-18. This study intended to further test the factor structure by means of a CFA and to expand the discriminant and construct validity of the PRFQ-18 by exploring relationships between this measure and the MOS-SSS, PCOS, PCS, and the PSS in a Canadian sample (n=306) of parents of children aged 0 to 12 years.

Results of this study extend and replicate earlier findings of the PRFQ-18 factor structure. Specifically, the CFA supported a 3-factor structure capturing key characteristics of RF: (1) prementalizing, (2) interest and curiosity, and (3) certainty of mental states. In addition, our results suggest items 11 and 18 may not be contributing to the measurement of PRFQ-18. Interestingly, items 11 and 18 are negatively worded and when removed, improved the PRFQ-18 model fit changes from poor to acceptable, as indicated in the fit measures. This may not be surprising as a mix of negative and positively worded items has the potential to cause problems as positively and negatively worded items may not be measuring the same underlying trait [52]. Taking this into consideration, it seems the removal of items 11 and 18 may be appropriate when using the PRFQ-18 in the future. Weak loadings for items 11 and 18 were also reported in preliminary studies [13]. However, given the early state of the PRFQ-18, 2 items in the PRFQ-18 were removed [13]. Our results suggest that it may be prudent to conduct further research examining the model fit of the 16-item measure reported here.

Validity Evidence

In terms of predictive and discriminant validity, the PRFQ-18 subscales were correlated with the MOS-SSS, PCOS, PCS, and PSS subscales in the expected directions, that is, the PRFQ-18 subscales were generally found to correlate with perceived social support, parental competence, and parent's perceptions of coping abilities and stressful situations in the right direction. Furthermore, the intercorrelations among PRFQ-18 subscales were low-to-moderately correlated, supporting a relative distinction among these subtypes adding support to the notion of 3 separate PRF concepts.

In terms of the PRFQ-18 construct validity support, prementalizing had negative correlations with coping, efficacy, and forms of social support. This result is similar to findings that individuals capable of perceiving themselves as parents and their relationships with their child will seek out social support [22]. In addition, PM was seen to have a positive relationship with satisfaction and perceived stress. These results are comparable to findings that identify parents with low RF as being unable to imagine the type of support they would need and if it would be available [23].



Theoretical Explanations

Interestingly, our results identified IC as positively correlated with parental coping, emotional information support, affectionate support, positive interaction, tangible support, and efficacy. These outcomes match findings that suggest parents with greater levels of parenting coping abilities and an awareness of stress display higher levels of RF, influencing how they feel about their parenting capabilities [23]. On the contrary, IC was negatively correlated to perceived stress and satisfaction, that is, a parent's awareness and curiosity of a child's mental state is relatively low among those reporting higher levels of stress and dissatisfaction with their parenting. These results are consistent with research and theory arguing that stress can impair one's mentalization [53]. This consistency adds construct validity support to the PRFQ measure.

Furthermore, CMS was positively correlated with satisfaction, efficacy, social support types, and coping. These results confirm that a parent's perception that their thoughts about their child's mental states are accurate contributes to their feelings of satisfaction, parental competence, and ability to manage and cope with parenting. In contrast, CMS was found to have nonsignificant negative associations with perceptions of stress. This suggests that stress may have less of an impact on this form of RF. This result requires further study, as it may speak to how specific forms of RF operate under different circumstances. In sum, our results show that PRFQ subscales are generally related to other social cognitive variables as one would expect based on the literature, adding support for the construct validity of the measure. Although the PRFQ-18 is a fairly new measure within the field of psychology [54], our results are consistent with those reported in preliminary studies [13].

Finally, we identified both similarities and differences among mothers and fathers in terms of PRFQ correlates. In general, both mothers and fathers with high RF had lower levels of parental stress and more social support, satisfaction, efficacy, and better coping. However, some differences in terms of how RF operates in terms of coping and competence among men and women were noted here. Specifically, men who reported good coping with parenting reported more interest and curiosity in their child's mental state, more certainty around understanding their child's mental state, and better mentalization. Another notable difference was the relationship between parental efficacy and PM. Women with more parental efficacy had lower levels of PM and, thus, better mentalization. In contrast, PM was unrelated to a father's efficacy. For women, good coping was primarily related to better mentalization, as seen in lower PM scores. However, for fathers, satisfaction with parenting was strongly negatively correlated with PM, showing that fathers with a great deal of satisfaction with being a parent also have a better ability to mentalize.

Limitations and Future Directions

Advantages of self-report measures include time efficiency, cost-effectiveness, and ease of administration. Self-report measures are reported to be valid measures in examining cognitive constructs, emotions, and moods [55]. However, one issue concerning self-report measures is the level of insight required from an individual [55]. Other cautions against self-report measures include potential inaccuracy in participants' answers and various response styles influencing results [56]. To further support the validity of the PRFQ-18 and to allay concerns about the PRFQ-18 being a self-report measure, future research should consider including a gold standard measure such as the PDI to compare these results observed here to uncover if the PRFQ-18 can offer insights similar to the current gold standard measures. In addition, this research would provide more evidence as to the reliability and validity of the PRFQ-18.

A limitation of this study is the reliance on a preexisting survey panel. Whereas this method allows for easy access to a wide cross-section of Canadians, the survey panel may differ in unknown and important ways from a true random sample of Canadians. If future research could replicate these findings in a random sample of Canadians recruited through other means, we would have increased confidence in the findings in this study.

Ideally, an independent sample should be used as a follow-up to our CFA to determine the extent to which PRFQ-18 subscales are related to theoretically meaningful constructs. However, a follow-up study should attempt to replicate our findings to see if the removal of items 11 and 18 is supported in other samples. Considering the preliminary studies had similar findings to this study [13], we would expect this result to hold. In this study of parents with children aged 0 to 12 years, we found evidence supporting the construct validity of a revised PRFQ; however, it is possible that the PRFQ might perform differently between younger and older children [13]. This is a question for future research to examine in an independent sample. Finally, variances among mothers and fathers suggest further exploration between mothers, fathers, RF, and cognitive variables is needed. That is, our results suggest that RF subtypes may be differentially influenced by the social and psychological parenting context.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Summary of intercorrelations, means and stand deviations for scores on the Parent Reflective Functioning Questionnaire -18, Medical Outcome Study Social Support Survey, Parenting Sense of Competence Scale, Perceived Stress Scale, Parent Coping Scale in males and females.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 94KB - pediatrics v2i1e11561 app1.pdf]



References

- 1. Slade A. Parental reflective functioning: an introduction. Attach Hum Dev 2005 Sep;7(3):269-281. [doi: 10.1080/14616730500245906] [Medline: 16210239]
- 2. Fonagy P, Steele M, Steele H, Moran G, Higgitt A. The capacity for understanding mental states: the reflective self in parent and child and its significance for security of attachment. Infant Ment Health J 1991 Sep 12;12(3):201-218. [doi: 10.1002/1097-0355(199123)1]
- Koren-Karie N, Oppenheim D, Dolev S, Sher E, Etzion-Carasso A. Mothers' insightfulness regarding their infants' internal experience: relations with maternal sensitivity and infant attachment. Dev Psychol 2002 Jul;38(4):534-542. [doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.38.4.534] [Medline: 12090483]
- 4. Grienenberger JF, Kelly K, Slade A. Maternal reflective functioning, mother-infant affective communication, and infant attachment: exploring the link between mental states and observed caregiving behavior in the intergenerational transmission of attachment. Attach Hum Dev 2005 Sep;7(3):299-311. [doi: 10.1080/14616730500245963] [Medline: 16210241]
- Sadler LS, Slade A, Close N, Webb DL, Simpson T, Fennie K, et al. Minding the baby: enhancing reflectiveness to improve early health and relationship outcomes in an interdisciplinary home visiting program. Infant Ment Health J 2013 Sep 1;34(5):391-405 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/imhj.21406] [Medline: 24049219]
- Fonagy P, Target M, Steele H, Steele M. Mentalizacion y Psicoterapia. Reflective-functioning manual, Version 5 URL: <u>https://mentalizacion.com.ar/images/notas/Reflective%20Functioning%20Manual.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-04-11] [WebCite Cache ID 77YxhSnRe]
- Fonagy P, Target M. Attachment and reflective function: their role in self-organization. Dev Psychopathol 1997;9(4):679-700. [Medline: <u>9449001</u>]
- 8. Meins E. Security of Attachment and the Social Development of Cognition. Hove, England: Psychology Press; 1997.
- 9. Fonagy P, Gergely G, Target M. The parent-infant dyad and the construction of the subjective self. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2007;48(3-4):288-328. [doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01727.x] [Medline: 17355400]
- 10. Srinivasan C. The Relationship Between Reflective Function and Psychopathology in Survivors of Childhood Abuse. New York, NY: New School University; 2005.
- 11. Slade A, Grienenberger J, Bernbach E, Levy D, Locker A. Maternal reflective functioning, attachment, and the transmission gap: a preliminary study. Attach Hum Dev 2005 Sep;7(3):283-298. [doi: 10.1080/14616730500245880] [Medline: 16210240]
- Ordway MR, Sadler LS, Dixon J, Close N, Mayes L, Slade A. Lasting effects of an interdisciplinary home visiting program on child behavior: preliminary follow-up results of a randomized trial. J Pediatr Nurs 2014;29(1):3-13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2013.04.006] [Medline: 23685264]
- 13. Luyten P, Mayes LC, Nijssens L, Fonagy P. The parental reflective functioning questionnaire: development and preliminary validation. PLoS One 2017;12(5):e0176218 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0176218] [Medline: 28472162]
- 14. Spinelli J. The Relationship Between Ego Mechanisms of Defense and Reflective Functioning. New York, United States: Long Island University; 2009.
- 15. Borelli JL, St John HK, Cho E, Suchman NE. Reflective functioning in parents of school-aged children. Am J Orthopsychiatry 2016 Jan;86(1):24-36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/ort0000141] [Medline: 26618938]
- 16. Cassidy J. The nature of the child's ties. In: Cassidy J, Shaver PR, editors. Handbook of Attachment, Second Edition: Theory, Research, and Clinical Applications. New York, NY: Guilford Press; 2008:3-22.
- 17. Landy S. Pathways to Competence: Encouraging Healthy Social and Emotional Development in Young Children, Second Edition. Baltimore, MD: Brookes Publishing; 2009.
- 18. Mares S, Newman L, Warren B. Clinical Skills in Infant Mental Health: The First Three Years. Camberwell, AU: ACER Press; 2005.
- 19. Siegel DJ. The Developing Mind: Toward a Neurobiology of Interpersonal Experience. New York, NY: The Guilford Press; 1999.
- 20. Thompson B. Ten commandments of structural equation modeling. In: Grimm LG, Yarnold PR, editors. Reading and Understanding More Multivariate Statistics. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association; 2000:261-283.
- 21. Thompson R. Early attachment and later development. In: Cassidy J, Shaver PR, editors. Handbook of Attachment, Second Edition: Theory, Research, and Clinical Applications. New York, NY: The Guilford Press; 2008:348-365.
- 22. Sadler LS, Novick G, Meadows-Oliver M. "Having a Baby Changes Everything" Reflective Functioning in Pregnant Adolescents. J Pediatr Nurs 2016;31(3):e219-e231 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2015.11.011] [Medline: 26796625]
- 23. Rosen J. Parental Reaction to a Diagnosis of Autism: How Resolution Relates to Parental Reflective Functioning and Parenting Stress. New York, NY: Pace University; 2013.
- 24. Slade A, Belsky J, Aber JL, Phelps JL. Mothers' representations of their relationships with their toddlers: links to adult attachment and observed mothering. Dev Psychol 1999 May;35(3):611-619. [doi: 10.1002/1097-0355(198923)10:3<203::AID-IMHJ2280100307>3.0] [Medline: 10380853]
- Suchman NE, DeCoste C, Leigh D, Borelli J. Reflective functioning in mothers with drug use disorders: implications for dyadic interactions with infants and toddlers. Attach Hum Dev 2010 Nov;12(6):567-585 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/14616734.2010.501988] [Medline: 20931415]

- 26. Bottos S, Nilsen ES. The cross-generational effects of maternal maltreatment histories: implications for children's mentalizing development. Child Abuse Negl 2014 Jun;38(6):1094-1105. [doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.02.012]
- Stacks AM, Muzik M, Wong K, Beeghly M, Huth-Bocks A, Irwin JL, et al. Maternal reflective functioning among mothers with childhood maltreatment histories: links to sensitive parenting and infant attachment security. Attach Hum Dev 2014;16(5):515-533 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/14616734.2014.935452] [Medline: 25028251]
- 28. Rutherford HJ, Goldberg B, Luyten P, Bridgett DJ, Mayes LC. Parental reflective functioning is associated with tolerance of infant distress but not general distress: evidence for a specific relationship using a simulated baby paradigm. Infant Behav Dev 2013 Dec;36(4):635-641 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.infbeh.2013.06.008] [Medline: 23906942]
- 29. Bain K. "New beginnings" in South African shelters for the homeless: piloting of a group psychotherapy intervention for high-risk mother-infant dyads. Infant Ment Health J 2014;35(6):591-603. [doi: 10.1002/imhj.21457] [Medline: 25798508]
- 30. Gray SA. Widening the circle of security: a quasi-experimental evaluation of attachment-based professional development for family child care providers. Infant Ment Health J 2015;36(3):308-319. [doi: <u>10.1002/imhj.21513</u>] [Medline: <u>25940954</u>]
- 31. Pontoppidan M. The effectiveness of the Incredible YearsTM Parents and Babies Program as a universal prevention intervention for parents of infants in Denmark: study protocol for a pilot randomized controlled trial. Trials 2015 Sep 2;16:386 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13063-015-0859-y] [Medline: 26329163]
- 32. Ramsauer B, Lotzin A, Mühlhan C, Romer G, Nolte T, Fonagy P, et al. A randomized controlled trial comparing Circle of Security Intervention and treatment as usual as interventions to increase attachment security in infants of mentally ill mothers: study protocol. BMC Psychiatry 2014 Jan 30;14:24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-14-24] [Medline: 24476106]
- 33. Sleed M, Baradon T, Fonagy P. New Beginnings for mothers and babies in prison: a cluster randomized controlled trial. Attach Hum Dev 2013;15(4):349-367 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/14616734.2013.782651] [Medline: 23550526]
- 34. University College London. The Parental Reflective Functioning Questionnaire (PRFQ) URL: <u>https://www.ucl.ac.uk/</u> psychoanalysis/research/parental-reflective-functioning-questionnaire-prfq [accessed 2019-04-12] [WebCite Cache ID 77aSoEOaY]
- 35. Ainsworth MD, Blehar MC, Waters C, Wall S. Patterns of Attachment: A Psychological Study of the Strange Situation. Oxford, England: Lawrence Erlbaum; 1978.
- 36. Johnston C, Mash EJ. A measure of parenting satisfaction and efficacy. J Clin Child Psychol 1989 Jun;18(2):167-175. [doi: 10.1207/s15374424jccp1802_8]
- 37. Ohan JL, Leung DW, Johnston C. The Parenting Sense of Competence scale: evidence of a stable factor structure and validity. Can J Behav Sci 2000;32(4):251-261. [doi: 10.1037/h0087122]
- Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. A global measure of perceived stress. J Health Soc Behav 1983 Dec;24(4):385-396. [doi: <u>10.2307/2136404</u>] [Medline: <u>6668417</u>]
- 39. Spacapan S, Oskamp S. Perceived stress in a probability sample of the United States. In: The Social Psychology Of Health: The Claremont Symposium On Applied Social Psychology. Thousand Oaks, CA, US: Sage Publications, Inc; 1989.
- 40. Gjesfjeld CD, Greeno CG, Kim KH. A confirmatory factor analysis of an abbreviated social support instrument: the MOS-SSS. Res Soc Work Pract 2008;18(3):231-237. [doi: 10.1177/1049731507309830]
- 41. Ghate D, Moran P. The Colebrooke Centre. 2018. The parent coping scale (PCS): an overarching measure of impact for parenting support services working to improve parental self-efficacy URL: <u>http://www.cevi.org.uk</u> [accessed 2018-07-04] [WebCite Cache ID 70fVW8ijQ]
- 42. Dumka LE, Stoerzinger HD, Jackson KM, Roosa MW. Examination of the cross-cultural and cross-language equivalence of the parenting self-agency measure. Fam Relat 1996 Apr;45(2):216. [doi: <u>10.2307/585293</u>]
- 43. Arbuckle JL. IBM SPSS Amos 24 User's Guide. Chicago: IBM; 2016.
- 44. R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing; 2016. URL: <u>http://www.r-project.org/</u> [accessed 2019-04-11] [WebCite Cache ID 77Z0Dx2Wq]
- 45. Blunch N. Introduction To Structural Equation Modelling Using Spss And Amos. Los Angeles: Sage Publications Ltd; 2008.
- 46. Chen F, Curran PJ, Bollen KA, Kirby J, Paxton P. An empirical evaluation of the use of fixed cutoff points in RMSEA test statistic in structural equation models. Sociol Methods Res 2008 Jan 1;36(4):462-494 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0049124108314720] [Medline: 19756246]
- 47. Thompson B. Exploratory And Confirmatory Factor Analysis: Understanding Concepts And Applications. Washington, DC: Amer Psychological Association; 2004.
- 48. Kelloway EK. Using LISREL for Structural Equation Modeling: A Researcher's Guide. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 1998.
- 49. Keith TZ. Multiple Regression and Beyond: An Introduction to Multiple Regression and Structural Equation Modeling, Second Edition. New York, NY: Routledge; 2015.
- 50. Byrne BM. Structural Equation Modeling With AMOS: Basic Concepts, Applications, and Programming, Third Edition. New York, NY: Routledge; 2016.
- 51. Gadermann AM, Guhn M, Zumbo BD. Estimating ordinal reliability for Likert-type and ordinal item response data: a conceptual, empirical, and practical guide. Pract Assess Res Eval 2012;17(3) [FREE Full text]

RenderX

- 52. Weems GH, Onwuegbuzie AJ. The impact of midpoint responses and reverse coding on survey data. Meas Eval Couns Dev 2001;34(3):166-176 [FREE Full text]
- 53. Freeman C. What is mentalizing? An overview. Br J Psychother 2016 Apr 21;32(2):189-201. [doi: 10.1111/bjp.12220]
- 54. DeRoo M. Reflective Functioning: an Analysis of Measures and the 18- Item Parent Reflective Functioning Questionnaire. Athabasca, AB, Canada: Athabasca University; 2016.
- 55. Haeffel GJ, Howard GS. Self-report: psychology's four-letter word. Am J Psychol 2010;123(2):181-188. [doi: 10.5406/amerjpsyc.123.2.0181] [Medline: 20518434]
- 56. Paulhus D, Vazire S. In: Robins RW, Fraley RC, Krueger RF, editors. Handbook of Research Methods in Personality Psychology. New York, NY: Guilford Press; 2007.

Abbreviations

CFA: confirmatory factor analysis CFI: comparative fit index CMS: certainty about mental states IC: interest and curiosity in mental states MOS-SSS: Medical Outcome Study Social Support Survey **NFI:** normed fit index **NNFI:** non-normed fit index PCS: Parent Coping Scale **PDI:** Parent Development Interview PM: prementalizing modes **PRF:** parental reflective functioning PRFQ: Parent Reflective Functioning Questionnaire **PSOC:** Parenting Sense of Competence Scale **PSS:** Perceived Stress Scale **RF:** reflective functioning **RMSEA:** root mean square error of approximation SSP: Strange Situation Procedure

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 16.07.18; peer-reviewed by L McGoron, M Das; comments to author 04.10.18; revised version received 05.03.19; accepted 30.03.19; published 09.05.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> De Roo M, Wong G, Rempel GR, Fraser SN Advancing Optimal Development in Children: Examining the Construct Validity of a Parent Reflective Functioning Questionnaire JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e11561 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e11561/</u> doi:10.2196/11561 PMID:<u>31518301</u>

©Monica De Roo, Gina Wong, Gwen R Rempel, Shawn N Fraser. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 09.05.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Use of Physical Activity Monitoring Devices by Families in Rural Communities: Qualitative Approach

Iryna Sharaievska¹, PhD; Rebecca A Battista², PhD; Jennifer Zwetsloot², PhD

¹Department of Recreation Management and Physical Education, Appalachian State University, Boone, NC, United States ²Department of Health and Exercise Science, Appalachian State University, Boone, NC, United States

Corresponding Author: Iryna Sharaievska, PhD Department of Recreation Management and Physical Education Appalachian State University 111 Rivers Str, ASU Box 32181 Boone, NC, 28608 United States Phone: 1 8282626327 Email: <u>sharaievskai@appstate.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Several studies support the impact of information communication technology–based interventions to promote physical activity among youth. However, little is known on how technology can be used by the entire family to encourage healthy behavior. Previous studies showed that children and youth rely and are dependent upon the decisions and values of their caregivers when it comes to having a healthy lifestyle. Thus, the exploration of behavior and attitudes of the entire family is needed.

Objective: The study aimed to explore (1) perceptions of how the use of physical activity tracking devices (Fitbit Zip) by families in rural communities influence their patterns of participation in physical activity, (2) how attitudes toward physical activity change as a result of using physical activity tracking devices as a family, and (3) what factors influence participation in physical activity among families in rural communities.

Methods: A total of 11 families with 1 to 3 children of different ages (7-13 years) took part in semistructured group interviews following 2 weeks of using physical activity tracking devices (Fitbit Zip) as a family. The participants were asked to discuss their experience using the Fitbit Zip as a family, the motivation to be physically active, the changes in their pattern of participation in those activities, the level of engagement by different family members, and the factors that affected their participation. All interviews were voice-recorded with the participants' permission and later transcribed verbatim using pseudonyms. To analyze the data, the principal investigator (IS) used open, axial, and selective coding techniques.

Results: A total of 3 themes and several subthemes appeared from the data. The families in rural communities reported no or minimal changes in physical activities as a result of using physical activity tracking devices (Fitbit Zip) because of a lack of interest or an already active lifestyle. However, the attitude toward physical activity was altered. The family members reported an increased awareness of their activity level, introduced more conversations about active and healthy lifestyles, and changed their view of physical activity to a more positive one. The participants described the changes they were able to make and the constraining factors that stopped them from making further changes in their lifestyle.

Conclusions: Technology might serve as a facilitator to participation in physical activity among families. Technology can motivate the change in attitude toward active recreation. As long-term changes in lifestyle require internal motivation, the change in the attitude might have a more long-lasting impact than the change in the immediate behavior. More longitudinal studies are needed to further explore long-term change in both behavior and attitude toward physical activity. Additional exploration of constraints to participation in physical activity among families is also an important area of exploration.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e10658) doi:10.2196/10658

KEYWORDS motion sensors; physical activity; family; rural community

Introduction

Background

Increasing physical activity among adults and children has been a primary goal of many disciplines, government initiatives, and nonprofit organizations, including Let's Move! Active Schools, NFL Play 60, Presidential Youth Fitness Program, Reviving Baseball in Inner Cities, and others [1,2]. Unfortunately, only 1 in 5 adults [3] and only 22% of children aged 6 to 19 years meet the physical activity guidelines [4]. There are multiple factors that may negatively influence adults' participation in physical activities, including advanced age, low income, lack of time, low motivation, rural residency, perception of the effort needed for exercise, excessive weight or obesity, perception of poor health, and physical disability [5]. Among children and adolescents, parental support and belief in one's ability to be active (self-efficacy), as well as walkability of the community and access to recreational spaces, were named as influential factors in physical activity participation [5,6].

Use of Technology in Promoting Health

Contemporary technology is often seen as one of the significant constraints to participation in physical activity [7]. Technology addiction was connected to decreased exposure to the outdoors and, as a result, decrease in physical activity [7,8]. However, more and more often technology is being used to improve one's health. For example, a study claimed that mental health information and self-help tools could be successfully delivered via the internet to rural communities where limited access to health providers and the culture of self-reliance may prevent residents from receiving needed help [9]. Moreover, multiple studies supported the effectiveness of using activity trackers and online support to improve overall health behaviors including physical activity. For example, older adults in rural communities indicated a tracking device was easy to use [10], whereas overweight adults showed benefits from using a virtual coach [11]. Another example of how online education programs could be used to modify health-related behaviors was in the area of sex education [12,13]. The results showed increased knowledge and improved use of healthier practices among sexually active youth [12,13]. Finally, a systematic review suggested that smartphones can be a viable tool in promoting physical activity [14], whereas a comprehensive review reported internet-based physical activity interventions can also be successful [15]. Thus, technology may in fact play an important role in changing health-related behaviors.

In the area of changing behaviors related to diet and physical activity, technology has also been shown to be a successful tool [16-19]. For example, in a study exploring diet and physical activity smartphone apps, users found these apps effective in promoting healthy eating and exercising [16]. The study participants believed the apps affected their actions, health consciousness, and self-education about nutrition and physical activity [16]. Similarly, in a study focused on the use of Fitbit trackers among female breast cancer survivors, the participants increased their physical activity, which was associated with their frequency of looking at their own data on the tracker [17]. Thus, the tracker may have been a source of motivation to alter

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e10658/

XSL•FC

their physical activity. There has been recent interest in using the internet and mobile phone technology to deliver automated physical activity programs to motivate adults to be more physically active [14,15,18,19]. As a result of several strategies, including the distribution of possible solutions to perceived constraints, detailing a weekly exercise plan, sharing the results with others, and providing feedback on their level of physical activity, the participants of these programs significantly increased their level of physical activity and lost a higher percent of body fat than the control group. Among an adult population with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, it was revealed that an electronic health app was stimulating and that reaching daily physical activity goals was rewarding [19]. In addition, older adults living with chronic illness found wearable activity trackers (including Fitbit) were useful and acceptable, although participants stated they may need support with setting up the device and interpreting the data [20]. Finally, wearable activity trackers have also been used in weight loss interventions; however, the results have been mixed [21,22]. Nonetheless, tracking devices were shown to improve total step counts and percent body fat in first year medical students [23]. Although many of these interventions involve populations with various health issues (eg, overweight, obesity, and chronic illness), the tracking devices were somewhat successful in promoting physical activity. This suggests that activity tracking devices were overall a beneficial factor in behavioral change and thus could be useful in promoting physical activity among adults and youth.

Use of Technology in Promoting Health Among Youth

The impact of SMS (short message service) text message-based interventions to promote physical activity among youth was also supported by multiple studies discussed in a review of the previous literature [24]. Out of 13 studies reviewed [24], 7 interventions resulted in improvement for physical activity, and 6 interventions resulted in improvement in sedentary behavior among youth aged 10 to 19 years. Moreover, technology-based interventions that used global positioning systems (GPS devices) as an activity (eg, geocaching and treasure hunting) were also described as more enjoyable and intrinsically motivating to youth compared with walking without technology (eg, GPS device) [25,26]. In fact, the youth had similar physical activity levels (eg, light physical activity) over the same distance (1 mile loop) in performing the required activity with the GPS device (eg, geocaching) compared with walking [27]. In other words, technology alone may be utilized to increase physical activity participation among youth. In fact, in a recent systematic review, it was suggested that physical activity trackers may be useful in promoting physical activity among this population [28]. Despite studies suggesting benefits of using technology to improve physical activity in adults with chronic disease and encourage healthy lifestyles among youth, little is known on how technology can be used by the entire family (eg, adults and youth) to promote healthy behavior that can be sustained over a long period of time.

Families and Physical Activity

Previous studies showed that children and youth rely and are dependent upon the decisions and values of their caregivers

when it comes to physical activities [6]. Studies showed that parents' engagement in physical activity is an important predictor of children's engagement in physical activity, both during childhood and in the later years in life [29,30]. Moreover, parents' support and encouragement can help a child to develop physical competence and self-worth, crucial factors in long-term engagement in physical activity among children [5,31]. Although there are multiple factors that prevent families from being more active, including time and money, family structure, environment, geographical location, and others [5,6,30,32], technology could be used to lower the impact of some of these constraints by offering tips for time management or providing recommendations for physical activities that do not cost money and could be enjoyed by the entire family. This could be particularly important in rural communities where the opportunities for organized physical activities are limited. Considering that contemporary children spend more than 7 hours a day in front of a screen [33], an activity tracking device was selected as a primary factor for this study as it could be appealing to the youth interested in technology and could serve as a facilitator to participation in physical activity among families. Previous literature regarding families and physical activity was either focused on the parents' perceptions of the benefits of and barriers to physical activity among their children [34] or revealed that the children were not very active with their parents [35]. However, a recent systematic review suggested that family-based interventions can be an effective way to improve physical activity participation among families [36]. It was suggested that the best way to improve physical activity within the family unit was to focus on family relationships and experiences (spending time together, being active as a family) rather than the benefits of being active [36].

As a result, this study focused on the families' experience with physically active recreation and their use of activity-tracking devices. Although this study used a stand-alone physical activity tracking device (ie, Fitbit Zip), contemporary smartphones provide access to apps with similar functions (step count, distance walked, connection with others, etc), which could be used as a substitute for an activity tracking device (ie, Fitbit Zip). Thus, the objectives of this study were to explore (1) the perception of how the use of a physical activity tracking device (ie, Fitbit Zip) by families in rural communities influences their participation in physical activity, (2) how the use of a physical activity tracking device (ie, Fitbit Zip) by families in rural communities influences their attitude toward physical activity, and (3) what factors influence the participation in physical activity among families in rural communities.

Methods

Study Design

The study was conducted during 2014 in a small town in rural Appalachia. The study comprised 2 stages. During the first stage, 22 families with at least one child at home aged between 7 and 13 years took part in a 2-week long intervention study measuring the effect of a physical activity tracking device (Fitbit Zip) on physical activity participation in families. During those 2 weeks, each family member was asked to wear a Fitbit Zip

as well as record the types of physical activities and the length of their participation in those activities into a journal. The data from the first stage of the study (eg, step counts and total physical activity levels) were presented at regional conferences and are in submission for publication. For the second stage of the study, families were asked to take part in family group interviews to reflect on their experiences using physical activity tracking devices. This paper is focused on the second qualitative part of the study and presents the results of these 11 interviews. The study protocol was approved by the university's institutional review board. Both parents and children signed an informed consent.

Method of Data Collection

Semistructured group interviews were conducted with each family separately in the principal investigator's (IS) office within a 2-week period after the first stage of the study was completed. The interviews lasted between 30 min to an hour. The participants were asked to discuss their experience using the Fitbit Zip as a family, the motivation to be physically active, the changes in their pattern of participation in those activities, the level of engagement by different family members, and the factors influencing their participation. All interviews were voice-recorded with the participants' permission and later transcribed verbatim by the principal investigator and a research assistant using pseudonyms.

Data Analysis

Data analysis had begun as soon as several of the initial interviews were recorded and continued until the point of data saturation was reached [37]. The principal investigator used open, axial, and selective coding techniques to analyze the data [38]. This approach was selected to allow the data to speak for themselves, to discover and label variables and their interrelationships. After several initial interviews were conducted, the principal investigator read through the data to create labels emerging from the data. Among some of the codes that emerged during the open coding stage were "walk instead of bus, park farther, already active, and feeling accountable." During the axial coding stage, the principal investigator identified relationships among labels emerging during the open coding stage. The codes that lacked in depth or richness were eliminated or combined to create a more general code. For example, several codes that were focused on specific activities—"walking a dog, doing things around a house, etc"-were combined into 1 category-"doing more of what they were already doing or small, everyday changes." During the selective coding stage, the principal investigator identified core themes-perception of changes in behavior, changes in attitude, and factors influencing participation-around which the final data analysis was structured [38]. The trustworthiness of the study was enhanced by ensuring credibility, originality, resonance, and usefulness [37]. To ensure credibility, the principal investigator familiarized herself with the literature in the subject area before data analysis, stayed conscious of the depth and range of the data, as well as made sure there were strong and direct links between the gathered data and the conclusions. The principal investigator reviewed the data, codes, and themes with another qualitative researcher (BM) to ensure

```
XSL•FO
```

their logical consistency. The principal investigator also evaluated the data on the novelty and usefulness by comparing the results of the study with previous research to ensure the study provides a new insight into the phenomena. In addition, the resonance was evaluated by ensuring fullness of categories and maintaining openness toward possible meanings of data to ensure the coconstruction of new knowledge [37].

Results

Study Participants

A total of 11 families took part in this study. Among these families, 3 families had a father involved in the study, whereas the rest of the participants comprised mothers and their children. The families had between 1 and 3 children of different ages, with at least one child aged between 7 and 13 years. All the families self-reported as being of white background (which is a typical characteristic of the general population in rural Appalachia), and 66% of the parents had at least a Bachelor's degree.

Several themes appeared from the data: families perceived no or minimal changes in physical activity as a result of using Fitbit Zip as a family and provided a description of small changes in their everyday activities; families discussed changes in their attitude toward physical activity as a result of using Fitbit Zip as a family; and families described factors that influenced their participation in physical activity.

Perception of Changes in Physical Activity

No Changes in Physical Activity

The majority of the participants in this study reported no change in physical activity as a result of Fitbit Zip use because of their rather active lifestyle before their participation in the study or because of a lack of interest toward adopting a more active lifestyle. These findings were supported by the step count data from the first stage of the study discussed in a separate manuscript. A total of 65% (13/20) of the families who took part in the first stage of the study either did not change or decreased their daily step counts over a 2-week period, whereas 35% (7/20) increased their daily step counts.

The mother from family 6 explained:

We were already pretty active so I don't know. [...] We get outside a fair amount, we go biking and running and stuff throughout the week outside.

Another mother (family 3) stated:

I am [...] on routines already so I don't think I found myself looking at it.

The father from family 10 had a similar reflection:

I have a regimen and did my normal thing, I exercise 30 mins a day 5 or 6 days a week.

There was also a group of families who reported no change because of a lack of interest from the parents. For example, a boy aged 12 years (family 11) had no specific reason for why his level of physical activity did not increase. However,

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e10658/

following his mother's response about her busy schedule and lack of interest, he stated:

Well not much was different for me. It was kind of just daily stuff and that's kind of how it was. [...] Nothing really changed, it's just kind of how life is.

Although some participants lacked interest in increasing their level of physical activity, those who wanted to be more active experienced a number of constraints that stopped them from being more active.

Small Changes in Physically Active Recreation

There were several families who reported introducing small changes into their everyday life as a result of Fitbit Zip use. As the father from family 1 explained, he was more motivated when he could visualize his inactivity:

Yeah, it [FitBit ZipTM] gave me more incentive to go do the activity because you're looking and seeing you only have 5000 steps, I need 5000 more to go. I need to figure out something more to do today to increase my steps.

Small everyday changes mentioned by the participants included walking instead of taking a bus, parking farther away, and walking around house, etc. For example, the mother from family 6 described:

It didn't make me exercise on a day, like if I just felt tired and felt like I wasn't going to exercise that day, it didn't make me plan an exercise activity, but it did make me maybe just walk around a little more and run in place while I'm making dinner.

Several families stated that although they did not introduce any new activities, they increased their level of participation in the activities in which they were already involved. Going on a longer hike or walk, practicing dancing or gymnastics more often, and other activities were listed by the participants. The mother from family 5 shared her thoughts:

I don't think we did anything new just more often. We didn't do anything longer just more daily than a few days a week. We tried to fit more in during the week. [...] Just having a goal.

A girl from family 4 had a similar reflection:

I'm a dancer and I'm about to start pointe after Christmas. So I would put on my pointe shoes after I had on my pajamas and practice in the living room so I could gain a couple more steps.

Factors Influencing Participation in Physical Activity

Despite some participants lacking an interest in increasing their participation in physical activity, more participants reported an interest in living a more active lifestyle. However, many of them also experienced a number of constraints that stopped them from being more physically active. These constraints included a lack of energy, time, money, and companionship; the constraints also included environmental constraints (weather, lack of sidewalks), interest in other nonactive recreational activities, and distraction by technology.

Several participants stated that using Fitbit Zip allowed them to monitor their activities, have a healthy competition among family members, and encourage each other to be more physically active. However, despite all the benefits, many participants claimed that constraints to participation in physical activities were more significant. Among the most commonly reported constraints by both parents and children were lack of time and a busy schedule. For example, a girl from family 1 stated:

We don't get recess anymore so we don't really have a choice; and we have more homework and stuff so it is hard to do stuff when we are doing homework.

A boy from family 3, when asked what stopped him from being more active, shared a similar experience:

School, 6 and a half hours, no going outside.

The mother from family 5 summarized her daughter's experiences:

She has a lot of stuff going on. She is in a play and has rehearsal 3 times a week and swimming twice a week. Just having to be somewhere. Schedule.

Environmental constraints, including weather and lack of sidewalks, were also mentioned by the participants. The mother from family 3 explained:

I miss sidewalks since moving up here, you can't just go out and do in a safe way. I definitely have to coordinate with what they are doing. I think just scheduling makes it difficult to work it in or you have to get really creative.

Several participants reported distraction by technology as one of the constraints to physical activity participation among children. For example, the father from family 1 stated "Instagram" when asked about constraining factors, whereas his son confessed, "I'm glued to the Wii." Thus, although technology such as Fitbit Zip may encourage and motivate slight changes in physical activity participation among families, there are multiple factors that may be more powerful constraints when it comes to leading a more active lifestyle.

Change in the Attitude Toward Physical Activity

Increased Awareness and Accountability

The majority of participants in this study reported a change in their attitude toward physical activity. They reported becoming more aware of what it takes to have an active lifestyle, they reported increased conversations in the family about health and physical activities, and they also reported a change in their view of physical activity to a more positive one. For example, many participants were surprised by how active or inactive their everyday activities were. The mother from family 6 explained:

It made you a little more aware maybe when you thought you got enough exercise but maybe you didn't quite. [...] I think it did make me more aware and how even just doing some little things, like we live near the [grocery store] and how walking to the [grocery store] could add, little bit more walking home from school, how that can give you some more steps. In many cases, this increased level of awareness motivated study participants to be more active during their recreational and everyday activities. The mother from family 3 described her son's increase in motivation as a result of using Fitbit Zip:

I think more awareness. He [son] was extra aware and made more of an effort like "oh I need to feed the FitBit ZipTM"so he was making an extra effort. I could see that when he actually could see it, he was taking extra time to find ways, so yeah I noticed that behavior about him.

Similarly, the mother from family 5 shared her own increase in motivation to be more physically active as a result of Fitbit Zip use:

I would try to be more active because before I would think 3 days a week was good. But thinking about the 10,000 each day made me want to do more.

More Conversations About Active Recreation

In addition to an increased awareness, the Fitbit Zip use provoked more conversations about an active lifestyle and health in general among family members. As the father from family 10 described:

In the evening at least we talked about the steps and what they were doing and what they did for PE and things like that.

His daughter added:

At dinner we would usually look at our fitbits and all say how many steps we did.

Comparing the number of steps among different family members allowed families to be more intentional in planning physical activity:

They were constantly looking and seeing how many steps they had and what they were going to do. [Mother, family 1]

Moreover, families enjoyed the friendly competition with each other and celebrated the achievement of the winning family member, which further initiated conversations about active recreation. The mother from family 3 explained:

I think it was cool that we were thinking about it and checking on each other. [...] I think we kind of talked about it and looked at it, maybe twice a day or so. [...] It is kind of interesting because he [son] is ultra-competitive with it [...], and it was kind of neat to celebrate with him and be like how did you get that many? What did you do today to get there? So I think for me as a parent it was fun to see him have this accomplishment and know that there were many days that he had more than I had.

Physical Activity as a Benefit

Finally, the participants reported that after using the physical activity tracking device as a family, their view of physical activity was changed to a more positive one. As a result of the participation in the study, many participants changed their perception of physical activity from inconvenient and

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e10658/

burdensome to beneficial. For example, walking the dog, parking farther away, and getting something from another room were now the activities that family members did not mind doing. For example, a mother from one of the least active families stated:

I had a better attitude about being more physical, like instead of being annoyed I had to park further away, I would be like that's ok. This is good for me.

A father described how he was using the Fitbit Zip to motivate his children to walk the dog together. The son from family 10 described how being active was no longer perceived as a burden by him and his sibling but rather as an opportunity to earn more steps:

One night someone was like "will you go get such and such for me" and no one would get off the couch, [...] and when she said that or anyone said that to me, I would be like "I'll do it." I got up and got up straight to do it.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Overall, the major finding from this study suggests a physical activity tracking device may not immediately impact total physical activity but may provide an awareness of total physical activity participation among families. The awareness or perception regarding how active or inactive they are as individuals or as a family may eventually lead to actions to become more active despite some commonly discussed constraints.

The findings in this study highlight several important issues related to increasing the level of physical activity among children previously discussed in the literature. First, adults play a crucial role when it comes to the health and active lifestyle of the entire family [31]. As our data suggested, parents who were interested in increasing physically active recreation encouraged their children's participation, introduced discussions about experiences, and celebrated their children's achievements. Unfortunately, many of them also reported multiple constraints that prevented the family's participation in physical activity, including a lack of energy, time, money, companionship; the constraints also included environmental constraints (weather, lack of sidewalks), interest in other nonactive recreational activities, and distraction by technology. Second, to increase participation in physical activity among children, it is important to make it fun yet still be challenging [31]. Our participants reflected on the enjoyment from the experience of using Fitbit Zip and friendly competition among family members. Thanks to the evening discussions about the step counts every family member obtained during the day, many children were excited to compete with their siblings and parents and, as a result, found the process of being active to be fun. Finally, as previous studies described that the sense of mastery and self-efficacy often encourages children's engagement in physical activities [31,39], physical activity tracking devices could be used to enhance those emotions among youth. For example, having a set goal and being able to observe (on the activity tracking device) how one's actions can allow the individual to achieve that goal might

develop a sense of mastery and self-efficacy among youth. Goal setting and reinforcement were among the suggested ways to increase family-based physical activity discussed in a recent meta-analysis review [36]. The perception of a great effort needed for exercise was mentioned in previous research as one of the constraints for physical activity among adults [5]. The users of activity tracking devices in this study mentioned how the small changes in their everyday routine and increased participation in activities they already enjoyed allowed the participants to increase their step count in an easy way with little or no preparation. Thus, the use of the activity tracking device could assist in changing the perception of physical activity from physical activity requiring great effort to it being simpler and more manageable.

The important message from this study is the relationships between technology and physically active recreation. Although technology is often viewed as a constraint to physical activity [7], it might also be used as a facilitator [39]. Moreover, as the results of this study suggest, a physical activity tracking device can motivate the change in attitude toward active recreation. As intrinsic motivation is often viewed as an important part of long-term change in behavior [40], the change in attitude and perception of physical activity and a healthy lifestyle overall might have a valuable impact on the future of physical activity among families.

Limitations

Although the study brings attention to some important areas in the research on physically active recreation, it also has several limitations. First, because of the self-selection process, a majority of the participants who agreed to participate in the study were already predominantly active and healthy residents of the community. Second, the engagement of families with physical activity tracking devices (Fitbit Zip) was rather short (2 weeks), and the novelty and excitement from this experience might decrease with time [41]. In future studies, we recommend to allow participants a longer period of engagement, as well as to ensure that the interviews are conducted soon after participation as well as several months after the experience ends. Third, the data were analyzed by only 1 of the authors. To address this limitation, the authors reviewed the data, codes, and themes with other qualitative researchers to ensure their logical consistency. Despite these limitations, the study provided a novel perspective on family units and their use of technology to modify health-related behavior such as physical activity. In addition, the study used a qualitative approach to gauge a deep understanding of the perception of the experience with technology and physical activity as a family.

Conclusions

Family-based physical activity interventions may be an effective way to improve the physical activity for both adults and children. Our results suggest that introducing simple everyday activities into family routines may encourage parents and their children to increase their overall physical activity level. Moreover, it may lead to a changed perception of physical activities from difficult and time-consuming to easy and enjoyable. Our results also suggest that facilitating the engagement of the entire family with a physical activity intervention may encourage more

```
XSL•FO
```

discussions about active recreation and the ways to achieve it. Such discussions, healthy competition, and celebrations of achievements among family members may further promote a healthy and active lifestyle among the family as a unit. Finally, the use of activity tracking devices by families can allow both parents and children to be aware of the levels of physical activities among family members in their family unit, as well as observe what activities and strategies can be the most helpful in achieving their goals for physical activities.

There are several implications for future research in this area. Due to an increased presence of technology in the lives of families, we suggest more studies focused on the use of technology to promote physical activities among children and families are needed. More specifically, further studies should explore whether the latest technology can be used as a successful facilitator for physical activities among families. Family is a complex system, and a change in one area of life of the family (eg, employment of parents) may lead to changes in other areas of life (eg, use of technology or physical activity participation). Moreover, families may have various structures and go through various stages in life, as well as represent individuals of diverse backgrounds. A more thorough understanding of the barriers of those with diverse backgrounds may assist in developing more effective family-based physical activity interventions. It is also important to utilize different methods to evaluate the family's physical activity. For example, measuring the total physical activity of each family member and comparing the perception that families have regarding their personal and children's physical activity may be a critical component. Thus, it is important to continue both qualitative and quantitative exploration of this area of study to a produce theoretical foundation and empirical results that could further inform the work of practitioners working with families.

Acknowledgments

This study has been funded by the Appalachian State University.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. National Football League. Play 60 URL: <u>http://www.nfl.com/play60</u> [accessed 2019-01-13] [WebCite Cache ID 75P55z2TZ]
- 2. Let's Move! Let's Move! URL: <u>https://letsmove.obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/</u>
- 3. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2014.: CDC; 2014. Facts about Physical Activity URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/</u>physicalactivity/data/facts.htm [accessed 2019-01-13] [WebCite Cache ID 75P5hnf40]
- 4. National Physical Activity Plan. 2016. The 2016 United States Report Card on Physical Activity for Children and Youth URL: <u>http://www.physicalactivityplan.org/projects/PA/2016FINAL_USReportCard.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-01-13] [WebCite Cache ID 75P69s42f]
- 5. Healthy People 2020. Physical Activity URL: <u>https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/physical-activity</u> [accessed 2019-01-13] [WebCite Cache ID 75P6J3hff]
- 6. Van Der Horst K, Paw MJ, Twisk JW, Van Mechelen W. A brief review on correlates of physical activity and sedentariness in youth. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2007 Aug;39(8):1241-1250. [doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e318059bf35] [Medline: 17762356]
- 7. Louv R. Last child in the woods: Saving our children from nature-deficit disorder. New York, NY: Algonquin Books; Apr 10, 2008:416.
- 8. Watkins SC. The Young and the Digital: What the Migration to Social-Network Sites, Games, and Anytime, Anywhere Media Means for Our Future. Boston: Beacon Press; Sep 7, 2010:1-272.
- 9. Griffiths KM, Christensen H. Internet-based mental health programs: a powerful tool in the rural medical kit. Aust J Rural Health 2007 Apr;15(2):81-87. [doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1584.2007.00859.x] [Medline: 17441815]
- 10. Batsis JA, Naslund JA, Gill LE, Masutani RK, Agarwal N, Bartels SJ. Use of a wearable activity device in rural older obese adults: a pilot study. Gerontol Geriatr Med 2016;2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2333721416678076] [Medline: 28138502]
- Watson A, Bickmore T, Cange A, Kulshreshtha A, Kvedar J. An internet-based virtual coach to promote physical activity adherence in overweight adults: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2012 Jan 26;14(1):e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1629] [Medline: 22281837]
- 12. Chong A, Gonzalez-Navarro M, Karlan D, Valdivia M. National Bureau of Economic Research. 2017 Jul. Do information technologies improve teenagers' sexual education? Evidence from a randomized evaluation in Columbia URL: <u>https://www.nber.org/papers/w18776</u> [accessed 2019-01-13] [WebCite Cache ID 75P7eRmzA]
- 13. Simon L, Daneback K. Adolescents' use of the internet for sex education: a thematic and critical review of the literature. Int J Sex Health 2013;25(4):305-319 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/19317611.2013.823899]
- Bort-Roig J, Gilson ND, Puig-Ribera A, Contreras RS, Trost SG. Measuring and influencing physical activity with smartphone technology: a systematic review. Sports Med 2014 May;44(5):671-686. [doi: <u>10.1007/s40279-014-0142-5</u>] [Medline: 24497157]
- 15. Joseph RP, Durant NH, Benitez TJ, Pekmezi DW. Internet-based physical activity interventions. Am J Lifestyle Med 2014 Jan;8(1):42-68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1559827613498059] [Medline: 25045343]

- 16. Wang Q, Egelandsdal B, Amdam GV, Almli VL, Oostindjer M. Diet and physical activity apps: perceived effectiveness by app users. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Apr 7;4(2):e33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.5114] [Medline: 27056639]
- 17. Hartman SJ, Nelson SH, Weiner LS. Patterns of Fitbit use and activity levels throughout a physical activity intervention: exploratory analysis from a randomized controlled trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Feb 5;6(2):e29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8503] [Medline: 29402761]
- Hurling R, Catt M, De Boni M, Fairley BW, Hurst T, Murray P, et al. Using internet and mobile phone technology to deliver an automated physical activity program: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2007 Apr 27;9(2):e7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9.2.e7] [Medline: 17478409]
- 19. Vorrink SN, Kort HS, Troosters T, Lammers JW. A mobile phone app to stimulate daily physical activity in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: development, feasibility, and pilot studies. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Jan 26;4(1):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4741] [Medline: 26813682]
- 20. Mercer K, Giangregorio L, Schneider E, Chilana P, Li M, Grindrod K. Acceptance of Commercially Available Wearable Activity Trackers Among Adults Aged Over 50 and With Chronic Illness: A Mixed-Methods Evaluation. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Jan 27;4(1):e7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4225] [Medline: 26818775]
- Jakicic JM, Davis KK, Rogers RJ, King WC, Marcus MD, Helsel D, et al. Effect of wearable technology combined with a lifestyle intervention on long-term weight loss: the IDEA randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2016 Sep 20;316(11):1161-1171. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2016.12858</u>] [Medline: <u>27654602</u>]
- 22. Wang JB, Cadmus-Bertram L, Natarajan LA, White M, Madanat H, Nichols JF, et al. Wearable sensor/device (Fitbit One) and SMS text-messaging prompts to increase physical activity in overweight and obese adults: a randomized controlled trial. Telemed J E Health 2015 Oct;21(10):782-792 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2014.0176] [Medline: 26431257]
- 23. DiFrancisco-Donoghue J, Jung MK, Stangle A, Werner WG, Zwibel H, Happel P, et al. Utilizing wearable technology to increase physical activity in future physicians: a randomized trial. Prev Med Rep 2018 Sep 11;12:122-127 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2018.09.004] [Medline: 30234000]
- 24. Ludwig K, Arthur R, Sculthorpe N, Fountain H, Buchan DS. Text messaging interventions for improvement in physical activity and sedentary behavior in youth: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Sep 17;6(9):e10799 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10799] [Medline: 30224335]
- 25. Battista RA, West ST, Houge Mackenzie S, Son JS. Is this exercise? No, it's geocaching! Exploring factors related to aspects of geocaching participation. J Park Recreat Admi 2016 Jan;34(2):e30-e48. [doi: 10.18666/JPRA-2016-V34-I2-6495]
- 26. Boulos MN, Yang SP. Exergames for health and fitness: the roles of GPS and geosocial apps. Int J Health Geogr 2013 Apr 5;12:e19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1476-072X-12-18] [Medline: 23561306]
- 27. Battista RA, West ST. The use of geocaching as a form of physical activity in youth. Am J Health Educ 2018 Mar 9;49(3):125-132. [doi: 10.1080/19325037.2018.1428700]
- 28. Ridgers ND, McNarry MA, Mackintosh KA. Feasibility and Effectiveness of using wearable activity trackers in youth: a systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Nov 23;4(4):e29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6540] [Medline: 27881359]
- Dunton GF, Liao Y, Almanza E, Jerrett M, Spruijt-Metz D, Chou CP, et al. Joint physical activity and sedentary behavior in parent-child pairs. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2012 Aug;44(8):1473-1480 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31825148e9] [Medline: 22367744]
- 30. Mulhall P, Reis J, Begum S. Early adolescent participation in physical activity: correlates with individual and family characteristics. J Phys Act Health 2011 Feb;8(2):244-252. [Medline: <u>21415452</u>]
- 31. Weiss MR. Motivating kids in physical activity. Pres Counc Phys Fit Sports Res Dig 2000 Sep 11;3(11):1-8 [FREE Full text]
- 32. Trussell DE, Shaw SM. Changing family life in the rural context: women's perspectives of family leisure on the farm. Leis Sci 2009 Sep 30;31(5):434-449. [doi: 10.1080/01490400903199468]
- 33. US Department of Health & Human Services. Facts & Statistics: Physical Activity URL: <u>https://www.hhs.gov/fitness/</u> resource-center/facts-and-statistics/index.html [accessed 2019-01-13] [WebCite Cache ID 75P9NZYwb]
- Lakes KD, Abdullah MM, Youssef J, Donnelly JH, Taylor-Lucas C, Goldberg WA, et al. Assessing parent perceptions of physical activity in families of toddlers with neurodevelopmental disorders: the parent perceptions of physical activity scale (PPPAS). Pediatr Exerc Sci 2017 Dec;29(3):396-407 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1123/pes.2016-0213] [Medline: 28486020]
- 35. Jago R, Sebire SJ, Wood L, Pool L, Zahra J, Thompson JL, et al. Associations between objectively assessed child and parental physical activity: a cross-sectional study of families with 5-6 year old children. BMC Public Health 2014 Jun 27;14:655 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-655] [Medline: 24970045]
- 36. Brown HE, Atkin AJ, Panter J, Wong G, Chinapaw MJ, van Sluijs EM. Family-based interventions to increase physical activity in children: a systematic review, meta-analysis and realist synthesis. Obes Rev 2016 Apr;17(4):345-360 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/obr.12362] [Medline: 26756281]
- 37. Charmaz K. Constructing Grounded Theory: A Practical Guide Through Qualitative Analysis. London: Sage Publication Inc; 2016:208.
- 38. Strauss A. Qualitative Analysis for Social Scientists. San Francisco, CA: Cambridge University Press; Jun 26, 1987:336.
- 39. Raymore LA. Facilitators to Leisure. J Leis Res 2017 Dec 13;34(1):37-51. [doi: 10.1080/00222216.2002.11949959]

RenderX

- 40. Frederick CM, Ryan RM. Differences in motivation for sport and exercise and their relations with participation and mental health. J Sport Behav 1993;16(3):124-146.
- 41. Tassey G. Technology life cycles. In: Carayannis EG, editor. Encyclopedia of Creativity, Invention, Innovation and Entrepreneurship. New York, NY: Springer; 2013:1908.

Abbreviations

GPS: global positioning system **SMS:** short message service

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 31.03.18; peer-reviewed by C Brakenridge, E Lyons; comments to author 05.08.18; revised version received 30.09.18; accepted 10.12.18; published 20.02.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Sharaievska I, Battista RA, Zwetsloot J Use of Physical Activity Monitoring Devices by Families in Rural Communities: Qualitative Approach JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e10658 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e10658/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/10658</u> PMID:<u>31518327</u>

©Iryna Sharaievska, Rebecca A Battista, Jennifer Zwetsloot. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 20.02.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

A Personalized eHealth Transition Concept for Adolescents With Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Design of Intervention

Katrine Carlsen¹, MD, PhD; Mette Hald¹, MSc; Marla C Dubinsky², MD; Laurie Keefer³, PhD (Psych); Vibeke Wewer¹, MD, PhD

¹Department of Pediatrics, Hvidovre University Hospital, Hvidovre, Denmark

²Division of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Susan and Leonard Feinstein IBD Center, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai Hospital, New York, NY, United States

³Division of Gastroenterology, Susan and Leonard Feinstein IBD Center, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai Hospital, New York, NY, United States

Corresponding Author:

Katrine Carlsen, MD, PhD Department of Pediatrics Hvidovre University Hospital Kettegaards alle 30 Hvidovre, 2650 Denmark Phone: 45 26180513 Email: <u>katrinec@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Background: Transfer from pediatric to adult care is a crucial period for adolescents with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). **Objective:** Our aim was to develop a personalized transition-transfer concept including relevant tools in an established eHealth (electronic health) program.

Methods: Required transition skills and validated patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) were identified via bibliographic search and clinical experience and were implemented into an existing eHealth program.

Results: The following skills were identified: disease knowledge, social life, disease management, and making well-informed, health-related decisions. The PROMs included the following: self-efficacy (the IBD Self-Efficacy Scale—Adolescents), resilience (the 10-item Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale), response to stress (the Child Self-Report Responses to Stress—IBD), and self-management and health care transition skills (the Self-Management and Transition to Adulthood with Treatment questionnaire). Starting at age 14, the patient will be offered a 1-hour annual transition consultation with an IBD-specialized nurse. The consultation will be based on the results of the PROMs and will focus on the patient's difficulties. Patients will complete the PROMs on the eHealth program at home, allowing nurses and patients to prepare for the meeting. Symptom scores and medication will be filled out on the eHealth program to support disease self-management. The consultation will be a topic-centered dialogue with practical exercises. During routine outpatient visits with the provider, parents will be left out of half of the consultation when the patient is 16 years old; at 17 years old, the parents will not be present. At the transfer consultation, the pediatric provider, the adult gastroenterologist, the pediatric nurse, the patient, and the parents will be present to ensure a proper transfer.

Conclusions: We have conducted a personalized eHealth transition concept consisting of basic elements that measure, train, and monitor the patients' transition readiness. The concept can be implemented and adjusted to local conditions.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12258) doi:10.2196/12258

KEYWORDS

inflammatory bowel disease; adolescents; transition; transfer; adult care

Introduction

RenderX

The incidence of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD)—primarily represented by the diagnoses ulcerative colitis and Crohn's

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12258/
```

disease—is increasing among children and adolescents [1-6]. Consequently, in the coming years there will be a larger burden on adult IBD care settings to manage the complex needs of patients transferred from pediatric IBD departments [7-9].

Carlsen et al

Ensuring that the patients and parents are prepared for the transfer, specifically the *physical handover* of patients from one setting to another, as well as receiving the patients after the transfer, is a challenge for both the pediatric and adult gastroenterological staff [10]. One of the most costly periods for IBD care is in the first year after transfer, from pediatric to adult care; the costs during this period are largely preventable, driven by unplanned hospitalizations, relapse, and nonattendance at scheduled appointments [7-9].

Different approaches have been used over time to improve the transfer process. These approaches have included structured discharge summaries provided on behalf of the pediatric department for the convenience of the adult department and/or joint consultations. Consultations include the patient, the parents, the nurse, and the adult and pediatric provider focused on facilitating the referral between providers in a warm handoff [11]. This approach is insufficient. Studies in adolescents and young adults with other chronic illnesses suggest that in order to improve disease outcomes and reduce health care costs, care must include (1) coordination provided over time, (2) communication between the patient and at least one member of the care team, and (3) skills-based training [12]. Transition care is an extended period of patient empowerment that equips adolescents (10-19 years old) [13] with the skills and knowledge necessary to manage their own health and well-being as they move from pediatric to adult-centered services. This is a more comprehensive approach to addressing the needs of adolescents and young adults with IBD. The process requires a coordinated, team-based shifting of responsibilities of disease self-management from the parent to the patient [14]. Less is known about how to best leverage technology to drive delivery of personalized skills training to a transitioning patient prior to entering adult-centered care [15].

We have previously demonstrated and published that the use of the interactive eHealth (electronic health) solution Young Constant Care [16], designed for adolescents (10-17 years old) with IBD, is usable in this age group [17,18]. An essential element of eHealth is the use of patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) registered in real time due to the Internet connection, which allows timely relevant monitoring and personalized treatment to the individual patient. Specifically, patients register symptoms through the Pediatric Ulcerative Colitis Activity Index or abbreviated Pediatric Crohn's Disease Activity Index [19,20] and their type of medication. The symptom score is presented for the patient as a curve with traffic light zones (ie, green, yellow, and red colors) to indicate whether the disease activity is mild, moderate, or severe (see Figure 1). The traffic light acts as feedback to the patient on his or her symptoms and a guide to the patient to interpret how severe the disease activity is at a given time. Registration of medication helps the patient to remember and be aware of his or her own treatment progress. On an administration page only seen by the IBD team, all patients are listed and the staff can access the scores from the patients. Participants using our eHealth program were empowered and educated to be responsible for reporting symptoms themselves instead of relying on their parents [17].

The disease activity is tracked over time and the traffic light color code is used to visualize disease activity based on symptom index. On the right-hand side of the screenshot in Figure 1, the patients are provided with a guideline regarding the disease activity.

Based on our previous results involving adolescent patients in self-managing their disease through eHealth, it was natural to extend this program beyond reporting of IBD symptoms to include assessment and remediation of other critical self-management skills. We wished to personalize patients' transition preparedness by involving patients actively in their own transition process. Specifically, our aim was to develop a transition-transfer concept that included incorporation of validated measures of transition preparedness in the established eHealth program.

Figure 1. Screenshots from the website Young Constant Care (Danish) [16]. The disease activity is tracked over time; the traffic light color code is used to visualize disease activity based on symptom index. Patients are provided with a guideline regarding the disease activity (right-hand side of screenshot).



Methods

Development of the Transition Concept

The structure of the transition concept was developed in cooperation and agreed upon by two pediatric IBD centers to improve the ability of adapting the concept, regardless of cultural diversions. One center was located in Europe—Department of Pediatrics, Hvidovre University Hospital, Hvidovre, Denmark—and one was located in North America—Division of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Susan and Leonard Feinstein IBD Center, New York, United States.

Identification of Transition Skills

Identification of needed transition and transfer skills and expectations was based on a bibliographic search and clinical experience. The bibliographic search was performed without a date restriction in June 2016 on the online database PubMed. Medical Library Subject Heading (MeSH) terms and keywords were created by combinations of "inflammatory bowel disease"

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12258/

RenderX

with the subjects "transition to adult care," "education," and "skills" using "AND." Relevance was determined by screening titles, abstracts, or full-text publications. Reference lists of relevant articles were screened for further potentially relevant studies. A total of 125 publications were returned using the initial search and 28 were excluded based on their abstracts or full text. After retrieving duplications, 40 original publications remained. The types of publications were as follows: randomized clinical trial (n=1); intervention trials (n=3); investigations of the patients' transition readiness (n=13); investigations of providers' transition experience and opinions (n=6); reviews of the literature (n=8); and transition recommendations (ie, needs and concerns) (n=9). Domains were extracted and transformed to a transition readiness checklist for the pediatric provider and a transfer readiness checklist for the adult provider to assess the patient's transition and transfer progress, respectively (see Multimedia Appendices 1 and 2).

Patient-Reported Outcome Measures

The US Food and Drug Administration defines patient-reported outcomes as any report of the status of a patient's health

condition that comes directly from the patient, without interpretation by a provider or anyone else [21]. In this context, PROMs [22] are questionnaires that evaluate the patient's self-reported capability and performance of transition readiness; these were identified in this study. The requirements of the PROMs were that they needed to be previously validated and usable in international settings; the questionnaires also had to be of an accepted length (ie, maximum 20 items). Furthermore, the total number of questionnaires were limited in order to ensure the quality of the answers. The agreement of included PROMs was performed by a consensus group (ie, consultants, physicians, psychologists, and nurses). PROMs existing in nonnative languages were translated by the cross-cultural adaptation translation method (ie, forward translation, backward translation, and cognitive testing) after agreement and approval with the developers of the PROMs [23]. Selected PROMs were implemented within the existing eHealth program Young Constant Care [16].

Approval

Young Constant Care [16] meets the requirements of the EU General Data Protection Regulation (May 2018) and is hosted on a server owned by the Capital Region, Denmark. Approval from the Danish Ethical Committee and Data Protection Agency will be obtained before enrollment of patients.

Results

Four Components of the Transition Concept

Component 1: Preparation of the Annual Consultation (eHealth and Face-to-Face)

The transition concept offers the patient an annual 1-hour transition consultation with a pediatric IBD-specialized nurse. The purpose of the transition consultation is to improve transition skills and to discuss individual difficulties. Patients will complete the questionnaire on the eHealth webpage Young Constant Care [16], to which the patients are provided access in advance through a personal double log-in-personal password and a code sent to the patient's phone. The webpage is designed to work on mobile phones, tablets, and laptops. Completing the PROMs prior to the consultation allows patients to be prepared for the topics around which the consultation should be centered. It also allows the nurse to prepare the consultation based on the patient's answers to the selected PROMs addressing the patient's abilities and difficulties (ie, the patient's score). The PROMs are presented below in the Specific Contents of the Transition Concept: Transition Skills and Patient-Reported Outcome Measures section. The actual topic of each consultation will be defined in collaboration between the patient and the nurse at the beginning of each consultation, leading to an individualized topic-centered dialogue with practical exercises (see Table 1).

The eHealth transition concept also provides the patient with mind-body techniques of progressive muscle relaxation,

relaxation imagery, and deep breathing exercises to cope with pain and fatigue, which are often present despite relevant treatment [24]. If the patient presents substantial psychological difficulties, the patient can be referred to a psychologist. Nurses are supervised in regular 6-month intervals by a health psychologist, allowing the nurses to evaluate and reflect on the themes of the conversations in the transition consultation and to discuss the challenges encountered during the sessions. The disease knowledge is not systematically evaluated by tests, but is discussed during the regular conversation and consultation with the nurse and the provider.

Component 2: Regular Consultations With the Provider (*Face-to-Face*)

Aiming to prepare and train the patient in disease management, the patient will register his or her symptoms at home prior to the consultation with the provider, interpret his or her disease activity, and record current medications in the eHealth program Young Constant Care [16]. Starting at age 14, the consultation with the provider in the outpatient clinic will change from being oriented toward the parents to being primarily oriented toward the patient. Once the patient is 16 years old, parents will only take part in half of the consultation; when the patient is 17 years old, the parents will no longer participate. This may be a challenge for both the patient, parent, and pediatrician and the rationale for this step should be addressed at the previous consultation.

Component 3: Transfer Consultation (Face-to-Face)

At a joint consultation when the patient is 18 years old, the pediatric provider, the adult gastroenterologist, the pediatric nurse, the patient, and the patient's parents will participate. At the joint consultation, the adult gastroenterologist will explain the structure and the approach of the adult department and, going forward, how the consultations will be conducted. Afterward, the adult gastroenterologist will receive a summary of the disease history in the medical journal and the patient will receive a status letter.

Component 4: Evaluation

Progression in PROMs will be evaluated by comparing the repetitive scores from the patients. The patient's answers to the questionnaires will be stored in the eHealth program. The patient will complete the Self-Management and Transition to Adulthood with Treatment (STARx) questionnaire at the time of transfer. The pediatric provider will assess the patient annually using the *transition readiness checklist* (see Multimedia Appendix 1) and the gastroenterologist will assess the patient at transfer using the *transfer readiness checklist* (see Multimedia Appendix 2). The triple assessment results in a comprehensive evaluation, which is needed, as transition readiness is multidimensional and is biased by the assessor. The transition consultations with IBD nurses will be documented systematically in the patient's medical record. The flowchart of the concept is presented in Figure 2.



Table 1. Exercises to improve the patient's transition skills.

Topics	Exercises (requests and items to address by the IBD ^a -specialized nurse) ^b
IBD knowledge	Explain the disease for me.
	Mark on a drawing of the intestinal system where your disease is located.
	Review your onset of diagnosis, treatment history, and surgeries.
	Explain what symptoms you should be aware of.
	Explain what to do during a relapse.
	Where can you gather additional information about the disease?
	Information from the nurse: significance of alcohol and drugs on the disease.
	Information from the nurse: IBD in relation to sex, contraception, fertility, and pregnancy.
Management of contact with the	Explain how to contact the hospital and how to make a new appointment in the outpatient clinic.
hospital	Prepare a list of topics you can reference prior to your outpatient visits.
	Make a list of phone numbers and contact information for the hospital.
Medication	Explain what medication your treatment consists of (ie, type, dose, and when to take the medication).
	Explain how to renew prescriptions.
	Are you aware of how to travel with your medication?
	Are you aware of what travel documentation you need?
Medical adherence	Identification of the obstacles to good adherence (ie, forgetful, self-conscious, uncomfortable, and belief by patient that "it doesn't work anyway").
	Solution to improve adherence (ie, use of alarm, pill box, and goals).
Worries	Conversation concerning what is difficult in relation to the disease.
	Define beforehand who you would like to inform about the disease.
	Prepare sentences about the disease to be used in new relationships and among acquaintances.
	Conversation regarding feeling different from peers.
	Conversation regarding how the family manages the disease.
	Challenges related to absence from school and work.
Network: family and friends	Are you aware of whom you can rely on if or when the disease progresses?
	Write the names of the persons that you can place in your "inner circle" and "peripheral circle" of relationships.
Stress, pain, and fatigue	Relaxation exercise and visualization
	Breathing exercise
	Mindfulness

^aIBD: inflammatory bowel disease.

^bThe exercises are performed in cooperation with the IBD-specialized nurse. Selected topics depend on the patient's difficulties, which are partially determined from the patient's responses to the patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs).

Specific Contents of the Transition Concept: Transition Skills and Patient-Reported Outcome Measures

Overview

Based on the bibliographic search and discussion among the consensus group, the following skills were found to be important for adolescents to achieve in the transition phase [25]:

- 1. Disease knowledge (eg, regarding the diagnosis, medication, adherence, hospital procedures, and symptoms).
- 2. Disease self-management (eg, independently report to the provider, recognize and react on a flare, refill of prescriptions, and coping with the disease).

- 3. Management of social challenges (eg, social challenges related to the disease, who to rely on, and missed school and work because of the disease).
- 4. Taking part in health-related decisions in cooperation with the provider.

Therefore, the existing eHealth program Young Constant Care [16] was expanded with an implementation of four selected PROMs that evaluated the patient's self-reported capability and performance of transition readiness: disease knowledge, disease self-management, management of social challenges, and taking part in health-related decisions.



RenderX

Figure 2. Flowchart of the transition-transfer concept. IBD: inflammatory bowel disease; STARx: Self-Management and Transition to Adulthood with Treatment.



Self-Efficacy: The Inflammatory Bowel Disease Self-Efficacy Scale—Adolescents

The construct of self-efficacy describes a person's perception of his or her own ability to manage skills required to master new challenges and has proven to be related to their level of self-management [26]. The disease-specific, self-reported, IBD Self-Efficacy Scale—Adolescents [26,27] questionnaire has been developed in cooperation with adolescents with IBD and covers skills related to the challenges of living with IBD between the ages of 12 and 25 years old. During prior work investigating transition readiness, we found self-efficacy to be a predictor [28]. The questionnaire is centered on confidence in various self-management tasks: managing medical care, managing everyday life with IBD, managing feelings, and managing the future with IBD. Answers are given on a 5-point Likert scale and a higher score represents increased self-efficacy (range 13-65) [26,27].

Resilience: The 10-Item Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale

Resilience refers to a person's capability to restore good functioning after exposure to stress or trauma; for instance, how well a person "bounces back" after a diagnosis of IBD [29,30]. The results of adaptation to a given exposure can either improve, neutralize, or overload functioning of a person leading to different levels of dysfunction. The 10-item Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale [29] is a validated measure of the resilience construct [29]; in previous work, we have found this measure to be a good predictor of transition readiness [28]. The topics of the questionnaire are centered on how to adapt and handle changes and the capability to achieve goals despite obstacles. Answers are given on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from 0 (*not true at all*) to 4 (*true nearly all the time*), and a higher score represents increased resilience (range 0-40) [29,30].

Response to Stress: The Child Self-Report Responses to Stress—Inflammatory Bowel Disease

The impact of a stressor on an individual is mitigated by his or her coping mechanisms. The Child Self-Report Responses to Stress—IBD questionnaire [31,32] was developed specifically for children and adolescents with IBD and covers topics that the patients may find stressful or difficult to deal with. The items cover coping and stress responses related to control engagement (eg, problem solving and positive thinking), disengagement coping (eg, avoidance), involuntary engagement (eg, physiological arousal), and involuntary disengagement (eg, emotional numbing). This questionnaire consists of 10 items; answers are given on a 4-point Likert scale (ie, *none, a little, some,* or *a lot*) [31]. The score is calculated using a scoring system delivered by the developer.

Self-Management and Health Care Transition Skills: The Self-Management and Transition to Adulthood With Treatment Questionnaire

The STARx [33] is a generic self-reported questionnaire that measures self-management and health care transition skills in adolescents with a chronic disease who are in current treatment [34]. The items are divided into the following factors: medication management, provider communication, engagement during appointments, disease knowledge, adult health responsibilities, and resource utilization. Answers are given on a 5-point Likert scale and a higher score represents an increased transition readiness.

Discussion

Principal Findings

We have developed a personalized transition concept including relevant and concrete measures involving the patient, provider, and nurse. Transition elements (ie, PROMs and exercises) are



implemented in an existing eHealth program. The current transition concept is presented by specific transition skills that are needed; exercises on how to improve the patient's skills by identification of difficulties via PROMs can be adapted to other sites. The adaptation can be implemented with and without access to an eHealth tool, as the concept can be managed nondigitally (ie, use of paper) as well. The concept has been made ready for testing in clinical practice.

Skills and habits learned during the years of adolescence to manage their own disease and social challenges related to the disease form the basis of the patients' behavior in adulthood [35]. Transition readiness is one of the factors affected by the patients' coping strategies and how they adapt to new circumstances and cultural differences. Therefore, there is a need to approach the transition phase in a holistic and individual manner and to provide patients with appropriate coping strategies that can support them later in life.

A few intervention studies have investigated the impact of a different approach to improve transfer readiness, of which joint consultations were an essential part [36-39]. In a study by Cole et al [36], disease outcomes were evaluated retrospectively according to joint consultations (ie, pediatric provider, adult gastroenterologist, and nurse), which were offered to the patient beginning at the age of 15. At the joint consultation, disease-specific education and information were provided to the patients and parents. In a study by Yerushalmy-Feler et al [38], patients were offered three appointments during a 6-month period in a transition clinic offering joint consultation at the age of 17. The three appointments focused on (1) introduction to the transition (2), improvement of IBD knowledge and self-management, and (3) summation and short-term and long-term planning. Both studies reported improvements in outcome-disease activity and self-efficacy, respectively-after participation in the transition clinic. Yerushalmy-Feler et al [38] evaluated patients' self-efficacy using the IBD-Yourself questionnaire [40] at baseline and at the end of the intervention; however, no monitoring of transition readiness progress was implemented, neither by the providers nor the patient. Cole et al [36] monitored transition readiness using nonvalidated tools by the provider but did not involve PROMs. In our opinion, it is essential to regularly monitor the transition process for both the patient and provider, in order to optimize the process and individualize the effort.

Providing the right support can be a difficult task as it is complex to measure patients' transition readiness. Different questionnaires, such as the Transition Readiness Assessment Questionnaire [41] and the STARx questionnaire, have been used widely; however, no gold standard exists. Therefore, it seems that an appropriate solution is to involve both the pediatric assessment (ie, *Transition readiness checklist*) and the adult provider's assessment (ie, *STARx*) on the situation to ensure a comprehensive evaluation of the patient's transition readiness, thereby gaining a measure of the transition concept's effectiveness.

Systematic Approach

The regular consultations with the provider are often busy, with limited time per consultation, which emphasizes the need for an incorporated systematic approach to ensure a proper individual transition and transfer process for all patients. However, the concept needs to embrace individualities and the ideal number of pretransfer consultations should be flexible depending on the patient's needs. The use of PROMs can help focus resources on the patients who need it most; however, access to a multidisciplinary team of providers and an economic surplus are needed.

Advantages of Technology

Using an Internet-based tool to collect questionnaires has advantages. This is true for both for the patient, who can prepare for the consultation at home, and for the providers, since results from the PROMs, which are available beforehand, can be implemented in the consultation. Information and exercises can easily be accessed through an Internet platform. The eHealth program is future oriented and intended to be managed by the adolescent who must report symptoms and medication changes in the program as part of building his or her involvement in their own disease management. This facilitates and promotes the competencies and management skills of the patient, enabling him or her to gradually take full responsibility for the management of their disease and allowing the parents to step back. The challenge is to establish an eHealth system and to ensure that the system is in accordance with standards that cybersecurity officials request.

Perspectives

Our transition concept focuses on the patient, IBD nurse, and provider. However, two components could receive further attention. First, more attention should be paid to the parents and the need for information about how best to promote independence in their adolescent child and how to gradually relinquish responsibility and let go [42]. Second, a posttransfer adaption environment should be provided in the adult gastroenterological department, acknowledging that the patients may not be completely ready for transfer at age 18 [10]. This is especially relevant in countries with public health services, where postponing transfer is not a possibility for economic reasons [15].

Strengths and Limitations

This transition concept was developed by an interdisciplinary team involving two IBD centers. The strength of the concept is the inclusion of both the provider's and the patient's evaluation of the transition process, acknowledging the strength of implementing and using PROMs. All self-reported components in the concept are validated and translated from English to Danish through a systematic translation process involving cognitive tests by the target group (ie, adolescent patients). However, a limitation is that we did not involve patients and parents in the selection of the PROMs. The involvement of the user (ie, the patient) in the design phase has been shown to be important and to improve the usability of the concept. Patients will be invited to evaluate the concept after use and, based on their evaluation, changes can be implemented.

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12258/
```

XSL•FO

Despite the transition and transfer checklists being based on existing knowledge of selected topics that dominate the literature, they are limited by a lack of validation. The effectiveness of the concept will be evaluated after implementation in the clinic. The search strategy of the literature to identify transition skills was limited by the use of only one database, and that search was not validated by multiple reviewers.

Conclusions

In conclusion, we have developed a personalized transition concept consisting of basic core elements, which can be implemented and adjusted to local conditions. The concept involves transition consultations with an IBD-specialized nurse and ongoing evaluation from both the patient and provider. The transition concept is designed to run for a long period of time for each patient—3 years—to ensure proper preparedness before transfer.

The transition concept will be evaluated at the Department of Pediatrics, Hvidovre University Hospital, Hvidovre, Denmark, in an interventional case-control study (ie, patients enrolled in the transition concept intervention group versus patients without transition preparedness). We hypothesize that the intervention group will achieve a higher transition and transfer readiness score that the control group at the time of transfer as assessed by PROMs and observer-reported outcomes. We also hypothesize that the intervention group will show improved disease management and disease course the first year following transfer. Participants will include IBD patients, 14-18 years old: an intervention group, 14-16 years old, and a control group, 17-18 years old, naïve to the transition concept. All patients will be followed until the age of 19.

Acknowledgments

The source of funding for this project was Tillotts Pharma Denmark.

Authors' Contributions

All authors made substantial contributions to the concept and design of the study. The article was drafted by KC and was revised critically by MH, MCD, LK, and VW for important intellectual content. All authors approved the final version.

Conflicts of Interest

KC received a research grant from Merck Sharp & Dohme Corporation, Denmark, and Tillotts Pharma. MH is a speaker for AbbVie and Tillotts Pharma. MCD is a consultant for Jannsen, Takeda, Abbvie, Pfizer, and Celgene. LK received a research grant from Abbvie and Pfizer and is a consultant for Pfizer. VW received a research grant from Merck Sharp & Dohme Corporation, Denmark, and Tillotts Pharma.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Transition readiness checklist for the pediatric provider. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 207KB - pediatrics_v2i1e12258_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Transfer readiness checklist for the gastroenterological provider in adult care. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 217KB - pediatrics_v2i1e12258_app2.pdf]

References

- Lophaven SN, Lynge E, Burisch J. The incidence of inflammatory bowel disease in Denmark 1980-2013: A nationwide cohort study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2017 Dec;45(7):961-972 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/apt.13971] [Medline: 28229470]
- Jakobsen C, Paerregaard A, Munkholm P, Faerk J, Lange A, Andersen J, et al. Pediatric inflammatory bowel disease: Increasing incidence, decreasing surgery rate, and compromised nutritional status: A prospective population-based cohort study 2007-2009. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2011 Dec;17(12):2541-2550. [doi: 10.1002/ibd.21654] [Medline: 21381152]
- 3. Molodecky NA, Soon I, Rabi D, Ghali WA, Ferris M, Chernoff G, et al. Increasing incidence and prevalence of the inflammatory bowel diseases with time, based on systematic review. Gastroenterology 2012 Jan;142(1):46-54.e42; quiz e30. [doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.10.001] [Medline: 22001864]
- 4. Benchimol E, Bernstein C, Bitton A, Carroll M, Singh H, Otley A, et al. Trends in epidemiology of pediatric inflammatory bowel disease in Canada: Distributed network analysis of multiple population-based provincial health administrative databases. Am J Gastroenterol 2017 Jul;112(7):1120-1134 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/ajg.2017.97] [Medline: 28417994]
- Virta L, Saarinen M, Kolho K. Inflammatory bowel disease incidence is on the continuous rise among all paediatric patients except for the very young: A nationwide registry-based study on 28-year follow-up. J Crohns Colitis 2017 Feb;11(2):150-156. [doi: 10.1093/ecco-icc/jjw148] [Medline: 27555642]

- Henderson P, Wilson D. The rising incidence of paediatric-onset inflammatory bowel disease. Arch Dis Child 2012 Jul;97(7):585-586. [doi: <u>10.1136/archdischild-2012-302018</u>] [Medline: <u>22745290</u>]
- Cole R, Ashok D, Razack A, Azaz A, Sebastian S. Evaluation of outcomes in adolescent inflammatory bowel disease patients following transfer from pediatric to adult health care services: Case for transition. J Adolesc Health 2015 Aug;57(2):212-217. [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2015.04.012] [Medline: 26206442]
- 8. de Silva PS, Fishman LN. Transition of the patient with IBD from pediatric to adult care: An assessment of current evidence. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2014 Aug;20(8):1458-1464. [doi: <u>10.1097/MIB.000000000000045</u>] [Medline: <u>24846721</u>]
- Zhao X, Bjerre L, Nguyen G, Mack D, Manuel D, Hawken S, et al. Health services use during transition from pediatric to adult care for inflammatory bowel disease: A population-based study using health administrative data. J Pediatr 2018 Dec;203:280-287.e4. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.08.021] [Medline: 30266506]
- Hald M, Carlsen K, Nordgaard-Lassen I, Wewer V. Challenges and obstacles in the transition process through the eyes of the gastroenterologist. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019 Dec;31(4):486-493. [doi: <u>10.1097/MEG.00000000001359</u>] [Medline: <u>30688664</u>]
- 11. Escher J. Transition from pediatric to adult health care in inflammatory bowel disease. Dig Dis 2009;27(3):382-386. [doi: 10.1159/000228578] [Medline: 19786769]
- Annunziato RA, Baisley MC, Arrato N, Barton C, Henderling F, Arnon R, et al. Strangers headed to a strange land? A pilot study of using a transition coordinator to improve transfer from pediatric to adult services. J Pediatr 2013 Dec;163(6):1628-1633. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.07.031] [Medline: 23993138]
- 13. World Health Organization. 2019. Adolescent health and development URL: <u>http://www.searo.who.int/entity/child_adolescent/topics/adolescent_health/en/</u> [accessed 2019-03-26] [WebCite Cache ID 77AfWG84p]
- 14. Nagra A, McGinnity P, Davis N, Salmon A. Implementing transition: Ready Steady Go. Arch Dis Child Educ Pract Ed 2015 Dec;100(6):313-320 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2014-307423] [Medline: 26063244]
- 15. Philpott JR, Kurowski JA. Challenges in transitional care in inflammatory bowel disease: A review of the current literature in transition readiness and outcomes. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2019 Jan 01;25(1):45-55. [doi: <u>10.1093/ibd/izy207</u>] [Medline: <u>29893932</u>]
- 16. Young Constant Care. URL: http://young.constant-care.com/ [accessed 2019-03-26] [WebCite Cache ID 77AKhAdjJ]
- 17. Carlsen K, Jakobsen C, Houen G, Kallemose T, Paerregaard A, Riis LB, et al. Self-managed eHealth disease monitoring in children and adolescents with inflammatory bowel disease: A randomized controlled trial. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2017 Dec;23(3):357-365. [doi: 10.1097/MIB.00000000001026] [Medline: 28221247]
- Carlsen K, Houen G, Jakobsen C, Kallemose T, Paerregaard A, Riis LB, et al. Individualized infliximab treatment guided by patient-managed eHealth in children and adolescents with inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2017 Dec;23(9):1473-1482. [doi: 10.1097/MIB.00000000001170] [Medline: 28617758]
- Turner D, Otley A, Mack D, Hyams J, de Bruijne J, Uusoue K, et al. Development, validation, and evaluation of a pediatric ulcerative colitis activity index: A prospective multicenter study. Gastroenterology 2007 Aug;133(2):423-432. [doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.05.029] [Medline: 17681163]
- Turner D, Griffiths A, Walters T, Seah T, Markowitz J, Pfefferkorn M, et al. Mathematical weighting of the pediatric Crohn's disease activity index (PCDAI) and comparison with its other short versions. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2012 Jan;18(1):55-62. [doi: 10.1002/ibd.21649] [Medline: 21351206]
- 21. Guidance for Industry. Patient-Reported Outcome Measures: Use in Medical Product Development to Support Labeling Claims. Washington, DC; Silver Spring, MD: US Department of Health and Human Services; US Food and Drug Administration; 2009 Dec. URL: <u>https://www.fda.gov/downloads/drugs/guidances/ucm193282.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-04-09] [WebCite Cache ID 77VwcEpSK]
- 22. Weldring T, Smith SM. Patient-reported outcomes (PROs) and patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs). Health Serv Insights 2013;6:61-68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4137/HSI.S11093] [Medline: 25114561]
- 23. Beaton D, Bombardier C, Guillemin F, Ferraz M. Guidelines for the process of cross-cultural adaptation of self-report measures. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2000 Dec 15;25(24):3186-3191. [Medline: <u>11124735</u>]
- 24. Yeh AM, Wren A, Golianu B. Mind-body interventions for pediatric inflammatory bowel disease. Children (Basel) 2017 Apr 03;4(4) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/children4040022] [Medline: 28368365]
- 25. van Rheenen PF, Aloi M, Biron I, Carlsen K, Cooney R, Cucchiara S, et al. European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation topical review on transitional care in inflammatory bowel disease. J Crohns Colitis 2017 Sep 01;11(9):1032-1038. [doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjx010] [Medline: 28158494]
- 26. Izaguirre M, Taft T, Keefer L. Validation of a self-efficacy scale for adolescents and young adults with inflammatory bowel disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2017 Dec;65(5):546-550. [doi: <u>10.1097/MPG.00000000001552</u>] [Medline: <u>28248793</u>]
- 27. Izaguirre MR, Keefer L. Development of a self-efficacy scale for adolescents and young adults with inflammatory bowel disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2014 Jul;59(1):29-32. [doi: 10.1097/MPG.000000000000357] [Medline: 24590216]
- Carlsen K, Haddad N, Gordon J, Phan BL, Pittman N, Benkov K, et al. Self-efficacy and resilience are useful predictors of transition readiness scores in adolescents with inflammatory bowel diseases. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2017 Dec;23(3):341-346. [doi: 10.1097/MIB.00000000001038] [Medline: 28178002]

RenderX

- 29. Campbell-Sills L, Stein MB. Psychometric analysis and refinement of the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC): Validation of a 10-item measure of resilience. J Trauma Stress 2007 Dec;20(6):1019-1028. [doi: 10.1002/jts.20271] [Medline: 18157881]
- Connor KM, Davidson JRT. Development of a new resilience scale: The Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC). Depress Anxiety 2003;18(2):76-82. [doi: <u>10.1002/da.10113</u>] [Medline: <u>12964174</u>]
- 31. Connor-Smith JK, Compas BE, Wadsworth ME, Thomsen AH, Saltzman H. Responses to stress in adolescence: Measurement of coping and involuntary stress responses. J Consult Clin Psychol 2000 Dec;68(6):976-992. [Medline: <u>11142550</u>]
- 32. Compas BE, Connor-Smith JK, Saltzman H, Thomsen AH, Wadsworth ME. Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: problems, progress, and potential in theory and research. Psychol Bull 2001 Jan;127(1):87-127. [Medline: 11271757]
- Cohen SE, Hooper SR, Javalkar K, Haberman C, Fenton N, Lai H, et al. Self-management and transition readiness assessment: Concurrent, predictive and discriminant validation of the STARx questionnaire. J Pediatr Nurs 2015;30(5):668-676. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2015.05.006] [Medline: 26165785]
- Ferris M, Cohen S, Haberman C, Javalkar K, Massengill S, Mahan JD, et al. Self-management and transition readiness assessment: Development, reliability, and factor structure of the STARx questionnaire. J Pediatr Nurs 2015;30(5):691-699. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pedn.2015.05.009</u>] [Medline: <u>26209873</u>]
- 35. Gilles K. Adolescence: A Foundation for Future Health. Washington, DC: Population Reference Bureau; 2014 Jun. URL: https://www.prb.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/lancet-youth-factsheet-1.pdf [accessed 2019-03-26] [WebCite Cache ID 77AfxTW6C]
- 36. Cole R, Ashok D, Razack A, Azaz A, Sebastian S. Evaluation of outcomes in adolescent inflammatory bowel disease patients following transfer from pediatric to adult health care services: Case for transition. J Adolesc Health 2015 Aug;57(2):212-217. [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2015.04.012] [Medline: 26206442]
- Dabadie A, Troadec F, Heresbach D, Siproudhis L, Pagenault M, Bretagne J. Transition of patients with inflammatory bowel disease from pediatric to adult care. Gastroenterol Clin Biol 2008 May;32(5 Pt 1):451-459 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.gcb.2008.01.044] [Medline: 18472377]
- Yerushalmy-Feler A, Ron Y, Barnea E, Nachum A, Matalon S, Dali-Levy M, et al. Adolescent transition clinic in inflammatory bowel disease: Quantitative assessment of self-efficacy skills. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017 Jul;29(7):831-837. [doi: 10.1097/MEG.00000000000864] [Medline: 28230561]
- Fu N, Jacobson K, Round A, Evans K, Qian H, Bressler B. Transition clinic attendance is associated with improved beliefs and attitudes toward medicine in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol 2017 Aug 07;23(29):5405-5411 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3748/wig.v23.i29.5405] [Medline: 28839441]
- 40. Zijlstra M, De Bie C, Breij L, van Pieterson M, van Staa A, de Ridder L, et al. Self-efficacy in adolescents with inflammatory bowel disease: A pilot study of the "IBD-yourself," a disease-specific questionnaire. J Crohns Colitis 2013 Oct;7(9):e375-e385. [doi: 10.1016/j.crohns.2013.02.017] [Medline: 23537816]
- 41. Wood DL, Sawicki GS, Miller MD, Smotherman C, Lukens-Bull K, Livingood WC, et al. The Transition Readiness Assessment Questionnaire (TRAQ): Its factor structure, reliability, and validity. Acad Pediatr 2014;14(4):415-422. [doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2014.03.008] [Medline: 24976354]
- 42. Gray W, Resmini A, Baker K, Holbrook E, Morgan P, Ryan J, et al. Concerns, barriers, and recommendations to improve transition from pediatric to adult IBD care: Perspectives of patients, parents, and health professionals. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2015 Jul;21(7):1641-1651. [doi: 10.1097/MIB.00000000000419] [Medline: 25966837]

Abbreviations

eHealth: electronic health
IBD: inflammatory bowel disease
MeSH: Medical Library Subject Heading
PROM: patient-reported outcome measure
STARx: Self-Management and Transition to Adulthood with Treatment

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 19.09.18; peer-reviewed by J Philpott, S Stones; comments to author 24.01.19; revised version received 27.02.19; accepted 24.03.19; published 24.04.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Carlsen K, Hald M, Dubinsky MC, Keefer L, Wewer V A Personalized eHealth Transition Concept for Adolescents With Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Design of Intervention JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12258 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12258/</u> doi:10.2196/12258 PMID:31518331



RenderX

©Katrine Carlsen, Mette Hald, Marla C Dubinsky, Laurie Keefer, Vibeke Wewer. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 24.04.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Qualitative and Quantitative Evaluation of the Make Safe Happen App: Mobile Technology–Based Safety Behavior Change Intervention for Parents

Kristin J Roberts¹, MS, MPH; Rebecca J McAdams¹, MA, MPH; Orie V Kristel², PhD; Alison M Szymanski², PhD; Lara B McKenzie^{1,3,4}, PhD, MA, FAAHB

¹Center for Injury Research and Policy, The Research Institute, Nationwide Children's Hospital, Columbus, OH, United States

²Illuminology, Columbus, OH, United States

⁴Division of Epidemiology, College of Public Health, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States

Corresponding Author:

Kristin J Roberts, MS, MPH Center for Injury Research and Policy The Research Institute Nationwide Children's Hospital Research Building III, 5th Floor 700 Children's Drive Columbus, OH, 43205 United States Phone: 1 614 355 5858 Email: kristin.roberts@nationwidechildrens.org

Abstract

Background: Nearly half of the unintentional injuries in children happen in and around the home; many of these injuries are preventable. Providing parents and caregivers with proper injury prevention information that is easily accessible may help them make their homes safer for children.

Objective: The aim of this study was to evaluate parental injury prevention awareness and home safety behaviors, motivations for and challenges to taking injury prevention and safety actions for parents as well as user experience following the use of the Make Safe Happen mobile app.

Methods: A total of 40 parents with children aged 0-12 years living in Columbus, Ohio, participated in 1 of 5 focus group discussions following the completion of (1) a pretest survey, (2) use of the Make Safe Happen app, and (3) a posttest survey.

Results: Following the use of the Make Safe Happen app, parents reported a significant increase in injury prevention awareness and completed 45% more home *safety behaviors* in and around their homes. Nearly all of the parents felt the app provided them with the information needed to make their home safer for their children; the great majority of parents intended to make such changes in the future.

Conclusions: The combination of qualitative and quantitative data collection allowed for rich data capture and provided a deeper understanding of parents' safety knowledge, behaviors, app use, and decision making regarding child injury prevention in and around the home. The Make Safe Happen app provides the information and motivation parents and caregivers need to help them take steps to prevent child injuries that may occur in and around their homes.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12022) doi:10.2196/12022

KEYWORDS

RenderX

smartphone; mobile phone; mobile app; parents; focus groups; technology

³Department of Pediatrics, College of Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States

Introduction

Injury Prevention

Unintentional injuries, such as injuries caused by burns, falls, drowning, poisoning, and motor vehicles, are the leading cause of death among children aged 1 to 19 years [1], resulting in over 9000 deaths and more than 9 million emergency department visits annually [2]. Approximately one-half of unintentional injuries in children occur in and around the home [3]. Fortunately, parents can reduce the risk of these injuries by removing hazards from their home, consistently practicing safe behavior (eg, storing medicines and household cleaners in locked cabinets), and by properly installing and regularly using safety products such as smoke alarms, carbon monoxide detectors, stair gates, cabinet locks and latches, and television (TV) and furniture anchors [4,5].

Parents and caregivers play a critical role in the prevention of home injuries, yet barriers include locating credible injury prevention information and identifying home hazards [6] as well as obtaining and properly installing safety devices in the home [7,8]. Successful preventive strategies rely on parental education and behavior change as well as environmental modifications [8-10]. Previous research suggests that the delivery of injury prevention information should coincide with the appropriate ages and developmental stages of the child to be most effective [11]. Offering home safety information on multiple topics in conjunction with the ability to easily acquire recommended safety devices may provide more efficient, wide-reaching means to reduce these potential barriers and encourage parental behavior change.

Mobile technologies, specifically apps (on mobile phones) provide a means to deliver efficient and cost-effective health information. It is estimated that nearly 80% of Americans own a mobile phone [12], and adults spend nearly 2 hours each day using mobile apps on these devices [13]. Although mobile technologies have been associated with behavior change in the areas of public health [14,15], few have been created to prevent unintentional injuries and even fewer have been systematically and rigorously evaluated [16-19]. Thus, there is a need for evaluating the effectiveness of a wide-reaching injury prevention mobile app.

The Make Safe Happen App

The Make Safe Happen app was created to help parents and caregivers with young children (aged 0 through 12 years) make their homes safer by helping them to identify injury hazards in and around their home. The app was developed by the safety experts in the Center for Injury Research and Policy at Nationwide Children's Hospital in partnership with Nationwide and allows users to tailor safety information by their child's age and by features of their home. The authors sought to examine if and how parents would use an injury prevention mobile app (the Make Safe Happen app) to learn how to take safety actions in their home and adopt behaviors that could prevent unintentional injuries [20].

We conducted a series of *enhanced focus groups* to explore the following themes: (1) injury prevention awareness and home

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12022/
```

safety behaviors, (2) Make Safe Happen app user experience, and (3) motivation for taking injury prevention or safety actions and challenges to accomplishing home safety as perceived by parents with children aged 12 years and younger. Understanding how parents and caregivers used the *Make Safe Happen* app was thought to have important implications for confirming the efficacy of a potentially broad-reaching injury-prevention, behavior change intervention.

Methods

Study Design

We conducted 5 focus groups with parents of children aged 0 through 12 years in Columbus, Ohio, to explore attitudes and actions around home safety as well as their experience using the Make Safe Happen app. These focus group discussions are referred to as enhanced focus groups throughout this study because of the additional participant requirements (ie, pretest and posttest survey, app utilization, and focus group discussions). Enhanced focus groups allowed for both qualitative and quantitative data collection to occur for each participant. Before the focus group, parents completed a Web-based pretest and posttest survey and downloaded and used the Make Safe Happen app for 7 to 10 days. Parents completed a Web-based consent before beginning the pretest and a written consent before the focus group discussion. Following the Make Safe Happen app download, participants accepted the app's terms and conditions. Participants were assigned a unique identification (participant ID) number which allowed for linking of the participant's pretest, posttest, and app usage data. Participants could remove their participant ID following the focus group discussion. If the participant refused to enter the participant ID or removed the ID before completing all parts of the study, they were deemed ineligible. App utilization and analytic data for each participant were collected using Google Analytics (GA), a free Web-based analytic platform. Similar to traditional focus groups, participants were engaged in a discussion facilitated by a moderator. The focus group discussions were a part of a larger study to evaluate the effectiveness of the Make Safe Happen app on safety knowledge, actions, and behavioral intentions [20]. The study was approved by the Research Institute at Nationwide Children's Hospital Institutional Review Board.

Recruitment

Participants for this study were recruited by a market research firm, using its panel of individuals who had previously opted in to help with research studies. After identifying panelists that may be eligible, the market research firm screened participants for eligibility over the phone. To be eligible, participants needed to be the parent or legal guardian of at least one child aged 0 through 12 years who lived with them most of the time. The child age range was selected based on the available age categories within the Make Safe Happen app, which allows users to filter child injury prevention recommendations and content for children aged 0 through 12 years. To meet study eligibility criteria, participants had to be ≥ 18 years, comfortable answering questions in English, own a smart phone, and willing to download and use the Make Safe Happen app for 7 to 10 days. If parents had previously downloaded or used the Make

XSL•FO

Safe Happen app, they were not eligible for participation. Participants reflected a mix of genders, races, and ethnicities.

Pre- and Posttest Survey

Following telephone recruitment and screening for eligibility, eligible participants were emailed a unique pretest survey link containing a Web-based consent form and questions regarding their safety behaviors, safety knowledge, safety device acquisition and use, and behavioral intentions to adopt future safety actions.

The Make Safe Happen App, Actions, and Google Analytics Linkage

Following completion of the pretest survey, participants were asked to download and use the Make Safe Happen app. General features of the app include the ability for users to tailor safety information by their child's age (ie, 0 to 11 months, 12 to 23 months, 2 to 4 years, 5 to 9 years, and 10 to 12 years) and customize their experience by selecting features of their home

(ie, standard rooms, garage, basement, stairs, and hallways). The Make Safe Happen app allows users to identify injury hazards with customized room-by-room checklists, links to purchase safety products best suited to the features of their homes via a Web-based global retailer, create shopping lists, and set reminders to encourage consistent safety behaviors. Within each room, users can select injury prevention topics; once clicked, the user will view checklists containing prevention tips and tasks for each injury prevention topic (Figure 1). Injury prevention tasks include the option to add a safety product to their shopping list, shop for products (linking the user directly to the Amazon search for that product), and the ability to add reminders to the calendar (including reminders to change batteries and test devices such as smoke detectors and carbon monoxide alarms). The Make Safe Happen app was available for free download from the Google Play store or the Apple App store. Participants downloaded the Make Safe Happen app version 2.2.0.

Figure 1. Make Safe Happen Mobile App.





RenderX
Upon completion of the pretest survey, participants received a unique study app identification (app ID) number and instructions via email to download the Make Safe Happen app onto their mobile phone. Participants entered the app ID, a 6-digit alphanumeric code, into the Make Safe Happen app so their actions in the app could be linked to their pretest and posttest survey data. After a period of 7 to 10 days of app use, participants were emailed a unique posttest survey link. Participants' app usage was collected by using GA. When a participant checked an item off in the app, a data point linked to the participant ID was recorded in GA. The participant ID also allowed for data collected from nonstudy users (those without an app ID) to be separated from the study participant app analytics.

Focus Group Discussion Themes

Participants who completed the pretest, app download, and posttest survey were invited to attend 1 of the 5 in-person focus group discussions. A total of 5, 90-min in-person focus group discussions were completed during October 2016 in Columbus, Ohio. Groups of 8 parents were organized according to the age of the index child (2 groups for parents with children aged <2 years and 1 group for parents with children aged 2 to 4 years, 5 to 9 years, and 10 to 12 years). For participants with multiple children, the index child was assigned to the group that contained the least number of parents at enrollment; these parents were asked to only discuss the index child during the focus group discussions. While waiting for the focus group discussions to begin, they completed a brief survey collecting the participants' *home safety* and *app experience rating*. Data reported are for participants that completed all parts of the study.

A professional focus group moderator (AS) led each session through focused conversation, using a discussion guide developed by the study team to ensure critical questions and probes of interest were discussed. The research team observed the focus group discussions through a one-way mirror. Discussions were audio-taped, transcribed by a professional transcription service, and proofed for accuracy by the research team and moderator. At the conclusion of the focus group discussions, participants received a Make Safe Happen–branded gift bag containing home safety information. Participants were paid US \$150 to thank them for their time. Results from the focus group discussions were paired with corresponding data collected from the pretest and posttest surveys, user experience questions, and GA and presented accordingly under each thematic subsection.

Outcomes and Measures

The enhanced focus group design aimed to explore parents' (1) injury prevention awareness and home safety behaviors; (2) Make Safe Happen app user experience; and (3) motivation for taking injury prevention or safety actions as well as the challenges that may inhibit these safety behaviors.

Injury Prevention Awareness and Home Safety Behaviors

Injury prevention awareness was measured by responses to 17 multiple choice questions asked in each of the pretest and posttest surveys based on content delivered in the Make Safe

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12022/
```

Happen app. One point was given for each correct answer, and the total of correct answers was summed and divided by the total number of questions (17) for each participant to calculate the *total safety knowledge score*. The *mean total safety knowledge score* for all participants was derived by calculating the mean of the *total safety knowledge score*.

Home safety behaviors were determined via responses to questions on both the pretest and posttest surveys that measured the participant's *repeated safety behaviors*, which are safety behaviors that are recommended to be done repeatedly such as locking up medications, and safety behaviors, which are behaviors that are typically completed once such as installing a smoke alarm. The frequencies of the participants' *repeated safety behaviors* and *safety behaviors* were measured by responses to 14 multiple choice questions and 15 multiple choice questions, respectively. A *home safety rating* was collected during a written exercise before the start of the focus group discussions and was measured by a 5-point Likert scale, where 1 indicated *Everything is childproofed*, 3 indicated *Safe, but room for improvement*, and 5 indicated *Nothing is childproofed*.

Make Safe Happen App Participant Usage and Actions

From September 29, 2016, to October 13, 2016, GA data regarding participants' sessions, defined as the number of times the app was opened and at least 1 or more action was taken within the app as well as the number of app screens viewed, were collected. In addition, data of completed app safety actions, actions completed within the app such as *checking off* items, creating calendar reminders, or adding safety devices to a shopping list, were collected. GA provides individual and aggregate data for the total number of app sessions, screens viewed, the average number of screens viewed per session, and the average duration of time of each session for the focus group participants. GA does not generate the total amount of time spent on the app per individual. Each parent's app experience rating was collected before the focus group on the written survey and was measured by rating the Make Safe Happen app on a scale of 1 (positive) to 5 (negative). Using a Likert scale where 1 indicates dislike and 5 indicates liked a lot, parents provided a rating of features for the room-specific checklists and the ability to customize the app based on rooms and features of their home.

Motivation for Prevention and Challenges to Home Safety

During the posttest survey, parents were asked to select the safety tasks that they had completed in and around their home as well as the reasons why they had not made other changes to their home during the past week. Before the start of the focus groups, parents completed a brief one-page app experience survey which asked them to describe the emotions and feelings they had regarding their app experience as well as open-ended questions regarding the features they liked the most and the least.

Data Analysis

Survey response data were analyzed by using SPSS statistical software 24.0 (SPSS Inc) and SAS Enterprise Guide version 7.1 (SAS Institute, Inc). A thematic analysis was conducted by

a process similar to that recommended by Braun and Clarke [21]. AS and OK used the focus group transcripts to identify and analyze important themes. Transcripts were created from audio recordings of the focus group discussions. Members of the study team reviewed the transcripts beginning at the section of each transcript corresponding to the questions asked by the moderator. Initial codes were

created based on the parents' discussion for each question asked by the moderator. Similar and dissimilar responses were grouped, unique or different comments were noted, and patterns addressing the key questions of interest were summarized to extract important themes. These themes were refined and reorganized after review, keeping in mind the key objectives of the research. Any disagreements were resolved via discussion. The results are presented under each respective section: (1) injury prevention awareness and home safety behaviors; (2) Make Safe Happen app user experience; and (3) motivation for prevention and challenges to home safety.

Pretest and posttest difference of the *mean total safety knowledge score* was analyzed with the chi-square test using alpha=.05. Statistical methods were not applied to *all repeated safety behaviors* and *all safety behaviors* because of small frequencies that lacked statistical robustness. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board at the Nationwide Children's Hospital.

Results

Overview

Participants who completed both the pretest and posttest surveys and downloaded and used the app were invited to attend 1 of the 5 focus group discussions (N=49). A total of 9 participants were dismissed immediately before the focus group discussions to maintain small group sizes. Dismissal was determined based on the time of arrival, and the first 8 participants to arrive were invited into the discussions. The remaining participants were paid before dismissal. A total of 40 parents participated in 1 of 5 focus groups consisting of 8 parents within each group with 58% (23/40) mothers and 43% (17/40) fathers. Parents were, on average, aged 35.8 (SD 6.0) years, mostly white, non-Hispanic (65%, 26/40), members of a 2-parent household (75%, 30/40), educated (Bachelor's degree or more; 75%, 30/40), and employed full time (65%, 26/40). Most parents reported owning their own home (68%, 27/40) and living in their home for ≥ 5 years (35%, 14/40). Parents had an annual household income of ≥US \$80,000 (51%, 20/39) and reported feeling they are meeting ends easily or very easily with their income (63%, 25/40; Table 1).

Injury Prevention Awareness and Home Safety Behaviors

Pretest and Posttest Survey

Following app use, the *mean safety knowledge score* significantly increased from 63% (10.7/17) at pretest to 81%

(13.7/17) at posttest (P<.001). The percent of participants who completed all repeated safety behaviors increased by 20.0%, from 48% (19/40) at pretest to 68% (27/40) at posttest, and the percent of participants who completed all safety behaviors had a larger increase of 45%, from pretest (15%, 6/40) to posttest (50% (20/40); Table 2). On the posttest survey, one parent did not use the app within the study period, and over 60% of parents (62%, 24/39) reported that they were already following *safety behavior*.

Focus Group Discussions

During the focus groups, parents reported that they could be doing more to prevent injuries in their homes and that they became more aware of the different ways they could make their homes safer, following app use. On average, participants gave their homes a *home safety rating* of 2.7 (range 2.5-2.9), just better than *Safe, but room for improvement*. Parents discussed that they had taken several safety measures such as installing outlet covers, doorknob covers, baby gates, cabinet locks, window stops, and blind cord shorteners; securing cleaning products; securing furniture to the wall; and checking fire alarm batteries and believed these actions had helped prevent injuries. All parent participants reported that they were motivated to install safety devices; however, the type of safety devices mentioned for installation differed by child age.

During the focus group discussions, parents of younger children (aged 0 to 2 years) were particularly motivated to install, test, and/or purchase safety devices such as TV and furniture anchors, carbon monoxide alarms, oven locks, corner guards, and window locks. Parents of children aged over 2 years were motivated to improve home fire safety and were especially interested in testing, installing, and purchasing products such as smoke alarms, fire extinguishers, and fire escape ladders, as well as preparing for a home fire by practicing a home fire drill using the Make Safe Happen app:

I had added the tethers to all the furniture when my seven-year-old and my five-year-old were young, but...now we have a nine-month-old, and we had to purchase other furniture...I thought I was golden and all that, but there was a good reminder...and there was one TV that we didn't have attached to the wall...I didn't even know there was a water temperature thing you could do. I'd never heard of that before, either. So, I need to look more into that. [Parent of a child aged 0 to 2 years]

We only had our really old fire extinguisher, and it's...in the garage...this made me think, like "Oh, we should probably have one out there and one in the house," and we haven't checked it...It probably doesn't even work...I hadn't thought about that at all, and I'm pretty safety-conscious, so that's one thing that's on the list to get. [Parent of a child aged 10 to 12 years]

Roberts et al

 Table 1. Demographic characteristics of enhanced focus group participants.

Demographic characteristics	Focus group partici- pants (n=40)	Parents of children <2 years (n=16)	Parents of children 2-4 years (n=8)	Parents of children 5-9 years (n=8)	Parents of children 10-12 years (n=8)
Age (years), mean (SD)	36 (6)	34 (5)	32 (3)	37 (7)	41 (60)
Number of children <18 years in household, mean (SD)	2 (1)	2 (1)	2 (1)	2 (1)	3 (1)
Gender, n (%) ^a					
Fathers	17 (43)	7 (44)	3 (38)	4 (50)	3 (38)
Mothers	23 (58)	9 (56)	5 (63)	4 (50)	5 (63)
Race or ethnicity, n (%)					
White, non-Hispanic	26 (65)	12 (75)	5 (63)	4 (50)	5 (63)
Black, non-Hispanic	10 (25)	2 (13)	2 (25)	3 (38)	3 (38)
Other	4 (10)	2 (13)	1 (13)	1 (13)	0 (0)
Education, n (%)					
≤High school or General Educa- tion Development	1 (3)	0 (0)	1 (13)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Some college	9 (23)	4 (25)	3 (38)	1 (13)	1 (13)
≥Bachelor's degree	30 (75)	12 (75)	4 (50)	7 (88)	7 (88)
Employment, n (%)					
Full Time	26 (65)	12 (75)	4 (50)	6 (75)	4 (50)
Part-Time	5 (13)	2 (25)	1 (13)	2 (25)	0 (0)
Stay at home parent	8 (20)	1 (6)	3 (38)	0 (0)	4 (50)
Other	1 (3)	1 (6)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Household, n (%)					
Two Parent	30 (75)	15 (94)	4 (50)	5 (63)	6 (75)
Single Parent	10 (25)	1 (6)	4 (50)	3 (38)	2 (25)
Home ownership, n (%)					
Own	27 (68)	12 (75)	2 (25)	6 (75)	7 (88)
Rent	13 (33)	4 (25)	6 (75)	2 (25)	1 (13)
Time in current household, n (%)					
≥5 years	14 (35)	4 (25)	2 (25)	5 (33)	3 (38)
3-4 years	12 (30)	7 (44)	2 (25)	1 (13)	2 (25)
1-2 years	10 (25)	3 (19)	4 (50)	1 (13)	2 (25)
≤ 11 months	4 (10)	2 (13)	0 (0)	1 (13)	1 (13)
Income ^b , n (%)					
<\$20,000	1 (3)	0 (0)	1 (13)	0 (0)	0 (0)
\$20,000-\$39,999	5 (13)	1 (6)	3 (38)	1 (13)	0 (0)
\$40,000-\$59,999	8 (21)	3 (19)	0 (0)	0 (0)	5 (63)
\$60,000-\$79,999	5 (13)	3 (19)	2 (25)	0 (0)	0 (0)
≥\$80,000	20 (51)	9 (56)	1 (13)	7 (88)	3 (38)
Livability, n (%)					
Meet ends with difficulty or with great difficulty	3 (8)	4 (25)	1 (14)	1 (13)	0 (0)
Just get by	12 (30)	0 (0)	4 (43)	0 (0)	5 (33)
Meet ends easily or very easily	25 (63)	12 (75)	3 (29)	7 (88)	3 (38)

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12022/

XSL•FO RenderX

^aTotal percentage may not add to 100 because of rounding.

^bIncome missing n=1 because participant preferred not to answer.

Table 2. Percentage of mean safety knowledge score and of participants who completed all safety behaviors.

Study Measures	Pretest	Posttest
Mean safety knowledge score ^a	63	81
All repeated safety behaviors, n (%)	19 (48)	27 (68)
All safety behaviors, n (%)	6 (15)	20 (50)

^aP<.001.

Make Safe Happen App User Experience

Make Safe Happen App Participant Usage and App Safety Actions

There were 229 app sessions during the study period for the 40 participants who completed the focus group discussions. During these app sessions, 3314 screens were viewed averaging 14.5 screens per session for an average duration of 8 min and 24 seconds. Participants completed 1972 *app safety actions*. A total of 42% (17/40) of parents completed all tasks for at least 1 room in the app. Of the standard 4, the bedroom (22%, 9/40) and kitchen (20%, 8/40) were most commonly completed within the app by participants. Participants set a total of 19 calendar reminders. Testing smoke alarms had the greatest number of set reminder actions (n=7), followed by testing carbon monoxide alarms and replacing smoke alarm batteries, where n=3 for both, and 1 person reported completing the action to replace carbon monoxide alarm batteries (Textbox 1).

Focus Group Discussions

Most parents (73%, 29/40) reported that they had a positive experience while using the app. On average, parents gave the app an *app experience rating* of 2.1. Parents of children aged less than 2 years had a particularly positive experience, with an average *app experience rating* of 1.7, whereas the average among parents of children aged 2 years and older was 2.3. Almost all parents (93%, 37/40) indicated they felt *informed* while using the app. Other common emotions reported were positive, including feeling *encouraged* (58%, 23/40), *empowered* (40%, 16/40), and *engaged* (40%, 16/40):

Informative of things I didn't know about but also made me feel I should push to make my home safer and be more alert. [Parent of a child aged 0 to 2 years]

It was very detailed. I'm a checklist person and I love that about it! It made me thinking about things in different areas that I wouldn't have thought of. [Parent of a child aged 0 to 2 years]

I thought it was easy to use, but I really liked how it was organized by room, because it wasn't so overwhelming. [Parent of a child aged 10 to 12 years] During the discussions, parents reported that they typically only checked off items in the app checklist after they completed the app safety action; app safety actions added to the participant's mental checklist were not checked off in the Make Safe Happen app checklist and thus would not be recorded as an app safety action in GA. Parents liked the option to add the Poison Help Number to their contacts; however, only about one-third (14/40) of them reported adding the number to their mobile phones and only 20% (8/40) actually completed that app safety action. During the discussion, some parents said they already had it in their mobile phone contacts and others said they would "Google it" if they needed to call the number. In addition, parents liked the shopping list and calendar functions of the Make Safe Happen app, yet they reported that they did not use these features (Table 2). Parents reported not using the shopping features because they either do not often use their phones to shop or because they needed to discuss their purchases with their spouse or partner. Participants who reported not using the calendar feature either do not use the calendar on their mobile phone or already have a plan to regularly change their smoke alarm (or carbon monoxide alarm) batteries.

Parents provided a *rating of features* for the room-specific checklists and the ability to customize the app, both scoring means of 4.5 (liked a lot). Parents of children aged below 5 years seemed likely to keep using the app, whereas parents with children aged 5 years or above seemed less likely to continue to use the Make Safe Happen app:

It has good information...I think [I'll] keep it around, is because I know even if you were to

have everything checked off, it's just good to look at that list just to reaffirm it. [Parent of a child aged 0 to 2 years]

I think I'll keep it, just because as my kids get older, I can change the ages on it and it will adjust the differences that might be applicable to their age groups. [Parent of a child aged 2 to 4 years]

I think once I went through all the rooms and set the calendar reminders, I think the only reason may be to keep it would be-like the fire escape plan, as the kids get older, let them practice and use the phone. [Parent of a child aged 5 to 9 years]

Textbox 1. The Make Safe Happen app safety actions as recorded in Google Analytics.

Index child age

- 12-23 months (n=16)
- 2-4 years (n=8)
- 5-9 years (n=8)
- 10-12 years (n=8)

Selected child age in app (study participants were able to select the ages of all their children in the app, including the index child age)

- 0-11 months (n=9)
- 12-23 months (n=10)
- 2-4 years (n=18)
- 5-9 years(n=18)
- 10-12 years (n=13)

Rooms completed

- Any room (a total of 17 participants completed all of the tasks for at least one room; n=17)
- Bathroom completed (n=5)
- Basement completed (n=3)
- Bedroom completed (n=9)
- Cars completed (n=4)
- Driveway completed (n=4)
- Fireplace completed (n=3)
- Garage completed (n=2)
- Kitchen completed (n=8)
- Laundry Room completed (n=6)
- Living Room completed (n=5)
- Playroom completed (n=1)
- Stairs & Hallways completed (n=6)
- Yard completed (n=1)

Set reminder

- Total set reminders (n=19)
- Testing smoke alarms (n=7)
- Testing carbon monoxide alarms (n=3)
- Replacing smoke alarm batteries (n=3)
- Replacing carbon monoxide alarm batteries (n=1)

```
Check off safety actions (n=1741)
```

Shop for (n=39)

Shop for shopping list (n=19)

Shop for amazon (n=14)

Social share (n=3)

Added poison help number to contacts (n=8)

Total app safety actions (n=1972)

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12022/

Table 3. Self-reported parental barriers to take safety actions.

Roberts et al

Barriers to taking safety actions	Statistics, n (%) ^a
Intend to make changes in near future	34 (87)
Already follow these safety recommendations	24 (62)
Do not have time to make changes	13 (33)
Do not think the information is relevant to me	10 (26)
Cannot afford safety products now	9 (23)
Did not take safety action or actions for some other reason	6 (15)
Am not ready to follow safety recommendations	4 (10)

^aTotal does not add to 100% because participants could select more than one barrier.

Motivation for Prevention and Challenges to Home Safety

Pretest and Posttest Survey

On the posttest survey, one-third of the parents (33%, 13/39) reported not having enough time to make the recommended changes, whereas approximately one-quarter of parents reported not being able to afford these changes (23%, 9/39) or that they did not think the recommendations were relevant to them (26%, 10/39). However, almost 90% (87%, 34/39) of parents reported intending to make changes in the future (Table 3).

Focus Group Discussions

Parents described feeling overwhelmed with the amount of safety tasks included in the Make Safe Happen app.

It was overwhelming. I was like, oh my gosh, we're failing. [Parent of a child aged 0 to 2 years]

For parents of children of all ages, making the safety tasks easier would motivate them to complete injury prevention tasks. They said they would be more likely to complete these safety tasks if they had more time, reminders, easier access to safety products, less expensive products, and assistance with installation of safety devices. Parents also mentioned that some parents and guardians or family members may be another barrier to taking safety actions:

A barrier is actually...my husband...when I bring stuff up, he's like, "Why? We didn't have fire ladders when we were a kid, so why?" ...I begged for Christmas for in-laws to buy a fire extinguisher, and he's like, "Why do we need one in the basement?" [Parent of a child aged 0 to 2 years]

I think cost could potentially be something that would maybe put someone-not be able to do everything. Especially with the window stop sand the fire escape ladders. That's a large expense, and if you have a lot of upstairs rooms. [Parent of a child aged 5 to 9 years]

Additionally, some parents mentioned *seeing the risks of not doing* tasks or a *near miss situation* would motivate them to further take safety actions in their home:

This last week has been really cool, like where I want the windows open at night, but then I'm looking at it, like, I guess they could [fall out]...so then I was, "I

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12022/
```

RenderX

guess it's not worth the risk," so I did close up the windows and lock 'em, since we don't have bars or anything in there for now...It did make me conscious. [Parent of a child aged 0 to 2 years]

I never did the TV strap...I've never really had a close call with it, but I guess you don't want to have a close call, because that might be it...I can lift up my TV with...one hand...I guess maybe I didn't believe it, that it could kill a kid. [Parent of a child aged 2 to 4 years]

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study demonstrates that an injury prevention mobile app, Make Safe Happen, can be used to improve parental safety knowledge and positively influence parental behavior by motivating parents to complete safety actions to make their home safer for their children. By using enhanced focus groups to combine qualitative and quantitative data, this study was able to deeply explore parental knowledge, behaviors, and decisions regarding child injury prevention in and around the home following the use of the Make Safe Happen app. Although previous work has highlighted successful injury prevention strategies that incorporate parental education, behavior change, and environmental modification [8-10], this methodology allowed for further exploration of each component following app use. Our findings suggest that the Make Safe Happen app may be a valuable resource that can provide parents with the knowledge and resources needed to encourage the completion of child injury prevention tasks in and around the home. To our knowledge, this study is the first to utilize enhanced focus groups to evaluate a child injury prevention app developed to help parents and caregivers keep their children safe in and around the home.

Strategies to prevent home injuries to children include increasing parental safety knowledge and environmental modification and facilitating behavior change [5]. Effective injury prevention interventions may incorporate all 3 components as increasing awareness and knowledge may facilitate behavior change including environmental modification such as the installation and proper use of safety devices. Similar to other research evaluating technologies developed to increase child injury prevention knowledge and behaviors [22,23], parents in our

study reported a significant increase in injury prevention awareness measured by their *meansafety knowledge score* and completed 45% more home *safety behaviors*, following the use of the Make Safe Happen app. Following app use, parents stated the app content helped raise their awareness regarding the safety of their homes, the need to make their homes safer, and the ability to know the safety measures needed to improve their home safety.

Although removing hazards and installing safety devices can reduce the risk of home injury [4], parents may find it difficult to complete these tasks because these modifications often take time, money, resources, and may vary by child age and developmental stage [11,24,25]. Parents of younger children (aged 0 to 2 years, with no previous older children) may have felt more overwhelmed by the information presented because they may not have previously thought about and/or taken steps toward preventing injuries in their homes. However, these parents gave the app a more positive *app experience rating* and were most motivated to improve the safety of their home by installing safety devices.

Although we were able to view the app analytics to confirm that parents opened the app, viewed screens, and completed actions within the app, these actions do not correlate to the actions completed within the parent's home. During the focus group discussions, parents shared that while they used the app and explored the content, they did not physically mark the action as completed in the app until the action was completed in their home. Thus, items added to a mental checklist would not be documented as completed in the app if they simply read and acknowledged that this task was something they wanted to do. Similarly, parents reported liking certain app features, such as adding the Poison Help Number to their contacts, even though they decided not to use the features during the study period. Following use of the app, parents stated they would be more likely to complete tasks around their home that could prevent child injuries if they had more time, more reminders, easier access, and less expensive products as well as assistance to complete these tasks. Future directions could explore opportunities to incorporate additional reminders and resources such as discounts on safety products and installation services to help motivate task completion. Although continued app use following the study is unknown, parents of children aged below 5 years expressed an interest in continued app use and reported a positive app experience, stating they felt informed, encouraged, empowered, and engaged while using the app.

Limitations

This study has several limitations. First, our sample consisted of predominately white non-Hispanic participants, and there was no control or comparison group for this portion of the study, thus limiting the generalizability of these findings. In addition, participants were existing members of a research panel. Participants may have agreed to participate because they were active technology users or had an interest in injury prevention or research, which may have introduced self-selection bias. For the purposes of the focus groups organization, participants were asked to only discuss the child(ren) that was within that age group, although parents may have had additional children in other age groups and this additional parenting experience or knowledge may have biased some of their discussions. However, parents were asked to use the app as they naturally would if they had found it on their own. In addition, the content within the Make Safe Happen app focuses more heavily on injury prevention information relevant to younger children. Therefore, parents with only older children may have not been exposed to all injury prevention topics. Although participants were aware that their app use was being monitored, they were not reminded or prompted to use the app during the study period, which could have increased app use during this limited period of 7 to 10 days. Finally, no observed safety behaviors or long-term outcomes such as app usage were collected, thus limiting our understanding of participant app usage and safety behavior change following our study period.

Despite these limitations, this study brings to light important information regarding parental attitudes, knowledge, and behaviors regarding child injury prevention in the home. Mobile delivery is a feasible and wide-reaching option to provide home injury prevention information to parents. This methodology provides a cost-effective approach to obtain valuable, qualitative, and quantitative data regarding one's understanding and practice before the intervention (Make Safe Happen app use), actual app usage, and detailed discussions concerning their perceived barriers and motivators for injury prevention. Future directions may explore the benefits of additional reminders, notifications, and links to resources within the app. Additional research should investigate continued app use and user engagement and motivators for the completion of home injury prevention tasks for parents with children of all ages.

Conclusions

The combination of the qualitative and quantitative data greatly enriched our understanding of parents' attitudes, knowledge, and behaviors regarding the use of a child injury prevention mobile app, Make Safe Happen. Following app use, parents had an increase in knowledge and self-reported home safety behaviors. Although parents had a positive app experience, barriers to home safety such as time as well as access to and cost of safety products remain challenges delaying or preventing the completion of some home safety tasks. The Make Safe Happen app may provide parents and caregivers with the information and motivation needed to help prevent child injuries in and around their homes. The enhanced focus group approach is a valuable and cost-effective method that allows for rich data capture and provides a deeper investigation into the actions, behaviors, and decision making of parents regarding child injury prevention in and around the home. Future research should evaluate long-term user engagement and behavior change for parents with children of all ages following the use of a mobile app designed for child injury prevention.



Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the following for their involvement with this study: Focus Point Global for the participant recruitment and focus group hosting, Focus Forward for transcribing the focus group discussions, Matthew Bailey and Jeremy Patterson, of the Research Institute at Nationwide Children's Hospital, for their technical assistance with the development of the app and GA data collection, Roxanne Clark for her assistance with data collection and survey development, and Nationwide and the Make Safe Happen program for their continued commitment to an important cause. The enhanced focus groups were a part of a larger evaluation trail and were supported by funding from the Nationwide Children's Hospital Foundation. The development of the Make Safe Happen app was made possible by funding from the Nationwide Children's Hospital Foundation's Innovation Fund and Nationwide Mutual Insurance. The Make Safe Happen app is a registered trade mark.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. 10 Leading Causes of Death by Age Group, United States–2015. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/injury/images/lc-charts/</u>
- leading causes of death age group 2015 1050w740h.gif [accessed 2017-05-03] [WebCite Cache ID 76JFzlkLb]
 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Atlanta, GA: CDC, NCIPC; 2012. National Action Plan for Child Injury Prevention URL: https://www.cdc.gov/safechild/pdf/national action plan for child injury prevention-a.pdf [accessed 2019-02-24] [WebCite Cache ID 76Q6gkzkM]
- 3. Bergen G, Chen LH, Warner M, Fingerhut LA. Injury in the United States: Chartbook 2007. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics; 2008:2007.
- 4. Kendrick D, Watson M, Mulvaney C, Burton P. How useful are home safety behaviours for predicting childhood injury? A cohort study. Health Educ Res 2005;20(6):709-718. [Medline: <u>15755775</u>]
- 5. Stewart T, Clark A, Gilliland J, Miller MR, Edwards J, Haidar T, et al. Home safe home: evaluation of a childhood home safety program. J Trauma Acute Care Surg 2016;81(3):533-540. [doi: <u>10.1097/ta.00000000001148</u>]
- 6. Gaines J, Schwebel DC. Recognition of home injury risks by novice parents of toddlers. Accid Anal Prev 2009;41(5):1070-1074. [doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2009.06.010]
- 7. Gielen AC, Wilson ME, Faden RP, Wissow L, Harvilchuck JD. In-home injury prevention practices for infants and toddlers: the role of parental beliefs, barriers, and housing quality. Health Educ Q 1995;22(1):85-95. [Medline: 7721603]
- 8. Pomerantz W, Gardner JD, Gittelman MA. An effective way to utilize daycare organizations to distribute home safety equipment. J Trauma Acute Care Surg 2016;81(4 Suppl 1):S3-S7. [doi: <u>10.1097/ta.00000000001180</u>]
- 9. Phelan KJ. Commentary on home safety education and provision of safety equipment for injury prevention by Kenrick, D, Young, B, Mason-Jones, AJ et al. Evid Based Child Health 2013;8(3):941-943. [doi: <u>10.1002/ebch.1912</u>]
- 10. Kendrick D, Coupland C, Mulvaney C, Simpson J, Smith SJ, Sutton A, et al. Home safety education and provision of safety equipment for injury prevention. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2007(1):CD005014. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD005014.pub2]
- 11. Ablewhite J, Peel I, McDaid L, Hawkins A, Goodenough T, Deave T, et al. Parental perceptions of barriers and facilitators to preventing child unintentional injuries within the home: a qualitative study. BMC Public Health 2015;15:280. [doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-1547-2]
- 12. Pew Research Center. Mobile Fact Sheet URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheet/mobile/</u> [accessed 2017-05-05] [WebCite Cache ID 76JHXIcED]
- 13. eMarketer. 2016 Sep 20. Smartphone Apps Crushing Mobile Web Time URL: <u>https://www.emarketer.com/Article/Smartphone-Apps-Crushing-Mobile-Web-Time/1014498</u> [accessed 2017-05-04] [WebCite Cache ID 76JHhgjZe]
- Zhao J, Freeman B, Li M. Can mobile phone apps influence people's health behavior change? An evidence review. J Med Internet Res 2016 Dec 31;18(11):e287 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5692] [Medline: 27806926]
- 15. McKay F, Cheng C, Wright A, Shill J, Stephens H, Uccellini M. Evaluating mobile phone applications for health behaviour change: a systematic review. J Telemed Telecare 2018;24(1):22-30. [doi: 10.1177/1357633x16673538]
- 16. Omaki E, Rizzutti N, Sheilds W, Zhu J, McDonald E, Stevens MW, et al. A systematic review of technology-based interventions for unintentional injury prevention education and behaviour change. Inj Prev 2017;23(2):138-146. [doi: 10.1136/injuryprev-2015-041740]
- Buller D, Berwick M, Lantz K, Buller MK, Shane J, Kane I, et al. Evaluation of immediate and 12-week effects of a smartphone sun-safety mobile application: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Dermatol 2015;151(5):505-512. [doi: 10.1001/jamadermatol.2014.3894]
- 18. van Mechelen MD, van Mechelen W, Verhagen EA. Sports injury prevention in your pocket?! Prevention apps assessed against the available scientific evidence: a review. Br J Sports Med 2014;48(11):878-882. [doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2012-092136]

- Gielen AC, Bishai DM, Omaki E, Shields WC, McDonald EM, Rizzutti NC, et al. Results of an RCT in two pediatric emergency departments to evaluate the efficacy of an m-health educational app on car seat use. Am J Prev Med 2018 Jun;54(6):746-755. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2018.01.042] [Medline: 29656914]
- 20. McKenzie LB, Roberts KJ, Clark R, McAdams R, Abdel-Rasoul M, Klein EG, et al. A randomized controlled trial to evaluate the Make Safe Happen(R) app-a mobile technology-based safety behavior change intervention for increasing parents' safety knowledge and actions. Inj Epidemiol 2018;5(1):5. [doi: 10.1186/s40621-018-0133-3] [Medline: 29527644]
- 21. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 22. Gielen AC, McKenzie LB, McDonald EM, Shields WC, Wang MC, Cheng YJ, et al. Using a computer kiosk to promote child safety: results of a randomized, controlled trial in an urban pediatric emergency department. Pediatrics 2007;120(2):330-339. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2006-2703]
- 23. McDonald EM, Solomon B, Shields W, Serwint JR, Jacobsen H, Weaver NL, et al. Evaluation of kiosk-based tailoring to promote household safety behaviors in an urban pediatric primary care practice. Patient Educ Couns 2005;58(2):168-181. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2004.08.015]
- 24. Flavin MP, Dostaler SM, Simpson K, Brison RJ, Pickett W. Stages of development and injury patterns in the early years: a population-based analysis. BMC Public Health 2006 Jul 18;6:187 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-6-187] [Medline: 16848890]
- 25. Ablewhite J, McDaid L, Hawkins A, Peel I, Goodenough T, Deave T, et al. Approaches used by parents to keep their children safe at home: a qualitative study to explore the perspectives of parents with children aged under five years. BMC Public Health 2015 Sep 29;15:983 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-2252-x] [Medline: 26419449]

Abbreviations

GA: Google Analytics **TV:** television

Edited by T Rashid Soron; submitted 28.08.18; peer-reviewed by E Omaki, J Alpert; comments to author 20.11.18; revised version received 11.01.19; accepted 31.01.19; published 14.03.19.

Please cite as:

Roberts KJ, McAdams RJ, Kristel OV, Szymanski AM, McKenzie LB Qualitative and Quantitative Evaluation of the Make Safe Happen App: Mobile Technology–Based Safety Behavior Change Intervention for Parents JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12022 URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12022/ doi:10.2196/12022 PMID:31518322

©Kristin J Roberts, Rebecca J McAdams, Orie V Kristel, Alison M Szymanski, Lara B McKenzie. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 14.03.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Determination of Personalized Asthma Triggers From Multimodal Sensing and a Mobile App: Observational Study

Revathy Venkataramanan¹, MSc; Krishnaprasad Thirunarayan¹, PhD; Utkarshani Jaimini¹, MSc; Dipesh Kadariya¹, BSc; Hong Yung Yip¹, MSc; Maninder Kalra², PhD; Amit Sheth¹, PhD

¹Ohio Center of Excellence in Knowledge-enabled Computing, Wright State University, Dayton, OH, United States ²Dayton Children's Hospital, Dayton, OH, United States

Corresponding Author:

Amit Sheth, PhD Ohio Center of Excellence in Knowledge-enabled Computing Wright State University 377 Joshi Research Center 3640 Colonel Glenn Highway Dayton, OH, 45435 United States Phone: 1 9372390625 Email: amit@knoesis.org

Abstract

Background: Asthma is a chronic pulmonary disease with multiple triggers. It can be managed by strict adherence to an asthma care plan and by avoiding these triggers. Clinicians cannot continuously monitor their patients' environment and their adherence to an asthma care plan, which poses a significant challenge for asthma management.

Objective: In this study, pediatric patients were continuously monitored using low-cost sensors to collect asthma-relevant information. The objective of this study was to assess whether kHealth kit, which contains low-cost sensors, can identify personalized triggers and provide actionable insights to clinicians for the development of a tailored asthma care plan.

Methods: The kHealth asthma kit was developed to continuously track the symptoms of asthma in pediatric patients and monitor the patients' environment and adherence to their care plan for either 1 or 3 months. The kit consists of an Android app–based questionnaire to collect information on asthma symptoms and medication intake, Fitbit to track sleep and activity, the Peak Flow meter to monitor lung functions, and Foobot to monitor indoor air quality. The data on the patient's outdoor environment were collected using third-party Web services based on the patient's zip code. To date, 107 patients consented to participate in the study and were recruited from the Dayton Children's Hospital, of which 83 patients completed the study as instructed.

Results: Patient-generated health data from the 83 patients who completed the study were included in the cohort-level analysis. Of the 19% (16/83) of patients deployed in spring, the symptoms of 63% (10/16) and 19% (3/16) of patients suggested pollen and particulate matter (PM2.5), respectively, to be their major asthma triggers. Of the 17% (14/83) of patients deployed in fall, symptoms of 29% (4/17) and 21% (3/17) of patients suggested pollen and PM2.5, respectively, to be their major triggers. Among the 28% (23/83) of patients deployed in winter, PM2.5 was identified as the major trigger for 83% (19/23) of patients. Similar correlations were not observed between asthma symptoms and factors such as ozone level, temperature, and humidity. Furthermore, 1 patient from each season was chosen to explain, in detail, his or her personalized triggers by observing temporal associations between triggers and asthma symptoms gathered using the kHealth asthma kit.

Conclusions: The continuous monitoring of pediatric asthma patients using the kHealth asthma kit generates insights on the relationship between their asthma symptoms and triggers across different seasons. This can ultimately inform personalized asthma management and intervention plans.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e14300) doi:10.2196/14300

KEYWORDS

RenderX

personalized digital health; medical internet of things; asthma management; patient-generated health data; pediatric asthma; asthma control; medication adherence; childhood asthma; understanding and treatment of asthma

Introduction

Background

Asthma is a chronic inflammatory lung disease affecting 26 million people in the United States, of which 6 million are children [1]. It is a multifactorial disease, with exposure to different triggers manifesting as symptoms of varying intensities, which demands a personalized diagnosis and management plan [2]. Timely feedback and intervention are not possible with infrequent clinical visits because most of the asthma-exacerbating factors are in the patient's environment and are not tracked meticulously [3,4] or because of the lack of medication adherence [5]. Continuous tracking and assessment of a patient's condition, environment, and adherence to a prescribed care plan can improve asthma control and quality of life [6].

Although many studies have shown the effectiveness of continuous monitoring, only a few are being evaluated to benefit traditional health care practices [7,8]. Propeller Health [9] provides personalized alerts based on inhaler usage and location to primarily improve medication adherence. ENVIROFI [10] and azma.com [11] send a notification to subscribed users when the outdoor environment forecast is poor. Chu et al [12] developed a ubiquitous warning system that sends alerts to health care providers based on a patient's location if the outdoor environment is poor. Finkelstein et al [13] developed a Web-based approach that captures the patient's forced vital capacity test and asthma symptoms and sends alerts to hospitals when these parameters are abnormal. AsthmaGuide [14], a home management ecosystem, enables doctors to observe the correlation between symptoms and environmental data. They have classified wheezing sounds as asthmatic wheezing and nonasthmatic wheezing. They also send personalized alerts to patients based on pollen and air quality forecast, but no causal relationships are identified. The existing studies analyze the data pertaining to the outdoor environment to identify the causes of asthma symptoms or improve medication adherence, but these studies have not used a large cohort of pediatric patients in a clinical setting and have not monitored and analyzed a comprehensive set of factors such as the lung function measurements, activity limitation, and data pertaining to the indoor environment to personalize asthma management plan.

kHealth Asthma Framework

The researchers at Knoesis (Ohio Center of Excellence in BioHealth and Innovations) developed kHealth [15] (Multimedia Appendix 1), a multisensory framework for continuous monitoring of patients' health signals and environmental data. The kHealth kit collects multimodal data using low-cost sensors and mobile apps, and kHealth methodology analyzes them for personalized health management plan. kHealth asthma [16] is an adaptation of kHealth framework and methodology for asthma, which monitors the pediatric patients receiving asthma care at the Dayton Children's Hospital (DCH). The motivations behind kHealth asthma kit are to (1) identify the personalized triggers from the comprehensive data collected by kHealth kit and rank their influence on asthma, which the paper focuses on, and (2) provide actionable insights to clinicians for better decision making related to asthma management based on specific patient data. It is designed to assist patients in self-monitoring and self-appraisal of asthma care, with an intent to incorporate self-management, prediction, and intervention [17]. This paper presents a cohort-level analysis of patients deployed over the entire year to evaluate the ability of low-cost sensors in identifying the major triggers for their asthma symptoms. Specifically, 1 patient from each season was chosen to illustrate the personalized determination of triggers by gathering anecdotal evidence.

Methods

The kHealth asthma framework consists of the kHealth kit, kHealth cloud, and kHealth Dashboard. The study design, including these components, their use for data collection, and the data analysis are discussed below. Other applications for which kHealth has been adapted include postbariatric surgery monitoring, postsurgery monitoring of acute decompensated heart failure, and dementia.

kHealth Components

kHealth Kit

The kHealth kit components are shown in Figure 1. The list of components are as follows: (1) tablet with an Android app; (2) Fitbit; (3) Peak Flow meter; (4) Foobot, the indoor air quality monitor; and (5) Web services to collect data on outdoor environment based on the patient's zip code. The questionnaire presented by the kHealth Android app on the tablet collects the following data: (1) 6 types of symptoms: cough, wheeze, chest tightness, hard and fast breathing, cannot talk in full sentences, and nose opens wide [18]; (2) medication intake (rescue inhaler and controller medication) with yes or no option, (3) nighttime awakenings because of asthma symptoms, and (4) activity limitation because of asthma symptoms. The data on symptoms and medications are collected twice a day, and data on nighttime awakenings and activity limitation are collected once a day (Multimedia Appendix 2). Furthermore, Fitbit is used to collect more granular data for sleep and activity [19]. The lung function measurements (peak expiratory flow [PEF] and forced expiratory volume in 1 second [FEV₁]) are recorded by the Microlife peak flow meter [20] twice every day. For a given patient's zip code, outdoor environmental parameters are collected at different intervals-pollen is collected every 12 hours, whereas particulate matter (PM2.5), ozone, temperature, and humidity are collected every hour. Pollen is collected from pollen.com [21], PM2.5 and ozone from EPA AIRNow [22], and temperature and humidity from Weather Underground [23]. Foobot collects indoor temperature, humidity, PM2.5, volatile compounds, carbon dioxide, and global pollution index every 5 min.



Venkataramanan et al

Figure 1. The kHealth framework with the kHealth kit, kHealth cloud, and kHealth Dashboard, showing the frequency of data collection, the number of parameters collected, and the total number of data points collected per day per patient. (A) Dark blue; the kHealth kit components that are given to patients. (B) Light blue; the kHealth kit components that collect patient-generated health data. (C) Green; the outdoor environmental parameters and their sources. (D) The kHealth cloud (gray). (E) The kHealth Dashboard. Throughout the kHealth ecosystem, all data are anonymized and associated with respective randomly assigned patient IDs. FEV1: forced expiratory volume in 1 second; PEF: peak expiratory flow; PM2.5: particulate matter.



Validation of Kit Components

Our tablet questionnaire is based on the Asthma Control Test (ACT) questionnaire [24] adapted for Android app and was developed under the supervision of the clinician (the question text was adjusted to make it user friendly). The questions were tested with the patients and iteratively refined using the preliminary work of the evaluation. While recruiting and consenting young patients, the nurse educates both the patient or guardian and the child on the correct way to use the kHealth kit. Given that the child is using kHealth kit under adult supervision and the sensors are reasonably robust, we expect the data to be reliable, and the parent and child team to be trustworthy. Our data and experience suggest that peak flow values measured by Peak Flow meter can vary dramatically in the 3 trials conducted before picking the maximum value. However, it was possible to distinguish normal state from asthmatic state using the max peak flow value so obtained. Previous studies have reported feasibility of peak flow measurement in 5-year-old children [25,26]. The outdoor environmental parameters are collected from EPA AIRNow, Weather Underground, and pollen.com, which are reputed sources, and already published works have used their data [27-29]. We have relied on existing feasibility studies for Fitbit [30,31], but we performed our own for Foobot [32]. In our recent data collection, all the components of the kHealth kit except Foobot (indoor air quality monitor) worked as advertised by the vendor. Although Foobot gave reliable results in our feasibility study, the device suffered electronic interference in the patient's environment, leading to unreliable results.

kHealth Cloud

The multimodal data collected from various sources are brought together on the secure kHealth cloud store. The data on outdoor

environment, indoor air quality, activity, and sleep are collected from their respective application programming interface (API) server and stored directly in the kHealth cloud. The data collected using the kHealth app, which includes the patient's symptoms, medication intake, PEF, and FEV₁ readings, are synced in real time with Firebase, a Google cloud database [33]. Firebase provides active data listener for client side, which offers data persistence over the network failure and resyncs to the cloud when the network is restored. Data security is maintained in Firebase using a set of data access rules and user authentication. Data synced to Firebase are then fetched and stored into the kHealth cloud. This process forms a pipeline for seamless and reliable data streaming from the kHealth app to the kHealth cloud. All data stored in the kHealth cloud are then made available to Knoesis researchers and clinicians for real-time analysis. Each patient's identity is anonymized by the nurse coordinator who obtains the patient's consent; no patient-identifiable data are stored anywhere in the kHealth framework.

kHealth Dashboard

Because the kHealth kit collects multimodal data at different frequencies, integration and visualization of these data are essential to derive useful insights. kHealth Dashboard [34] (Figure 2) is a visualization and analysis tool designed for use by a clinician and a researcher to review individual and aggregated data and explore the potential association between patient's asthma symptoms and their environments. With real-time data available in the kHealth cloud, kHealth Dashboard allows real-time monitoring of a patient's asthma condition. This granularity of data presents the clinician with a better picture about patient's (see Multimedia Appendix 1 for demo video).

Venkataramanan et al

Figure 2. A screenshot of the kHealth Dashboard visualizing patient A's data. FEV1: forced expiratory volume in 1 second; PEF: peak expiratory flow.



Study Design and Participants

The children within the age group of 5 to 17 years and diagnosed with asthma (through standard clinical procedures) by our clinician were recruited from the DCH. The research nurse practitioner, under the guidance of the clinician, approached the parent of the child to participate in our study. The parent, along with the child, was consented to participate in our study. The recruitment for the study was random, with the motive of maximizing participation and done on a first-come-first-serve basis. The tablet with Android app, Peak Flow meter, Fitbit, and Foobot were given to each patient, and based on the patient's zip code, outdoor environmental data were collected. The part of data collection, which requires the patient to be actively involved (such as responding to Android app questionnaire and taking Peak Flow meter readings), was referred to as active sensing. The data collection from Fitbit, Foobot, and outdoor Web services, which do not require active patient involvement, was referred to as passive sensing.

Inclusion criteria [35] were children (1) diagnosed with asthma through standard clinical procedure by our clinician from DCH, (2) aged between 5 and 17 years, and (3) willing to participate in this study.

Of 107 patients, 24 patients were excluded from the analysis, as they did not complete the study, allowing us to analyze data from the remaining 83 patients. Both our National Institutes of Health (NIH) and National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD) proposal and our approved institutional review board (IRB) protocol explicitly indicate 2 populations: (1) consented patients and (2) a subgroup of patients who completed the evaluation (with adequate compliance in data collection). These 24 patients were ignored because they did not complete the study and did not provide adequate data for us to perform any meaningful analysis and offer sensible conclusions. We have explicitly mentioned in our approved IRB protocol that only the patients who consented and patients

RenderX

who completed the study will be included in our analysis. There has been no selection bias based on data provided by or collected from a patient in either the protocol or the study presented in this paper. No patients who completed the study were ignored from this analysis. Of the 83 patients who completed the study, 63 were recruited for a month, and 20 were recruited for a 3-month period. The 1-month study was designed to validate the efficacy of this method, and the 3-month study was included to obtain sufficient data and determine the association between various asthma-relevant factors and asthma symptoms. The enrollment of a patient for 1 or 3 months depended on their willingness.

This Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act-compliant study has been approved by DCH's IRB. Given the multifactorial nature of asthma, we sought to monitor as many variables as practically possible, subject to our constraints of practical implementation (eg, using technology that can be deployed at the patient's home) and cost (our NIH and NICHD proposal and protocol called for purchasing 30 kits for proposed patient evaluation at approximately US \$500 per kit).

Preliminary work for this effort was done in 2014 when mobile apps and low-cost sensors became viable [36]. When the NIH and NICHD proposal was written following the preliminary work, there were no reported efforts involving the use of multiple sensors (that can be used outside a clinical facility and at a patient's home) and mobile apps (to record patient's symptoms and collect sensor data). The wearables were just becoming popular, and the concept of patient-generated health data (PGHD) was relatively new. For the studies reporting on the collection and evaluation of personalized data for pediatric asthma patients, our study collects more extensive types of data at a higher frequency. Specifically, evaluation in the study by Merchant et al [37] involved 89 patients, with 2 types of data or parameters (medication and ACT score) observed for 12 months per patient, and Bender et al [38] involved 27 patients, with 1 parameter observed for 2 months. Our study involves 83

patients (63 patients for a 1-month duration and 20 patients for a 3-month duration), with 10 data types (not including Foobot and Fitbit), with each data type collected between 2 and 24 times a day.

Study Procedures

Henceforth, the 6 asthma symptoms (cough, wheeze, chest tightness, hard and fast breathing, cannot talk in full sentences, and nose opens wide), nighttime awakenings, activity limitation, rescue medication intake, and abnormal PEF or FEV₁ value will be collectively referred to as *asthma episodes*, a usage that is consistent with 2 previous studies [39,40]. Specifically, asthma can affect lung function and can manifest as lower values for PEF and FEV₁ parameters [41]. Therefore, the reduction of PEF and FEV₁ values beyond 1 standard deviation of the mean is treated as an episode of asthma. The duration of the seasons has been chosen to aid the analysis based on the historical pollen data. Although the deployments started in December 2016 and are still ongoing, the data only from December 2016 to February 2019 have been included in the analysis.

Maximum values of outdoor environmental data (ozone and PM2.5) over a day were considered to identify the correlation between triggers and asthma episodes. The healthy range for each outdoor parameter is as follows: 0 to 2.4 for pollen [42] and 0 to 50 for ozone and PM2.5 [43]. Any value above or below the healthy range on the day with asthma episodes, or the previous day, is counted as a contributor to the patient's asthma episodes. We chose a 48-hour window because inflammation and late allergic reaction in asthma are characterized by prominent participation of eosinophils, and previous studies have demonstrated an exaggerated response in asthma patients up to 48 hours after exposure [44]. We analyzed concrete patient cases to obtain insights about asthma triggers, patient behavior, and their condition from evidence collected by kHealth Asthma technology in different seasons.

Results

Cohort-Level Analysis

Although we collected extensive Foobot data, the results on the influence of indoor environment were inconclusive because of

deficiencies in our instructions such as (1) clarity on the placement of Foobot and (2) potential for electrical interference when some patients did not power the device as required by the manufacturer. In the study results recorded thus far, the outside environmental data provide the most reliable signals for asthma control. Furthermore, the sleep and activity data from Fitbit did not provide corroborative evidence for asthma signs because of several confounding factors (could be due to asthma symptoms or school routine or that Fitbit was not worn or powered). In contrast, self-reported data regarding activity limitation obtained through the Android app–based questionnaire proved to be more reliable. The results of cohort-level data analysis for all the completed patients (n=83) deployed in each season for the detection of a wide variety of triggers for asthma episodes using kHealth kit are shown in Table 1.

Among the 19% (16/83) of the patients deployed in spring, 63% (10/16) of the patients were affected by pollen, 16% (3/16) were affected by PM2.5, and 5% (1/16) were affected by pollen and PM2.5 (being present together). In addition, 17% (14/83) of the patients were deployed in fall, of which pollen turned out to be the major contributor for 29% (4/14), PM2.5 for 21% (3/14), and pollen and PM2.5 (being present together) for 14% (2/14). For 28% (23/83) of the patients deployed in winter, PM2.5 turned out to be the contributor for 83% (19/23). The 3-month deployments across 2 seasons enabled us to study the patient's asthma in 2 different environments. For 29% (24/83) of the patients deployed across seasons, 50% (12/24) did not exhibit any symptoms. Moreover, 13% (3/24) indicated PM2.5 as their major trigger, 13% (3/24) indicated combination of pollen and PM2.5 to be the trigger, and 25% (6/24) of the patients had varying environment and too few symptoms to arrive at a conclusion. We observed meaningful (and useful according to our clinical partner) correlation between asthma symptoms and factors such as pollen and PM2.5. However, similar correlations were not observed for factors such as ozone level, temperature, and humidity. Personalized insights gathered using the kHealth kit are explained in detail in the Discussion section by choosing 1 patient from each season for illustration. The cohort-level and adherence statistics have already been presented in our previous study [45].

Fable 1.	Significant	triggers	captured l	by	kHealth	for	each	season	at	cohort	level	(N=	=83)).
----------	-------------	----------	------------	----	---------	-----	------	--------	----	--------	-------	-----	------	----

Season	n (%)	Pollen, %	PM2.5 ^a , %	Ozone, %	Pollen and PM2.5, %	Temperature, %	No symptoms, %	Redeployment required, %
Spring	16 (19)	63	19	b	6	—	12	_
Summer	6 (7)	17	33	—	33	_	17	_
Fall	14 (17)	29	21	—	14	_	36	_
Winter	23 (28)	—	83	4	_	9	4	_
Between seasons	24 (29)	_	12	_	33	_	50	25

^aPM2.5: particulate matter.

^bNot applicable.



Personalized Analysis

The probability of symptoms, given the triggers for patient A, is shown in Table 2. Patient A was monitored for 3 months from winter to spring; thus, the deployment duration is divided into 2, based on the presence and absence of pollen. The patient experienced symptoms in the presence of PM2.5, suggesting that PM2.5 was contributing to the patient's asthma. In the presence of both pollen and PM2.5, the patient experienced higher number of severe symptoms such as chest tightness and nighttime awakenings, that is, the combination of pollen and PM2.5 aggravated patient's asthma, as evidenced by cumulative increase in asthma symptoms. The rescue medication has also been included, as it could prevent or suppress the symptoms that could have occurred otherwise, such as wheezing. The Discussion section provides detailed patient information and calculations (see Figure 3 for formulas and Multimedia Appendix 3 for terms and definitions).

The probability of symptoms, given the triggers, for patient B, are shown in Table 3. Patient B was monitored in winter for 3

 Table 2. Probability of symptoms, given the triggers, for patient A.

months when pollen was absent, and ozone was in a healthy range. The values suggest that PM2.5 was contributing to patient's asthma, but the probabilities calculated are low as the patient took controller medication to reduce symptoms. The rescue medication is also included, as it can prevent or suppress the other symptoms. Discussion section provides detailed patient information and calculation (see Figure 3 for formulas and Multimedia Appendix 3 for terms and definitions).

The probability of symptoms, given the triggers for patient C, are shown in Table 4. Patient C was monitored for 36 days in fall when pollen, PM2.5, and ozone were in an unhealthy range. All the 3 triggers appear to be contributing to patient's asthma. The patient was on an oral steroid that controlled the asthma episodes in the later part of the deployment, which explains the low probability values. The rescue medication is also included, as it can prevent or suppress the other symptoms that could have occurred. The Discussion section provides detailed patient information and calculation (see Figure 3 for formulas and Multimedia Appendix 3 for terms and definitions).

Symptoms	Probability (symptoms pollen and PM2.5 ^a)	Probability (symptoms no pollen and PM2.5)
Cough	0.66	0.52
Wheeze	0.72	0.88
Chest tightness	0.28	0.12
Activity limitation	0.28	0.64
Nighttime awakenings	0.33	0.04
Rescue medication intake	0.55	0.48

^aPM2.5: particulate matter.

Figure 3. Formulae used to calculate the personalized triggers for patient-A, patient-B, and patient-C. PM2.5: particulate matter.

1) Patient - A

Probability (symptom pollen and PM2.5) =	Number of days symptom, pollen and PM2.5 occurred together Number of days pollen and PM 2.5 occurred together
Probability (symptom no pollen and PM2.5) =	Number of days symptom, no pollen and PM2.5 occurred together Number of days no pollen and PM 2.5 occurred together
2) Patient - B Probability (symptom PM2.5) =	Number of days symptom and PM2.5 occurred together Number of days PM 2.5 occurred
3) Patient - C	
	Number of days symptom, pollen, ozone and PM2.5 occurred together

Table 3. Probability of symptoms, given the triggers, for patient B.

Symptom	Probability (symptoms PM2.5 ^a)
Wheeze	0.51
Activity limitation	0.25
Nighttime awakenings	0.02
Rescue medication	0.54

^aPM2.5: particulate matter.

Table 4. Probability of symptoms, given the triggers, for patient C.

Symptoms	Probability (symptoms PM2.5 ^a , pollen and ozone)
Cough	0
Wheeze	0.22
Activity limitation	0.11
Rescue medication intake	0.22

^aPM2.5: particulate matter.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The kHealth kit is able to identify personalized triggers for each season for all the patients. As expected, pollen was the major contributor for the patients with asthma who were deployed in spring and fall. In winter, PM2.5 was the major contributor for most patients.

To illustrate the determination of personalized triggers and its dependence on the seasons, 1 patient with a relatively high number of asthma episodes was chosen for each season. Patient A's deployment period straddled 2 seasons, winter and spring, which permitted the study of asthma in both the presence and absence of pollen. The other 3 patients were deployed exclusively within 1 season: patient B in winter, patient C in fall, and patient D in summer. The days the patients did not answer the questionnaire were excluded from the analysis. We identified the most likely trigger for the patient's asthma episodes. Once a reliable personalized model associating triggers with asthma episode is developed, it can be used to guide an action plan including preventive or remedial measures, as well as design targeted evaluations for better personalized care. IRB protocol defined 2 classes of users with access to patient data. The first class consisting of the physician and nurse who already had the patient's clinical and personally identifiable information continued to have that access, in addition to the kHealth-collected data. The second class consisted of researchers who have access to the data collected by kHealth kit, but all privately identifiable data that clinician or nurse have access to was replaced by a serially chosen identifier. Specifically, the researchers also did not have access to the patient's address or location. In fact, the gender, the weight, and the age information of the individual patient were intentionally deleted from the paper to remove personally identifiable data as stipulated in the approved IRB protocol.

Winter to Spring

Patient A was diagnosed with severe asthma and monitored for 13 weeks, encompassing winter to spring 2018, and answered the questionnaire for 46 days, enough to identify the personalized triggers. The patient was prescribed albuterol and Atrovent (as rescue medication), as well as Dulera and Singulair (as controller medication). The patient took rescue medication for 24 days; experienced cough, wheeze, or chest tightness for 39 days; had limited activity for 26 days; showed abnormal PEF or FEV₁ for 2 days; and was 15% adherent in taking controller medication. During the deployment period, PM2.5 was varying throughout, pollen was absent in the first half and present in the second half, and ozone was in a healthy range throughout. On the basis of the presence and absence of triggers in the patient's environment, we calculated the probability of PM2.5 and pollen or PM2.5 alone being the trigger for the given symptom.

The patient experienced symptoms in the absence of pollen, indicating that PM2.5 is contributing to the patient's asthma symptoms (Table 2). In the presence of pollen, the patient experienced higher number of severe symptoms such as chest tightness (chest tightness is more severe than wheeze [46]) and nighttime awakenings. The rescue medication intake was higher in the presence of pollen, which could have suppressed wheezing. For this patient, the presence of pollen or PM2.5 in the unhealthy range appears to be the primary contributing factor for asthma episodes. The combined presence of pollen and PM2.5 is associated with increased intensity of asthma episodes as evidenced by cumulative increase in number of symptoms. The pollen was in an unhealthy range for 20 days and PM2.5 for 41 days out of the 46 days the patient experienced asthma episodes. When validated with the clinician, the patient was identified to be allergic to pollen using the skin test. The ACT scores before and after the deployment confirmed that the patient's asthma control was suboptimal.

Through continuous monitoring, we found that PM2.5 and pollen were the contributors to the patient's asthma episodes, and the patient had poor adherence to controller medication. To

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e14300/
```

XSL•FO

improve asthma management, the intervention can be personalized by alerting the patient about high pollen and PM2.5 forecast. Furthermore, notification can be sent to improve the adherence to the controller medication. If asthma episodes recur even after being adherent toward controller medication, the clinician can intervene with a modified asthma action plan.

Winter

Patient B was classified as having moderate asthma and monitored for 13 weeks in winter of 2017-2018. But data from only the first 9 weeks were available for analysis, as the patient did not answer for 4 weeks toward the end of the deployment. The patient was prescribed albuterol (as rescue medication) and Singulair (as controller medication) and answered the questionnaire for 50 days, of which the patient experienced asthma episodes for 45 days. Patient B experienced wheezing for 27 days, activity limitation for 15 days, nighttime awakenings on 1 day, took rescue medication for 24 days, had abnormal PEF or FEV₁ values for 6 days, and was 50% adherent toward controller medication. Only PM2.5 was in an unhealthy range during the deployment period, whereas ozone was in a healthy range, and pollen was absent.

From Table 3, it can be observed that PM2.5 contributed to the patient's wheeze and led to the intake of rescue medication. The patient did not experience symptoms on all the days the PM2.5 was in an unhealthy range because of patient's adherence to controller medication, which was 50%. In consequence, the patient can be proactively notified when PM2.5 is forecast to be in the unhealthy range and may also be reminded to take prescribed medication. Of the 45 days the patient experienced asthma episodes, PM2.5 was in an unhealthy range for 40 days. To enhance asthma management, the patient can improve adherence toward controller medication and avoid exposure to PM2.5 when it is high. If this does not help, the patient should be reevaluated to adjust the asthma control plan. To identify the patient's reaction to other triggers, the experiment needs to be repeated in other seasons.

Fall

Patient C was diagnosed with moderate asthma and monitored for 5 weeks and 4 days in the fall of 2017. The patient answered the questionnaire 33 out of 36 days of deployment, of which the patient showed asthma episodes for 17 days. The patient was prescribed albuterol (as rescue medication), Symbicort and Singulair (as controller medications), and prednisone (oral steroid). The patient had cough and wheeze for 11 days, had activity limitation for 4 days, took rescue medication for 6 days, showed abnormal PEF or FEV₁ for 9 days, and had an adherence of 63% toward controller medication. The outdoor environment remained uniform with respect to pollen, ozone, and PM2.5 throughout the deployment.

Higher intake of wheeze and rescue medication was observed in the initial stages of the deployment. Because pollen, PM2.5, and ozone were present throughout the deployment, all the 3 triggers appear to be contributing to the patient's asthma symptoms (see Table 4, and we were not able to separate the triggers on the basis of the data we have). The patient also took oral steroids to control the asthma episodes, which reflected in the later part of the deployment by significant reduction in the number of asthma episodes. Of the 17 days the patient experienced asthma episodes, PM2.5 was in an unhealthy range for 13 days, pollen for 16 days, and ozone for 7 days. The kHealth framework has the potential to aid patient C in self-management of asthma by alerting the patient when pollen or PM2.5 can exacerbate asthma and reminding the patient to take medication to improve adherence. Furthermore, the clinician can also be notified when the patient takes the oral steroid, an indication of poor asthma control, to enable timely intervention. To exonerate some factors and identify triggers precisely, the experiment should be repeated in the season when pollen is absent.

Summer

Patient D had mild asthma and was monitored for 4 weeks and 3 days in the summer of 2018. The patient was prescribed albuterol (as rescue medication) and Asmanex and Singulair (as controller medications). Patient D had answered the questionnaire for 29 out of 30 days and experienced asthma episodes for 6 days. The patient experienced cough, wheeze, chest tightness, or hard and fast breathing for 5 days; activity limitation and nighttime awakenings on 1 day; and the adherence toward the controller medication was 70%. The lung function measurements were normal throughout the study period. Out of the 6 days the patient suffered from asthma episodes, pollen was in an unhealthy range for 3 days, ozone for 4 days, and PM2.5 for 6 days. On the basis of observations, PM2.5 is suspected to be the major contributor, followed by ozone and pollen. However, this patient had sparse asthma episodes to identify the triggers precisely. In general, none of the patients deployed in summer had sufficient asthma episodes.

Limitations

The objective of this study was to show the ability of kHealth kit to identify personalized triggers for each asthma patient and demonstrate the statistical significance of our findings for each patient across different seasons. However, to maximize participation in the study, all eligible pediatric patients who volunteered were enrolled on a first-come-first-serve basis to test the efficacy of continuous monitoring using low-cost sensors for asthma management. Therefore, the period of observation of patients did not necessarily coincide with season transitions. This turned out to be a limitation for contrasting the patient's lung function and asthma episodes in allergy and nonallergy seasons. Furthermore, as the deployment was on a rolling basis, the patient deployment periods did not coincide. As such, we were unable to combine results from several patients for the same period and provide statistical significance. However, we are optimistic that we can repeat our experiments considering various allergy seasons and patients' susceptibilities, especially given the 63% kit adherence that shows that this technology is acceptable to the patients and can monitor their asthma behavior in different seasons. Because of electrical interference, the data from the Foobot had to be excluded. Although the Fitbit data were reliable, the reason for reduced activity measured by Fitbit could be due to asthma or school routine or because Fitbit was not worn or powered. Hence, Fitbit did not provide originally envisioned insights in our analysis. Our observational study

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

involved collection of the largest variety of PGHD (sensor data and mobile app answers) and environmental data, offering us the possibility of identifying likely, but not definitive, triggers for an individual patient. However, we are at best able to make inferences based on co-occurrence of symptoms and triggers and hesitate to make any claims about causality beyond saying these correlations provide a good basis for generating a hypothesis for a more extensive randomized controlled trial (RCT). Determining the true causes is beyond the scope of this paper.

Conclusions

The infrequent clinical visits, as practiced by traditional health care protocol, are unable to provide timely feedback and enable intervention. Through continuous monitoring, kHealth kit can provide detailed insights to the clinician about the personalized triggers for asthma patients and their adherence toward the prescribed asthma control protocol. Specifically, for patients such as patient A whose deployment spanned 2 seasons, the kHealth kit suggested, with evidence, the relevant triggers along with the patient's adherence to the prescribed asthma action plan. This can aid the clinician in tailoring the asthma control protocols for a patient, thereby leading to better asthma management. Furthermore, kHealth kit was able to capture triggers across different seasons, which was evident from the determination of the variety of personalized triggers for the patients chosen from different seasons.

Future Work

We plan to repeat the observational trial for different seasons for each patient. Redeployment will be carried out for winter patients to discover potential triggers in other seasons and also for spring and fall patients to disambiguate among multiple triggers by exonerating some. In addition, 2 separate 1-month deployments in 2 different seasons (allergic and nonallergic) will be attempted again as the earlier experiments yielded sparse data, and 1-month deployments that straddle across 2 seasons will be avoided in future. Moreover, 25% (21/23) of the entire patient cohort did not experience any asthma episodes. Eventually, with the kHealth system, we expect to identify for each patient triggers across seasons that cause worsening of the patient's asthma and thereby aid the clinician with insights about triggers and patient adherence for a personalized action plan.

This study has also helped us design a future study involving self-management and intervention. As Foobot was giving unreliable data, it will be discontinued in our future studies with a replacement that will provide a reliable measure of indoor air quality that is sensitive to secondhand smoke exposure. The Android questionnaire will be updated to disambiguate the reason for reduced activity as it could have been due to asthma or normal school routine without extracurriculars or because of the Fitbit not being worn or powered. The data from the Peak Flow meter proved to be reliable, and a clear distinction could be observed between asthmatic and nonasthmatic days. As the data sources for outdoor environmental data were also reliable, it will be continued. Android app questionnaire will be replaced with a chatbot to improve ease of use [47,48]. As to our future study, we are now working with the School of Medicine at the University of South Carolina that has access to a larger cohort of patients under the care of a larger number of clinicians and specialists. This study will provide a better foundation to formulate a hypothesis for an RCT, which is our next step.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Dr Tanvi Banerjee and Vaikunth Sridharan for their contributions. Dr Tanvi Banerjee was involved in the early part of the kHealth Asthma project as an investigator. Vaikunth Sridharan was the primary implementer of the kHealth Dashboard and completed his MS thesis that focused on its development. This research is supported by the NIH and the NICHD (grant number 1R01HD087132). The content of this paper is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Links to websites and demo videos. [DOCX File, 12KB - pediatrics_v2i1e14300_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 The questionnaire used in the kHealth Asthma Android app. [DOCX File, 12KB - pediatrics_v2i1e14300_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Terms and definitions. [DOCX File, 13KB - pediatrics v2i1e14300 app3.docx]

References

XSL•FC RenderX

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Center for Health Statistics URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/</u> <u>asthma.htm</u> [accessed 2019-04-03] [WebCite Cache ID 77MIRceVd]
- Thomsen SF. Genetics of asthma: an introduction for the clinician. Eur Clin Respir J 2015;2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3402/ecrj.v2.24643] [Medline: 26557257]
- 3. World Health Organization. 2017 Jul 14. Asthma URL: <u>http://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/asthma</u> [accessed 2019-04-03] [WebCite Cache ID 77Mlb9AqX]
- 4. Vernon MK, Wiklund I, Bell JA, Dale P, Chapman KR. What do we know about asthma triggers? A review of the literature. J Asthma 2012 Dec;49(10):991-998. [doi: 10.3109/02770903.2012.738268] [Medline: 23574397]
- 5. Engelkes M, Janssens HM, de Jongste JC, Sturkenboom MC, Verhamme KM. Medication adherence and the risk of severe asthma exacerbations: a systematic review. Eur Respir J 2015 Feb;45(2):396-407 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1183/09031936.00075614] [Medline: 25323234]
- Morrison D, Mair FS, Yardley L, Kirby S, Thomas M. Living with asthma and chronic obstructive airways disease: using technology to support self-management - An overview. Chron Respir Dis 2017 Nov;14(4):407-419 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1479972316660977] [Medline: 27512084]
- 7. Hui CY, Walton R, McKinstry B, Jackson T, Parker R, Pinnock H. The use of mobile applications to support self-management for people with asthma: a systematic review of controlled studies to identify features associated with clinical effectiveness and adherence. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2017 May 01;24(3):619-632. [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocw143] [Medline: 27694279]
- 8. Tinschert P, Jakob R, Barata F, Kramer J, Kowatsch T. The potential of mobile apps for improving asthma self-management: a review of publicly available and well-adopted asthma apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Aug 02;5(8):e113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7177] [Medline: 28768606]
- Barrett MA, Humblet O, Marcus JE, Henderson K, Smith T, Eid N, et al. Effect of a mobile health, sensor-driven asthma management platform on asthma control. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2017 Dec;119(5):415-421. [doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2017.08.002] [Medline: 29150069]
- 10. The Environmental Observation Web and its Service Applications within the Future Internet. URL: <u>http://www.envirofi.eu/</u> [accessed 2019-04-03] [WebCite Cache ID 77MIIY0eG]
- 11. Asthma Forecast. URL: https://www.asthmaforecast.com/ [accessed 2019-04-03] [WebCite Cache ID 77MlsnHPS]
- 12. 12 CH, Huang C, Lian Z. A ubiquitous warning system for asthma-inducement. 2006 Jun 05 Presented at: IEEE International Conference on Sensor Networks, Ubiquitous, and Trustworthy Computing Vol 2 Workshops; June, 5-7 2006; Taichung, Taiwan. [doi: 10.1109/sutc.2006.20]
- Finkelstein J, Cabrera M, Hripcsak G. Web-based monitoring of asthma severity: a new approach to ambulatory management. 1998 May 17 Presented at: Proceedings IEEE International Conference on Information Technology Applications in Biomedicine, ITAB 98 (Cat No98EX188); May 17, 1998; Washington, DC, USA p. a. [doi: <u>10.1109/itab.1998.674695</u>]
- Yoon HJ, Ra HK, Salekin A, Kim J, Stone DJ, Kim S, et al. AsthmaGuide: an asthma monitoring and advice ecosystem. In: IEEE Wireless Health. 2016 Oct 25 Presented at: 2016 IEEE Wireless Health; December 15, 2016; Bethesda, MD, USA p. -. [doi: 10.1109/wh.2016.7764567]
- Anantharam P, Banerjee T, Sheth A. Knowledge-Driven Personalized Contextual mHealth Service for Asthma Management in Children. In: 2015 IEEE International Conference on Mobile Services. 2015 Jun 27 Presented at: IEEE International Conference on Mobile Services Published Online First; 2015; New York, NY, USA. [doi: <u>10.1109/mobserv.2015.48</u>]
- 16. Wiki Knoesis. kHealth Asthma URL: <u>http://wiki.knoesis.org/index.php/</u> <u>KHealth: Semantic Multisensory Mobile Approach to Personalized Asthma Care</u> [accessed 2019-04-03] [WebCite <u>Cache ID 77MmANG6F</u>]
- 17. Sheth A, Jaimini U, Thirunarayan K, Banerjee T. Augmented personalized health: how smart data with IoTs and AI is about to change healthcare. RTSI 2017 Sep;2017 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1109/RTSI.2017.8065963] [Medline: 29399675]
- 18. InformedHealth.org. Cologne, Germany: Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care (IQWiG); 2006. URL: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK65083/</u>
- 19. Fitbit. 2019. Fitbit Charge 2 URL: <u>https://www.fitbit.com/us/charge2</u> [accessed 2019-04-03] [WebCite Cache ID 77Mn1x0JE]
- 20. Microlife. 2019. Asthma Monitor URL: <u>https://www.microlife.com/consumer-products/respiratory-care/asthma-monitor/</u> <u>pf-100</u> [accessed 2019-04-03] [WebCite Cache ID 77MnFx3UE]
- 21. Pollen.com. National Allergy Map URL: <u>https://www.pollen.com/map</u> [accessed 2019-04-03] [WebCite Cache ID 77MnYgoDO]
- 22. AIRNow. Air Quality Index URL: <u>https://www.airnow.gov/</u> [accessed 2019-04-03] [WebCite Cache ID 77MnigX39]
- 23. Weather Underground. Weather Forecast & Reports Long Range & Local URL: <u>https://www.wunderground.com/</u>[accessed 2019-04-03] [WebCite Cache ID 77MnsA0Qp]
- 24. Schatz M, Sorkness CA, Li JT, Marcus P, Murray JJ, Nathan RA, et al. Asthma Control Test: reliability, validity, and responsiveness in patients not previously followed by asthma specialists. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2006 Mar;117(3):549-556. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2006.01.011] [Medline: 16522452]
- 25. Truong M, Iniguez JL, Chouhou D, Dessange JF, Gendrel D, Chaussain M. [Measurement of peak expiratory flow in young children: comparison of four portable equipments]. Arch Pediatr 1995 Apr;2(4):324-327. [Medline: 7780539]

- 26. Hernando Sastre V, García-Marcos L, Gómez García J, Faura Martínez U, Rubio Pérez J, Navarro Ortiz MD, et al. [Peak expiratory flow rate in 4- to 15-year-old children. Comparison of 3 measuring models]. An Esp Pediatr 2000 Apr;52(4):327-333. [Medline: <u>11003923</u>]
- 27. Trasande L, Thurston GD. The role of air pollution in asthma and other pediatric morbidities. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2005 Apr;115(4):689-699. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2005.01.056] [Medline: 15805986]
- 28. Murat C. South Dakota State University. 2017. Monitoring Pollen Counts and Pollen Allergy Index Using Satellite Observations in East Coast of the United States URL: <u>https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd/1694</u>
- 29. Tulure F. Asthma trends in Mississippi coastal region with air pollutants and meteorological factors. Austin J Allergy 2017 Jan 19;4(1):1026. [doi: 10.26420/austinjallergy.2017.1026]
- 30. de Zambotti M, Goldstone A, Claudatos S, Colrain IM, Baker FC. A validation study of Fitbit Charge 2[™] compared with polysomnography in adults. Chronobiol Int 2018 Dec;35(4):465-476. [doi: <u>10.1080/07420528.2017.1413578</u>] [Medline: <u>29235907</u>]
- Paul SS, Tiedemann A, Hassett LM, Ramsay E, Kirkham C, Chagpar S, et al. Validity of the Fitbit activity tracker for measuring steps in community-dwelling older adults. BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med 2015;1(1):e000013 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjsem-2015-000013] [Medline: 27900119]
- Jaimini U, Banerjee T, Romine W, Thirunarayan K, Sheth A, Kalra M. Investigation of an Indoor Air Quality Sensor for Asthma Management in Children. IEEE Sens. Lett 2017 Apr;1(2):1-4. [doi: <u>10.1109/lsens.2017.2691677</u>] [Medline: <u>29082361</u>]
- 33. Google. Firebase URL: https://firebase.google.com/ [accessed 2019-04-03] [WebCite Cache ID 77Mo88W6B]
- 34. Sridharan V. Sensor Data Streams Correlation Platform for Asthma Management. Dayton: Wright State University; 2018.
- 35. McQuaid EL, Kopel SJ, Klein RB, Fritz GK. Medication adherence in pediatric asthma: reasoning, responsibility, and behavior. J Pediatr Psychol 2003;28(5):323-333. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsg022</u>] [Medline: <u>12808009</u>]
- Seth A, Anantharam P, Thirunarayan K. kHealth: Proactive Personalized Actionable Information for Better Healthcare.
 2014 Sep 05 Presented at: Workshop on Personal Data Analytics in the Internet of Things (PDA@IOT 2014); September 5, 2014; Hangzhou, China.
- 37. Merchant R, Inamdar R, Henderson K, Barrett M, Su JG, Riley J, et al. Digital health intervention for asthma: patient-reported value and usability. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jun 04;6(6):e133 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7362] [Medline: 29866644]
- Bender B, Wamboldt FS, O'Connor SL, Rand C, Szefler S, Milgrom H, et al. Measurement of children's asthma medication adherence by self report, mother report, canister weight, and Doser CT. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2000 Nov;85(5):416-421. [Medline: <u>11101187</u>]
- 39. Frey U, Brodbeck T, Majumdar A, Taylor DR, Town GI, Silverman M, et al. Risk of severe asthma episodes predicted from fluctuation analysis of airway function. Nature 2005 Dec 01;438(7068):667-670. [doi: 10.1038/nature04176] [Medline: 16319891]
- 40. National Asthma Education and Prevention Program. Management of Asthma Exacerbations URL: <u>https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/files/docs/resources/lung/no-nurse.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-05-22] [WebCite Cache ID 78Z5kDc7r]
- 41. Harkins MS, Fiato K, Iwamoto GK. Exhaled nitric oxide predicts asthma exacerbation. J Asthma 2004 Jun;41(4):471-476. [Medline: <u>15281333</u>]
- 42. Pollen.com. Pollen allergy index URL: <u>https://www.pollen.com/help/faq</u> [accessed 2019-04-03] [WebCite Cache ID 77MoJUHlr]
- 43. EPA AIRNow. Air Quality URL: <u>https://cfpub.epa.gov/airnow/index.cfm?action=aqibasics.aqi</u> [accessed 2019-04-03] [WebCite Cache ID 77MoZYgVo]
- Calhoun WJ, Dick EC, Schwartz LB, Busse WW. A common cold virus, rhinovirus 16, potentiates airway inflammation after segmental antigen bronchoprovocation in allergic subjects. J Clin Invest 1994 Dec;94(6):2200-2208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1172/JCI117581] [Medline: 7989575]
- 45. Jaimini U, Thirunarayan K, Kalra M, Venkataraman R, Kadariya D, Sheth A. "How Is My Child's Asthma?" Digital phenotype and actionable insights for pediatric asthma. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11988] [Medline: 31008446]
- 46. Walker HK, Hall WD, Hurst JW. WheezingAsthma. In: Clinical Methods: The History, Physical, and Laboratory Examinations. 3rd edition. Boston: Butterworths; 1990.
- 47. Kadariya D, Venkataramanan R, Yung YH, Kalra M, Thirunarayanan K, Sheth A. kBot: Knowledge-enabled Personalized Chatbot for Asthma Self-Management. 2019 Jul 01 Presented at: IEEE International conference on Smart Computing; 2019; Washington DC, USA.
- Sheth A, Yip HY, Iyengar A, Tepper P. Cognitive services and intelligent chatbots: current perspectives and special issue introduction. IEEE Internet Comput 2019 Mar 1;23(2):6-12 (forthcoming). [doi: <u>10.1109/MIC.2018.2889231</u>] [Medline: <u>27295638</u>]

Abbreviations

ACT: Asthma Control Test DCH: Dayton Children's Hospital FEV1: forced expiratory volume in 1 second IRB: institutional review board NICHD: National Institute of Child Health and Human Development NIH: National Institutes of Health PEF: peak expiratory flow PGHD: patient-generated health data PM2.5: particulate matter with diameter less than 2.5 micrometers RCT: randomized controlled trial

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 06.04.19; peer-reviewed by J Blakey, D Fedele, W Xu; comments to author 30.04.19; revised version received 22.05.19; accepted 09.06.19; published 27.06.19.

Please cite as:

Venkataramanan R, Thirunarayan K, Jaimini U, Kadariya D, Yip HY, Kalra M, Sheth A Determination of Personalized Asthma Triggers From Multimodal Sensing and a Mobile App: Observational Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e14300 URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e14300/ doi:10.2196/14300 PMID:31518318

©Revathy Venkataramanan, Krishnaprasad Thirunarayan, Utkarshani Jaimini, Dipesh Kadariya, Hong Yung Yip, Maninder Kalra, Amit Sheth. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 27.06.2019. This is an open-access distributed Commons article under the terms of the Creative Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

What Women With Disabilities Write in Personal Blogs About Pregnancy and Early Motherhood: Qualitative Analysis of Blogs

Michelle L Litchman¹, PhD, FNP-BC, FAANP; MJ Tran¹, MBA, BSN; Susan E Dearden¹, MPHc; Jia-Wen Guo¹, PhD, RN; Sara E Simonsen¹, PhD, CNM, MPSH; Lauren Clark¹, PhD, RN

College of Nursing, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, United States

Corresponding Author: Michelle L Litchman, PhD, FNP-BC, FAANP College of Nursing University of Utah 10 South 2000 East Salt Lake City, UT, 84112 United States Phone: 1 801 585 9612 Email: <u>Michelle.Litchman@nurs.utah.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: More than 1 in 10 women of reproductive age identify as having some type of disability. Most of these women are able to become pregnant and have similar desires for motherhood as women without disability. Women with disability, however, face greater stigma and stereotyping, additional risk factors, and may be less likely to receive adequate reproductive health care compared with their peers without disability. More and more individuals, including those with disability, are utilizing the internet to seek information and peer support. Blogs are one source of peer-to-peer social media engagement that may provide a forum for women with disability to both share and obtain peer-to-peer information and support. Nevertheless, it is not clear what content about reproductive health and pregnancy and/or motherhood is featured in personal blogs authored by women with spinal cord injury (SCI), traumatic brain injury (TBI), spina bifida, and autism.

Objective: The objective of this study was twofold: (1) to examine the information being shared in blogs by women with 4 types of disabilities, namely, SCI, TBI, spina bifida, and autism, about reproductive health, disability, health care, pregnancy, and motherhood; and (2) to classify the content of reproductive health experiences addressed by bloggers to better understand what they viewed as important.

Methods: Personal blogs were identified by searching Google with keywords related to disabilities, *SCI*, *TBI*, *spina bifida*, and *autism*, and a variety of keywords related to reproductive health. The first 10 pages of each database search in Google, based on the relevance of the search terms, were reviewed and all blogs in these pages were included. Blog inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) written by a woman or care partner (ie, parent or spouse) of a woman with a self-identified diagnosis of SCI, TBI, spina bifida, or autism; (2) focused on the personal experience of health and health care during the prepregnancy, prenatal, antepartum, intrapartum, and/or postpartum periods; (3) written in English; and (4) published between 2013 and 2017. A descriptive and thematic qualitative analysis of blogs and corresponding comments was facilitated with NVivo software and matrix analysis.

Results: Our search strategy identified 125 blogs that met all the inclusion criteria; no blogs written by women with spina bifida were identified. We identified 4 reproductive health themes featured in the blog of women with disabilities: (1) (in)accessible motherhood, (2) (un)supportive others, (3) different, but not different, and (4) society questioning motherhood.

Conclusions: This analysis of personal blogs about pregnancy and health care written by women with SCI, TBI, and autism provides a glimpse into their experiences. The challenges faced by these women and the adaptations they made to successfully navigate pregnancy and early motherhood provide insights that can be used to shape future research.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12355) doi:10.2196/12355

KEYWORDS

RenderX

disabled persons; pregnancy; blog; women's health; parenting; mothers; spinal cord injury; autism; traumatic brain injury

Introduction

Background

Among women of reproductive age, approximately 12% identify as having some type of disability [1]. Most women with disabilities are able to become pregnant and fertility rates are similar among those with and without disability [2,3]. According to a large study of 10,718 women who responded to the US National Survey of Family Growth from 2006 to 2010, those with and without disability have similar attitudes about motherhood [4]. In addition, childless women are equally likely to want a child and intend to have a child, whether or not they have a disability [4].

Pregnancy and early motherhood for women with disabilities carry increased risk for poor maternal and neonatal outcomes [5-14]. The complicated web of social and biological disease risks accrues synergistically. Using a syndemic framework [15,16], the interplay of social, biological, and structural factors that place women at risk for compromised reproductive health outcomes mutually informs and reinforces disadvantage. Compared with women without disability, women with disability encounter challenges that heighten their reproductive risks. Risks include physical and emotional abuse, being overweight or obese, and decreased physical activity, inadequate emotional support, smaller social networks [17,18], substance abuse [19-24], higher levels of stress [25-27], depression and anxiety [28,29], and special needs related to their care [30]. Negative synergies ensue. Syndemic suffering [31] refers to the depletion of personal and material resources as individuals and their social networks respond to interactive disability-specific biological factors and social disadvantages. When women experience chronic stigma and increasing ill-health in a negative cycle of interactive disadvantage, disability scholars coin this a trajectory of recursive cascades [22].

The measurable outcomes of syndemic relationships between social circumstances, disability, and women's reproductive outcomes are numerous and most often negative. Pregnant women with disabilities may be at higher risk for stillbirth, preterm birth, low birth weight, fetal growth restriction, and cesarean delivery, as well as medical complications such as venous thromboembolism and recurrent urinary tract infections [5-14]. Women with disability may also be at higher risk for postpartum depression [6] and less likely to breastfeed their infants than women without disability [7]. During pregnancy, women with disability are more likely to visit an emergency department, be admitted to the hospital, experience medical complications, and be readmitted within 3 months of their delivery [32,33] and are less likely to receive early prenatal care [33].

Enacting disability as a form of embodied difference can trigger personal and social consequences, from discrimination and stigmatization to support and collective action [34]. Social relationships help shape the experiences of women with disability. In contemporary society, women seek information and support through peer relationships in word-of-mouth informal communication, as well as in electronic formats mediated by the internet and known as electronic word of mouth

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12355/
```

(eWOM) [35]. In general, women, more than men, use social media to communicate with others, seek social support, and share personal experiences [36-38]. Both women with and without disability exchange advice, perspectives, and humor about pregnancy and motherhood through social media, including Web-based diaries or blogs. Personal blogs (Web-based diaries) are one type of eWOM that provides an asynchronous format allowing bloggers to communicate with many readers who can access the information at their convenience [39]. Blogs can also offer a format for peer-to-peer social media engagement in which users can give and receive support and information about disability and pregnancy. Bloggers, particularly women bloggers, tend to share personal experiences to seek social support or to simply share their life experiences [36-38]. By creating and sharing tacit and experiential knowledge, women create a public space for the expression and construction of their perspectives, values systems, and interactions with health care, disability, and pregnancy-related social entities [40-42].

Objective

Women with intellectual disabilities report enjoying social media and having positive experiences using social media to develop friendships, form a social identity, and build self-esteem [43]. Women with physical disabilities who had been pregnant in the past decade cited the value of receiving information from other women who had experienced disability and pregnancy and the importance of seeking peer support [44]. As a research resource, blogs offer unsolicited first-person accounts in a naturalistic environment about pregnancy and disability topics that women choose to describe to a public audience. The purpose of this study was to examine blog content written by women who have experienced or have a desire to experience pregnancy and/or motherhood who are living with a spinal cord injury (SCI), traumatic brain injury (TBI), spina bifida, or autism. Our goal was to capitalize on the information contained in these blogs as a means of understanding the experience of pregnancy, delivery, postpartum recovery, and early motherhood among women with disability. Personal blogs have been examined using a systematic approach in other studies [45]. Although health blogs may be viewed as anecdotal information, aggregated data collected from multiple health blogs can provide insight into the public narrative about the intersection between reproduction and disability [46-48] and support the need for further focused research on topics of value to women with disability.

Methods

Methodology

Before beginning this systematic appraisal of blogs, an institutional review board (IRB) approval was sought and the study was acknowledged as nonhuman subject research through the University of Utah (IRB number 00105240). To maintain the privacy of individuals who published the blogs and were not individually consented for this research, we deidentified the content in the blogs and blog comments by anonymizing the details and quoted text before inclusion in this study to reduce the risk of bloggers being reidentified. To learn more about the

perspective about pregnancy among individuals with disabilities, we selected 4 key types of disabilities as the target of our study. These included conditions resulting in impairments in movement and/or cognition and spanned developmental disabilities and acquired disabilities. Specifically, we selected SCI, TBI, spina bifida, and autism. We sought to include acquired and congenital conditions that impair either physical or cognitive abilities. Methods for the blog appraisal were similar to those reported in previous research [45].

Blogs Selection for Study Inclusion

Using a consensus process, the research team decided upon keywords to use for blog searches. Personal blogs were systematically identified by searching Google using a specific search strategy for each keyword related to disability. Disabilities of interest included SCI, TBI, spina bifida, or autism. Both full terms and their acronyms (ie, SCI and TBI) were used in the search. We also used tetraplegia for SCI.

We developed a data extraction sheet containing the following inclusion criteria: (1) written by a woman or care partner (ie, parent or spouse) of a woman with a self-identified diagnosis of SCI, TBI, spina bifida, or autism, (2) focused on the personal experience of health and health care during the prepregnancy, prenatal, antepartum, intrapartum, and/or postpartum periods, (3) written in English, and (4) published between 2013 and 2017. There were no limitations on the blogger's country of origin. Forums were omitted. The data extraction sheet was pilot-tested with 10 blogs and refined as needed to determine which blogs would be retained for analysis. Initially, 12,600 records were identified. A total of 296 blogs (eg, personal, news outlet, corporate, and foundation) were then identified. In the final step, 215 personal blogs were reviewed for inclusion by at least 2 independent reviewers (MLL and MJT). Unanimous agreement between at least 2 independent reviewers on the final blogs for inclusion was required. Using this method, the first 10 pages of each database search in Google were reviewed for the presence of eligible blogs by 3 of the authors (MLL, MJT, and SD). Exclusion criteria were applied to remove blogs that were duplicates and those that were not personal blogs. The remaining 125 personal blogs that met the inclusion and exclusion criteria were forwarded for qualitative descriptive analysis.

Qualitative Descriptive and Thematic Blog Analysis

Using principles of qualitative description [49,50], the investigators developed and discussed inductive descriptive codes and code definitions. The first 15 blogs were initially read by 2 independent investigators (MLL and MJT), and the initial blog corpus for coding dictionary development was formed. Open coding of successive blogs using a line-by-line analysis was used to apply existing codes or develop new codes for segments of blog text using NVivo 11 software (QSR

International) [49]. Codes were reviewed in a constant comparative process and clustered into categories representing similar constellations of blog content. Through a process of group analysis, all investigators then reviewed blog data, codes, and categories. Matrices organized codes by disability type stratified by reproductive health context (ie, preconception, prenatal, and postpartum) and resulted in the identification of overarching themes about women's reproductive experiences and disability [51,52]. In the final analytic step, the research team reviewed the coded data again thematically, explicitly assessing blog text for content by disability type in the different reproductive health contexts.

Results

Overview

Of the 296 website records identified, a total of 125 blogs met the inclusion criteria and were included in this qualitative analysis. Preferred Reporting of Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses guidelines [53] were used to describe the blog inclusion process (see Figure 1). None of the identified blogs were written by a care partner; all were written by the women themselves. The majority of blogs analyzed were written by women with SCI and TBI. There were no blogs by women with spina bifida that were identified. There was 1 distinctive blog written by a woman who was diagnosed with autism following pregnancy. She reflected upon how her symptoms predated pregnancy and early motherhood, thus indicating a likelihood of her autism being present during pregnancy. Her situation was unique and clarified a different perspective of pregnancy and motherhood with a disability. It was not always overtly clear if the bloggers with TBI or autism used wheelchairs; however, all blogs written by women with SCI mentioned the use of wheelchairs. Of the blogs included, only 1 discussed abortion, 1 discussed miscarriage, and 3 mentioned breastfeeding (see Table 1 for additional blog characteristics).

In total, 4 key themes about the reproductive perspectives of women with disabilities resulted from the qualitative analysis: (1) (in)accessible motherhood, (2) (un)supportive others, (3) different, but not different; and 4) society questioning motherhood. How each theme was expressed across the reproductive contexts and by women with different disabilities is further described below. Themes by disability category and reproductive health context are described in Table 2.

(In)accessible Motherhood

Women with disabilities face different challenges and barriers when considering or preparing for pregnancy. Adaptations were necessary to make motherhood more accessible because of the universal design of standard baby products. However, women showcased a sense of pride in successfully adapting baby products to realistically fulfill their motherhood needs.



Litchman et al

Figure 1. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses diagram.





Table 1. Blog Characteristics.

Blog characteristics	Disability type				Total
	TBI ^a	SCI ^b	Spina bifida ^c	Autism	
Blog posts, n (%)	37 (30)	83 (66)	d	5 (4)	125 (100)
Blog post word count, average (range)	1185 (212-2057)	356 (202-1297)	_	925 (800-1612)	_
Blog posts with comments, n (%)	11 (50)	8 (36.4)	_	3 (13.6)	22 (100)
Women bloggers, n (%)	3 (12)	19 (76)	_	3 (12)	25 (100)
Prepregnancy-related blog posts, n (%)					
Surrogacy	0 (0)	3 (100)	—	0 (0)	3 (100)
Artificial insemination	0 (0)	1 (100)	_	0 (0)	1 (100)
Invitro fertilization	1 (100)	0 (0)	_	0 (0)	1 (100)
Prenatal-related blog posts, n (%)	0 (0)	6 (100)	_	0 (0)	6 (100)
Antepartum-related blog posts, n (%)					
Pregnancy	38 (50)	37 (48.7)	—	1 (1.3)	76 (100)
Abortion	0 (0)	1 (100)	_	0 (0)	1 (100)
Miscarriage	0(0)	1 (100)	—	0 (0)	1 (100)
Intrapartum-related blog posts, n (%)					
Cesarean delivery	0 (0)	4 (100)	_	0 (0)	4 (100)
Vaginal delivery	1 (16.7)	5 (83.3)	_	0 (0)	6 (100)
Home birth	0 (0)	1 (100)	_	0 (0)	1 (100)
Postpartum-related blog posts, n (%)					
Early motherhood	0 (0)	18 (100)	_	0 (0)	18 (100)
Developmental milestones	0 (0)	18 (100)	_	0 (0)	18 (100)

^aTBI: traumatic brain injury.

^bSCI: spinal cord injury.

^cNo blog posts were identified for women living with spina bifida.

^dN/A: not applicable.

Prepregnancy

Women in wheelchairs secondary to SCI reported emotional readiness to have a child but needed to consider the physical ramifications and potential adaptations. Surrogacy was discussed in 2 cases of SCI where the woman's health status made pregnancy infeasible. In 1 case, discussions of surrogacy were complicated by the fact that Medicare (the federal health insurance in the United States for people with disabilities and older adults) does not cover the costs of surrogacy, resulting in 1 couple trying to sell their home and occasionally purchasing lottery tickets to achieve their reproductive health goals. In another case, the husband and wife were actively seeking surrogacy and were hopeful that they would become parents sometime soon.

In contrast, women with autism did not describe physical concerns related to pregnancy but expressed apprehension about their emotional capacity to care for a child. Concerns about difficulty coping with a newborn, such as changes in schedule and concerns about their ability to connect emotionally with their baby, were described.

Pregnancy

During pregnancy, some mothers reported a need for a larger wheelchair to accommodate the weight of their growing fetus. Pregnancy-related weight gain complicated transfers to and from the wheelchair, such as getting in and out of a car or going to the bathroom. In some cases, this reduced the woman's independence. Some women experienced challenges with going uphill in a wheelchair during pregnancy because of the increased weight and changes to their center of balance; anti-tip bars were used as a safety net.

Table 2. Theme by reproductive health context and disability category.

Theme and reproductive health context	Blogs by disa	bility category	
	SCI ^a	TBI ^b	Autism
(In)accessible motherhood	·	·	
Prepregnancy	\checkmark	c	\checkmark
Pregnancy	✓	\checkmark	_
Delivery	_	_	_
Early motherhood	\checkmark	\checkmark	_
(Un)supportive others			
Prepregnancy	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓
Pregnancy	\checkmark	\checkmark	_
Delivery	—	—	—
Early motherhood	\checkmark	—	—
Different, but not different			
Prepregnancy	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓
Pregnancy	\checkmark	\checkmark	—
Delivery	\checkmark		—
Early motherhood	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓
Society questioning motherhood			
Prepregnancy	\checkmark		✓
Pregnancy	—		—
Delivery	—		_
Early motherhood	—		✓

^aSCI: spinal cord injury.

^bTBI: traumatic brain injury.

^cNot applicable.

Medical exam tables were not always easily accessible during medical appointments. Women described needing their partners to help with transfers to and from medical exam tables, when such tables were not accessible. The majority of women with SCI described their maternity care provider as being inexperienced in caring for pregnant women with SCI, particularly during labor and delivery. Only 1 blogger discussed taking a prenatal class, noting that she had to make adaptations to what was taught to meet her own unique needs. The blogger shared that the class was tailored to childbearing mothers without disability and did not help to address her fears or provide relevant information about unique adaptations that would be necessary for her. She expressed interest in receiving tailored information about labor positions and newborn care and feeding for women with physical disability.

Early Motherhood

Mothers with disabilities reported using *life hacks* and practice to adequately manage their baby safely in an able-bodied world. Baby changing tables were lowered to accommodate those in a wheelchair. Some wheelchair-bound mothers reported practicing different techniques for holding the newborn while in a wheelchair, wheelchair mobility while holding a baby (given additional weight), transferring the baby, and best positions for

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12355/
```

XSL•FO RenderX comfort. Such practice was reported with the use of weighted dolls as well as without the dolls. One mother stated:

I can finally get the car seat in alone...I'm sure I would have been able to do it all along, we just never had the chance to "practice"! But I am soooo excited!

She also provided a 7-step process which included reclining the passenger seat down and twisting her body to face the back seat and placing the car seat in its base. To increase easy access to her child's nursery, another mother redesigned her home, offering an accessible and comfortable environment to provide direct care to her baby when needed. Her blog highlighted how she planned the remodel and how the changes helped her to more easily care for her baby.

(Un)supportive Others

Although most women reported consistent and positive support from family and friends during pregnancy and motherhood, the quality of support they received from health care providers was mixed. However, despite mixed feelings about health care provider support, women reported being proactive about their needs and perseverance to achieve with their pregnancy and motherhood.

Prepregnancy

All women bloggers who became pregnant reported doing so with a supportive partner. Family members, when mentioned, appeared to provide instrumental and emotional support. One woman stated:

I have a lot going for me. I already know what lots of people don'tparalyzed women (and me in particular) can conceive and deliver children normally. I have a supportive and loving husband who wants to have a child with me. I have many friends – some with greater problems than I havewho will be there for me. I have decades of experience working around my paralysis and playing to my strengths.

Some women delayed announcing their pregnancy to family and friends to prevent worry or because they were not sure how the pregnancy would be received. One woman described feeling more comfortable sharing her pregnancy news on the Web versus in person. In announcing her pregnancy, she celebrated the fact that by becoming pregnant, she was dispelling misperceptions that she was asexual or incapable of enjoying a sexual relationship, disconnecting pregnancy to motherhood.

In some instances, women were advised by their health care provider to abstain from having children and felt that their providers viewed women with disability as high-risk maternity patients. Women attributed this high-risk designation to health care providers' lack of experience in caring for women with physical disabilities or to a biased view that women with disabilities should not have children. One woman with autism expressed, "Autistic people are people with their own wants and needs and goals, and we can make our decisions about what is and is not in our best interest." Several bloggers reported interviewing multiple health care providers until they found one who supported their desire to become pregnant.

Pregnancy

Among women in wheelchairs, identifying offline and Web-based peers they could relate to offered them a sense of shared experience. In some cases, the desire to find a peer was the rationale for starting their blog. The individuals who commented on the blogs included both women with similar disabilities and others who could not be identified as having a disability or not. Comments from those who self-identified as having a disability indicated that reading about peers with similar experiences was validating. For example, a television program about a woman in a wheelchair who delivered a baby provided a sense of inspiration for some but caused worry for others, as the televised woman required bed rest.

Experiences with health care providers varied. Some women reported experiencing a shared decision-making process in planning for a cesarean or vaginal delivery. In some cases, women reported interviewing obstetricians either to determine those who had the most experience providing pregnancy care for women with their same disability or to find a health care provider with whom they felt the most comfortable. One mother stated: I didn't know any other moms in wheelchairs. I found an amazing doctor, but I was his first patient with a physical disability. We were going to learn the process together.

In contrast, some women reported having providers who were not supportive. Some women felt that their health care provider believed they should not be pregnant or would be unable to care for a child. One mother stated:

The unknown of paraplegic deliveries gets labeled as high-risk to doctors. Even though I didn't feel I was high-risk, I heard their admonitions and dutifully went for a prenatal consultation with the most respected obstetrician I could find.

The proximity of the health care provider to the woman's place of residence was also taken into consideration, as women wanted to be able to access health care quickly and easily if needed.

Early Motherhood

Some women relied heavily on others to support them throughout pregnancy, whereas other women who were previously independent considered accepting help from others for the first time during pregnancy. One woman stated:

The combined experiences of pregnancy and motherhood seemed to soften some lingering bitterness in me, and I became more grateful for help whenever it came my way. Help was not there all the time, however.

Different, But Not Different

Although women with disabilities faced challenges related to their abilities, they reflected on their experiences and milestones as being similar to those experienced by women without disability. Furthermore, becoming pregnant as a woman with disability offered membership in a unique group and the bloggers expressed a sense of unity with their peers who shared this experience.

Prepregnancy

When expressing desires for pregnancy, women shared feelings of excitement but also reported apprehension about their ability to nurture a child and simultaneously manage their own disability. Some women had to stop medications before becoming pregnant whereas others worried about the potential need for bed rest. One woman indicated she was unsure if her paralysis would hinder her ability to push during delivery. Another woman considered surrogacy as a way to mitigate health risks, stating:

I thought one of the hardest parts of deciding surrogacy would be finding a compassionate man to support my choice. However, my husband was completely supportive of my decision, even while we were dating. When we became ready to start our family, we realized that surrogacy was going to be the only option for us.

Information-seeking behavior about reproductive health and pregnancy was common. Some women with autism highlighted the fact that those with autism are often very intelligent. One



woman stated, "One theory I like is that we actually make great mothers because we research, research, research whenever we know we're going to be encountering something new!" In a contrasting case, a woman who was diagnosed with autism after pregnancy indicated that she may not have been emotionally ready to raise a child, although she did not realize it at the time. The woman stated:

When you're undiagnosed and going into parenthood, many issues can arise. However, becoming a parent when you know your disability can hinder your parenting abilities; this creates an entirely different dilemma.

Given the timing of her autism diagnosis, she did not have the opportunity to prepare for motherhood with an understanding of her autism diagnosis. The disability-specific experiences of women in the preconception context involved considering whether pregnancy was a good choice and whether they would be up for the perceived challenges of parenting with a disability. As women blogged about these considerations, they expressed emotions and concerns specific to their unique situations. Yet, some concerns were common among other women contemplating motherhood.

Pregnancy

Bloggers reported experiencing common pregnancy symptoms such as food cravings, heartburn, morning sickness, and fatigue. Bloggers also reported planning and participating in baby showers, shopping for baby items, and receiving baby gifts from friends and family. Pregnancy appeared to be relatively uneventful for some. One woman stated, "Throughout my pregnancy, I was still able to live completely independently." Many women were told that they were categorized as high-risk, which may have increased the frequency of their medical appointments. However, the bloggers did not directly discuss the frequency of appointments. There was no mention in the blogs of women with SCI about common pregnancy complications in this population, including urinary tract infections, decubitus ulcers, constipation, increased spasticity, deep vein thrombosis, and alterations in pulmonary function [54,55]. In addition, no women with SCI mentioned increased urinary frequency or increased need for self-catheterization. However, 1 woman with SCI did offer advice on the need to stock up on supplies in case self-catheterization was needed.

There were multiple women with SCI who wrote about sadness or frustration when strangers were unaware of their being pregnant. They relished the opportunity to socially rejoice in their pregnancy but lamented the lack of notice. Some women wondered if strangers assumed that they had gained weight as a result of being in a wheelchair or felt that people had a hard time imagining that a woman in a wheelchair might possess the capability to conceive or be pregnant. One woman was direct about the perception that sexual intimacy and paralysis were incommensurate, indicating, "If I offer to share that I am pregnant with a stranger, the response is often a silent combination of confusion and disbelief."

In a single case, 1 mother opted to have an abortion. Comments from blog readers without disability who had also undergone abortion indicated that the experience did not differ from others who had experienced an abortion, indicating feelings of isolation. A mother with SCI indicated that she had miscarried her second pregnancy near the second trimester expressed feelings of sadness, but mostly guilt because of her body's betrayal and inability to sustain a full-term pregnancy. In this same instance, the woman shared that her partner reassured her by suggesting:

It just happens that way sometimes. The baby is weak and just doesn't thrive and that's all it is.

Women with disability may seek out abortion, experience miscarriage, and have a variety of common emotions after these experiences.

Delivery

Most women perceived that their delivery was *normal*. Some women with SCI reported experiencing a vaginal delivery with a short labor and tolerable pain because of paralysis, which was viewed positively. For those with SCI who had some lower abdominal sensation, an epidural was pursued; although, at times, it was challenging to insert because of spinal hardware. One woman indicated:

Although I cannot feel pain below my injury site, my body is experiencing it all. Due to this, I was given an epidural to help my body endure the pain after childbirth even though I knew I wouldn't feel a thing.

In a singular case, 1 woman had an uncomplicated delivery at home with a midwife and doula and reported a good experience. Other women had planned cesarean deliveries, though no one individual mentioned multiple cesarean deliveries. There were no reports of planned vaginal deliveries that resulted in cesarean delivery. However, 1 woman indicated a shared decision-making process between herself and her obstetrician resulting in the decision to pursue a planned cesarean delivery owing to her inability to push because of the titanium rods in her spine. There were no mentions of in-patient lengths of stay; however, 1 woman was required to be on bed rest following delivery because of hypotension. Furthermore, some women indicated that the utilization of intrapartum anesthesia required some adjustments on the basis of SCI, and the women and their health care providers problem solved these challenges, including the unusual decision in 1 case to administer general anesthesia during delivery. Another woman experienced an adverse event, a spike in temperature and uncontrollable shaking, which she attributed to her body releasing more Oxytocin than normal to compensate for her paraplegia. There were no specific details about women with autism or TBI and their labor or delivery.

Early Motherhood

All bloggers indicated that they were able to provide direct newborn care and celebrated their baby's milestones. Breastfeeding was mentioned by 3 different bloggers; it is unknown if the other women were breastfeeding or not. Of the 3 women who did breastfeed, 1 indicated that she did not experience challenges with breastfeeding, although she did report the use of pillow props to support positioning, a technique also used by women without disability. There were no mentions of not to breastfeed because of disability or disability-related

XSL•FO

challenges. The blogs of women with autism or TBI contained no mention of breastfeeding at all. Additionally, there were no mentions of use of a breast pump, mastitis, or breastfeeding problems in any of the blogs.

Mothers used both unique and standard ways to carry their child while in a wheelchair. For example, 1 mother used an airplane seatbelt to attach a baby basket carrier to her wheelchair whereas other mothers used baby carriers. One mother wrote:

My greatest ally in managing a newborn on my own was a baby sling. Being in a chair and trying to carry a baby felt like having both arms and both legs tied behind my back. The baby sling freed up my arms and allowed me to work and do other things while holding the baby. I learned how to do almost anything wearing my sling, including using the toilet.

Women also blogged about the challenges of transitioning to motherhood, reflecting on challenges they believed that they shared with other mothers. One woman with autism emphasized how the transition to motherhood may be particularly challenging for those with autism, writing:

Babies have demanding round-the-clock needs; they are everything that an autistic person would have difficulty coping with. Time alone and carefully crafted routines no longer existed. My body was no longer my own; transformed first by pregnancy then by postpartum hormones and breastfeeding.

Schedule challenges are likely not unique to women with autism but perhaps may be more disruptive to women with autism who adhere to routines to manage their needs. We found no mentions about postpartum depression or depressive symptoms in any of the blogs reviewed.

Society Questioning Motherhood

Women experienced misconceptions or misunderstandings from others, including questioning whether or not a woman with a disability should conceive, deliver, and care for children. Yet, women refused to give up the opportunity to experience motherhood.

Prepregnancy

Some women blogged about others questioning their ability to be or become a mother. For those in wheelchairs, this was often rooted in misconceptions about whether or not they were infertile or could and/or would engage in sexual intercourse. One woman, in an attempt to reconstruct social norms, stated "With adaptations, many moms with paralysis are capable of raising children." Other women in wheelchairs indicated that they would not let society get in their way of becoming mothers. One woman stated:

One day, when our children are old enough, we will tell them the story of the nonconventional delivery, and we will share how hard we—their father and *I*—worked to make their existence possible. Because that's what parents do: they find a way to make possible the impossible.

On the contrary, 1 blogger with autism wrote about ongoing social resistance to parenthood targeting people with disabilities.

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12355/
```

Referencing the historical record of involuntary sterilization of women with disabilities, she indicated that she would be fearful if she publicly announced she had autism and was pregnant because of the backlash she would receive.

Early Motherhood

Although questions and concerns about dealing with the challenges of motherhood were discussed, many women expressed their excitement about being a mother and gratitude for their supportive partners. A concern about public scrutiny of the emotional and physical abilities of women with autism to care for a child was noted by 1 blogger with autism, who wrote:

The biggest issue occurs when people in authority misinterpret us [women with autism] and call in Child Protective Services, when in reality, nothing is wrong. Ultimately, we are individuals, influenced by being autistic, influenced by being female, but in the end, still individuals.

Women blogged about how society expected them to face emotional or physical challenges during pregnancy and motherhood; however, the women themselves expressed overall feelings of capability in bearing and caring for children.

Discussion

Principal Findings

In this study, we sought to learn more about first-person publicly available accounts of prepregnancy, pregnancy, delivery, postpartum recovery, and early motherhood as written in the blogs of women with SCI, TBI, spina bifida, or autism. We examined personal stories about encounters with the health care system as well as the ways women used blogging to convey information and offer support to other women with disability and their families. Blogs represent an important piece of the public narrative about the intersection between disability, reproduction, and motherhood. Although we selected 4 key types of disabilities as the focus of our work to represent both acquired and congenital disabilities, our systematic search of personal blogs resulted in locating more blogs written by women with SCI and TBI than those with autism. We identified no blogs written by women with spina bifida meeting our search criteria.

In contrast to results from other studies that highlight the challenges faced by women with disabilities in achieving their reproductive goals [56-58], some of the blogs analyzed in this study included a more positive representation of women's experiences. Although women wrote about negative interactions with providers, we also identified bloggers who felt that their experiences were empowering and who wrote about self-advocacy to achieve their reproductive goals with healthy outcomes. Across blogs, we identified numerous women with disability who had strong desires for motherhood, who had the support to pursue these desires, and who were able to successfully navigate a health system in pursuit of pregnancy. Women wrote that their disability did not compromise their pregnancy experience. Women even mentioned some ways in which their disabilities contributed to better experiences, such

as the inability to feel pain during labor for some women with SCI or the structured, organized approach of women with autism as a positive attribute of parenting. Of note, most women seemed to be navigating health care for pregnancy and birth without formal collaboration between their maternity health care providers and their disability-specific providers.

Results derived from this blog analysis offer guarded yet positive counterpoints to the recursive cascades of disability, poor health outcomes, and insufficient social and structural support [59]. We suggest 3 possible interpretations of these results juxtaposed against the premise of syndemics theory that social, biological, and structural factors increase the risk for compromised reproductive health outcomes by reinforcing disadvantage [15,16]. First, the altruism of bloggers in paying forward their experiences to benefit others is an effort to build social capital within the reproductive-aged community of women with disability. Similar efforts identified in other social media health research [60] are unaccounted for in the syndemics theory. In this analysis, bloggers noted difficulties and challenges in their reproductive health choices and outcomes. Despite describing some negative experiences, women addressed how they navigated care using self-advocacy and social support to achieve desired outcomes. Overall, the blogs went beyond simply describing difficulties, as bloggers detailed the ways in which their choices and life hacks could benefit other women in similar situations.

Second, social media posts tend toward positive self-representations [61, 62], a phenomenon that could mute the presentation of difficult experiences or poor reproductive health outcomes fueled by the interaction between disability and disadvantage. Selective overrepresentation of positive experiences in personal blogs could possibly account, to an unknown degree, for our findings. Yet, the value and uniqueness of blogs also argues for their inclusion in research for several reasons. Blogs allow for detailed and complete stories to be told. Blogs have been used previously to learn more about how individuals share clinical data with family and friends [45], the caregiving perspective [63], and the lived experience of having a chronic condition [64]. Blogs humanize the experience of reproductive health by providing access to the positive experiences, joys, and achievements of women with disability to counterbalance the negativity of published medical research or health care providers. As some suggest, blogs put the public back into public health [65]. This rich source of data can be used in addition to or as a precursor to qualitative interviewing.

A third explanation for the generally positive pregnancy and disability spin in blogs is that online social support transmitted through the blogging endeavor and eWOM may offset the isolation and social disadvantage that women with disability experience. This social support effect has been documented among adults with chronic pain [66], a population with similar situational disadvantages. Social media platforms can contribute and facilitate knowledge sharing [41,42]. By analyzing those personal experiences, we identified several unmet needs of women with SCI, TBI, and autism, such as a need for more accessible exam tables, a need for larger wheelchairs as pregnancy advances, and a need for supportive health care providers who respect women's choices to make autonomous

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12355/

decisions about whether to have children. Women bloggers offered suggestions and possible solutions to some common challenges. For example, several life hacks offered tacit knowledge to a community of women who may have similar disabilities or challenges in pregnancy and early motherhood. Although the tacit knowledge or personal experience is informal and lacks a robust evidence base, these suggestions may provide a starting point for further research and potential integration into the care of women with disability.

Use of blogs for research purposes has some limitations. For example, bloggers may comprise an atypical sample of the population of women with SCI, TBI, or autism. Bloggers are likely to have higher levels of literacy, be more technologically adept, and have higher levels of education [47,67]. Given the nature of our data collection methods, we were not able to extract demographic factors from bloggers beyond their self-identified disability types. Reviewing blogs clearly does not provide a comprehensive overview of the experiences and challenges faced by women with disability. Thus, our findings should be interpreted in this context. All bloggers in our study who mentioned partners described that they were supportive. It is important to note that none of the 5 blogs written by women with autism mentioned partners in their blog. We did not identify (1) financial concerns such as the increased medical costs for a high-risk pregnancy for the woman or infant, except for surrogacy; (2) lack of access to medical providers, although some struggled to find the right provider for them; (3) significant complications experienced by the mother or infant throughout pregnancy or delivery; or (4) postpartum depression. These concerns, commonly identified in the research about pregnancy and disability, were absent in this sample. For example, autonomic dysreflexia is a major concern during pregnancy and labor among women with SCI, particularly those with lesions above the T6 level [55]. However, we did not observe any specific references to autonomic dysreflexia among women with SCI in our blog analysis. Similarly, postpartum depression is often identified in women with autism but was not identified in the blogs of autistic women reviewed for this study [68]. In addition, our findings may not be generalizable to women with disability who do not write or read blogs, women with more complex medical histories, or women with disabilities other than SCI, TBI, and autism. Our search strategy did not identify blogs written by women with spina bifida and identified very few blogs by women with autism. It is possible that our search strategy did not identify all possible blogs. Alternatively, it is also possible that women with spina bifida and autism are not blogging to the same extent as women with SCI or TBI.

Application of findings from this study may advance research and practice. Women with disability who have been able to achieve pregnancy and motherhood have much to share with their peers who desire this experience. Using women with disabilities as health navigators has been recommended by other authors who have suggested that these navigators could help others to recognize their own potential for giving birth, understand the importance of advocacy and support during pregnancy and birth, share information, provide guidance on interacting with maternity providers, and help women manage their fears [69]. Future research may specify survey and

XSL•FO RenderX

interview questions on the basis of what women with disability highlighted as important personal and social resources for successful pregnancy and motherhood and challenges they encountered. Research is warranted to explore how other social media tools are being used in this context or could be utilized to help enhance information sharing and social support among women with disability. Some informational resources exist for some types of disability but for others, more information and resources are needed. Having all pregnancy-related resources in one Web-based location would be beneficial for both women with disabilities and the health care providers who care for them. Finally, tools to help women communicate with their providers about their unique needs and challenges would help to improve their health care experience from preconception through early motherhood. Such tools need to be developed and evaluated.

Conclusions

This study of personal blogs written by women with SCI, TBI, and autism about pregnancy and health care offers a glimpse into their reproductive experiences, challenges, and adaptations and provides a foundation for future research to address the unique needs of women with disabilities.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge Heather R Walker and Stephanie St Claire, who reviewed an earlier version of this manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control Prevention (CDC). Prevalence and most common causes of disability among adults--United States, 2005. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2009 May 01;58(16):421-426 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>19407734</u>]
- Brown HK, Lunsky Y, Wilton AS, Cobigo V, Vigod SN. Pregnancy in women with intellectual and developmental disabilities. J Obstet Gynaecol Can 2016 Jan;38(1):9-16. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jogc.2015.10.004</u>] [Medline: <u>26872750</u>]
- Horner-Johnson W, Darney BG, Kulkarni-Rajasekhara S, Quigley B, Caughey AB. Pregnancy among US women: differences by presence, type, and complexity of disability. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2016 Apr;214(4):529.e1-529.e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2015.10.929] [Medline: 26546851]
- 4. Shandra CL, Hogan DP, Short SE. Planning for motherhood: fertility attitudes, desires and intentions among women with disabilities. Perspect Sex Reprod Health 2014 Dec;46(4):203-210 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1363/46e2514] [Medline: 25209449]
- Chen YH, Lin HL, Lin HC. Does multiple sclerosis increase risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes? A population-based study. Mult Scler 2009 May;15(5):606-612. [doi: <u>10.1177/1352458508101937</u>] [Medline: <u>19318510</u>]
- 6. Ghidini A, Healey A, Andreani M, Simonson MR. Pregnancy and women with spinal cord injuries. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2008;87(10):1006-1010. [doi: 10.1080/00016340802356909] [Medline: 18763171]
- Goldacre AD, Gray R, Goldacre MJ. Childbirth in women with intellectual disability: characteristics of their pregnancies and outcomes in an archived epidemiological dataset. J Intellect Disabil Res 2015 Jul;59(7):653-663. [doi: <u>10.1111/jir.12169</u>] [Medline: <u>25331275</u>]
- Höglund B, Lindgren P, Larsson M. Newborns of mothers with intellectual disability have a higher risk of perinatal death and being small for gestational age. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2012 Dec;91(12):1409-1414 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0412.2012.01537.x] [Medline: 22924821]
- 9. Jackson AB, Wadley V. A multicenter study of women's self-reported reproductive health after spinal cord injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1999 Nov;80(11):1420-1428. [Medline: 10569436]
- Kelly VM, Nelson LM, Chakravarty EF. Obstetric outcomes in women with multiple sclerosis and epilepsy. Neurology 2009 Dec 01;73(22):1831-1836. [doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181c3f27d] [Medline: 19923552]
- 11. Mitra M, Parish SL, Clements KM, Cui X, Diop H. Pregnancy outcomes among women with intellectual and developmental disabilities. Am J Prev Med 2015 Mar;48(3):300-308. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2014.09.032</u>] [Medline: <u>25547927</u>]
- 12. Morton C, Le JT, Shahbandar L, Hammond C, Murphy EA, Kirschner KL. Pregnancy outcomes of women with physical disabilities: a matched cohort study. PM R 2013 Feb;5(2):90-98. [doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2012.10.011] [Medline: 23200116]
- Rudnik-Schöneborn S, Zerres K. Outcome in pregnancies complicated by myotonic dystrophy: a study of 31 patients and review of the literature. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2004 May 10;114(1):44-53. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ejogrb.2003.11.025</u>] [Medline: <u>15099870</u>]
- Westgren N, Hultling C, Levi R, Westgren M. Pregnancy and delivery in women with a traumatic spinal cord injury in Sweden, 1980-1991. Obstet Gynecol 1993 Jun;81(6):926-930. [Medline: <u>8497358</u>]
- 15. Singer M, Bulled N, Ostrach B. Syndemics and human health: implications for prevention and intervention. Ann Anthropol Pract 2013 Nov 12;36(2):205-211. [doi: 10.1111/napa.12000]

- Singer M. Desperate measures: a syndemic approach to the anthropology of health in a violent city. In: Rylko-Bauer B, Whiteford LM, Farmer P, editors. Global Health In Times Of Violence (School For Advanced Research Advanced Seminar Series). Santa Fe, NM: School For Advanced Research Press; 2019:137-156.
- Ward KM, Atkinson JP, Smith CA, Windsor R. A friendships and dating program for adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities: a formative evaluation. Intellect Dev Disabil 2013 Feb;51(1):22-32. [doi: <u>10.1352/1934-9556-51.01.022</u>] [Medline: <u>23360406</u>]
- Krauss MW, Seltzer MM, Goodman SJ. Social support networks of adults with mental retardation who live at home. Am J Ment Retard 1992 Jan;96(4):432-441. [Medline: <u>1739456</u>]
- 19. Breiding MJ, Armour BS. The association between disability and intimate partner violence in the United States. Ann Epidemiol 2015 Jun;25(6):455-457 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2015.03.017] [Medline: 25976023]
- Courtney-Long EA, Carroll DD, Zhang QC, Stevens AC, Griffin-Blake S, Armour BS, et al. Prevalence of disability and disability type among adults--United States, 2013. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2015 Jul 31;64(29):777-783 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 26225475]
- Havercamp SM, Scott HM. National health surveillance of adults with disabilities, adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities, and adults with no disabilities. Disabil Health J 2015 Apr;8(2):165-172. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.dhjo.2014.11.002</u>] [Medline: <u>25595297</u>]
- 22. Moore D, Li L. Prevalence and risk factors of illicit drug use by people with disabilities. Am J Addict 1998;7(2):93-102. [Medline: <u>9598213</u>]
- 23. Signore C, Spong CY, Krotoski D, Shinowara NL, Blackwell SC. Pregnancy in women with physical disabilities. Obstet Gynecol 2011 Apr;117(4):935-947. [doi: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e3182118d59] [Medline: 21422868]
- 24. Young ME, Nosek MA, Howland C, Chanpong G, Rintala DH. Prevalence of abuse of women with physical disabilities. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1997 Dec;78(12 Suppl 5):S34-S38. [Medline: <u>9422005</u>]
- Chevarley FM, Thierry JM, Gill CJ, Ryerson AB, Nosek MA. Health, preventive health care, and health care access among women with disabilities in the 1994-1995 National Health Interview Survey, Supplement on Disability. Womens Health Issues 2006;16(6):297-312. [doi: 10.1016/j.whi.2006.10.002] [Medline: 17188213]
- 26. Hughes RB, Taylor HB, Robinson-Whelen S, Nosek MA. Stress and women with physical disabilities: identifying correlates. Womens Health Issues 2005;15(1):14-20. [doi: 10.1016/j.whi.2004.09.001] [Medline: 15661583]
- 27. US Department of Health and Human Services. Healthy People 2010: Understanding and Improving Health. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office; 2000 Nov. URL: <u>https://www.healthypeople.gov/2010/document/pdf/uih/2010uih.</u> pdf [accessed 2019-02-23] [WebCite Cache ID 76OvBJ0N1]
- 28. Hughes RB, Nosek MA, Robinson-Whelen S. Correlates of depression in rural women with physical disabilities. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs 2007;36(1):105-114. [doi: 10.1111/j.1552-6909.2006.00122.x] [Medline: 17238955]
- 29. Nosek MA, Hughes RB, Petersen NJ, Taylor HB, Robinson-Whelen S, Byrne M, et al. Secondary conditions in a community-based sample of women with physical disabilities over a 1-year period. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2006 Mar;87(3):320-327. [doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2005.11.003] [Medline: 16500164]
- 30. Karvonen-Gutierrez CA. The importance of disability as a health issue for mid-life women. Womens Midlife Health 2015 Oct 14;1(10). [doi: 10.1186/s40695-015-0011-x]
- 31. Mendenhall E. Syndemic Suffering: Social Distress, Depression, And Diabetes Among Mexican Immigrant Women (Advances In Critical Medical Anthropology). Abingdon, UK; New York, NY: Routledge; 2012.
- 32. Gavin NI, Benedict MB, Adams EK. Health service use and outcomes among disabled Medicaid pregnant women. Womens Health Issues 2006;16(6):313-322. [doi: 10.1016/j.whi.2006.10.003] [Medline: 17188214]
- Mitra M, Clements KM, Zhang J, Iezzoni LI, Smeltzer SC, Long-Bellil LM. Maternal characteristics, pregnancy complications, and adverse birth outcomes among women with disabilities. Med Care 2015 Dec;53(12):1027-1032 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MLR.0000000000427] [Medline: 26492209]
- 34. Thomas GM, Sakellariou D, editors. Disability, Normalcy, And The Everyday. Abingdon, UK: Routledge; 2018.
- 35. Liang B, Scammon DL. E-Word-of-Mouth on health social networking sites: an opportunity for tailored health communication. J Consumer Behav 2011 Dec 23;10(6):322-331. [doi: <u>10.1002/cb.378</u>]
- 36. Kimbrough AM, Guadagno RE, Muscanell NL, Dill J. Gender differences in mediated communication: women connect more than do men. Comput Human Behav 2013 May;29(3):896-900 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2012.12.005]
- Mo PK, Malik SH, Coulson NS. Gender differences in computer-mediated communication: a systematic literature review of online health-related support groups. Patient Educ Couns 2009 Apr;75(1):16-24. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2008.08.029</u>] [Medline: <u>19233586</u>]
- Chai S, Das S, Rao HR. Factors affecting bloggers' knowledge sharing: an investigation across gender. J Manag Inf Syst 2014 Dec 09;28(3):309-342. [doi: <u>10.2753/MIS0742-1222280309</u>]
- 39. Litvin SW, Goldsmith RE, Pan B. Electronic word-of-mouth in hospitality and tourism management. Tour Manag 2008 Jun;29(3):458-468 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.tourman.2007.05.011]
- 40. Nonaka I, Takeuchi H. The Knowledge-creating Company: How Japanese Companies Create The Dynamics Of Innovation. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; 1995.

- 41. Panahi S, Watson J, Partridge H. International Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences. 2012. Social media and tacit knowledge sharing: developing a conceptual model URL: <u>https://waset.org/publications/5672/</u> social-media-and-tacit-knowledge-sharing-developing-a-conceptual-model [accessed 2019-02-23] [WebCite Cache ID 760wED7Ic]
- 42. Bagayogo F, Lapointe L, Ramaprasad J, Vedel I. Co-creation of Knowledge in Healthcare: A Study of Social Media Usage. : IEEE; 2014 Jan Presented at: Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences; January 6-9, 2019; Waikoloa, HI p. 626-635 URL: <u>https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/6758680</u>
- 43. Caton S, Chapman M. The use of social media and people with intellectual disability: a systematic review and thematic analysis. J Intellect Dev Disabil 2016 Mar 09;41(2):125-139. [doi: <u>10.3109/13668250.2016.1153052</u>]
- 44. Mitra M, Long-Bellil LM, Iezzoni LI, Smeltzer SC, Smith LD. Pregnancy among women with physical disabilities: unmet needs and recommendations on navigating pregnancy. Disabil Health J 2016 Dec;9(3):457-463 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2015.12.007] [Medline: 26847669]
- 45. Litchman ML, Allen NA, Colicchio VD, Wawrzynski SE, Sparling KM, Hendricks KL, et al. A qualitative analysis of real-time continuous glucose monitoring data sharing with care partners: to share or not to share? Diabetes Technol Ther 2018 Jan;20(1):25-31. [doi: 10.1089/dia.2017.0285] [Medline: 29154685]
- 46. Wilson E, Kenny A, Dickson-Swift V. Using blogs as a qualitative health research tool. Int J Qual Methods 2015 Dec 11;14(5):160940691561804. [doi: 10.1177/1609406915618049]
- 47. Miller EA, Pole A. Diagnosis blog: checking up on health blogs in the blogosphere. Am J Public Health 2010 Aug;100(8):1514-1519. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2009.175125] [Medline: 20558802]
- 48. Denecke K, Nejdl W. How valuable is medical social media data? Content analysis of the medical web. Inf Sci 2009 May 30;179(12):1870-1880. [doi: 10.1016/j.ins.2009.01.025]
- 49. Morgan DL. Qualitative content analysis: a guide to paths not taken. Qual Health Res 1993 Feb;3(1):112-121. [doi: 10.1177/104973239300300107] [Medline: 8457790]
- 50. Sandelowski M. Whatever happened to qualitative description? Res Nurs Health 2000 Aug;23(4):334-340. [Medline: 10940958]
- 51. Tesch R. Qualitative Research Analysis Types And Software Tools. Abingdon, UK: Taylor & Francis, Inc; 1990.
- 52. Miles MM, Huberman AM, Saldaña J. Qualitative Data Analysis: A Methods Sourcebook. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc; 2019.
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. J Clin Epidemiol 2009 Oct;62(10):1006-1012. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.06.005</u>] [Medline: <u>19631508</u>]
- Iezzoni LI, Wint AJ, Smeltzer SC, Ecker JL. Effects of disability on pregnancy experiences among women with impaired mobility. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2015 Feb;94(2):133-140 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/aogs.12544] [Medline: 25417861]
- 55. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. ACOG Committee Opinion: Number 275, September 2002. Obstetric management of patients with spinal cord injuries. Obstet Gynecol 2002 Sep;100(3):625-627. [Medline: <u>12220793</u>]
- 56. Höglund B, Lindgren P, Larsson M. Midwives' knowledge of, attitudes towards and experiences of caring for women with intellectual disability during pregnancy and childbirth: a cross-sectional study in Sweden. Midwifery 2013 Aug;29(8):950-955. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.midw.2012.12.002</u>] [Medline: <u>23415362</u>]
- 57. Mayes R, Llewellyn G, McConnell D. "That's who I choose to be": the mother identity for women with intellectual disabilities. Women's Studies International Forum 2011 Mar;34(2):112-120 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.wsif.2010.11.001]
- 58. Gibson BE, Mykitiuk R. Health care access and support for disabled women in Canada: falling short of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities: a qualitative study. Womens Health Issues 2012;22(1):e111-e118. [doi: 10.1016/j.whi.2011.07.011] [Medline: 21968028]
- Manderson L, Warren N. Just One Thing after Another: Recursive Cascades and Chronic Conditions. Med Anthropol Q 2016 Dec;30(4):479-497. [doi: <u>10.1111/maq.12277</u>] [Medline: <u>26756733</u>]
- Litchman ML, Rothwell E, Edelman LS. The diabetes online community: older adults supporting self-care through peer health. Patient Educ Couns 2018 Dec;101(3):518-523. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2017.08.023</u>] [Medline: <u>28947360</u>]
- 61. Lee-Won R, Shim M, Joo Y, Park S. Who puts the best "face" forward on Facebook? Positive self-presentation in online social networking and the role of self-consciousness, actual-to-total Friends ratio, and culture. Comput Human Behav 2014 Oct;39:413-423 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2014.08.007]
- 62. Chou HG, Edge N. They are happier and having better lives than I am? The impact of using Facebook on perceptions of others' lives. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2012 Feb;15(2):117-121. [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2011.0324] [Medline: 22165917]
- 63. Oser TK, Oser SM, McGinley EL, Stuckey HL. A novel approach to identifying barriers and facilitators in raising a child with type 1 diabetes: qualitative analysis of caregiver blogs. JMIR Diabetes 2017 Oct 26;2(2):e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/diabetes.8966] [Medline: 30291073]
- Thomas CM, Allison R, Latour JM. Using blogs to explore the lived-experience of life after stroke. J Adv Nurs 2018 Mar;74(3):579-590. [doi: <u>10.1111/jan.13457</u>] [Medline: <u>28910496</u>]

- 65. Sundar S, Edwards HH, Hu Y, Stavrositu C. Blogging for better health: putting the "Public" back in public health. In: Tremayne M, editor. Blogging, Citizenship, And The Future Of Media. New York, NY: Routledge; Nov 15, 2006:83-102.
- Tsai S, Crawford E, Strong J. Seeking virtual social support through blogging: a content analysis of published blog posts written by people with chronic pain. Digit Health 2018;4:2055207618772669 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055207618772669] [Medline: 29942635]
- 67. Ressler PK, Bradshaw YS, Gualtieri L, Chui KK. Communicating the experience of chronic pain and illness through blogging. J Med Internet Res 2012 Oct 23;14(5):e143 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2002] [Medline: 23092747]
- 68. Pohl A, Crockford S, Baron-Cohen C, Baren-Cohen S. Positive and Negative Experiences of Mothers with Autism. West Hartford, CT: International Society for Autism Research; 2011 May Presented at: International Meeting for Autism Research; May 11-14, 2016; Baltimore, MD.
- Iezzoni LI, Wint AJ, Smeltzer SC, Ecker JL. Recommendations about pregnancy from women with mobility disability to their peers. Womens Health Issues 2017;27(1):75-82 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.whi.2016.09.004] [Medline: 27773531]

Abbreviations

eWOM: electronic word of mouth **IRB:** institutional review board **SCI:** spinal cord injury **TBI:** traumatic brain injury

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 28.09.18; peer-reviewed by J Peterson-Besse, S Prior; comments to author 01.11.18; revised version received 26.11.18; accepted 30.01.19; published 14.03.19.

Please cite as:

Litchman ML, Tran MJ, Dearden SE, Guo JW, Simonsen SE, Clark L What Women With Disabilities Write in Personal Blogs About Pregnancy and Early Motherhood: Qualitative Analysis of Blogs JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12355 URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12355/ doi:10.2196/12355 PMID:31518332

©Michelle L Litchman, MJ Tran, Susan E Dearden, Jia-Wen Guo, Sara E Simonsen, Lauren Clark. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 14.03.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Procedures to Select Digital Sensing Technologies for Passive Data Collection With Children and Their Caregivers: Qualitative Cultural Assessment in South Africa and Nepal

Brandon A Kohrt^{1,2,3}, MD, PhD; Sauharda Rai^{3,4}, MA; Khanya Vilakazi⁵, MSc; Kiran Thapa⁶, MPH; Anvita Bhardwaj^{1,7}, BS; Alastair van Heerden^{8,9}, PhD

¹Division of Global Mental Health, Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, George Washington School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Washington, DC, United States

²Department of Global Health, Milken School of Public Health, George Washington University, Washington, DC, United States

³Research Department, Transcultural Psychosocial Organization Nepal, Kathmandu, Nepal

⁴Jackson School of International Studies, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States

⁵Research Department, Human Sciences Research Council, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa

⁶Department of Health Policy and Management, College of Public Health, University of Georgia, Athens, GA, United States

⁷Department of Population, Family and Reproductive Health, Bloomberg School of Public Health, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States

⁸Human and Social Development, Human Sciences Research Council, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa

⁹Medical Research Council/Wits Developmental Pathways for Health Research Unit, Department of Paediatrics, Faculty of Health Science, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa

Corresponding Author:

Brandon A Kohrt, MD, PhD Division of Global Mental Health Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences George Washington School of Medicine and Health Sciences 2120 L Street NW, Suite 600 Washington, DC, 20037 United States Phone: 1 4048951643 Email: <u>bkohrt@gwu.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Populations in low-resource settings with high childhood morbidity and mortality increasingly are being selected as beneficiaries for interventions using passive sensing data collection through digital technologies. However, these populations often have limited familiarity with the processes and implications of passive data collection. Therefore, methods are needed to identify cultural norms and family preferences influencing the uptake of new technologies.

Objective: Before introducing a new device or a passive data collection approach, it is important to determine what will be culturally acceptable and feasible. The objective of this study was to develop a systematic approach to determine acceptability and perceived utility of potential passive data collection technologies to inform selection and piloting of a device. To achieve this, we developed the *Qualitative Cultural Assessment of Passive Data collection Technology* (QualCAPDT). This approach is built upon structured elicitation tasks used in cultural anthropology.

Methods: We piloted QualCAPDT using focus group discussions (FGDs), video demonstrations of simulated technology use, attribute rating with anchoring vignettes, and card ranking procedures. The procedure was used to select passive sensing technologies to evaluate child development and caregiver mental health in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa, and Kathmandu, Nepal. Videos were produced in South Africa and Nepal to demonstrate the technologies and their potential local application. Structured elicitation tasks were administered in FGDs after showing the videos. Using QualCAPDT, we evaluated the following 5 technologies: home-based video recording, mobile device capture of audio, a wearable time-lapse camera attached to the child, proximity detection through a wearable passive Bluetooth beacon attached to the child, and an indoor environmental sensor measuring air quality.
Results: In South Africa, 38 community health workers, health organization leaders, and caregivers participated in interviews and FGDs with structured elicitation tasks. We refined the procedure after South Africa to make the process more accessible for low-literacy populations in Nepal. In addition, the refined procedure reduced misconceptions about the tools being evaluated. In Nepal, 69 community health workers and caregivers participated in a refined QualCAPDT. In both countries, the child's wearable time-lapse camera achieved many of the target attributes. Participants in Nepal also highly ranked a home-based environmental sensor and a proximity beacon worn by the child.

Conclusions: The QualCAPDT procedure can be used to identify community norms and preferences to facilitate the selection of potential passive data collection strategies and devices. QualCAPDT is an important first step before selecting devices and piloting passive data collection in a community. It is especially important for work with caregivers and young children for whom cultural beliefs and shared family environments strongly determine behavior and potential uptake of new technology.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12366) doi:10.2196/12366

KEYWORDS

child development; confidentiality; culturally competent care; developing countries; global health; mental health; mobile phones; wireless technology

Introduction

Background

The recognition of early child development as a domain of global importance and the inclusion of specific child development indicators in both the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) [1] and the United Nations Secretary General's Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescents' Health [2] has refocused attention on a life-course perspective and the need to ensure that children meet their developmental potential. Assessing children's developmental progress and caregiver-child relationships longitudinally is expensive and time-consuming, with few existing, valid methods available to effectively measure and monitor at a population level [3]. Paper-based tools require careful quality assurance and quality control review, which double data entry time burden. Traditional approaches to audiovisual recordings can be equally time consuming because of required transcription and structured coding. These existing limitations point to the potential gap that could be bridged by using newer technology.

The use of mobile technologies to leverage their capabilities and functionality to support public health care is called mobile Health (mHealth) [4]. mHealth in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) first started with strengthening the data system on computer-based platforms but has transcended to data collection, training, facilitated communication among health workers, decision support, supervision, and health promotion in recent years [5,6].

Among the first steps to transform mHealth potential into transformative public health impact is the United States' National Institutes of Health's toolbox. The toolbox comprises a validated set of freely available measures that can be used to quickly (within 2 hours or fewer) assess cognitive, sensory, motor, and emotional function in a diverse range of contexts [7]. All measures are available electronically for use on an iPad. Rather than requiring highly trained research staff to simultaneously monitor time, record responses, and interact with the child, these electronic assessments simplify test administration and reduce cognitive load, thereby improving data accuracy.

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12366/
```

As technology advances, new avenues of exploration in the application of technology to early child development are emerging. The Language Environment Analysis (LENA) system is a comprehensive assessment of the home linguistic environment of infants and children. The LENA system consists of a small child-safe recorder that is worn, in a comfortable custom-designed vest, by the child during the day. Recordings are translated into data about the linguistic environment, which can be viewed and analyzed using specialist software [8]. Other developmental uses include tools for enhanced early education, for example, educational magic toys, which make use of augmented reality technology [9,10]. The growing array of baby wearables that track heart rate, movement, breathing, and other physiological measures also holds promise for improving child health research and its public health impact in LMIC [11-14].

Although the toolbox and other app versions of psychometric tests are well described [7,15,16], little has been written about how other mother and child assessment methodologies can benefit in a similar way from technological progress. Naturalistic observation, caregiver and clinical interviews, direct assessment, and coding of interactions are still primarily the global tools of choice. The challenge is that many of the issues of interest are best examined through methods that require manual collection and coding of unstructured data. For example, caregiver-child attachment is time-consuming to code and requires high levels of training and honed skills for coding the observational audio-visual recordings. Such demands are barriers to scaling up the method for widespread use.

Accurately and reliably measuring child development to track progress toward meeting the SDGs requires a suite of research tools that go beyond mobile apps and are acceptable, confidential, safe, nondisruptive, and have utility. One avenue of exploration is passively collecting, transforming, and analyzing data generated by mobile phones, wearables, and other small sensors that can be embedded in the environment [17]. Advancements in the fields of digital sensors, computation, storage, and communications have turned mobile phones into powerful mobile sensing devices [18]. Among the sensors included in modern mobile phones are accelerometer, altimeter, digital camera, microphone, Global Positioning System (GPS), Bluetooth proximity, and oximeter among others [19].

Analyzing the digital traces produced by these sensors could enable the assessment, detection, and monitoring of key developmental processes in an automated, expeditious, and scalable manner. Although single-sensor-based systems are useful, they are often limited in both accuracy and the number of behavioral activities that can be tracked. To counteract this limitation, multisensor systems are now preferred [18]. Using the ecological systems theory as a foundation [20], Table 1 presents an overview of the types of sensors and information that could be obtained about a child's world through the collection and analysis of these passive data producing sensors.

Although it may technically be feasible in certain contexts to collect these diverse data sources, acceptability will vary due to, among other things, the intrusiveness of the approach. User-centered studies suggest that technologies intended for intimate personal use need to comply with a number of factors if they are to be deemed usable and acceptable and sustain user engagement [21]. Taking into account both human and technical aspects, 6 factors have been found to influence adoption [22]; they include (1) supporting fundamental human needs such physiological and safety needs; (2) cognitive load-ease of use, perceived risks, and fears; (3) social factors-privacy, cultural acceptance, and influence over social interactions; (4) physical aspects-device size, conform, and appearance; (5) participant demographics-age, gender, and culture influence preferences and perceptions toward devices; and (6) technical expertise of the user-with more expertise increasing confidence and use.

These principles inform a growing body of evidence for the feasibility and usefulness of sensor devices in maternal and child research. Cameras and the PhotoVoice methodology have, for example, been used with children aged as young as 3 years to gain a better understanding of how they perceive their community, relate to being orphaned, and understand their infection with HIV [23,24]. First-person photography, through body-worn cameras, has also shown promise as a novel methodology for capturing the world through the eyes and perspective of the child [25].

The work of Mehl [26], whose electronically activated recorder yields valuable acoustic logs of people's day-to-day experience, is an example of how audio data generated from a microphone could give valuable insight into a child's life. The LENA system builds on this idea by using a small audio recorder, worn by the child through the day, to periodically sample the auditory environment. These audio data are loaded into the LENA system and are immediately translated into information about the environment of the child [27].

Radio-Frequency Identification Devices (RFID) is the primary approach used so far to track interpersonal proximity. RFID tags are activated in the presence of a receiver and can generate a small radio frequency that is recorded by the receiver. For example, an RFID-based system was implemented to track the spread of hospital-acquired infections in the pediatric ward [28]. The same RFID system was used in France to better understand face-to-face contact between students to better understand how these interactions shaped social networks and facilitated the propagation of infectious disease [29].

One limitation of the current literature base is that most of these studies are currently being produced in high-income countries in controlled laboratory or hospital settings. Furthermore, many do not provide a method for establishing participants' understanding of technology and the data that can be collected and mined from these devices.

Objective

This study, therefore, aims to develop a systematic method to inform understanding of how families and caregivers from LMICs perceive the suitability and acceptability of a range of passive digital data collecting sensors that could be incorporated into the home environment. The findings from this approach should be able to directly inform selection of devices and passive data collection strategies with the greatest likelihood of adoption for home-based interventions. We refer to our proposed systematic approach as the *Qualitative Cultural Assessment of Passive Data collection Technology* (QualCAPDT).

Table 1. Passive digital sensors and an example of the type of information they could produce at each level of ecological systems theory.

Ecological level	Activity	Sensors	Information
Individual (child)	Movement	Accelerometer, altimeter, gyro- scope, and GPS ^a	Activities of daily living
Individual (child)	Physiology	Electrocardiogram, electromyo- graph, electroencephalogram, elec- trodemograph, oximeter, and ther- mometer	Assessment of toxic stress
Microsystem (peers, family, and caregiver)	Interaction	Wi-Fi proximity, Bluetooth proxim- ity, microphone, digital camera, and digital video	Nurturing care
Exosystem (neighborhood, mass media, and extended family)	Environment	Digital camera, digital video, and environmental sensor	Air, noise, and water pollution
Macrosystem (culture, social condi- tions, and economic system)	Human development	Microphone	Language development and expo- sure to cultural practices

^aGPS: Global Positioning System.



Methods

Settings

Research was conducted in South Africa and Nepal. These countries are ideal sites to develop a procedure that can be used to select devices and data collection approaches that will be acceptable and feasible in settings with low-literacy populations unfamiliar with passive sensing technology. The countries have high rates of poverty and childhood morbidity and mortality with limited access to specialized child health and mental health services. Moreover, the countries are exemplified by large health disparities and poor outcomes with traditional health delivery approaches, thus necessitating greater use of technology.

Moreover, there are preliminary successes for mHealth in these settings. In South Africa, mHealth is increasingly used for HIV/AIDS prevention and care, including home-based testing and counseling to promote treatment engagement and adherence [30,31]. Text messaging through mobile phones has been used to collect feedback on maternal-child health services throughout South Africa and resolve areas of poor-quality care [32]. mHealth in Nepal has worked in different capacities such as improving communication and coordination between health workers in rural areas and district hospitals, strengthening community-based surveillance systems, and improving maternal and neonatal health outcomes [33,34]. Furthermore, mHealth has been successful in achieving targets for reduced maternal mortality through increased health facility attendance and institutional delivery in Nepal [35]. However, in both countries, passive sensing data collection has received limited attention and would benefit from qualitative exploration before selecting and piloting new approaches. Furthermore, methods used to determine cultural acceptability and feasibility before selecting devices for pilot could be of great benefit throughout LMICs, other low-resource settings, and a context with diverse cultural groups.

In South Africa, the study was conducted in the Sweetwaters region of the Greater Edendale Area of Pietermaritzburg, KwaZulu-Natal. This location has been the site of ongoing research on public health initiatives led by the Human Sciences Research Council (HSRC). The Sweetwaters area is emblematic of rural regions in South Africa that have suffered high rates of maternal HIV and mother-to-child transmission. However, through public health programs, these rates have dramatically reduced over the past decade. In Nepal, the study was conducted in Sankhu, Manamaiju, and Phutung, which are all located approximately 30 to 60 min away from Kathmandu. These areas were heavily affected by the 2015 Nepal earthquake. Sankhu was devastated with more than 100 persons killed on the day of the first earthquake. Sankhu, although having access to Kathmandu, lacks child health specialty services, and there are no local mental health services. Manamaiju was comparatively closer to the city but did not have mental health services in their local health posts. Research in these sites was conducted in 2016 to 2017.

Qualitative Cultural Assessment of Passive Data Collection Technology

We developed the QualCAPDT procedure by adapting methods commonly used in cultural anthropology [36,37]. We had 2 objectives in the development of QualCAPDT. The first was to have a systematic process that could be replicated in other settings to evaluate the acceptability and perceived utility of different passive data collection strategies before development or adaptation of the technology. The goal was to avoid selection of data collection platforms before receiving input from end-user communities, which would lead to potential waste of resources for technologies that would not be adopted. The second was to gain information about how participants viewed, among other issues, the ethical risks they would be exposed to by participating in a study that collected passive digital data about their behavior in their homes. A crucial outcome was to protect people's ethical rights in research because passive data collection of daily family life is an invasive process. Our hope was that QualCAPDT would provide insight into privacy, confidentiality, and the major ethical responsibilities researchers have in this new technological age of health interventions.

To frame our 2 objectives, we used the following domains, adapted from Buenaflor and Kim's 6 human factors [22], to guide all participant discussions about the devices and data under review:

- Domain 1: *Confidentiality* referring to the degree to which the device would protect personal information; this was an ethical domain we added to the 6 human factors.
- Domain 2: *Safety* referring to concerns that the device would pose health risks or put a child or family at the risk of mugging or theft; this domain captures Buenaflor and Kim's first human factor—safety.
- Domain 3: *Social acceptability* referring to the degree to which family members and neighbors may have negative responses to introduction of the device; this reflects the third human factor—social factors—and human factor 5—demographic perceptions.
- Domain 4: *Noninterference* referring to the degree to which the device would negatively impact physical functioning, activities, or daily routines; this reflects the fourth human factor—physical aspects.
- Domain 5: *Utility* referring to the perceived benefit of the device for improving caregiver and child health, development, and mental health; this incorporates aspects of human factor 2—ease of use—and human factor 6—technical expertise.

Step 1: Development of Videos

Narrative focus group discussions (FGDs) are a technique commonly used in cultural anthropology and public health [38-40]. In narrative FGDs, participants are typically read a story or scenario at the beginning of the session, then they comment according to probes provided by the facilitator. Given the lack of familiarity with passive data collection devices among community health workers and caregivers in rural South Africa and Nepal, we felt that narratives about the devices would have been insufficient for participants to understand the technology and types of data capture. Therefore, videos ranging

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12366/
```

in length from 3 to 6 min were produced, demonstrating the technologies in the local settings.

In South Africa, the production of the videos was conducted by a group of research assistants over a period of a month. In Nepal, the video production task was assigned to a team of independent contractors, and they took around 1 month to produce the final cuts. Five videos, each demonstrating a technology, were produced in both countries. Separate videos were produced for South Africa and Nepal so that participants could relate to the experiences of persons in the video. Videos were in the local languages of the participants, isiZulu with English subtitles in South Africa and Nepali in Nepal.

The video content was similar between the 2 countries. The videos provided images of the technology, a scenario in which a researcher explains the technology to a rural family with a small child, and, when possible, an example of the output of the technology that could be used for health interventions. In Nepal, the video was prefaced with information on the role of female community health volunteers (FCHVs) as these would be the individuals managing the devices. Screenshots from the South Africa and Nepal videos are provided in Figure 1. Individual videos are indexed below as Multimedia Appendices.

Step 2a: Conduct Video Focus Group Discussions

After the videos were produced, they were integrated into the FGDs with community health workers and caregivers (see Figure 2 for timeline). FGDs were conducted in isiZulu in South Africa and Nepali in Nepal. In both countries, the FGDs for community health workers began with general questions about health needs of children and their daily routines, including any health and development concerns that were common in that community. The FGDs then transitioned to showing videos. After the videos, the groups rated attributes using anchoring vignettes (step 2b) followed by card ranking tasks (step 2c), and then, supplemental interviews were conducted with other stakeholders (step 3).

In South Africa, the FGDs were organized through a community outreach team that works and lives within the community where the participants were sampled. An equivalent of US \$5 was issued out to each participant as reimbursement for the time that they spent in the FGD. The FGDs were conducted within the community in a central community hall. All FDGs were conducted by qualitative interviewers using IsiZulu as a medium of communication. The videos were projected onto a wall using a projection system connected to a laptop. The 4 FGDs took a period of 9 days for completion due to the availability of both the community hall and the participants in these groups.

In Nepal, the FGDs were scheduled with the help of FCHV. One of the FCHV was contacted by phone 2 days before the FGD and were asked to gather participants for FGDs. The participants were provided nonmonetary compensation, for example, household items such as soap, toothpaste, brush, and lunch, for their time and effort. For FCHV FGDs, the data were collected in a quiet office room in a health care facility. Caregiver FGDs took place in 1 of the caregiver's homes. One of the authors (KT) moderated the discussions along with a research assistant who did note-taking. The discussions were held in the local language. We also audio recorded the FGDs after receiving consent from all the participants. The FGD guide was semistructured. The videos were shown in a laptop where participants were seated just in front so that everyone could see and hear what was happening in the video. In addition to the use of anchoring vignettes (described below), several probes were used during the FGDs to elicit responses from different participants.

Some examples of follow-up questions post video including probes used in both sites are shown below:

- What do you think of the device? (PROBE: Have you seen such device before? How do you like the device overall?)
- What do you think are the barriers to using this device? (PROBE: Electricity problems, incite arguments in a family, etc)
- Can you think of any example of how this device is useful? (PROBE: What information could this device collect, and how can you use that information?)
- How feasible do you think it is to use these devices in your community? (PROBE: How many people in your community use mobile phones regularly? What cultural practices might hinder the use of the device? Do you think there is risk of theft or breakage of the devices?)

Figure 1. Screenshots from videos demonstrating passive data collection devices in South Africa and Nepal.



Figure 2. Qualitative Cultural Assessment of Passive Data collection Technology (QualCAPDT) process timeline of piloting in South Africa and Nepal.



Step 2b: Rating of Preferences Through Anchoring Vignettes

Anchoring vignettes are a structured elicitation tool commonly used in anthropological research, health behavior studies, and public opinion polls [41-43]. As individuals may have a social desirability bias toward responding in the affirmative, anchoring vignettes can be used to normalize a range of responses [44]. When initially piloting preferences for the devices in this study (unpublished), we found that few women had negative responses. Therefore, we created 2 vignettes to anchor the response options. For each criterion, there was 1 vignette that ranked the device high on the criterion and 1 vignette that ranked the device low on the criterion. For example, in Nepal, we referred to Maya and Asha, with Maya vignettes having a concern about the device and Asha being supportive about the device on that attribute. Then, participants were asked to say whether they felt that women in their community were more likely to be like Maya or Asha (see Figure 3). The anchoring vignettes were presented in isiZulu in South Africa and in Nepali in Nepal.

When doing the rating according to the anchoring vignettes, participants are encouraged to describe their thought process and discuss as a group why they are making certain decisions. This process is based on techniques from anthropological research on cultural domain analysis [45]. In this process, participants prompted to describe *attributes* that lead to categorizing in a certain way. For example, what are the *attributes* of a device that lead to it being categorized more closely to Maya's perspective in one domain but then closer to Asha's perspective in another domain. This type of prompting reduces the likelihood that a device is ranked all toward Maya on every domain or all toward on Asha on every domain. Through this prompting, the participants consider each domain independent of the others and identify the attributes that

contribute to the device's categorization in each domain. This is rich qualitative information, which often came in the form of participants debating the ways in which community members think more like Maya or Asha.

Step 2c: Card Ranking Task

After rating with anchoring vignettes, we used a card sort ranking task at the end of the FGD [36]. In this activity, each device had a unique card with a photograph of the device, and participants were asked to sort those cards according to each of the attributes. For example, the 6 devices were ranked in order from most to least confidentiality, and similarly, all devices were ranked from the most to least useful for child health promotion. This is a forced-choice approach in which participants have to make cognitive decisions to up- or down-rank certain devices. During this process, participants are encouraged to describe the thought process and decision making that influences their ranking. The cards were images of the devices and did not include written language. Discussions during the card ranking were conducted in isiZulu in South Africa and in Nepali in Nepal.

Example prompts and probes during the card ranking task were as follows:

- Example probe for confidentiality: Among all the devices we just discussed, which device do you think protects most of your personal information? And next? And next?
- Example probe for safety: Of all the devices, which one do you think can be safely placed anywhere at home and will not be prone to breakage or theft? And next? And next?
- Example probe for acceptability: Of all the devices, which one do you think will be most accepted by you and your family members? And next? And next?
- Example probe for noninterference: Of all the devices, which one do you think most hinders with your daily activities? And next? And next?



Figure 3. Anchoring vignette elicitation technique to rate devices by attribute domains. (The anchoring vignettes, including all data collection materials and videos, were presented in the local language of participants: isiZulu in Kwa-Zulu Natal, South Africa, and Nepali in Kathmandu Valley, Nepal. Names and illustrations should be adapted to local cultural context).

Use of anchoring vignettes about Maya and Asha for device attribute rating by community members

I am now going to tell you made-up story about two women in your community and how they feel about the device we just discussed. I want you to tell me if the women in your community are more like Maya or more like Asha.

> "When the video camera was installed in the home, **Maya** became very concerned about what her



Maya

husband would say. She did not want even the health worker to see what happened in her home." "**Asha**, however, wanted the camera to help the

Asha, however, wanted the camera to help the health worker better understand her child's development. She explained the purpose of the camera to her husband and he also supported it."



Do you think that women in your community are more like Maya's response (worried about confidentiality with this device) or more like Asha (who is not worried about confidentiality)? Point to the area on the line that represents the women in your community.



Step 3: Use of Supplemental Interviews and Data Collection

In addition to the FGDs structured around the videos with anchoring vignettes and card sort ranking, we conducted additional key informant interviews to explore other themes that would reflect community norms, preferences, and perceived utility and feasibility of the devices. In some of these individual interviews, the videos were also used to elicit discussion.

Example questions from the supplemental interviews were as follows:

- How would families feel if you collected information about conversations between family members using these technologies?
- What information could be collected around mealtime activities?

- What are the main times of day when caregivers and children are together, and what information could be collected then?
- Whose permission do we need to keep this device at home?

In South Africa, the supplementary interviews were conducted with local organizations that work in the early childhood development sphere. The participants were recommended by the South African principal investigator who had extensive experience working in the area or by research assistant based on collaborating organizations working in the area of child health and/or mobile technology. These participants were not reimbursed for their time because they were professionals often collaborating in research and health initiatives in the area. The participants were contacted through the community outreach team for available times when the interview could be conducted. Supplemental interviews in South Africa were conducted in English because they were often with organizational staff

educated in English who were South African but may not have been native to Sweetwaters.

In Nepal, for FCHV interviews, the contact information of the FCHV was obtained from local health facility. They were contacted 2 days before the day of data collection and scheduled the time. For caregivers' interviews, we obtained the contact information from FCHV. The interviewees were provided nonmonetary compensation as with the FGDs, for example, household items such as soap, toothpaste, and brush, for their time and effort. The data were collected in a quiet room in a FCHV or caregiver's home. One of the authors (KT) and 2 research assistants were involved in conducting interviews. We also audio recorded the entire interview after written consent from the interviewee. The interview guide was semistructured. When videos were shown, a laptop was used. The information generated from interviews differed from FGDs in that interviews helped us to identify attitudes and perceptions of individuals in depth as opposed to coming to a general consensus in FGDs. In addition, the interviews may have also differed from other standard semistructured interviews in that participants watched videos of technologies without group discussions and the use of multiple probe questions. Supplemental interviews were all conducted in Nepali.

Passive Data Collection Devices Evaluated

We used the QualCAPDT method to assess the suitability and acceptability of 8 approaches to collecting passive digital sensor data from 5 devices about caregivers and children in the home. They ranged from invasive approaches that produce rich data to less-invasive approaches that result in less rich data.

Device 1: Video Recorder (Two Approaches)

There were 2 forms of video recording presented to participants. One was a continuous recording with a camera mounted in the living room of the home. Families were shown that data would be stored on secure digital cards that would be removed and reviewed by the researcher together with the family. The participants were also told that a time-lapse version was possible in which video would be captured every 15 min for 30 seconds. The participants were told that neither data collection platform would record sound. The South African video demonstrating video recording is available in Multimedia Appendix 1 and the video from Nepal is provided in Multimedia Appendix 2.

Device 2: Audio Recorder (Two Approaches)

Similarly, participants were presented with technology that could collect audio from the home environment. It was explained to participants that the technology could be set to record continuous or episodic audio, with an example of the latter being recordings made every 15 min for 30 seconds. The videos demonstrated a fixed recording device in South Africa (Multimedia Appendix 3) and a mobile recording device in Nepal (Multimedia Appendix 4).

Device 3: Wearable Camera (One Approach)

A wearable time-lapse camera was demonstrated as a technology that could be used to capture images from the child's point of view. Videos demonstrated how children could wear the devices (see screenshots in Figure 4). The images captured on the devices in the children's daily life were presented in the video. The South Africa wearable camera video is provided in Multimedia Appendix 5, and the video from Nepal is provided in Multimedia Appendix 6.

Device 4: Bluetooth Beacon (One Approach)

A Bluetooth beacon was displayed in a video as a way to evaluate when the target caregiver and target child are in close proximity. This was illustrated through a small coin size plastic toy that could be attached to the child and that sent out a signal that could be received by a mobile phone carried by the caregiver. A mock output was shown in the video to simulate data that could be reported on time the caregiver and child spend together. The video demonstration for South Africa is provided in Multimedia Appendix 7, and the video demonstration for Nepal is provided in Multimedia Appendix 8.

Device 5: Environmental Sensor (One Approach)

Finally, a room-based environmental sensor was presented as a technology that could report on temperature, humidity, and air quality within the home. The devices were fixed in the home, and families were told they could be placed in any room in the household that they preferred to assess air quality. The video demonstrating the environmental sensor in South Africa is provided in Multimedia Appendix 9, and the video for Nepal is provided in Multimedia Appendix 10.



Figure 4. Screenshots of videos demonstrating wearable time-lapse camera for children. Red arrows point toward the wearable device on the child.



Participant Recruitment

In South Africa, 38 participants were recruited for 4 FGDs. Participants included health organization workers, community health workers, and caregivers. Caregivers were deemed eligible if they had a child in their care who resided with them in the household. Of the 4 FGDs conducted, 2 FGDs were with health organization workers and community caregivers (n=17) and 2 were with caregivers (n=21).

In Nepal, 69 participants were recruited. There were 5 FGDs for FCHV, inclusive of 32 participants. Caregivers (all women) participated in 3 FGDs (n=18 participants). Data for the ranking task were also collected from the health volunteer and caregiver focus groups (n=50). In addition, 10 individual key informant interviews were conducted with FCHV, and 9 individual key informant interviews were selected in Sankhu, Manamaiju, and Phutung. FCHV were identified from the roster of local government health facilities, where they report activities monthly. Every FCHV from 2 health facilities was selected for the study. The caregivers were selected based on referrals from FCHVs.

Data Analysis

The audio recordings of FGDs and interviews were translated into English. The translated transcripts were loaded in NVivo version 12 (QSR International Pvt Ltd) for qualitative data analysis [46]. A framework coding analysis approach was used [47]. A priori codes included the devices (continuous audio recording, continuous video recording, environmental sensor, episodic audio recording, episodic video recording, proximity beacon, and wearable beacon) and device attributes initially used for the anchoring vignettes (acceptability, confidentiality, noninterference, safety, and utility or benefit). Additional a priori codes included themes from the qualitative interviews (community health activities: child development and behavior, child health program, community health worker activities, and information collection and technology readiness: mobile phone usage and other technology usage). Using the a priori codes, 2 coders (authors BAK, who was familiar with the Nepal context, and KV, who was familiar with the South Africa context) read and coded the same 4 transcripts (1 FGD from South Africa, 1 interview from South Africa, 1 FGD from Nepal, and 1 interview from Nepal).

The coders then used coder comparison within NVivo to determine areas of common versus discrepant coding. This was used to redefine the codes where needed. Additional code themes also emerged. These included *feasibility* and *health risks and injury* under attributes. Feasibility was added to address comments regarding whether the tools could be used but did not address acceptability or other attributes. Health risks was added to distinguish safety as an area where a person may be endangered by using the device through theft or assault versus health risks such as radiation or other perceived health consequences. Under community health activities, codes for *context of community and facilities* and *family and caregiver behaviors* were added. Under technology use were added.

All referenced quotations are provided in a supplemental file (see Multimedia Appendix 11).

The 2 coders then coded 4 new transcripts with the same breakdown by country and qualitative type to establish interrater reliability. The 2 authors achieved 0.80 interrater reliability. Subsequently, the coders reviewed half of the remaining qualitative dataset. Additional information on the qualitative process is available in Multimedia Appendix 12, using the consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research framework [48].

Statistical analysis was performed on the card sort data for South Africa and Nepal datasets using median and interquartile range with inference testing using the Wilcoxon Rank Test. This approach was selected because the data elicited through the ranking tasks were nonparametric in distribution. Statistical analyses were performed with Statistical Package for Social Sciences version 24 [49].

Ethical Approval

Ethical approval for the study was provided by the HSRC Research Ethics Committee in South Africa (REC6/18/05/16) and the Nepal Health Research Council (#241/2016) in Nepal. In addition, Duke University (Pro00074454) provided ethical approval for data analysis by US-based team members working with deidentified data from the sites. Participants in both sites completed written consents forms, which were also read to participants by research assistants because of low literacy rates among some groups in the study regions.

Results

Process Development for Qualitative Cultural Assessment of Passive Data Collection Technology

The QualCAPTD process was first conducted in South Africa (see Textbox 1). The procedure followed the steps as described in the Methods section above. During FGDs, the first part of the discussion was about child development, child health, and caregiver-child interaction. Then, the group watched all the videos in sequence; after watching all videos, they received paper forms to rate the devices on the attributes using the anchoring vignettes, and then, they ranked the devices on all of the attributes. After turning in the forms, the participants discussed the devices. The ratings with anchoring vignettes and ranking task evoked questions from participants, which suggested that when completing the forms, there may have been confusion about what the devices can and cannot do. Therefore, the procedure was modified for use in Nepal.

In Nepal, the first part of the FGD involved a similar discussion about child health and development and caregiver-child interactions. However, to increase understanding of the devices and clarity when discussing, rating, and ranking, we modified the procedure from the South Africa approach. Instead of showing all videos at once followed by completion of all rating and ranking, in Nepal, each video was shown with a break in between for rating and discussion, then ranking was done at the end after all videos had been shown, discussed, and rated (see Textbox 2). The Nepal procedure for devices went as follows:

XSL•FO

first, show one video; second, ask the group to discuss what was seen in the video and have open question and reflection; and third, introduce the rating on attributes with anchoring vignettes, the rating is completed as a group with each scoring discussed, nothing is written down by the participants, but the facilitator records the group consensus for device and attribute. Then, the group proceeds to the next video and rating discussion. After all videos have been shown, rated, and discussed, the participants are given the picture cards of the devices and asked to rank them according to each of the attributes. This is done individually by participants, and the scores are recorded for analysis. The next section describes the analyses of the ranking tasks in the 2 countries.

Device Ranking

For the 88 focus group participants, ranking data were collected for all 7 data collection approaches (devices) across our 5 domains of inquiry (see Figure 5). In South Africa, 28 of the 38 participants' data were usable for the ranking analysis, and there were significant ranking differences for the utility attribute (n=28, interrelated samples, chi-square, Friedman test, and P<.001). In South Africa, differences were significant only at the P<.05 level for confidentiality, safety, and noninterference. Rank orders were not significantly different for social acceptability in South Africa. The device rankings were significantly different across all 5 attributes for the Nepal sample (n=50, interrelated samples, chi-square, Friedman test, and P < .001).

Qualitative Discussion Results

Qualitative findings from the video-centered (step 2) and anchoring vignette discussions (n=88) and interviews (n=26; step 3) were analyzed by domain and device. As there may have been confusion about the devices when ranked and rated individually by South African participants, the qualitative group discussions provided below may provide a better reflection of group attitudes and preferences.

Domain 1: Confidentiality

Regarding confidentiality, in South Africa, the wearable time-lapse camera and Bluetooth beacon were considered confidential in the qualitative discussions. In Nepal, the home-based environmental sensor was ranked the most confidential, followed by the Bluetooth proximity beacon. The home-based continuous video stream was the least confidential. In both countries, continuous audio recording was a concern because of capturing yelling at children and husbands yelling at the participants. In addition, if a husband knew that his wife had been recorded throughout the day, he may ask to review the audio recording. Mothers-in-law in Nepal were also considered to be interested in hearing the recordings, then spreading information to others in the community. Participants used the Nepali idiom, *ek kaan, dui kaan, maidan*, roughly translatable as "one ear, then two ears, then everywhere."

Textbox 1. Pilot procedure for Qualitative Cultural Assessment of Passive Data collection Technology through focus group discussions in South Africa.

Pilot procedure for Qualitative Cultural Assessment of Passive sensing Data Technology focus group discussions in South Africa:

- Step a. Group discussion about child health, child development, and caregiver-child interactions.
- Step b. Participants were shown all of the videos demonstrating the devices. No discussion was held between videos.
- *Step c*. Participants are given attribute rating forms with anchoring vignettes and device ranking; participants complete the forms independently for all devices. Participants are required to have sufficient literacy to read the forms and write answers.
- Step d. Participants return forms and have group discussion about devices.

Textbox 2. Refined procedure for Qualitative Cultural Assessment of Passive Data collection Technology through focus group discussions in Nepal.

Refined procedure for Qualitative Cultural Assessment of Passive sensing Data Technology focus group discussions in Nepal.

- Step a. Group discussion about child health, child development, and caregiver-child interactions.
- Step b. The first video is shown.
- Step c. The group has an open discussion about what was seen on the video and can ask questions about the devices.
- *Step d*. As a group, the participants have a facilitated discussion to rate the device on each attribute using the anchoring vignettes. The group produces a consensus rating score for each attribute.
- Step e. Steps b through d are repeated for the remaining devices.
- Step f. Each participant is individually given a series of cards representing each device. They are asked to rank the cards for each attribute. No literacy skills are required, and each participant produces her own ranking.



Figure 5. Card sort ranking results for attribute domains by country and device. IQR: interquartile range. South Africa (n=28); Nepal (n=50). Chi-square, Friedman test for ranking comparisons: South Africa: confidentiality (p=0.01), safety (p=0.01), social acceptability (p=0.17), non-interference (p=0.80), utility (p<0.001); Nepal: confidentiality (p<0.001), safety (p<0.001), social acceptability (p<0.001), non-interference (p<0.001), utility (p<0.001).



Device 1: Video Recorder

Community health volunteers were concerned that mothers and their families would not allow the continuous video recording in the home because the family members would be afraid that others would disclose their confidential information (see Multimedia Appendix 11, qualitative code reference: CONF_CVR_Q01). Codes in parenthesis correspond to the qualitative reference number for the quotes provided in Multimedia Appendix 11. Respondents in South Africa reported that husbands may assume information will be shared with the police (CONF_CVR_Q04). Some women felt that the home-based video recording would actually put them in greater danger (CONF_CVR_Q05). Others wanted the camera to only be in the child's room (CONF_CVR_Q06). A health worker in South Africa explained that she would be like community members in her community who would cover up the camera and not use it (CONF_CVR_Q07). Caregivers in Nepal were concerned about continuous video recording catching images

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12366/

RenderX

of interpersonal violence (CONF_CVR_Q02). Some caregivers expressed that persons with bad behavior would not want others to know about this (CONF_CVR_Q03). Some caregivers and community health workers in Nepal explained that if families understood that only health workers used the information, then there would not be confidentiality problems (CONF_CVR_Q08). The health workers echoed this (CONF_CVR_Q09).

Device 2: Audio Recorder

Similar to the attitudes toward continuous video recording, participants were concerned that continuous audio recording would breach confidentiality (CONF_CAR_Q01, Q02, Q03). Caregivers expressed concern that having the continuous audio recording would incite arguments in the home. Some caregivers felt that the audio recording would have a negative impact over time by reducing the amount of emotional expression and by hearing negative things from others (CONF_CAR_Q04).

Device 3: Wearable Camera

Caregivers and health workers described their concerns about confidentiality when children wear the first-person time-lapse camera that takes photographs at preset intervals, such as every 30 seconds. With the child moving around the home and community while wearing the time-lapse camera, there was concern among community health workers in South Africa that they would capture nudity, drug use, and criminal activity (CONF_CWC_Q04). One concern was that the child would enter a room when the parents were being intimate and record this in the photographs. Caregivers did point out, however, that the child wearing a time-lapse camera would capture less compromising information than the continuous video recording (CONF_CWC_Q01). Similar to the continuous home video recording, South African health workers were concerned that the time-lapse camera worn by the child would capture images of domestic violence. The South African health worker also recommended GPS coordinates as an alternative data point that would be less of an invasion of privacy (CONF_CWC_Q02). Similar to the recommendations of other health workers, 1 Nepali community health volunteer emphasized the need for education of families about the child wearing the time-lapse camera and for all of the devices in general, which would assuage some concerns about confidentiality (CONF CWC Q03).

Devices 4 and 5: Bluetooth Beacon and Environmental Sensor

There were no confidentiality concerns about Bluetooth proximity beacons or environmental sensors.

Domain 2: Safety

Device 1: Video Recorder

Most discussions of safety focused on fear of theft. In South Africa, the home-based continuous stream video was considered the least safe, and no device was clearly ranked as the safest. Caregivers in Nepal reported that others could come into the house and steal the video camera (SAFE_CVR_Q01). In Nepal, where the respondents had recently experienced a major earthquake and were living in temporary housing, caregivers felt that they did not have a place to store the technology (SAFE_CVR_Q02). There were also concerns that the children could break the home video recorders (SAFE_CVR_Q03).

Device 2: Audio Recorder

There were no safety concerns.

Device 3: Wearable Camera

There was fear that children could break the wearable time-lapse camera that they would be wearing (SAFE_CWC_Q01). As the child wears the device, there was fear that others may steal the device from the children when the child is outside the home (SAFE_CWC_Q02, Q03). Other caregivers had similar concerns that the child would break the device or it would be stolen (SAFE_CWC_Q04). Program staff in South African health organizations had concerns that children would be mugged and the device stolen (SAFE_CWC_Q06). Similarly, in Nepal, the wearable camera was considered the least safe because the device could be stolen (SAFE_CWC_Q05).

Device 4: Bluetooth Beacon

The Bluetooth proximity beacon was considered a safety risk because it could be stolen from the children. In the qualitative interviews, the caregivers reported that they were afraid the Bluetooth beacon would be stolen from their children. Another safety concern in the qualitative interviews was that children—especially boys—would break the devices.

Device 5: Environmental Sensor

For safety, in Nepal, the environmental sensor was considered the safest. In subgroup comparisons in Nepal, community health workers rated the environmental sensor as less safe than how the caregivers rated it. In qualitative interviews, the community health workers reported that others may steal the environmental sensors to use in their own homes, whereas caregivers were not concerned that community members would steal the environmental sensors from one another.

Domain 3: Acceptability

There were no differences for social acceptability in the ranking task in South Africa sample, but the qualitative discussion suggests group preferences as described below. In Nepal, the environmental sensor and Bluetooth proximity beacon were the highest ranked and the home-based video the least acceptable. The Nepali respondents highlighted that the head of household and mother-in-law would need to consent to the using of the sensing devices and that they were least likely to accept the video recording in the home. Mothers-in-law often dictate the behavior of other women in the home, and not seeking support from mothers-in-law risk verbal and physical violence from the mothers-in-law. Respondents felt that head-of-household and mothers-in-law would support the environmental sensor because it would provide useful information for the household air quality, which would impact everyone's health. Heads of household would also find the proximity beacon acceptable because it would not provide sensitive information about the family.

Device 1: Video Recorder

To use the devices in the home, participants in both countries reported that permission from the husband would be needed. In South Africa, the male head-of-household would need to grant permission (ACPT_CVR_Q04). An experienced health organization worker in South Africa pointed out that the most vulnerable children, for example, those being sexually abused, would be least likely to have the male head of household give permission (ACPT_CVR_Q05). To make it acceptable, it was told that the benefit would need to be explained. South African community health workers said that preventing violence against children would encourage families to accept the devices (ACPT_CVR_Q06). In Nepal, permission from mothers-in-law was also important (ACPT_CVR_Q01, Q02). Community health volunteers in Nepal stated that mothers-in-law who perform a majority of the child care may not consent because they would be criticized by the family members (ACPT_CVR_Q03).

Device 2: Audio Recorder

A South African health organization worker pointed out that getting families to consent to using an episodic audio recorder—or any of the devices—requires the same rapport building and long-term relationships that are needed for any

health research activities (ACPT_EAR_Q02). Caregivers and health workers explained that all adult household members would need to consent for the continuous audio recording. Moreover, 1 health worker said that even adolescents would need to provide permission (ACPT_CAR_Q01). Caregivers in Nepal recommended getting permission from all adult household members before using the episodic audio recorder (ACPT_EAR_Q01).

Device 3: Wearable Camera

There were limited concerns about being able to obtain husbands and mothers-in-laws' consent for using the child's time-lapse camera in Nepal (ACPT_CWC_Q01). A community health worker, based on her expectations of gender and power in the community, stated that the child's father's permission would be needed (ACPT_CWC_Q02). Community health workers in Nepal were concerned about what would happen if the device was brought to school (ACPT_CWC_Q03). In addition, 1 community health volunteer in Nepal was concerned that it reflects negatively upon parents to send their children with the time-lapse camera (ACPT_CWC_Q04). This health worker continued to say that the child's peers would not find it acceptable, and eventually, the child would be socially ostracized (ACPT_CWC_Q05).

Device 4: Bluetooth Beacon

In both countries, there were no concerns about the permission needed for using the beacons (ACPT_PRX_Q01, Q02).

Device 5: Environmental Sensor

Participants in both countries did not express concern about getting husbands or mothers-in-law consent for the environmental sensor, which they considered low risk. In Nepal, the community health volunteers compared installing a mobile sensor in the home with conducting the polio vaccination program. As with the polio program, consent from the mother would be adequate to deploy the sensor (ACPT_ENV_Q01). However, the males would be harder to convince than females, with the women in the family more likely to see the advantages of the devices for their children's health (ACPT_ENV_Q02).

Domain 4: Noninterference

No single device stood out in South Africa as not interfering, but the qualitative discussion suggested that the continuous stream audio recorder was the most interfering. In Nepal, the environmental sensor was ranked highest, and the wearable time-lapse camera and Bluetooth proximity beacon were the most interfering. The main concern of caregivers was that the devices would be interfering because they would be attached to the children's clothing. In subgroup comparisons in Nepal, the caregivers considered the continuous audio recording as interfering in daily activities, whereas they did not consider the wearable time-lapse camera or Bluetooth beacon as disruptive as community health workers did.

Device 3: Wearable Camera

The main concern in terms of disruptiveness of the device was related to the child's time-lapse camera, which could interfere with the child's activities, as noted by respondents from both countries (INTF_CWC_Q01-Q05).

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12366/
```

Domain 5: Utility

In South Africa, the wearable time-lapse camera was the most useful and the environmental sensor was the least useful. In Nepal, the environmental sensor was ranked as the most useful for child health and well-being. Both health workers and caregivers were very concerned about pollution and the impact on child health. They wanted to be able to monitor how much exposure the children had to pollution, given the frequency with which their children were getting respiratory infections. The continuous stream audio recorder was ranked the least useful. In both countries, both caregivers and community health workers were interested in observing children's lives around and outside the home. The wearable time-lapse camera was seen as a way to understand more about what children were doing. Parents were interested also because they reported that grandparents assumed the majority of child care responsibilities and they interacted with the children primarily in the morning and evening, so the wearable time-lapse camera would allow them to learn more about their children's lives-especially for preverbal children. In Nepal, in subgroup comparisons, the caregivers ranked the wearable time-lapse camera as more useful than the health workers did. Another aspect of wearable time-lapse camera utility was as a teaching tool. Both caregivers and health workers reported that having more information about their own behavior and interaction with children could help them to improve how they care for their children. Some commented that hearing themselves yell at children may help them reduce the behavior. Regarding utility, both caregivers and health workers reported that they did not see the technology as a substitute for face-to-face interaction. They preferred face-to-face interaction for getting health information and engaging with community health workers in the home.

Device 1: Video Recorder

Caregivers described the perceived benefit of being able to observe children's physical activity in the home as well as how other adults behave toward children and if there is any abuse occurring in the home (UTLT_CVR_01-CVR04). A South African health worker pointed out that the video could be proof of abuse even when the family denies it. This is especially important for preventing rape and associated potential HIV transmission (UTLT_CVR_05-06). The video was seen as a way to check on their children's health (UTLT_CVR_07). South African health workers also raised the possibility that the video would capture sexual abuse in the home (UTLT_CVR_Q10). The community health workers in South Africa described how the video could help them better educate mothers and other caregivers about addressing child care needs while also maintaining other household responsibilities (UTLT_CVR_Q11). The video could also lead to suggestions about sleeping arrangements for children in the household (UTLT_CVR_Q12, Q13). Tracking sleep of school children through the video was important for a South African health worker (UTLT_CVR_Q14). FCHVs in Nepal reported the advantage for their home health work in being able to observe the daily activities (UTLT_CVR_Q08, Q09). In Nepal, the caregivers and FCHVs also perceived home-based continuous video as a monitoring tool to watch everyday risks the children might face such as falls and playing in dirt, and they could use

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

observations from the video to correct negative behaviors of their child.

Device 2: Audio Recorder

In South Africa, community health workers reported that hearing parent-child communication as well as harsh communication in the household would be helpful for their work (UTLT_CAR_Q07). Caregivers in Nepal commented on the benefit to audio recording above and beyond that, which is obtained through video only (UTLT_CAR_01). Regarding health condition, the caregivers mentioned the audio from children with cough and cold symptoms, although it was debated whether video or audio would be preferable for this (UTLT_CAR_Q02, Q03). The audio recordings were also seen as advantageous for behavioral change among caregivers and other family members (UTLT_CAR_Q04). Some community health workers in Nepal commented that having domestic arguments recorded could facilitate their health promotion work about communication in the household and talk (UTLT_CAR_Q05, Q06). A caregiver in Nepal thought it would be helpful for older children (UTLT_CAR_Q08, Q09). The episodic audio recorder was perceived by health workers to help understand the auditory environment in which the child is living and its potential impact on child development, learning, and behavior (UTLT_EAR_01). The audio snippets could be used to determine the types of interactions caregivers and children are having (UTLT_EAR_02). Caregivers also felt that they could learn more to make sure that the child was getting the appropriate exposure to positive auditory stimulation, including language exposure for preverbal children (UTLT_EAR_Q03, Q04). The audio snippets could also be used to identify potential abuse (UTLT_EAR_Q05).

Device 3: Wearable Camera

Community health workers preferred the child's wearable time-lapse camera over the audio recordings because of the information it would provide on activities (UTLT CWC 01). A South Africa caregiver preferred it over audio because it would not capture private speech or yelling at the child (UTLT_CWC_Q02). Compared with the continuous video recorder in the home, caregivers liked the child's wearable time-lapse camera because it provides information from wherever the child went rather than being restricted to the home (UTLT CWC Q03, Q04). Health workers in South Africa liked how the child's wearable time-lapse camera would provide information about the child's diet and nutritional intake (UTLT_CWC_Q08, Q09). Some caregivers perceived that the wearable time-lapse camera would capture images of a kidnapper if the child were abducted (UTLT_CWC_Q10). In Nepal, caregivers felt that the utility of continuous recording was limited because children spend time in many different rooms. Therefore, the wearable time-lapse camera was more beneficial (UTLT_CWC_Q05). In contrast, compared with continuous video recorder, 1 caregiver in Nepal felt that the child's wearable time-lapse camera would not capture as much useful information as the continuous video in the home (UTLT_CWC_Q06). Similarly, another caregiver preferred the continuous video to the child time-lapse photography (UTLT CWC Q07).

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12366/

Device 4: Bluetooth Beacon

In South Africa, a health worker appreciated the concept of tracking mother and child time together based on the rationale that bonding is important for child development (UTLT_PRX_01). Similarly, caregivers in Nepal appeared to value time together with children, especially mother and child; therefore, something could be gained from tracking that with the Bluetooth proximity beacon (UTLT_PRX_Q02, Q03). In general, in both sites, the caregivers conceptualized the Bluetooth beacon as a tracking device that would allow them to find the child if mother and child were separated or if the child was kidnapped (UTLT_PRX_Q04, Q05).

Device 5: Environmental Sensor

The environmental sensor was considered to have major utility by Nepali participants, given the high rates of respiratory illness morbidity and mortality. Caregivers reported that they could use the information to adjust when they go outdoors and when to wear a mask (UTLT_ENV_Q01, Q02, Q03). With major campaigns to change cookstoves and indoor cooking, the environmental sensor was considered useful to detect air quality related to cooking (UTLT_ENV_Q04). Community health workers in Nepal were interested to use this information to educate families about air quality within different rooms in the house (UTLT_ENV_Q05).

Discussion

Principal Findings

Process for Qualitative Cultural Assessment of Passive Data Collection Technology

We found that the QualCAPDT procedure could be implemented in low-resource settings where populations would benefit from passive sensing data for health and development interventions. The procedure produced both quantitative and qualitative results that could be used to select devices for piloting. This is helpful to determine devices that would be culturally appropriate. The process also reveals what concerns would need to be addressed in the development and use of such devices for passive sensing data collection. The procedure can be feasibly implemented in communities with low literacy rates. We piloted the procedure in South Africa but made further modifications when implemented in Nepal to optimize feasibility for use with illiterate caregivers and to increase the understanding about devices for the participants when completing the ratings and rankings.

In South Africa, upon original administration of the anchoring vignettes, participants completed all the vignettes after watching all the videos. In contrast, in Nepal, the anchoring vignettes were completed after each individual video was shown. We made this modification because in South Africa, the participants had confusion about the devices, and by the time they watched all videos, there was some difficulty remembering the different features of the devices when rating them. The approach of discussing each video immediately after presentation allows for immediate recall of the features. This also allows the group to develop areas of consideration that can be incorporated when watching the subsequent videos. The goal of this process is for

XSL•FO

persons unfamiliar with the different technologies to discuss potential application in their local context; therefore, it was important to give them time to consider each device individually. This likely facilitated a clearer group understanding of the devices before proceeding to the ranking activity in step 4. Moreover, the modified process used in Nepal allows for low literacy and illiterate populations to participate. In the modified procedure for Nepal, no reading or writing was required and the card ranking task only required sorting pictures of the devices. Going forward, we recommend the Nepal approach of watching each video and discussing as a group to produce more well-formed and well-considered ratings. This likely contributed to the clearer ranking outcomes observed in Nepal compared with South Africa.

Misperceptions generally improved from the South Africa to Nepal implementation. However, there were still misunderstandings, which highlights the need to do more to clarify what devices can do and cannot do. This clarification is important to get accurate ratings. In South Africa, participants thought proximity beacons could locate kidnapped or lost children. In both countries, participants thought home-based or wearable cameras would allow for surveillance of sexual predators. Participants in South Africa thought proximity beacons could locate children if they were kidnapped, and this may have led to higher expectations of benefit. In Nepal, the home-based video was thought to be similar to a closed-captioned television security camera and, therefore, may have led to higher ratings on the utility ranking. These perceptions would need to be addressed if such technologies were implemented to manage expectations of participants in health programs. This also illustrates why a method such as QualCAPDT is helpful to illuminate potential misinterpretations.

Recommendations for Implementing Qualitative Cultural Assessment of Passive Data Collection Technology

Given the development and piloting of QualCAPDT in South Africa and Nepal, we have the following recommendations for using the procedure in other settings (see also Table 2):

- Step 1: Use qualitative interviews to assess the landscape of current needs for beneficiaries who would later use the technology. This may be health workers, parents, educators, or others with a home-based component of their programs. The formative qualitative work should determine current technology use and potentials for new devices and/or data collection approaches with existing devices. The goal of Step 1 is to have contextual information to better inform device selection and data collection strategies as well as the relevant device attributes that will need to be assessed (eg, protecting confidentiality, minimizing interference with other activities, and perceived benefit to end users).
- Step 2: Select the attributes that will be assessed in the *QualCAPDT process*. In our study, our a priori attributes were confidentiality, acceptability, safety, nondisruptiveness, and perceived utility. However, we found that adding an attribute on health impacts during the qualitative analysis was helpful to split the safety construct into issues related to theft and risk of violence versus impact of the device on health (eg, through perceived radiation)

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12366/

exposure). In future studies, the attributes should reflect the characteristics of devices and needs of the projects. Buenaflor et al's 6 factors found to influence adoption (supporting fundamental human needs, cognitive load, social factors, physical aspects, participant demographics, and technical expertise of the user) [22] can be helpful to determine attributes. We caution developers that the wording of the attributes should be easily intelligible to beneficiaries in low-resource settings.

- Step 3: Develop a range of candidate technologies and data collection approaches to demonstrate in videos. Some devices or data collection approaches may be excluded at this stage based on the formative qualitative work in Step 1 and consideration of attributes from Step 2.
- Step 4: Produce brief videos to demonstrate the technology. This should be short (fewer than 5 min) so that multiple can be shown in FGDs with sufficient time. The setting of the videos should as closely approximate the context of end users. We found it helpful to illustrate what the technology is and how it is used in the home, what type of data are being collected, and how those data will be potentially used by health workers. On the basis of the experiences in South Africa and Nepal, it is also helpful to describe the limitations of the devices, for example, a tool such as a passive Bluetooth beacon has a limited range that would not allow tracking a child lost away from home or abducted.
- Step 5: Develop anchoring vignettes to ask about the attributes for each device. These anchoring vignettes should describe contrasting preferences for each attribute, for example, Maya does not want the device in her home because her family would be concerned about privacy, but Asha thinks her family would agree to allow it. Then, ask "Are the women in your community more like Maya or Asha?" and "Why?" It is helpful to create visuals of persons representing the different anchors so that participants can point to how close their community is to either of the anchors (see Figure 3).
- Step 6: Create picture cards with the different technology that can be used for the ranking tasks. This is helpful so that participants do not need any literacy skills to participate in the card sorting.
- *Step 7: Pilot the process with approximately 2 FGDs.* This is helpful if the team has not previously used structured elicitation tasks. The facilitators can practice their approach including explaining anchoring vignettes and card ranking. In addition, the participants may raise questions about what is demonstrated in the videos. From the questions, the facilitators may learn what else needs to be explained in the subsequent FGDs.
- Step 8: Conduct FGDs with the full proceedings recorded for transcription, translation, and subsequent qualitative data analysis. The FGD should begin with first discussing general issues separate from the technology but related to the theme of the future technology use. Then, the first video should be shown. This should be followed by a general discussion of the device and data collection in the video. After open discussion, the participants go through the anchoring vignettes as a group for each attribute. The facilitator records the group consensus for each attribute

XSL•FO RenderX

and reasons for that rating. Then, the next video is shown and steps repeated. After all videos are shown, discussed, and rated, the participants are given the pictorial cards of the devices, and they go through the ranking process. The rankings for each individual participant are documented.

- *Step 9: Qualitatively analyze the FGDs.* The qualitative analysis should be conducted first to prevent bias introduced by reviewing the ranking scores. Although the a priori attributes should be used, there should also be an opportunity to introduce new attributes (eg, adding "health" in our experience). Then, quantitative data can be analyzed using techniques such as Wilcoxon Sign-Rank test. The data from both should then be synthesized and summarized using recommended approaches for mixed-methods research [50,51].
- Step 10: Conduct supplementary interviews. Although we conducted our supplemental interviews before the analysis, it is preferable to follow qualitative and mixed-methods research recommendations to share results with members of the target group to collect their interpretation of the findings [48]. This can be helpful to discuss issues and concerns that may not have arisen in the formative work. For example, concerns related to sexual violence against young children was not part of the planning of our project but arose in the FGDs and would need to be discussed with stakeholders before proceeding to final selection of the technology and data collection process.

Ultimately, this approach is helpful to prepare for future passive data collection. It will work best when there is adequate piloting

and incorporation of user-centered design principles. This will increase the likelihood that the passive sensing data collection is acceptable, feasible, and beneficial to promote child health and development and caregiver-child relations.

Device Preferences

We found that in South Africa and Nepal, there was interest in observing the world from the child's perspective through wearable cameras that could be placed on the children and then have the caregivers review the photographs. In terms of utility, caregivers were open to using the technology to help them gain insight into their behavior with their children and then find ways to improve such behavior. Health workers also felt that sensing data could help them better educate parents. As this was a primary goal of the sensing technology, it was reassuring that both caregivers and health workers were open to this aspect of technology use.

In Nepal, there was a consistent concern across the ranking, rating, and interviews that devices attached to the children could be easily stolen and that by being attached to clothing, they would interfere in daily life in some way. For safety, we had expected that concerns about technology making children sick in some manner or being a health risk. However, safety was understood in terms of risk of theft. Participants in Nepal felt that devices attached to children could easily be stolen and may put them at risk. There were also concerns about what devices could be stolen from the home.

Steps for Qualitative Cultural Assessment of Passive Data collection Technology	Description
Step 1: conduct formative interviews	Conduct interviews with beneficiary population about roles, responsibilities, and current technology use
Step 2: determine criteria/attributes	Determine criteria for potential technologies to be evaluated
Step 3: select candidate technologies	Select a range of candidate technologies to fulfill the needs of the target population
Step 4: develop videos	Write scripts explaining technologies and then produce videos to illustrate what technologies will do; also include descriptions of what the technologies will not be able to do
Step 5: develop anchoring vignettes	Develop anchoring vignettes for each technology based on identified criteria/attributes
Step 6: develop cards for ranking tasks	Develop visual illustrations of candidate technologies for ranking tasks to minimize liter- acy skills needed to recognize the technologies; consider using pictures from videos that participants will be shown
Step 7: pilot videos and refine (eg, add clarifications of "can do" vs "cannot do")	Pilot test videos with beneficiary representatives to determine what is perceived about the use of technology; consider developing additional "can do" and "cannot do" explanations to modify the videos or to be used by the FGD ^a facilitators, for example, proximity beacons cannot track location of children away from the home
Step 8: conduct FGDs	Conduct FGDs showing videos, include anchoring vignettes and card ranking, and allow for "can do" and "cannot do" discussion
Step 9: analyze qualitative data, then analyze quantitative data	First analyze data qualitatively using a priori themes based on attributes and allow for addition of new themes and attributes; then, quantitative analyze individual participant ranking scores of devices for each attribute using Wilcoxon Rank or other appropriate statistical tests
Step 10: conduct supplemental interviews	Conduct supplemental interviews to obtain feedback from stakeholders and collect their interpretation of findings from the qualitative data and ranking statistics

Table 2. Recommended steps for Qualitative Cultural Assessment of Passive Data collection Technology.

^aFGDs: focus group discussions.

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12366/

A major issue for consent was that the majority of household members would need to be involved in the consenting process to allow for use of passive data collection technologies. In Nepal, social acceptability was predominantly dependent upon what the head-of-household and mother-in-law would find permissible and helpful. Most women felt that the environmental sensor and proximity beacon would be approved by these authority figures.

In Nepal, it was striking how much the environmental sensor was consistently the highest ranked device across all attributes. Both caregivers and health workers strongly desired to have information about pollution and air quality. As with other cities in South Asia and East Asia, there is increasing public health awareness about the impact of pollution. Using a rating procedure by residents, Kathmandu is ranked as the fifth highest city in the world in the Pollution Index Rate, as a reference, Delhi is 14 and Beijing is 23 [52]. In addition, children—and adults-have high rates of respiratory infection morbidity and mortality, with pneumonia being the leading cause of death for children under 5 years [53]. In addition, the environmental sensor was seen as preserving confidentiality, having a low risk of theft, being acceptable to heads-of-household and mothers-in-law, and not interfering with other activities in daily life. This suggests that future studies that wanted to explore air quality and child health at the household level would have high buy-in from participants and family members. This type of research could also support advocacy of families to politicians about addressing environmental health.

In South Africa, health workers reported that they were already using phones in the home, so that may help to have them transition to more mobile technology to improve their work. Although environmental influences on child development stood out in the Nepal findings, a concern in the South Africa study was the goal to protect children from sexual violence. They were interested in ways in which the sensing technology could collect information on sexual perpetrators including relatives and that the technology could be used to prevent perpetration of sexual violence because community members would be aware of the data collection.

Contributions of the Qualitative Cultural Assessment of Passive Data Collection Technology Procedure to Future Passive Sensing Data Research

The methods that we used for this study incorporate techniques from social sciences and cultural anthropology that are useful for conducting mHealth studies in similar settings in the future. Use of technology in health-related research and intervention is already an integral part in developed countries and has been growing in pace in developing countries such as Nepal [54-56]. However, adaptation and contextualization of these technologies in these settings itself requires a rigorous process. These settings have populations with limited or no exposure to complex technologies, and the available infrastructures are also limited. Explaining technologies to potential beneficiaries through videos instead of traditional didactic methods helps in better understanding as they are more likely to grasp its concept when watching how it works. The use of anchoring vignette with a third-person character simplifies the comparative process and

XSL•FO

minimizes the social desirability biases [44], that is, the responses are external to the individual and participants are not bound to present themselves as someone agreeable, which is very important in some cultural settings. Asking them about their thoughts embedded in fictional characters will lead to more honest and rich answers in relation to future end-user behavior. These processes will help researchers and implementers in selecting technologies that the community understands, acknowledges, approves, and considers useful.

During the last 5 to 10 years, there has been substantial research energy invested into the field of mHealth [6]. Immediate and plentiful opportunity existed to leverage and embed mobile phones into the global health system. The mHealth research agenda was aided by the fact the mobile phones were ubiquitous and easy to use and understand. For example, receiving a health system-generated medication reminder via short message service felt familiar and required no further explanation. However, as we move beyond the phone and begin to harness embedded sensors and invisible technologies that are not well understood, better methods will be required to facilitate full understanding between the researcher and the participant. The QualCAPDT process offers 1 approach to ensuring that all technology introduced into the home to support maternal and child health and development is not done so at the cost of full consent and understanding of those providing these rich yet intrusive data. Ultimately, the QualCAPDT procedure can be used to identify devices and passive data collection approaches to further advance tailored messaging to caregivers and health workers [57] for the goal of improved physical, mental, and developmental well-being of children and their caregivers.

Limitations

One limitation is that the development of the QualCAPDT procedure evolved over time and modifications were made both within and between countries over time. Therefore, statistical comparisons between rankings in South Africa and Nepal are not appropriate. Another limitation was that we did not specify different developmental stages of children when considering responses. The respondents likely would have had different qualitative responses and rankings if they considered the child health and development needs of infant versus adolescent. For the most part, the respondents appeared to consider toddlers and early childhood in making their responses.

Conclusions

In settings where populations have limited prior exposure to passive data collection, methods are needed to determine what may be acceptable and have high perceived local value. Through the use of videos to demonstrate local implementation of technologies and subsequent structured elicitation tasks, we assessed norms and preferences in settings with high public health need for child development and caregiver mental health interventions. Future steps in our research will be using the current findings to develop and pilot passive data collection with children and caregivers. The future research will illuminate how well the qualitative elicitation method captured key community expectations and concerns. Ultimately, a structured qualitative elicitation procedure is an important method for selecting new research technologies.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by The Jacobs Foundation, Zurich, Switzerland. The sponsor was not involved in the conduct of research, data analysis, or drafting or approving of the manuscript. The authors would like to thank Suraj Koirala, Nagendra Luitel, Nabin Khanal, and Shristi Rijal at Transcultural Psychosocial Organization Nepal. The authors thank the video production team in Nepal and are eternally grateful for the support of the Nepal Health Research Council. The authors would also like to thank Lavanya Vasudevan for her input during early stages of this project, Juan Pablo Risso for recommendations on proximity beacon devices and data collection, and Robert Koenig of HeartMind International for assisting with grant financial management and video file preparation.

Authors' Contributions

BAK and AvH obtained the funding, conceptualized the project, and drafted the manuscript. BAK, AvH, SR, and AB designed the research tools and data collection protocol. AB adapted the structured elicitation tasks and developed the data collection procedure for the anchoring vignettes and ranking tasks. BAK and KV conducted the qualitative data analysis. BAK conducted the quantitative analyses. KT and KV conducted the fieldwork and data collection. SR supervised the video production, data collection, and data management for the Nepal team. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

None declared.	
Multimedia Appendix 1	
Video recorder demonstration video for South Africa.	
[MP4 File (MP4 Video), 28MB - pediatrics_v2i1e12366_app1.mp4]	
Multimedia Appendix 2	
Video recorder demonstration video for Nepal.	
[MP4 File (MP4 Video), 53MB - pediatrics_v2i1e12366_app2.mp4]	
Multimedia Appendix 3	
Audio recorder demonstration video for South Africa.	
[MP4 File (MP4 Video), 9MB - pediatrics v2i1e12366 app3.mp4]	
Multimedia Appendix 4	
Audio recorder demonstration video for Nepal.	
[MP4 File (MP4 Video), 42MB - pediatrics_v2i1e12366_app4.mp4]	
Multimedia Appendix 5	
Wearable camera demonstration video for South Africa.	
[MP4 File (MP4 Video), 13MB - pediatrics_v2i1e12366_app5.mp4]	
Multimedia Appendix 6	
Wearable camera demonstration video for Nepal.	
[MP4 File (MP4 Video), 58MB - pediatrics_v2i1e12366_app6.mp4]	
Multimedia Appendix 7	
Bluetooth beacon demonstration video for South Africa.	
[MP4 File (MP4 Video), 7MB - pediatrics_v2i1e12366_app7.mp4]	
Multimedia Appendix 8	
Bluetooth beacon demonstration video for Nepal.	
$D_{1}(D_{1}, D_{2}, D$	

Environmental sensor demonstration video for South Africa. [MP4 File (MP4 Video), 5MB - pediatrics v2i1e12366 app9.mp4]

Multimedia Appendix 10 Environmental sensor demonstration video for Nepal. [MP4 File (MP4 Video), 32MB - pediatrics_v2i1e12366_app10.mp4]

Multimedia Appendix 11 Qualitative data quotations. [XLSX File (Microsoft Excel File), 30KB - pediatrics_v2i1e12366_app11.xlsx]

Multimedia Appendix 12 Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ) items. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 38KB - pediatrics v2i1e12366 app12.pdf]

References

- UN General Assembly. United Nations. New York Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development URL: <u>https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/post2015/transformingourworld</u> [accessed 2019-01-09] [WebCite Cache ID 75JQB0BBs]
- Kuruvilla S, Bustreo F, Kuo T, Mishra CK, Taylor K, Fogstad H, et al. The Global strategy for women's, children's and adolescents' health (2016-2030): a roadmap based on evidence and country experience. Bull World Health Organ 2016 May 01;94(5):398-400 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2471/BLT.16.170431] [Medline: 27147772]
- Lake A, Chan M. Putting science into practice for early child development. Lancet 2015 May 09;385(9980):1816-1817. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61680-9</u>] [Medline: <u>25245180</u>]
- 4. Brian RM, Ben-Zeev D. Mobile health (mHealth) for mental health in Asia: objectives, strategies, and limitations. Asian J Psychiatr 2014 Aug;10:96-100. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ajp.2014.04.006</u>] [Medline: <u>25042960</u>]
- 5. Mechael P. The case for mHealth in developing countries. Innovations: Technology, Governance, Globalization 2009 Jan;4(1):103-118. [doi: 10.1162/itgg.2009.4.1.103]
- 6. Ali EE, Chew L, Yap KY. Evolution and current status of mhealth research: a systematic review. BMJ Innov 2016 Jan 05;2(1):33-40. [doi: 10.1136/bmjinnov-2015-000096]
- Weintraub S, Dikmen SS, Heaton RK, Tulsky DS, Zelazo PD, Bauer PJ, et al. Cognition assessment using the NIH Toolbox. Neurology 2013 Mar 12;80(11 Suppl 3):S54-S64 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182872ded] [Medline: 23479546]
- 8. Wang Y, Hartman M, Aziz NA, Arora S, Shi L, Tunison E. A systematic review of the use of LENA technology. Am Ann Deaf 2017;162(3):295-311. [doi: 10.1353/aad.2017.0028] [Medline: 28824021]
- 9. Yilmaz RM. Educational magic toys developed with augmented reality technology for early childhood education. Comput Human Behav 2016;54:240-248. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chb.2015.07.040</u>]
- 10. Blackwell CK, Lauricella AR, Wartella E. Factors influencing digital technology use in early childhood education. Comput Educ 2014;77:82-90. [doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2014.04.013]
- 11. Mascheroni G. Researching datafied children as data citizens. J Child Media 2018 Sep 12;12(4):517-523. [doi: 10.1080/17482798.2018.1521677]
- 12. Wang J, O'Kane AA, Newhouse N, Sethu-Jones G, de Barbaro K. Quantified baby: parenting and the use of a baby wearable in the wild. Proc ACM Hum Comput Interact 2017 Dec 06;1(CSCW):1-19. [doi: 10.1145/3134743]
- 13. Mascheroni G. Datafied childhoods: contextualising datafication in everyday life. Curr Sociol 2018 (forthcoming). [doi: 10.1177/0011392118807534]
- 14. Braam K, Huang TC, Chen CH, Montgomery E, Vo S, Beausoleil R. Wristband Vital: a wearable multi-sensor microsystem for real-time assistance via low-power Bluetooth link. In: WF-IOT '15. 2015 Presented at: IEEE 2nd World Forum on Internet of Things (WF-IoT); December 14-16, 2015; Milan. [doi: 10.1109/WF-IoT.2015.7389032]
- Peijnenborgh JC, Hurks PP, Aldenkamp AP, van der Spek ED, Rauterberg G, Vles JS, et al. A study on the validity of a computer-based game to assess cognitive processes, reward mechanisms, and time perception in children aged 4-8 years. JMIR Serious Games 2016 Sep 22;4(2):e15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/games.5997] [Medline: 27658428]
- Scott TJ, Short EJ, Singer LT, Russ SW, Minnes S. Psychometric properties of the Dominic interactive assessment: a computerized self-report for children. Assessment 2006 Mar;13(1):16-26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1073191105284843] [Medline: 16443716]
- 17. Gaskell G, Wright D, O'Muircheartaigh C. Telescoping of landmark events: implications for survey research. Public Opin Q 2000;64(1):77-89. [doi: 10.1086/316761] [Medline: 10810077]
- Campbell AT, Eisenman SB, Lane ND, Miluzzo E, Peterson RA, Lu H, et al. The rise of people-centric sensing. IEEE Internet Comput 2008 Jul;12(4):12-21. [doi: <u>10.1109/MIC.2008.90</u>]
- Piwek L, Ellis DA, Andrews S, Joinson A. The rise of consumer health wearables: promises and barriers. PLoS Med 2016 Feb;13(2):e1001953 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001953] [Medline: 26836780]

- 20. Bronfenbrenner U. Making Human Beings Human: Bioecological Perspectives on Human Development. Thousand Oaks, California: SAGE Publications; 2005.
- 21. Kim HC. Acceptability engineering: the study of user acceptance of innovative technologies. J Appl Res Technol 2015 Apr;13(2):230-237. [doi: 10.1016/j.jart.2015.06.001]
- 22. Buenaflor C, Kim HC. Six human factors to acceptability of wearable computers. Int J Multimed Ubiquitous Eng 2013 Jan;8(3):103-114 [FREE Full text]
- 23. Alaca B, Rocca C, Maggi S. Understanding communities through the eyes and voices of children. Early Child Dev Care 2016 Mar 16;187(7):1095-1113. [doi: 10.1080/03004430.2016.1155567]
- 24. Fournier B, Bridge A, Pritchard Kennedy A, Alibhai A, Konde-Lule J. Hear our voices: a photovoice project with children who are orphaned and living with HIV in a Ugandan group home. Child Youth Serv Rev 2014 Oct;45:55-63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2014.03.038]
- 25. Lee R, Skinner A, Bornstein MH, Radford AN, Campbell A, Graham K, et al. Through babies' eyes: practical and theoretical considerations of using wearable technology to measure parent-infant behaviour from the mothers' and infants' view points. Infant Behav Dev 2017 Dec;47:62-71 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.infbeh.2017.02.006] [Medline: 28347907]
- Mehl MR, Robbins ML, Deters FG. Naturalistic observation of health-relevant social processes: the electronically activated recorder methodology in psychosomatics. Psychosom Med 2012 May;74(4):410-417 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e3182545470] [Medline: 22582338]
- 27. Xu D, Yapanel U, Gray S. LENA Foundation. 2009. Reliability of the LENA Language Environment Analysis System in young children's natural home environment URL: <u>https://www.lena.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/LTR-05-2_Reliability.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-01-10] [WebCite Cache ID 75JVdI6P5]
- Isella L, Romano M, Barrat A, Cattuto C, Colizza V, Van den Broeck W, et al. Close encounters in a pediatric ward: measuring face-to-face proximity and mixing patterns with wearable sensors. PLoS One 2011 Feb 28;6(2):e17144 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0017144] [Medline: 21386902]
- Bisi M, Pacini Panebianco G, Polman R, Stagni R. Objective assessment of movement competence in children using wearable sensors: An instrumented version of the TGMD-2 locomotor subtest. Gait Posture 2017 Dec;56:42-48. [doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2017.04.025] [Medline: 28494321]
- Comulada WS, Wynn A, van Rooyen H, Barnabas RV, Eashwari R, van Heerden A. Using mHealth to deliver a home-based testing and counseling program to improve linkage to care and ART adherence in rural South Africa. Prev Sci 2018 Sep 27:1-11 (forthcoming). [doi: 10.1007/s11121-018-0950-1] [Medline: 30259235]
- Leon N, Schneider H, Daviaud E. Applying a framework for assessing the health system challenges to scaling up mHealth in South Africa. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2012 Nov 05;12:123 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-12-123] [Medline: 23126370]
- Barron P, Pillay Y, Fernandes A, Sebidi J, Allen R. The MomConnect mHealth initiative in South Africa: early impact on the supply side of MCH services. J Public Health Policy 2016 Nov;37(Suppl 2):201-212. [doi: <u>10.1057/s41271-016-0015-2</u>] [Medline: <u>27899795</u>]
- 33. Morrison J, Shrestha NR, Hayes B, Zimmerman M. Mobile phone support for rural health workers in Nepal through 'Celemedicine'. JNMA J Nepal Med Asso 2013;52(191):538-542. [Medline: 24907968]
- 34. Meyers DJ, Ozonoff A, Baruwal A, Pande S, Harsha A, Sharma R, et al. Combining healthcare-based and participatory approaches to surveillance: trends in diarrheal and respiratory conditions collected by a mobile phone system by community health workers in rural Nepal. PLoS One 2016;11(4):e0152738 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0152738] [Medline: 27111734]
- 35. Castillo N, Vosloo S. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization. 2017. Medic Mobile: case study by UNESCO-Pearson initiative for literacy URL: <u>https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000260597</u> [accessed 2019-01-10] [WebCite Cache ID 75JX8TfRp]
- 36. Bernard HR. Handbook of Methods in Cultural Anthropology. Lanham: Altamira Press; 1998.
- 37. Bernard H. Research Methods in Anthropology: Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches. Thousand Oaks, California: SAGE Publications; 1994.
- 38. Kohrt BA, Maharjan SM. When a child is no longer a child: Nepali ethnopsychology of child development and violence. Stud Nepali Hist Soc 2009;14(1):107-142 [FREE Full text]
- 39. Kohrt B, Tol W, Pettigrew J, Karki R. Children and revolution: the mental health and psychosocial wellbeing of child soldiers in Nepal's Maoist army. In: Singer M, Hodge GD, editors. The War Machine and Global Health. Lanham, Maryland: Altamira Press, Rowan & Littlefield Publishers, Inc; 2010:89-116.
- 40. Kohrt BA. The role of traditional rituals for reintegration and psychosocial wellbeing of child soldiers in Nepal. In: Hinton AL, Hinton DE, editors. Genocide and Mass Violence: Memory, Symptom, and Recovery. New York: Cambridge University Press; 2014:369-387.
- 41. Hopkins DJ, King G. Improving anchoring vignettes: designing surveys to correct interpersonal incomparability. Public Opin Q 2010 Mar 24;74(2):201-222. [doi: <u>10.1093/poq/nfq011</u>]
- 42. Chevalier A, Fielding A. An introduction to anchoring vignettes. J R Stat Soc Ser A Stat Soc 2011;174(3):569-574. [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-985X.2011.00703.x]

- 43. Salomon J, Tandon A, Murray C, World Health Survey Pilot Study Collaborating Group. Unpacking health perceptions using anchoring vignettes. In: Health Systems Performance Assessment: Debates, Methods and Empiricism. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003.
- 44. Nederhof AJ. Methods of coping with social desirability bias: a review. Eur J Soc Psychol 1985 Jul;15(3):263-280. [doi: 10.1002/ejsp.2420150303]
- 45. Borgatti S. Elicitation techniques for cultural domain analysis. In: Schensul JJ, LeCompte MD, editors. The Ethnographer's Toolkit. Walnut Creek, California: Altimira Press; 1998.
- 46. QSR International. Doncaster, Australia; 2012. NVIVO URL: <u>https://www.qsrinternational.com/nvivo/home</u> [accessed 2019-01-10] [WebCite Cache ID 75JZ31gPU]
- Gale NK, Heath G, Cameron E, Rashid S, Redwood S. Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. BMC Med Res Methodol 2013 Sep 18;13:117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-13-117] [Medline: 24047204]
- 48. Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec;19(6):349-357 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzm042] [Medline: 17872937]
- 49. International Business Machines Corporation. 2013. IBM SPSS software URL: <u>https://www.ibm.com/in-en/analytics/</u> spss-statistics-software [accessed 2019-01-10] [WebCite Cache ID 75JZaxJUq]
- 50. Aarons GA, Fettes DL, Sommerfeld DH, Palinkas LA. Mixed methods for implementation research: application to evidence-based practice implementation and staff turnover in community-based organizations providing child welfare services. Child Maltreat 2012 Feb;17(1):67-79 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1077559511426908] [Medline: 22146861]
- O'Cathain A, Murphy E, Nicholl J. The quality of mixed methods studies in health services research. J Health Serv Res Policy 2008 Apr;13(2):92-98. [doi: 10.1258/jhsrp.2007.007074] [Medline: 18416914]
- 52. Numbeo. 2018. Pollution Index Rate URL: <u>https://www.numbeo.com/pollution/rankings_current.jsp</u> [accessed 2018-12-03] [WebCite Cache ID 74NZKOYt8]
- 53. Ministry of Health-Nepal, New ERA, IFC. Nepal Demographic and Health Survey 2016. Kathmandu: Ministry of Health; 2017. URL: <u>https://www.dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/fr336/fr336.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-01-10] [WebCite Cache ID 75Ja0UQiF]
- 54. Crane O, Balen J, Devkota B, Ghimire S, Rushton S. Use of information and communication technologies in the formal and informal health system responses to the 2015 Nepal earthquakes. Health Policy Plan 2017 Nov 01;32(suppl_3):iii48-iii58. [doi: 10.1093/heapol/czx115] [Medline: 29149316]
- 55. Johnson CA, Thapa S, George Kong YX, Robin AL. Performance of an iPad application to detect moderate and advanced visual field loss in Nepal. Am J Ophthalmol 2017 Oct;182:147-154. [doi: 10.1016/j.ajo.2017.08.007] [Medline: 28844641]
- Oh DH, Dabbagh A, Goodson JL, Strebel PM, Thapa S, Giri JN, et al. Real-time monitoring of vaccination campaign performance using mobile phones-Nepal, 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2016 Oct 07;65(39):1072-1076 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6539a5] [Medline: 27711034]
- 57. van Heerden A, Sen D, Desmond C, Louw J, Richter L. App-supported promotion of child growth and development by community health workers in Kenya: feasibility and acceptability study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Dec 05;5(12):e182 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6911] [Medline: 29208588]

Abbreviations

FCHVs: female community health volunteers FGDs: focus group discussions GPS: Global Positioning System HSRC: Human Sciences Research Council LENA: language environment analysis LMIC: low- and middle-income countries mHealth: mobile health QualCAPDT: Qualitative Cultural Assessment of Passive Data collection Technology RFID: radio-frequency identification devices SDGs: Sustainable Development Goals



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 30.09.18; peer-reviewed by K Mateo; comments to author 03.11.18; revised version received 02.12.18; accepted 31.12.18; published 16.01.19. <u>Please cite as:</u> Kohrt BA, Rai S, Vilakazi K, Thapa K, Bhardwaj A, van Heerden A Procedures to Select Digital Sensing Technologies for Passive Data Collection With Children and Their Caregivers: Qualitative Cultural Assessment in South Africa and Nepal JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12366 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12366/ doi:10.2196/12366 PMID:31518316

©Brandon A Kohrt, Sauharda Rai, Khanya Vilakazi, Kiran Thapa, Anvita Bhardwaj, Alastair van Heerden. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 16.01.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Features and Educational Content Related to Milk Production in Breastfeeding Apps: Content Analysis Informed by Social Cognitive Theory

Suhail Sidhu¹, BS; Kaoer Ma¹, MS, MA; Anna Sadovnikova^{1,2}, MPH, MA, IBCLC

¹LiquidGoldConcept, Inc, Ypsilanti, MI, United States ²School of Medicine, University of California, Davis, Sacramento, CA, United States

Corresponding Author: Anna Sadovnikova, MPH, MA, IBCLC LiquidGoldConcept, Inc Ypsilanti, MI, United States Phone: 1 916 905 3544 Email: anna@liquidgoldconcept.com

Abstract

Background: Low milk production is one of the main reasons for premature breastfeeding cessation. Smartphone apps have the potential to assist mothers with promoting, interpreting, tracking, or learning about milk production. It is not known whether breastfeeding apps contain high-quality, engaging, and diverse content and features that could be used by mothers to increase their breastfeeding self-efficacy and answer their questions about milk production.

Objective: The overarching objective of this study was to identify and evaluate features and content within breastfeeding apps that could be used by mothers to increase breastfeeding self-efficacy and answer their questions about milk production. The secondary objectives were to quantify the diversity of representation of breastfeeding experiences within breastfeeding apps and to define the type of organization that is most likely to create free apps and/or apps with high-quality, engaging, and diverse features and content related to milk production.

Methods: Breastfeeding apps were identified in the Apple App Store. All features that assist mothers with tracking, promoting, or interpreting milk production in the first 0-6 months postpartum were noted. Every screen containing educational information about milk production was identified and saved for review. Images of mothers and caretakers within the selected screenshots were assessed. Three scoresheets informed by Social Cognitive Theory were created to evaluate all identified features, educational content, and images representing the breastfeeding experience.

Results: Forty-one breastfeeding apps were reviewed. Only seven apps contained both features and educational content related to milk production. Thirteen apps that contained educational content related to milk production received a mean combined content and cultural diversity score of 15.3 of 78. Of the 48 photos reviewed in screenshots that contained educational content on milk production, 87.5% (n=42) were of white women and their infants. For-profit companies and large organizations were most likely to create free apps and apps that received high scores on the combined content and diversity or features scoresheet, respectively.

Conclusions: Features and educational content related to milk production and breastfeeding imagery within breastfeeding apps were evaluated using three novel scoresheets informed by Social Cognitive Theory. Few apps contained both features that promote breastfeeding self-efficacy and high-quality, engaging, educational content with images of diverse caretakers. Thus, it is likely that parents, especially those from minority or low-income groups, have limited options when selecting a breastfeeding app. App developers could use the scoresheets and findings in this review to develop breastfeeding apps that assist mothers with interpreting, tracking, or learning about milk production through high-quality and engaging features, content, and imagery.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12364) doi:10.2196/12364

KEYWORDS

RenderX

milk production; milk supply; human lactation; breastfeeding; breastfeeding app; smartphone app; Social Cognitive Theory; breastfeeding self-efficacy

Introduction

Breastfeeding significantly reduces maternal and infant morbidity and mortality [1]. Despite the fact that the World Health Organization and the American Academy of Pediatrics recommend exclusive breastfeeding for 6 months, only 24.9% of mothers in the United States reach the 6-month goal [2-4]. Racial and socioeconomic disparities are reflected in breastfeeding rates: Black and low-income women are less likely to initiate breastfeeding in the hospital and breastfeed exclusively for 6 months [5]. The majority of women stop breastfeeding due to perceived or real low milk production [6,7].

A health behavioral intervention that focuses on maternal self-efficacy is an effective strategy for increasing breastfeeding rates [8]. A mother's breastfeeding self-efficacy could improve if she had the ability to track, interpret, and learn about her milk production [9]. Women are turning to their smartphones [10] to seek out "emotional, informational, technical, and consultative-type breastfeeding support," information about milk production [11], and visual representations of breastfeeding skills [12]. It is not known whether features and content related to milk production within breastfeeding apps are engaging, diverse, and of high quality or lead to increased breastfeeding self-efficacy [13].

The overarching objective of this study was to identify breastfeeding smartphone apps that contain high-quality, engaging, and diverse content and features that mothers could use to increase their breastfeeding self-efficacy and answer their questions about milk production. The secondary objectives were to quantify the diversity of representation of breastfeeding experiences within breastfeeding apps and to define the type of organization that is most likely to create a free app and apps with high-quality, engaging, and diverse features and content related to milk production.

Methods

Identification of Breastfeeding Apps and General Characteristics of App Developers

Between August and October 2017, breastfeeding apps were identified in the Apple App Store using the search term "breastfeeding." Apps were downloaded onto an iPhone and explored by author SS for 10 minutes to ensure that the app fit the inclusion criteria (Table 1). The Google Play Store was used to confirm that an app could also be downloaded on Android devices; however, availability on both platforms was not a prerequisite for inclusion because the authors only had access to iPhones. To ensure comparability with previous reviews of breastfeeding apps, general information about the app and the app developer was collected from the App Store, by emailing the creators, browsing through the app developer's page on LinkedIn, and using third-party sites like Bizapedia (Multimedia Appendix 1).

Selection of Features and Content Related to Milk Production

SS reviewed every interface of each app on three separate occasions (average of 60 minutes per app) to ensure that all possible features were included for review (Multimedia Appendix 2). A feature was defined as an opportunity for user interaction with the app (eg, a button). After identifying all the features available in each app, SS documented features that could assist mothers with promoting, tracking, or interpreting milk production in the first 0-6 months postpartum. The principal investigator, a board-certified lactation consultant and a physician-scientist trainee studying milk production regulation, trained SS to identify features that are relevant to milk production promotion, tracking, and interpretation. A literature search in Medline was conducted to confirm that the selected features were relevant to milk production.

The authors developed a scoresheet with eight milk production content categories using two textbooks on breastfeeding [16,17] as guides (Multimedia Appendix 3). The eight content categories are listed below: (1) Hospital practices that promote breastfeeding initiation; (2) Reasons for a delay in lactogenesis II; (3) Normal milk production timeline, volume, and measurement; (4) Supply and demand physiology; (5) Maternal or infant nutritional requirements; (6) Breastfeeding techniques that support or interfere with milk production; (7) Maternal or infant biological, physiological, or behavioral causes of perceived or real low-milk production between 0 and 6 months postpartum; and (8) A description of foods, medications, or supplements that have the potential to increase milk production. AS provided training to SS on how to identify relevant content within each of the eight categories. AS and SS independently took screenshots within each app to capture educational content related to milk production, reviewed the compiled screenshots, scored all the content, and resolved discrepancies by referring to two textbooks on breastfeeding [16,17].

Development of Scoresheets to Score Features and Content Related to Milk Production and Images of Breastfeeding Experiences

Social Cognitive Theory is the most common health behavior theory used in self-efficacy instruments that increase breastfeeding rates [8]. The three core components of Social Cognitive Theory that relate to improved breastfeeding self-efficacy are *motivation*, *observation*, and *repetition*. For a new mother to learn the skill of breastfeeding, she must be intrinsically *motivated* to learn, *observe* ideal examples of the behavior by mothers like her, and receive positive reinforcement from credible sources to *repeatedly* perform the said behavior [8,18,19]. The authors applied these three principles in the development of the scoring system used to evaluate features and content related to milk production and images of the breastfeeding experience within selected breastfeeding apps.

XSL•F() RenderX

Sidhu et al

Table 1. Inclusion criteria and rationale for selection of breastfeeding ap

Criterion	Rationale
App appeared as a result on the App Store using the search term "breastfeeding"	"Breastfeeding" yielded >100 results, depending on the month of search. "Lactation" yielded only \sim 50 results, depending on the month of search.
App focused on breastfeeding education or tracking an aspect of the breastfeeding ex- perience	Breastfeeding experience included nursing and pumping.
App had a summary rating on the App Store	The summary rating on the App Store gives a measurement of whether the app is used by the general public. The App Store ranks apps using an algorithm that considers a multitude of factors related to user engagement including the number of downloads, ratings, and updates; quality of ratings; user retention rate; and conversation rate. The App Store provides a special designation to apps ranked in the top 200 of their assigned categories. Top 200 apps are more likely to have higher user engagement in terms of the aforementioned metrics and serve as an objective measure of an app's popularity by consumers [14,15].
App was available in English	Authors did not have funds to pay for translation.
App was available for download and use in the United States	Authors reside in the United States.

A 5-point scoresheet was developed to score features (Table 2) that assist mothers with promoting, tracking, or interpreting milk production. Features were included in the scoresheet only if they were relevant to tracking or interpreting milk production between 0 and 6 months postpartum; therefore, all the features included in the scoresheet received one point at baseline. Features that needed to be used frequently (*repetition*) and were interactive (*motivation*) received the highest possible features score. The assignment of points for each feature was determined independently by two raters (AS and SS).

A 72-point scoresheet was developed to evaluate educational content across the eight milk production categories (Table 3 and Multimedia Appendix 3). Three criteria were used to score the educational content within each of the eight categories: scope, quality, and engagement. The selected screenshots did not need to contain all the information from a category to receive full credit within that category. For example, within category

1 (Hospital Practices), selected screenshots would only need to contain a mention of the importance of skin-to-skin contact in relation to breastfeeding initiation to receive a point within the scope of content for that category. The quality of the content was determined by assessing in-text citations and referenced literature within the selected screenshots. AS downloaded and reviewed all referenced literature to ensure it was relevant to the content. Photos and videos are more likely than text to increase breastfeeding self-efficacy because they are motivational and are more likely to foster repetition and, thus, mastery of a task [18-21]. Therefore, if a screenshot contained educational images pertaining to the content within that category, two additional points were awarded. Videos were awarded three additional points because they are more likely to result in mastery of tasks relative to photos [22]. Two authors independently (SS and AS) assessed each screenshot with information about milk production and awarded points using the content scoresheet described in Table 3.

Table 2. Feature scoresheet informed by Social Cognitive Theory.

Measure	Points possible
Repetition (frequency)	
≥1/week	2
$\geq 1/\text{month}$ but less than $\geq 1/\text{week}$	1
<2/month	0
Motivation (interactivity)	
User engagement throughout activity	2
User engagement at the beginning or end of activity	1
Minimal user engagement	0
Milk production related	1
Maximum points/feature	5

Table 3. Content scoresheet informed by Social Cognitive Theory.

Content	Scope of content ^a	Quality of content ^b	Engagement with content	
			Videos ^c	Images ^d
Hospital Practices	0/1	0/1/2/3	0/3	0/2
Delay in Lactogenesis II	0/1	0/1/2/3	0/3	0/2
Normal milk production timeline or volume	0/1	0/1/2/3	0/3	0/2
Supply and Demand Physiology	0/1	0/1/2/3	0/3	0/2
Nutritional Requirements	0/1	0/1/2/3	0/3	0/2
Breastfeeding Technique	0/1	0/1/2/3	0/3	0/2
Biology or behavior	0/1	0/1/2/3	0/3	0/2
Foods or medications or supplements	0/1	0/1/2/3	0/3	0/2
Maximum total points possible within each evaluation criterion	8	24	24	16

^aIs this content presented? (0=No relevant content, 1=Relevant content present).

^bAre in-text, relevant citations included? (3 points/category) OR Is there a list of relevant references at bottom of screen or within the app? (2 points/category) OR Is the author is an "expert" (eg. MD, IBCLC, or PhD)? (1 point/category) OR There is no way to evaluate the quality of the content? (0 points/category).

^cAre there videos that assist the user in understanding the educational content? (0=No relevant videos, 3=Videos that assist the user in understanding the educational content are present).

^dAre there images that assist the user in understanding the educational content? (0=No relevant images, 2=Images that assist the user in understanding the educational content are present).

 Table 4. Diversity scoresheet informed by Social Cognitive Theory.

Diversity of representation of the breastfeeding experience	Additional points/app
≥7 photos (3 points) OR 4-6 photos (2 points) OR 1-3 photos (1 point) of the breastfeeding dyad or caretakers in all the identified screenshots	3/2/1
<i>Of all of the identified photos</i> : \geq 3 photos are of nonwhite or nontraditional caretakers ^a (3 points) OR \geq 2 photos are of nonwhite or nontraditional caretakers (2 points) OR 1 photo is of a nonwhite or nontraditional caretaker (1 point)	3/2/1
Maximum points possible/app	6

^aFor the purposes of this evaluation, a nontraditional caretaker was defined by the authors as an individual who is not the mother (eg, grandmother, father, same sex partner, nanny, etc).

A scoresheet (Table 4) was developed to calculate the total additional points that an app could receive for including diverse representations of the breastfeeding experience within the selected screenshots containing educational content about milk production. If the selected screenshots contained images of breastfeeding dyads and nontraditional caretakers, additional points were awarded because the *observation* of successful breastfeeding experiences can increase breastfeeding self-efficacy [8,18-20,23-25]. To calculate the final score for educational content, we combined the scores from the content and diversity scoresheets (72+6=78 possible points), as the images selected for review of "diversity" were identified solely within screenshots with content related to milk production. Thus, the measure of diversity is within those screenshots and is not generalizable to the entire app.

Statistical Analysis

All data were analyzed using descriptive statistics. To test whether there was a difference between the mean features or combined content and diversity scores, apps were stratified by their rank (ranked vs unranked), platform availability (iOS exclusive vs available on iOS and Android), category (medical

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12364/
```

RenderX

apps vs all others including education, productivity, lifestyle, and health and fitness), and price (free vs not free). The organizations that created the apps were also stratified by the size of their business (large organizations with >10 employees vs small organizations) and registration status (for-profit organizations vs all others including governmental organizations, nonprofits, and individuals). The Wilcoxon rank sum test was used to test the difference between two groups. The Spearman correlation was performed to test the relationship between organization type and size; app characteristics; and the features, content, and combined diversity and content scores. Interrater reliability for the combined content and diversity score was calculated as percent agreement between two raters—a breastfeeding expert (AS) and a novice (SS). Significance was set at an alpha of 5%. Data are presented as mean (SEM).

Results

Selection of Breastfeeding Apps

Between August and October 2017, 105 apps were identified on the App Store by using the search team "breastfeeding" (Multimedia Appendix 4). Thirty-four apps were not

downloaded because they did not have enough ratings to generate a summary rating (n=32) or because they were not available in the United States (n=2). SS downloaded and performed an initial screening of the remaining 71 apps by interacting with each app from an end user's perspective to confirm that the inclusion criteria were satisfied (Table 1). Eighteen apps were excluded from further assessment because they were not available in English (n=2); were free trials that only allowed the user to use the app for a certain amount of time or number of uses or restricted certain features (n=9); or had technical errors that interfered with the app's functionality, rendering it impossible to use (n=7). Between November 2017 and August 2018, SS reviewed 53 apps that fit the inclusion criteria on three separate occasions to identify features and content relevant to milk production. In 2018, six apps were excluded from the review because they no longer existed (n=4) or were no longer available in the United States (n=2). Of the remaining 47 apps, six apps were removed from the dataset because they did not have educational content related to milk production (Multimedia Appendix 5). Thus, the final dataset contained 41 breastfeeding apps (N=41).

General Characteristics of Breastfeeding Apps

Of the 41 breastfeeding apps (Multimedia Appendices 6 and 7) in the final dataset, 85.4% (n=35) had features that mothers could use to track or interpret milk production and 31.7% (n=13) had educational content related to milk production. Of the 13 apps with educational content related to milk production, only six apps contained features that could be used to track or interpret milk production. Twenty-nine apps (70.7%) contained features related to milk production, but no educational content related to milk production. Most of the apps (n=30, 73.2%) were free to download and use. Approximately half of the apps reviewed (n=21, 51.2%) were only available on the iOS platform. The majority of the apps (n=28, 68.3%) were created by for-profit organizations. Over half of the apps (n=25, 60.9%) were created by organizations with fewer than 10 employees. The vast majority of the apps in our final dataset (n=30, 73.2%) were not ranked in the top 200 in the App Store in their respective category.

Features That Assist Mothers With Promoting, Tracking, or Interpreting Milk Production

Eighteen unique features related to promoting, tracking, or interpreting milk production were identified within 35 breastfeeding apps (Table 5). All 35 apps had a breastfeeding timer, 31 apps had a bottle-feeding timer, and 30 apps had a diaper-change tracker. The least common features were trackers for allergy (n=2), teeth (n=3), and baby' sounds (n=3). A baby sound recorder and photos of the baby received the highest features score possible of 5. The teeth-tracking feature received the lowest features score because, while teeth can interfere with breastfeeding, it is unlikely that many teeth will appear before the newborn is 6 months old; therefore, the tracking teeth feature would not be used frequently. Moreover, entering the date that a tooth first appeared on would not be as engaging as other

activities related to tracking, interpreting, or promoting milk production, such as taking or looking at a photo of a baby.

Characteristics of Apps Containing Features That Assist Mothers With Promoting, Tracking or Interpreting Milk Production

A total of 35 apps contained features that assist mothers with promoting, tracking, or interpreting milk production; these apps received an average features score of 27.3 (SD 11.3; range 4-47 of 51 possible points) when evaluated with the features scoresheet described in Table 5. Among apps that contained features related to milk production, those ranked in the top 200 in their respective category in the App Store (Figure 1) scored significantly higher (P=.0096) than apps that were unranked. Apps developed for both iOS and Android (Figure 1) received a significantly higher features score (P=.04) than apps developed just for iOS. There was no difference (P=.55) between the mean features scores of apps that were free and not free or the mean scores of apps (P=.55) created by small versus large organizations (Figure 1). Apps created by large organizations (>10 employees) were more likely to be on both iOS and Android platforms (r=0.69, P<.001). For-profit companies were more likely to create apps on both iOS and Android platforms (*r*=0.41, *P*=.02). Apps that had to be purchased ("not free apps") were more likely to be ranked in the top 200 in their respective category in the App Store (r=0.43, P=.01). There was no correlation between the price of the app and the size of the organization, the organization type, or platform. Additionally, we did not find a significant positive or negative correlation between the size of the organization and its status as a for-profit organization.

Content Related to Milk Production and Diverse Representations of Breastfeeding Within Breastfeeding Apps

Educational content related to milk production (Multimedia Appendix 3) was identified in 13 apps. Seven of these 13 apps also contained features that could assist mothers with promoting, tracking, or interpreting milk production. Since the diversity scoresheet could only be applied to screenshots that contained educational content about milk production, the scores from the content and diversity scoresheets were combined for all analyses. The average combined content and diversity score for all 13 education apps was 15.3 (SD 8.8). To the best of our knowledge, these apps were not created by infant formula companies. The Healthcare Provider's Guide to Breastfeeding app received the highest combined content and diversity score (32/78), while the Breastfeeding Management 2 app received the lowest combined content and diversity score (4/78). The app with the highest quality of content was the Health Care Provider's Guide to Breastfeeding, with 79.2% of all the content reviewed containing in-text citations or reference lists to relevant peer-reviewed literature. The apps with the lowest quality of content were Breastfeeding Central and Breastfeeding Management 2; the content reviewed in these apps did not have any references (Figure 2).

Table 5. Scores of 18 features related to milk production.

Sidhu et al

Unique feature (N=18)	Rationale	Score
Baby sound recorder [16,26]	Related to milk production (1 point) AND user engagement <i>throughout</i> activity (2 points) AND used ≥ 1 times/ week (2 points)	5
Photos (of baby) [16,26]	Related to milk production (1 point) AND user engagement <i>throughout</i> activity (2 points) AND used \geq 1 times/ week (2 points)	5
Bottle-feeding timer [16,17]	Related to milk production (1 point) AND user engagement <i>at beginning or end</i> of activity (1 point) AND used \geq 1 times/ week (2 points)	4
Breastfeeding timer [16,17]	Related to milk production (1 point) AND user engagement <i>at beginning or end</i> of activity (1 point) AND used \geq 1 times/ week (2 points)	4
Breast-pumping timer [16,17]	Related to milk production (1 point) AND user engagement <i>at beginning or end</i> of activity (1 point) AND used \geq 1 times/ week (2 points)	4
Diaper-change tracker [16,17]	Related to milk production (1 point) AND user engagement <i>at beginning or end</i> of activity (1 point) AND used \geq 1 times/ week (2 points)	4
Sleep pattern [16,17]	Related to milk production (1 point) AND user engagement <i>at beginning or end</i> of activity (1 point) AND used \geq 1 times/ week (2 points)	4
To-do list or reminders [27]	Related to milk production (1 point) AND user engagement <i>at beginning or end</i> of activity (1 point) AND used \geq 1 times/ week (2 points)	4
Baby's mood [28]	Related to milk production (1 point) AND user engagement <i>at beginning or end</i> of activity (1 point) AND used \geq 1 times/ <i>month</i> (1 point)	3
Allergy [29]	Related to milk production (1 point) AND either user engagement at beginning or end of activity (1 point) OR used ≥ 1 times/ month (1 point)	2
Doctor visits [30]	Related to milk production (1 point) AND either user engagement at beginning or end of activity (1 point) OR used ≥ 1 times/ month (1 point)	2
Growth [31]	Related to milk production (1 point) AND either user engagement at beginning or end of activity (1 point) OR used ≥ 1 times/ month (1 point)	2
Milestones [32]	Related to milk production (1 point) AND either user engagement at beginning or end of activity (1 point) OR used ≥ 1 times/ month (1 point)	2
Illness or temperature [33]	Related to milk production (1 point) AND either user engagement at beginning or end of activity (1 point) OR used \geq 1 times/ month (1 point)	2
Baby's medication tracker [34]	Related to milk production (1 point) AND <i>minimal to no</i> user engagement (0 points) AND used <2 times/ <i>month</i> (0 points)	1
Teeth [34-36]	Related to milk production (1 point) AND <i>minimal to no</i> user engagement (0 points) AND used <2 times/ <i>month</i> (0 points)	1
Record weight/height/date of birth [16,17]	Related to milk production (1 point) AND <i>minimal to no</i> user engagement (0 points) AND used <2 times/ <i>month</i> (0 points)	1
Record singleton/multiples birth [16,17]	Related to milk production (1 point) AND <i>minimal to no</i> user engagement (0 points) AND used <2 times/ <i>month</i> (0 points)	1



Figure 1. Differences in mean feature scores, stratified by type of app, category (eg, medical or health and fitness), and organization. iOS: iPhone operating system; Org: organization. Asterisk indicates P=.04; double asterisk indicates P=.0096.



Figure 2. Combined content and diversity scores (n=13). HCP: health care provider; BF: breastfeeding; LVHN: Lehigh Valley Health Network Baby.



Combined Content & Diversity Score

A total of 48 photos of the breastfeeding dyad were identified within the screenshots containing educational content related to milk production. Of these, 87.5% (n=42) were of white women and infants. Only 12.5% (n=6) of the photos were of nonwhite women (n=5) or of a nontraditional caretaker—the father (n=1).

The interrater percent agreement between AS and SS on combined content and diversity scoring was 90.23%. The

majority of disagreements between the authors was on scoring within the diversity scoresheet. Although diversity represented 8% of the combined content and diversity score, it represented over 20% of the disagreements between AS and SS. The discrepancies were due to disagreements about what aspects of diversity should be quantified (gender, race/ethnicity, and pumping vs direct feeding).

Figure 3. Differences in mean combined content and diversity scores, stratified by app type, category, and organization. iOS: iPhone operating system; Org: organization.



Characteristics of Apps Containing Educational Content About Milk Production

Among the apps that contained educational content about milk production, there were no differences (Figure 3) in the mean combined content and diversity scores between the apps that were free and not free (P=.61), created by for-profit companies and any other organizations (P=.77), developed by a small organization and a large organization (P=.61), or between apps ranked in the top 200 and unranked apps (P=.88). Large organizations (>10 employees) were much more likely to create free apps (r=1.0, P<.001). There was no correlation between the organization type and business size, platform, or price of the app.

Discussion

Principal Findings

In this novel breastfeeding app review, we identified and evaluated features and educational content related to milk production and quantified the diversity of images of breastfeeding experiences within selected screenshots. Although Social Cognitive Theory has been widely used to develop and implement successful health and breastfeeding interventions, to our knowledge, we are the first to use Social Cognitive Theory to inform our evaluation of features, content, and images within smartphone apps [8]. We identified a dearth of high-quality textual and multimedia educational content related

RenderX

to milk production within selected screenshots of breastfeeding apps. Although previous breastfeeding app reviews did not specifically focus on content related to milk production, Taki et al used criteria centered around quality, comprehensibility, suitability, and readability to conclude that educational information within infant-feeding apps was not evidence-based [37]. Using these criteria, they found that 78% of infant-feeding apps (36/46) received a "low-quality" rating because the content was not credible or comprehensive [36]. The average combined content and diversity score among the 13 breastfeeding apps reviewed in our study was 15.3 of 78 points; thus, our findings of low-quality educational content within breastfeeding apps are in agreement with the conclusions of Taki et al about content in infant-feeding apps.

A review of milk supply or milk production educational materials in digital or print media or resources has never been performed. Our results indicate that there is ample room for improvement in the development and delivery of educational content related to milk production within breastfeeding apps. The majority of breastfeeding apps in our review did not reference peer-reviewed scholarly literature. For example, in the Pregnancy and Parenting app, an app by Lamaze International, the user was referred to a website that referenced "The Official Lamaze Guide: Giving Birth with Confidence." Although most breastfeeding apps broadly covered content within all eight categories, the information provided was superficial and poorly cited. There was a surprising lack of images or videos to help describe educational content related

to milk production. As multimedia can be helpful in explaining difficult concepts, like supply-demand physiology or breastfeeding techniques [20,21], we hope that this review will stimulate developers to incorporate engaging breastfeeding educational content into apps.

The features, content, and general characteristics identified in this review can help consumers make informed breastfeeding app purchases by outlining features related to promoting, tracking, interpreting, or teaching about milk production. The top three features (breastfeeding timer, bottle feeding timer, and diaper changes) were included in 85.7% of all reviewed apps. However, only seven apps contained both features and educational content related to milk production. Among these seven apps, four were created by breast pump companies. Without high-quality educational content about milk production within apps containing features that allow for milk production tracking, mothers may interpret the data incorrectly and assume that they are not producing enough milk [6,7,9]. Thus, breastfeeding app creators could use the scoresheets and key findings within this review to develop apps that integrate features to promote breastfeeding self-efficacy with high-quality educational content related to milk production.

In line with the work of Schindler-Ruwisch et al, we found that for-profit companies and large businesses are more likely to create free breastfeeding apps [38]. Schindler-Ruwisch et al completed a content analysis of 53 breastfeeding apps in which they established that the majority of breastfeeding apps were free and developed by for-profit organizations [38]. Their review was limited in scope because the apps were not downloaded and explored; thus, features and educational content were not comprehensively assessed. Moreover, Schindler-Ruwisch et al did not investigate whether for-profit companies developed breastfeeding apps containing features that can assist with tracking milk production or high-quality educational content that aligns with a health behavior theoretical framework [38].

We found that large businesses were more likely to create apps that received a high combined content and diversity score and for-profit companies were more likely to create apps that received a high score on the features scoresheet. Likely due to the small sample size of our dataset, a large business (>10 employees) was not associated with for-profit status. Only one app (Similac; Abbot, IL) in our dataset was created by an infant formula company. Although Similac's features were evaluated, none of its content was related to milk production. Therefore, it was not included in our educational content review.

To our knowledge, we are the first to report a dearth of breastfeeding imagery diversity within smartphone apps. The lack of diversity in the portrayal of the breastfeeding experience has been reported within print and online media, television, and film [23-25]. Foss found that in television and film, breastfeeding was depicted in a positive light; however, the majority of the breastfeeding characters were educated, older Caucasian women [23]. In British newspapers and television programs, breastfeeding was associated with upper-class and celebrity parents, while formula feeding was a normal, not embarrassing or problematic, infant-feeding alternative [39]. The diversity scoresheet developed for this review is similar to

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12364/
```

the method that Frerichs et al used for scoring breastfeeding images within popular magazines in the United States [25]. Frerichs et al awarded points to images if they contained pictures of a parent or parents with a baby, whether breastfeeding, bottle feeding, or not feeding [25]. Additionally, they awarded points to images of different races (white, African American, or other). The majority of the people pictured in the images identified by Frerichs et al within popular magazines were white (77.8%), with African Americans in 20.8% of the photos [25]. Frerichs et al concluded that this heterogeneity was representative of the US population, which was only 12.3% African American in 2000 [25]. Of the 241 images reviewed by Frerichs et al, the majority (n=197, 81.4%) were of the mother and her infant and 19% (n=46) were of fathers only [25]. In line with the conclusions of Foss and Frerichs et al, we speculate that it is unlikely that low-income women, minority women, and nontraditional caretakers (grandmothers, fathers, adoptive mothers, etc) would feel empowered to meet their infant-feeding goals using the breastfeeding apps in our review.

Limitations

The most significant limitation of our approach is the small sample size due to the narrow inclusion criteria and the inability to evaluate Android-exclusive apps. There was significant bias in the data-extraction process, as only one author (SS) identified features related to milk production. Some apps included in the review were based on a freemium business model, meaning that some sections and features of the app were available for free, while other features required a payment to be unlocked. All analyses in this review included features available only in the freemium version; thus, these apps were analyzed within the "free" category. It is unknown how the features and combined content and diversity scores of these apps would have changed if the premium features were unlocked and explored. Apps were divided into two categories: those created by for-profit companies and those created by all other organizations, including nonprofits, individuals, and government. Businesses whose employee information could not be found were assumed to have fewer than 10 employees and stratified into that group for analysis. Thus, our comparisons of different groups may not accurately represent the apps and app developers within that group.

The features, content, and diversity scoresheets were not validated in this study; thus, additional studies will be needed to validate our approach for feature and content evaluation related to milk production within breastfeeding apps. By design, the content scoresheet focused exclusively on assessing the leading cause of breastfeeding cessation-perceived or real low milk production. Thus, it is possible that apps with high-quality content on a different breastfeeding topic were misrepresented as "low quality" due to our targeted content evaluation. Another important limitation of the content scoresheet lies in its inability to encompass how comprehensively or correctly a certain topic was covered. For example, some apps provided dozens of examples of biologic causes of low milk production, while others only mentioned one. In both cases, these apps would receive a point for addressing content within the "Biology or Behavior" category. Incorrect or outdated information was frequently found in apps; however, this was not counted against

```
XSL•FO
```

the developer, as the content scoresheet did not contain a quantitative way of measuring incidence of faulty information provision. The qualifications of the content creators within the apps were not further investigated by the authors. For example, a point was awarded within a category if the author had an advanced degree; however, we did not examine whether that individual's advanced degree was in a field relevant to the topic about which they were writing. The authors used percent agreement as the measurement of interrater reliability, which does not take into consideration chance agreement.

Finally, a substantial limitation of our approach is that none of scoresheets (features, content, and diversity) incorporated a method of evaluating user interface, user experience, or app design. At times, poor design obstructed our ability to efficiently evaluate content or assess features. We recommend that app developers conduct sufficient user testing to ensure easy identification of features and content, progress from one screen to the next in a logical manner, and minimalistic and simple design to reduce clutter on each screen.

Conclusions

To our knowledge, we are the first to identify and evaluate, using scoresheets informed by Social Cognitive Theory, the features and content related to milk production in 41 breastfeeding apps. We identified a dearth of high-quality, engaging, educational content related to milk production. The majority of the breastfeeding imagery within the screenshots containing educational content about milk production depicted white women; thus, it is likely that parents, especially those from minority or low-income groups, have limited options to choose from when selecting an app to reach their breastfeeding goals. For-profit companies and large organizations were most likely to create free apps that received high scores on the combined content and diversity or features scoresheet, respectively. The findings in this review will be useful for health care providers and parents when recommending or selecting breastfeeding apps, respectively, and for app creators when developing content and features to increase breastfeeding self-efficacy.

Acknowledgments

We wish to thank Suzanne Hetzel Campbell and Samantha Chuisano for their careful review of the manuscript. We also wish to acknowledge the contributions of Dalia Kaakour, Anita Gunaseelan, Rachel Atwood, Ashlynn Daughton, Ileisha Sanders, and Samantha Koehler in early analyses of breastfeeding apps completed at LiquidGoldConcept, Inc.

AS was supported by the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences, National Institutes of Health, through grant number UL1 TR001860 and linked award TL1 TR001861. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH.

Conflicts of Interest

AS is the Chief Executive Officer, President, and majority shareholder of LiquidGoldConcept, Inc. KM has received stock options from LiquidGoldConcept Inc.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Breastfeeding app and app creator/organization description. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 54KB - pediatrics_v2i1e12364_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Comprehensive list of features identified within breastfeeding apps. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 71KB - pediatrics v2i1e12364 app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Eight content categories related to milk production. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 63KB - pediatrics v2i1e12364 app3.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Breastfeeding app–selection process. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 53KB - pediatrics_v2i1e12364_app4.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 5 Reasons for excluding select breastfeeding apps. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 55KB - pediatrics v2i1e12364 app5.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 6 General characteristics of breastfeeding apps and app developers.

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12364/



[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 56KB - pediatrics_v2i1e12364_app6.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 7 Final breastfeeding app dataset (N=41). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 53KB - pediatrics_v2i1e12364_app7.pdf]

References

- Victora CG, Bahl R, Barros AJD, França GVA, Horton S, Krasevec J, Lancet Breastfeeding Series Group. Breastfeeding in the 21st century: epidemiology, mechanisms, and lifelong effect. Lancet 2016 Jan 30;387(10017):475-490. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01024-7] [Medline: 26869575]
- 2. World Health Organization. The optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding: report of the expert consultation URL: <u>http://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/infantfeeding/WHO_NHD_01.09/en/</u> [accessed 2019-04-05] [WebCite Cache ID 72nhgJif2]
- 3. Section on Breastfeeding. Breastfeeding and the use of human milk. Pediatrics 2012 Mar;129(3):e827-e841. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-3552] [Medline: 22371471]
- 4. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Breastfeeding Report Card: United States, 2018 URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/breastfeeding/pdf/2018breastfeedingreportcard.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-04-05] [WebCite Cache ID 72nhUfe4E]
- Anstey EH, Chen J, Elam-Evans LD, Perrine CG. Racial and Geographic Differences in Breastfeeding United States, 2011-2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2017 Jul 14;66(27):723-727 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6627a3] [Medline: 28704352]
- 6. Gatti L. Maternal perceptions of insufficient milk supply in breastfeeding. J Nurs Scholarsh 2008;40(4):355-363 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1547-5069.2008.00234.x] [Medline: 19094151]
- Rozga MR, Kerver JM, Olson BH. Self-reported reasons for breastfeeding cessation among low-income women enrolled in a peer counseling breastfeeding support program. J Hum Lact 2015 Feb;31(1):129-137. [doi: 10.1177/0890334414548070] [Medline: 25158829]
- 8. Tuthill EL, McGrath JM, Graber M, Cusson RM, Young SL. Breastfeeding Self-efficacy: A Critical Review of Available Instruments. J Hum Lact 2016 Feb;32(1):35-45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0890334415599533] [Medline: 26319113]
- Kent JC, Hepworth AR, Langton DB, Hartmann PE. Impact of Measuring Milk Production by Test Weighing on Breastfeeding Confidence in Mothers of Term Infants. Breastfeed Med 2015;10(6):318-325. [doi: <u>10.1089/bfm.2015.0025</u>] [Medline: <u>26090790</u>]
- 10. BabyCenter 2CMIS. IAB. 2015 State of Modern Motherhood: MobileMedia in the Lives of Moms URL: <u>https://www.</u> iab.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/2015_State_of_Modern_Motherhood_IAB_ALM_Final.pdf [accessed 2018-09-29] [WebCite Cache ID 72niO2wZs]
- 11. Alianmoghaddam N, Phibbs S, Benn C. "I did a lot of Googling": A qualitative study of exclusive breastfeeding support through social media. Women Birth 2018 Jun 16. [doi: 10.1016/j.wombi.2018.05.008] [Medline: 29921552]
- Demirci JR, Cohen SM, Parker M, Holmes A, Bogen DL. Access, Use, and Preferences for Technology-Based Perinatal and Breastfeeding Support Among Childbearing Women. J Perinat Educ 2016;25(1):29-36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1891/1058-1243.25.1.29] [Medline: 26848248]
- Coughlin SS. The need for research-tested smartphone applications for promoting breastfeeding. Mhealth 2016 May;2(5) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2016.04.03] [Medline: 27231691]
- 14. Meatti. 2018 Dec. 40 App Store SEO Tips to Boost App Downloads (2019 ASO Guide for iOS & Google Play Apps) URL: https://www.meatti.com/blog/app-seo-increase-app-downloads/ [accessed 2019-04-05] [WebCite Cache ID 76EWw4nPM]
- 15. Chen M, Liu X. Predicting Popularity of Online Distributed Applications: ITunes App Store Case Analysis. In: Proceedings of the 2011 iConference. New York, NY, USA: ACM; 2011 Presented at: 2011 iConference; February 08-11, 2011; Seattle, Washington, USA p. 661-663. [doi: 10.1145/1940761.1940859]
- 16. Wambach K, Riordan J. Breastfeeding And Human Lactation, Enhanced Fifth Edition. Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning; 2019.
- 17. Lawrence RA, Lawrence RM. Breastfeeding: A Guide For The Medical Profession. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier; 2019.
- 18. Bandura A. Social Cognitive Theory. In: The International Encyclopedia of Communication. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2008.
- 19. Dennis CL, Faux S. Development and psychometric testing of the Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy Scale. Res Nurs Health 1999 Oct;22(5):399-409. [Medline: 10520192]
- 20. Wallace LM, Ma Y, Qiu LQ, Dunn OM. Educational videos for practitioners attending Baby Friendly Hospital Initiative workshops supporting breastfeeding positioning, attachment and hand expression skills: Effects on knowledge and confidence. Nurse Educ Pract 2018 Jul;31:7-13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.nepr.2018.04.005] [Medline: 29727794]
- Lumbiganon P, Martis R, Laopaiboon M, Festin MR, Ho JJ, Hakimi M. Antenatal breastfeeding education for increasing breastfeeding duration. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2016 Dec 06;12:CD006425. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD006425.pub4</u>] [Medline: <u>27922724</u>]

- 22. Angell C. An Everyday Trauma: How the Media Portrays Infant Feeding. In: Luce A, Hundley V, van Teijlingen E, editors. Midwifery, Childbirth and the Media. Basingstoke, United Kingdom: Palgrave Macmillan, Cham; 2017:45-59.
- 23. Gagliano ME. A literature review on the efficacy of video in patient education. J Med Educ 1988 Oct;63(10):785-792. [Medline: <u>3050102</u>]
- 24. Foss KA. "That's not a beer bong, it's a breast pump!" Representations of breastfeeding in prime-time fictional television. Health Commun 2013;28(4):329-340. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2012.685692] [Medline: 22746199]
- 25. Frerichs L, Andsager JL, Campo S, Aquilino M, Stewart Dyer C. Framing breastfeeding and formula-feeding messages in popular U.S. magazines. Women Health 2006;44(1):95-118. [doi: 10.1300/J013v44n01_06] [Medline: 17182529]
- 26. Leng G, Caquineau C, Sabatier N. Regulation of oxytocin secretion. Vitam Horm 2005;71:27-58. [doi: 10.1016/S0083-6729(05)71002-5] [Medline: 16112264]
- Skouteris H, Bailey C, Nagle C, Hauck Y, Bruce L, Morris H. Interventions Designed to Promote Exclusive Breastfeeding in High-Income Countries: A Systematic Review Update. Breastfeed Med 2017 Dec;12(10):604-614. [doi: 10.1089/bfm.2017.0065] [Medline: 28885859]
- DaMota K, Bañuelos J, Goldbronn J, Vera-Beccera LE, Heinig MJ. Maternal request for in-hospital supplementation of healthy breastfed infants among low-income women. J Hum Lact 2012 Nov;28(4):476-482. [doi: <u>10.1177/0890334412445299</u>] [Medline: <u>22628291</u>]
- 29. Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine. ABM Clinical Protocol #24: Allergic Proctocolitis in the Exclusively Breastfed Infant. Breastfeed Med 2011 Dec;6(6):435-440. [doi: 10.1089/bfm.2011.9977] [Medline: 22050274]
- 30. Committee on Practice and Ambulatory Medicine. Recommendations for Preventive Pediatric Health Care. Pediatrics 2000 Mar 01;105(3):645-646. [doi: 10.1542/peds.105.3.645]
- 31. WHO Multicentre Growth Reference Study Group. WHO Child Growth Standards based on length/height, weight and age. Acta Paediatr Suppl 2006 Apr;450:76-85. [Medline: <u>16817681</u>]
- 32. Campoy C, Campos D, Cerdó T, Diéguez E, García-Santos JA. Complementary Feeding in Developed Countries: The 3 Ws (When, What, and Why?). Ann Nutr Metab 2018;73 Suppl 1:27-36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000490086] [Medline: 30196294]
- Odom EC, Li R, Scanlon KS, Perrine CG, Grummer-Strawn L. Reasons for earlier than desired cessation of breastfeeding. Pediatrics 2013 Mar;131(3):e726-e732 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-1295] [Medline: 23420922]
- 34. Ertem IO, Votto N, Leventhal JM. The timing and predictors of the early termination of breastfeeding. Pediatrics 2001 Mar;107(3):543-548. [Medline: <u>11230597</u>]
- 35. Primo LG, Alves AC, Pomarico I, Gleiser R. Interruption of breast feeding caused by the presence of neonatal teeth. Braz Dent J 1995;6(2):137-142. [Medline: <u>8688659</u>]
- 36. Moura LFAD, Moura MS, Lima MDM, Lima CCB, Dantas-Neta NB, Lopes TSP. Natal and neonatal teeth: a review of 23 cases. J Dent Child (Chic) 2014;81(2):107-111. [Medline: 25198955]
- Taki S, Campbell KJ, Russell CG, Elliott R, Laws R, Denney-Wilson E. Infant Feeding Websites and Apps: A Systematic Assessment of Quality and Content. Interact J Med Res 2015 Sep 29;4(3) [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/ijmr.4323</u>] [Medline: <u>26420339</u>]
- Schindler-Ruwisch JM, Roess A, Robert RC, Napolitano MA, Chiang S. Social Support for Breastfeeding in the Era of mHealth: A Content Analysis. J Hum Lact 2018 Aug;34(3):543-555. [doi: 10.1177/0890334418773302] [Medline: 29787686]
- Henderson L, Kitzinger J, Green J. Representing infant feeding: content analysis of British media portrayals of bottle feeding and breast feeding. BMJ 2000 Nov 11;321(7270):1196-1198 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>11073512</u>]

Abbreviations

SCT: Social Cognitive Theory

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 30.09.18; peer-reviewed by J Schindler-Ruwisch, C Sutter, J Scott; comments to author 22.11.18; revised version received 16.02.19; accepted 24.03.19; published 01.05.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Sidhu S, Ma K, Sadovnikova A Features and Educational Content Related to Milk Production in Breastfeeding Apps: Content Analysis Informed by Social Cognitive Theory JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12364 URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12364/ doi:10.2196/12364 PMID:<u>31518317</u>



©Suhail Sidhu, Kaoer Ma, Anna Sadovnikova. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 01.05.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Concerns of Female Adolescents About Menarche and First Sexual Intercourse: Mixed Methods Analysis of Social Media Questions

Nikkie Saldivar Hodgson¹, PhD; Elad Yom-Tov^{2,3}, PhD; William F Strong¹, PhD; Priscilla L Flores¹, MA; Giselle N Ricov⁴, MSHS

¹University of Texas - Rio Grande Valley, Brownsville, TX, United States

²Technion, Haifa, Israel

³Microsoft Research, Herzeliya, Israel

⁴School of Osteopathic Medicine, University of the Incarnate Word, San Antonio, TX, United States

Corresponding Author:

Elad Yom-Tov, PhD Microsoft Research 13 Shenkar St Herzeliya, Israel Phone: 972 747111359 Email: eladyt@yahoo.com

Abstract

Background: Adolescents use social media for information on medical and social aspects of maturation.

Objective: The aim of this study was to investigate the concerns and information needs of adolescents regarding menarche and first sexual intercourse.

Methods: Questions about menarche or first sexual intercourse were obtained from Yahoo Answers, a community-based social media question-and-answer website. A total of 1226 questions were analyzed. We focused on 123 question pairs made by users who asked questions on both topics and reported their ages at each. Quantitative and qualitative analyses were performed on these question pairs.

Results: Qualitative analysis identified uncertainty as a significant theme for both menarche and first intercourse. Quantitative analysis showed that uncertainty was expressed in 26% (13/50) of menarche questions and 14% (7/50) of intercourse questions. Lack of communication was expressed in 4% (2/50) of menarche questions, compared with 8% (4/50) of intercourse questions. Ages at menarche and at first sexual intercourse were correlated, with women reporting menarche at the age of 13 years or younger being 2.6 times more likely to experience first sexual intercourse before the age of 16 years (P<.001, chi-square test). Older age at menarche was associated with greater lack of communication with parents (analysis of variance, P=.002).

Conclusions: The questions of adolescents on the topics of menarche and first sexual intercourse express anxiety and uncertainty and are associated with a lack of information and deficient communication with parents. The more normative and expected a behavior, the less these factors appear. Therefore, parents and educators should, to the extent possible, improve communication around these topics, especially when they occur at less typical ages.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e13158) doi:10.2196/13158

KEYWORDS

menarche; sexual intercourse; social media; infodemiology; infoveillance

Introduction

Background

RenderX

Today's generation of adolescents is the largest in human history. With a population of 1.8 billion, 10- to 24-year-olds

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e13158/

now comprise over a quarter of the global population. Adolescents have been a neglected age group in health care owing to various socioeconomic, political, and cultural factors that may deprive this age group of information, services, and health care professionals who are age-appropriate,

gender-appropriate, nonjudgmental, and supportive [1]. Adolescents' search for care may be restricted owing to barriers such as fear, embarrassment, lack of knowledge, misinformation and myths, stigma, and shame [1]. As confidentiality regarding sexual and reproductive health (SRH) issues is a major concern to adolescents, they often turn to the internet for answers to their health-related questions [2]. Access to SRH information is vital as adolescents are significantly at risk for premature parenthood, serious injury and infections, mental disorders, and substance abuse [3]. According to Morris and Rushwan [1], "young people are reaching puberty earlier, often engaging in sexual activity at a younger age, and marrying later." As a result, adolescents are sexually mature preceding marriage for a longer time than ever before, lending to the pivotal importance of adolescent SRH.

During adolescence, the adult self begins to emerge and one's self-identity is born [4]. The physical, emotional, and psychosocial changes occurring at this stage prompt numerous SRH questions [2]. At this time, a child begins making decisions independently of the parents and begins to build the foundation for future health and well-being. These decisions regarding sexual attitudes, values, and risk-related behaviors can be influenced by parental modeling of honest, transparent communication and conveyance of sexual information. However, sexual communication between the parent and adolescent often does not take place and barriers such as judgment, misinformation, and low self-efficacy [5] arise. The aim of this study was to explore concerns of adolescents surrounding SRH as it relates to menarche, first sexual intercourse, and psychosocial environmental influence.

Conceptual Framework for Adolescent Health

The onset of puberty has long been accepted as the starting point of adolescence [6]. Key social role transitions such as completion of education, commencement of employment, marriage, and child rearing have historically signaled the completion of adolescence and entry into adult life [6]. Improvements in childhood hygiene, nutrition, and health have resulted in downward trends in the age of onset of puberty. This trend has essentially ceased in the majority of high-income countries where the main age of menarche (used as a proxy marker for pubertal development) has largely stabilized at about 12 to 13 years [6]. At the same time, there has been a dramatic increase in the age at which adult social roles and responsibilities are being adopted. In most countries at present, adolescents are spending longer times obtaining an education and are marrying and having children later [7].

In this study, the intersection of biology and social context in adolescent SRH is examined as it influences health-related behaviors and health outcomes. An example of a health-related behavior is engagement in unsafe sexual activity. Adolescents make up a quarter of the sexually active population in the United States and acquire half of all sexually transmitted infections [5]. Adolescents are also at risk for unintentional pregnancy. These health behaviors have significant consequences for adolescent health, their future life determinants, and a long-term impact on their families and communities [5].

Methods

Data and Data Collection

We extracted, using a crawler, a sample of question pairs from Yahoo Answers [8], a community-based social media question-and-answer website, such that each pair was made by the same user (albeit at different times). We required that 1 question in the pair contained the words *first period* and a phrase that could indicate an age (ie, "I'm XX," "XX year," or "XX year old," where XX are numbers between 0 and 30), and the second question in the pair contained the word *sex* and phrases that would indicate first intercourse (ie, *lose* or *lost* within 10 characters of the word *virgin*, *virginity*, *boyfriend*, or *first time*).

The extracted questions were independently labeled by 2 of the authors such that 100 questions were labeled by both, and the remaining questions by one of the authors. Each question was labeled as to whether the first question in a pair was related to menarche and separately whether the second question was related to first intercourse. In addition, for those questions labeled in the affirmative, the labelers extracted the age of menarche or first intercourse, if the asker provided it in the question. Agreement among the raters was estimated for the 100 questions labeled by both using Cohen kappa statistic [9].

After filtering, the questions were paired according to the anonymized user identifier provided by Yahoo Answers.

These data are particularly reliable because previous studies [10,11] showed that anonymity provides for honesty when matters of health are at stake. Many reliability studies have demonstrated that such data are particularly reliable because the subject wants credible information and advice about their problems and concerns [12].

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Technion.

Analysis

A narrative approach was used to analyze the dataset to determine the distrust adolescent females have regarding parent-adolescent communication about menarche and first sexual intercourse. We subjected the content of all the questions and comments of each subject to a QSR NVivo analysis [13] to identify recurring themes within the dataset. Specifically, transcripts of the questions were coded to identify consistent repetition of relevant words, phrases, sentences, and sections. On the basis of this coding of the transcripts, categories were created and sorted into themes. Categories were then labeled on the basis of the connections between the codes that made them up.

The data were then subjected to quantitative analysis on the variables of menarche and first intercourse.

Results

Data

A total of 1226 questions were analyzed. Of those, 270 were judged to discuss menarche and 147 were judged to discuss first
intercourse. A subset of 123 users asked questions in both the menarche and first intercourse sets and reported ages therein.

Cohen kappa agreement among raters for whether the first posting was menarche-related was 0.72 (*P*<.001). The agreement for whether the second posting was about first intercourse was 0.87 (*P*<.001). These values are considered very high.

Qualitative Analysis

Figure 1 shows the most popular words in menarche and, separately, first intercourse questions. In the qualitative analysis,

we identified 1 significant theme from the participants' narratives as it relates to menarche and first sexual intercourse: uncertainty. This theme is supported by the following subthemes: lack of accurate information about their own growth and development and a lack of communication with family and peers. The results led to insights for fostering a transparent, honest climate for sexual communication.

Figure 1. The most popular words for menarche (top) and first intercourse (bottom). All words that appeared 10 or more times, excluding stopwords, are shown.



XSL•FO RenderX

Uncertainty

This theme is based on the presence of anxiety, worry, and fear about becoming fully developed, a full-fledged adult, and a woman. These changes during adolescence create confusion about what is normal as it relates to menarche and first sexual intercourse. The following are examples of questions asked on the community-based question-and-answer website demonstrating the theme of uncertainty used in our dataset:

- "I'm going to a sleepover tonight but I'm on my period. I'm 13. I don't know what to do because I don't want people to find out. Help!!"
- 2. "I'm 13 years old and 10 months and my period came from 10 months and until now I don't have any period. I'm a virgin. I'll be going to the GYNO and I'm little bit scared but will the doctor examine me? If yes, what should I do, like shave, wipe the discharge? Please help me. Take your time answering, I'm scared."
- 3. "Ok so I'm 13 and I really want to have sex, is 13 ok? I'm really confused. Can you help me? I am scared and confused. I know I'm young, but I'm like obsessed with it. Can you help me?"

Lack of Information and Lack of Communication

In the narratives, there is a lack of clarity about the experience of menstruation and sexual desire/activity and a lack of communication for support and knowledge from parents and peers, which in turn creates myths and misconceptions. The following are examples of questions asked on the community-based question-and-answer website demonstrating the subtheme of lack of information and lack of communication used in our dataset:

 "Okay I live with my dad, and like NEVER see my mom, or my grandparents or my aunt, and I don't really feel comfortable telling my dad or either my grandparents are worse! I don't feel comfortable confronting my dad face to face, and emailing him or writing a note to him, seems kind of stupid (no defense), but how do I tell my dad I started my period? Next month will be my 4th period, please help. Like 3 years ago (btw I'm 14 now) he got my aunt to buy me some pads and talk to me about it. Please give me hints and/ or tips on how to tell him or even your own personal stories! Also I'm really shy so I don't feel comfortable talking to any friends moms about it! BUT PLEASE HELP ME!"

- 2. "Help!!!!!!!! I'm 11 yr. 12 in August, I have no idea what to do. I told my mom, but she said it's kind of early for me... I'm the only one in my class, who has started and how am I supposed to hide it? I just take it..Help!!! I need somebody, I feel really alone. I know if I tell one of my 3 sisters they are going to tease me and say awwww you are growing up. I just have no idea what to do!!! OMG!"
- 3. "I'm 18 and my mom made me an appointment for the gyno because I have irregular periods...at the time she made it I had never had sex before...last night was my first time...she filled out the sheet and everything saying no I'm not sexually active and all that...I'm not telling her that I had sex last night. I do not plan on having sex again anytime soon considering it was a big mistake last night. Since it was my first time and I'm not going to be doing it all the time. Now do I have to tell the gyno I have had sex? If so, should I just leave the sheet checked no and then tell them I filled that out before it happened?"

Quantitative Analysis

A total of 270 women reported their age in their menarche question, and 147 women reported their age in their first intercourse question. The distribution of ages is shown in Figure 2. The agreement between the cumulative distribution of reported age of menarche and the distribution reported in the literature [14] is 0.94 (P<.001). The agreement for first intercourse (compared with a study by Martinez and Abma [15]) is 0.95 (P=.01).

Figure 2. Distribution of age at menarche and age at first intercourse as reported in the questions.



RenderX

Figure 3. Correlation between the age of menarche and the age of first intercourse (n=123). The dotted line shows a fit of a second-order polynomial with R^2 =0.1.



Figure 3 shows the correlation between the reported age of menarche and the age at first intercourse. As the figure shows, there was no association between the 2 ages for women whose age at menarche was 12 years or lower. However, when the age at menarche was higher, so was the age at first intercourse. Specifically, we found that women reporting menarche at the age of 13 years or younger were 2.6 times more likely to experience first sexual intercourse before the age of 16 years (P<.001, chi-square test). This finding is compared with literature that identifies adolescent females experiencing early menarche as twice as likely to have had intercourse by the age of 16 years than adolescent females with late menarche [16].

Following the themes identified in the qualitative research, we coded 50 question pairs for uncertainty about future effects, lack of information, and lack of communication with parents. Strikingly, 86% (43/50) of menarche questions and 44% (22/50) of first intercourse questions contained requests for information. Uncertainty was expressed in 26% (13/50) of menarche questions and 14% (7/50) of intercourse questions, and lack of communication was expressed in 4% (2/50) of menarche questions compared with 8% (4/50) of intercourse questions. An analysis of variance model found statistically significant interactions only between age of menarche and lack of communication (with higher ages reporting more communication problems; P=.002).

Discussion

This study examined the concerns and information needs of adolescents regarding menarche and first sexual intercourse as evident from questions on a social question-and-answer website, Yahoo Answers. Although online data have been used to study aspects of population health and especially health communication [17], we suggest that the use of online data, particularly social media, to study aspects of younger adult

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e13158/
```

health is advantageous because of these young adults make extensive use of such media, particularly for sensitive topics [11], such as sexual health.

This study's quantitative research shows that the older the adolescent female was at menarche, the older she was at first intercourse, as demonstrated in the previous literature [16]. The age at menarche can be attributed to additive genetic effects, dominance effects, and unique environmental effects, including, but certainly not limited to, in utero, population health, socioeconomic status, and psychosocial factors [18]. Our qualitative research explored the psychosocial environmental influences and found that the most significant and recurring theme regarding menarche and first sexual intercourse in questions asked by adolescent females in our dataset was uncertainty. The recurring, significant subthemes were lack of information and lack of communication. We can determine that adolescents are uncertain about what is normal and the impact that their behaviors (menarche and sexual intercourse) will have on their livelihood, their families' livelihood, and their communities' livelihood. This uncertainty, lack of information, and lack of communication is influenced by the adolescent's sexual socialization via their relationship and level of communication with parents, peers, and health care providers. Educators also play an important role in communicating information [19]. Though in many cases they are challenged in developing programs to effectively help adolescents to understand their uncertainties, surveys show that educators have become a more important source of information in recent years [20].

As a child enters adolescence, he or she is faced with all sorts of new information about sex, reproduction, culture, and societal expectations. Parents are vital agents of sexual socialization for children and adolescents. As per Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory [21], qualities of an adolescent's environment (including the family system) will reciprocally and dynamically

influence development. It is generally considered that parent-adolescent communication is associated with more responsible SRH among adolescents. According to Hutchinson et al [22], parents who communicate with their children about sex can positively influence sexual behaviors. Parent-adolescent communication, especially mother-adolescent sexual conversations, plays a protective role in more responsible SRH behaviors among adolescents that is more significant for female adolescents [5,23]. For example, 1 study identified "design and implementation of family-based approaches to improve parent-adolescent sexual risk communication as one means of reducing HIV-related sexual risk behaviors among inner-city adolescent females" [22]. Although adolescents may attempt to get their SRH information from other means (ie, peers or the internet), it is important for parents to discern that information, falsify the myths, and confirm the facts. In addition, it is important for the conversation about SRH to begin early and continue into emerging adulthood in the early twenties, where the riskiest behavior is likely to take place [24]. According to the literature [24], the parent-adolescent dialogue about SRH is one that, if begun early, is normative and healthy. Often, parents are inclined to shy away from discussing SRH because they are not comfortable doing so [25] and tend to delay discussions with their child until they believe they are already engaging in sexual behavior. Parents who do not take the time to enhance their own information and skills on SRH, are likely to disseminate inaccurate information resulting in less successful parent-adolescent communication and less positive impact on their child's SRH [26]. It is important for parents to communicate that they value their child's or adolescent's interest and opinions about SRH and be comfortable empowering their child or adolescent with SRH information, be it from themselves or a health care provider.

We found that menarche questions are primarily a request for information about current experiences, with less of an emphasis on future effects. This may be partly due to younger women finding it easier to communicate with parents on issues considered *normal* at their age, compared with teenagers who are older at the time of menarche. Many first sexual intercourse questions request information. However, here lack of communication is greater, reflecting an uneasiness to reveal highly personal behaviors to parents [27]. The media is also an important agent of socialization for adolescents and can also give adolescents contradictory messages. As adolescents are concerned about confidentiality regarding SRH, the internet serves as an accessible, anonymous, and interactive modality to explore sensitive or taboo topics that they may not feel comfortable asking parents or health care providers about. For example, the community-based question-and-answer website this study used to collect data is one in which any user of the website can supply *answers*. The major potential drawback to this mode of information is potentially inaccurate information and abusive language or content [2]. Religious beliefs, race, ethnicity, and education are other agents of sexual socialization within the family that can influence an adolescent's sexual self-identity [28].

The barriers adolescents face (ie, societal norms, confidentiality concerns, and embarrassment) accessing SRH care may explain why nearly one-fourth of young people say that they have not discussed sexual topics with a parent [5]. We believe that strategies, programs, and policies that aim to create a more supportive environment for adolescents to foster safer, more accessible, and informative care should be developed. Overall, 1 study showed that adolescents describe a beneficial health care provider to be friendly, which can be improved via service provider training and assured confidentiality [29]. Interventions can also be aimed at the parents of adolescents so that they learn what SRH information to discuss with their adolescents and how to convey that information to their adolescents. These interventions can help parents view themselves as valuable sources of information who can help shape their children's sexual socialization and acquire information and skills that make them more effective communicators [30]. Parents can model transparent, honest communication by being an approachable and attentive parent, including becoming aware of verbal and nonverbal behavior, tone of voice, content of verbalizations, warmth, and respect, which encourage more frequent and spontaneous conversations about SRH. As other literature divulges, further research on prevention of risky adolescent SRH should be aimed to inform programs and policies that target younger, at-risk adolescents [31]. Health care professionals and parents should recognize, consider, and invest in sources of sexual education to promote SRH responsibility in adolescents as parent-adolescent communication is a sexual health determinant and can influence the uncertainty that a female adolescent encounters at menarche and sexual maturity.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

XSL•F() RenderX

- 1. Morris JL, Rushwan H. Adolescent sexual and reproductive health: the global challenges. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2015 Oct;131(Suppl 1):S40-S42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2015.02.006] [Medline: 26433504]
- 2. Suzuki LK, Calzo JP. The search for peer advice in cyberspace: an examination of online teen bulletin boards about health and sexuality. J Appl Dev Psychol 2004 Nov;25(6):685-698. [doi: 10.1016/j.appdev.2004.09.002]
- 3. Melissa H. Gonadal hormones and sexual differentiation of human behavior: developments from research on endocrine syndromes and studies of brain structure. Ann Rev Sex Res 2012:1-48. [doi: 10.1080/10532528.1993.10559883]

- 4. Marshall WA, Tanner JM. Puberty. In: Falkner F, Tanner JM, editors. Postnatal Growth Neurobiology. New York: Springer; 1986:171-209.
- Widman L, Choukas-Bradley S, Noar SM, Nesi J, Garrett K. Parent-adolescent sexual communication and adolescent safer sex behavior: a meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr 2016 Jan;170(1):52-61 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.2731] [Medline: 26524189]
- 6. Biro FM, Dorn LD. Puberty and adolescent sexuality. Pediatr Ann 2005 Oct 1;34(10):777-784 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3928/0090-4481-20051001-09]
- 7. Pokorny-Golden C. The censoring of menstruation in adolescent literature—a growing problem. Women Reprod Health 2015 Jun 4;2(1):56-65. [doi: 10.1080/23293691.2015.1039443]
- 8. Yahoo Answers. URL: <u>http://answers.yahoo.com</u> [accessed 2019-05-15] [WebCite Cache ID 78OAB0nbo]
- 9. Cohen J. Weighted kappa: nominal scale agreement provision for scaled disagreement or partial credit. Psychol Bull 1968;70(4):213-220. [doi: 10.1037/h0026256]
- Pelleg D, Maarek Y, Yom-Tov E. Can You Believe an Anonymous Contributor? On Truthfulness in Yahoo! Answers. 2012 Presented at: 2012 International Conference on Privacy, Security, Risk and Trust and 2012 International Conference on Social Computing; September 3-5, 2012; Amsterdam, Netherlands p. 411-420.
- 11. Pelleg D, Savenkov D, Agichstein E. Touch screens for touchy issues: Analysis of accessing sensitive information from mobile devices. 2013 Presented at: ICWSM 2013; July 8-10, 2013; Boston, USA p. 496-505.
- 12. Twenge JM. Generation Me: Why Today's Young Americans Are More Confident, Assertive, Entitled--and More Miserable Than Ever Before. NY, USA: Free Press; 2006.
- 13. Bazeley P, Richards L. The Nvivo Qualitative Project Book. USA: Sage Publications Ltd; 2019.
- Cabrera SM, Bright GM, Frane JW, Blethen SL, Lee PA. Age of thelarche and menarche in contemporary US females: a cross-sectional analysis. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab 2014 Jan;27(1-2):47-51 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1515/jpem-2013-0286] [Medline: 23959659]
- Martinez GM, Abma JC. CDC Stacks. 2015. Sexual Activity, Contraceptive Use, and Childbearing of Teenagers Aged 15–19 in the United States URL: <u>https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/32514</u> [accessed 2019-05-15] [WebCite Cache ID 780BS9JIF]
- 16. Udry JR. Age at menarche, at first intercourse, and at first pregnancy. J Biosoc Sci 2008 Jul 31;11(04). [doi: 10.1017/S0021932000012517]
- 17. Yom-Tov E, Marino B, Pai J, Harris D, Wolf M. The effect of limited health literacy on how internet users learn about diabetes. J Health Commun 2016 Dec;21(10):1107-1114. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2016.1222033] [Medline: 27684112]
- Kaprio J, Rimpelä A, Winter T, Viken RJ, Rimpelä M, Rose RJ. Common genetic influences on BMI and age at menarche. Hum Biol 1995 Oct;67(5):739-753. [Medline: <u>8543288</u>]
- Shtarkshall RA, Santelli JS, Hirsch JS. Sex education and sexual socialization: roles for educators and parents. Perspect Sex Reprod Health 2007 Jun;39(2):116-119. [doi: 10.1363/3911607] [Medline: 17565625]
- 20. Sprecher S, Harris G, Meyers A. Perceptions of sources of sex education and targets of sex communication: sociodemographic and cohort effects. J Sex Res 2008;45(1):17-26. [doi: 10.1080/00224490701629522] [Medline: 18321027]
- 21. Bronfenbrenner U. Ecological systems theory. In: Vasta R, editor. Six Theories of Child Development: Revised Formulations and Current Issues. London, England: Jessica Kingsley Publishers; 1992:187-249.
- 22. Hutchinson M, Jemmott J, Jemmott LS, Braverman P, Fong GT. The role of mother–daughter sexual risk communication in reducing sexual risk behaviors among urban adolescent females: a prospective study. J Adolesc Health 2003 Aug;33(2):98-107. [doi: 10.1016/S1054-139X(03)00183-6]
- 23. Miller KS, Levin MI, Whitaker DJ, Xu X. Patterns of condom use among adolescents: the impact of mother-adolescent communication. Am J Public Health 1998 Oct;88(10):1542-1544. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.88.10.1542]
- 24. Lou C, Cheng Y, Gao E, Zuo X, Emerson MR, Zabin LS. Media's contribution to sexual knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors for adolescents and young adults in three Asian cities. J Adolesc Health 2012 Mar;50(3 Suppl):S26-S36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2011.12.009] [Medline: 22340853]
- 25. Somers CL, Paulson SE. Students' perceptions of parent-adolescent closeness and communication about sexuality: relations with sexual knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors. J Adolesc 2000 Oct;23(5):629-644. [doi: 10.1006/jado.2000.0349] [Medline: 11073703]
- 26. Seif SA, Kohi TW, Mselle LT. Caretaker's perceptions on caretaker-adolescent communication on sexual and reproductive health in Unguja-Zanzibar: implication for intervention. Health 2016;08(06):518-530. [doi: <u>10.4236/health.2016.86055</u>]
- 27. Karofsky PS, Zeng L, Kosorok MR. Relationship between adolescent–parental communication and initiation of first intercourse by adolescents. J Adolesc Health 2001 Jan;28(1):41-45. [doi: <u>10.1016/S1054-139X(00)00156-7</u>]
- Levine SB. Facilitating parent-child communication about sexuality. Pediatr Rev 2011 Mar;32(3):129-130. [doi: 10.1542/pir.32-3-129] [Medline: 21364018]
- 29. Kennedy EC, Bulu S, Harris J, Humphreys D, Malverus J, Gray NJ. "Be kind to young people so they feel at home": a qualitative study of adolescents' and service providers' perceptions of youth-friendly sexual and reproductive health services in Vanuatu. BMC Health Serv Res 2013 Oct 31;13:455 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-13-455] [Medline: 24176059]

RenderX

- 30. Jaccard J, Dodge T, Dittus P. Parent-adolescent communication about sex and birth control: a conceptual framework. New Dir Child Adolesc Dev 2002(97):9-41. [doi: 10.1002/cd.48] [Medline: 14964942]
- 31. Kalmuss D, Davidson A, Cohall A, Laraque D, Cassell C. Preventing sexual risk behaviors and pregnancy among teenagers: linking research and programs. Perspect Sexual Reprod Health 2003 Mar;35(2):87-93. [doi: 10.1363/3508703]

Abbreviations

SRH: sexual and reproductive health

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 15.12.18; peer-reviewed by K Tabi, D Carvalho; comments to author 28.03.19; revised version received 17.04.19; accepted 29.04.19; published 04.06.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Hodgson NS, Yom-Tov E, Strong WF, Flores PL, Ricoy GN Concerns of Female Adolescents About Menarche and First Sexual Intercourse: Mixed Methods Analysis of Social Media Questions JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e13158 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e13158/</u> doi:10.2196/13158 PMID:<u>31518326</u>

©Nikkie Saldivar Hodgson, Elad Yom-Tov, William F Strong, Priscilla L Flores, Giselle N Ricoy. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 04.06.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Usability and Acceptability of a Text Message-Based Developmental Screening Tool for Young Children: Pilot Study

Pamela Ryden Johnson^{1,2}, MA, PhD; Jessica Bushar³, MPH; Margaret Dunkle⁴, BA; Sharon Leyden⁵, BSc; Elizabeth T Jordan⁶, RNC, DNSc, FAAN

¹Voxiva, Inc, Arlington, VA, United States

²Child Health Foundation, Timonium, MD, United States

³ZERO TO THREE, Washington, DC, United States

- ⁴Department of Health Policy, School of Public Health, George Washington University, Washington, DC, United States
- ⁵Prince George's County Health Department, Clinton, MD, United States
- ⁶College of Nursing, University of South Florida, Tampa, FL, United States

Corresponding Author:

Pamela Ryden Johnson, MA, PhD Voxiva, Inc 1101 Wilson Boulevard Arlington, VA, 22209 United States Phone: 1 202 251 1423 Fax: 1 202 379 9117 Email: pamelajohnson999@gmail.com

Abstract

Background: Only 30% of parents of children aged 9-35 months report that their child received a developmental screening in the previous year. Screening rates are even lower in low-income households, where the rates of developmental delays are typically higher than those in high-income households. Seeking to evaluate ways to increase developmental screening, *Text4baby*, a national perinatal texting program, created an interactive text message-based version of a validated developmental screening tool for parents.

Objective: This study aimed to assess whether a text message-based developmental screening tool is usable and acceptable by low-income mothers.

Methods: Low-income mothers of infants aged 8-10 months were recruited from the Women, Infants and Children Program clinics in Prince George's County, MD. Once enrolled, participants used text messages to receive and respond to six developmental screening questions from the Parents' Evaluation of Developmental Status: Developmental Milestones. After confirming their responses, participants received the results and feedback. Project staff conducted a follow-up phone survey and invited a subset of survey respondents to attend focus groups. A representative of the County's Infants and Toddlers Program met with or called participants whose results indicated that their infants "may be behind."

Results: Eighty-one low-income mothers enrolled in the study, 93% of whom reported that their infants received Medicaid (75/81). In addition, 49% of the mothers were Hispanic/Latina (40/81) and 42% were African American (34/81). A total of 80% participated in follow-up surveys (65/81), and 14 mothers attended focus groups. All participants initiated the screening and responded to all six screening questions. Of the total, 79% immediately confirmed their responses (64/81), and 21% made one or more changes (17/81). Based on the final responses, 63% of participants received a text that the baby was "doing well" in all six developmental domains (51/81); furthermore, 37% received texts listing domains where their baby was "doing well" and one or more domains where their baby "may be behind" (30/81). All participants received a text with resources for follow-up. In a follow-up survey reaching 65 participants, all respondents said that they would like to answer screening questions again when their baby was older. All but one participant would recommend the tool to a friend and rated the experience of answering questions and receiving feedback by text as "very good" or "good."

Conclusions: A mobile text version of a validated developmental screening tool was both usable and acceptable by low-income mothers, including those whose infants "may be behind." Our results may inform further research on the use of the tool at older ages and options for a scalable, text-based developmental screening tool such as that in *Text4baby*.

RenderX

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e10814) doi:10.2196/10814

KEYWORDS

developmental screening; EPSDT; ITP; low income; Medicaid; mHealth; mobile health; Text4baby; text messaging; PEDS:DM; WIC

Introduction

Less than one-third (30.4%) of the parents of children aged 9-35 months in the United States surveyed report that their child received a developmental screening in the previous year [1]. Screening rates are even lower among young children in low-income families and Medicaid, where the prevalence of developmental delays is higher than among children in higher income and privately insured families [2].

Low developmental screening rates among young children persist despite well-established benefits of early identification of developmental delays (when intervention may be most effective) [3,4]; the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) recommendations for periodic screening of young children (coinciding with the 9-, 18-, and 24- or 30-month well-baby visits) [4,5]; the fact that timely developmental screening is a core quality measure for children's health and a required benefit for children under 3 years of age in Medicaid as part of Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnostic and Treatment, which provides comprehensive and preventive health care services for children and adolescents [6,7]; ready availability of validated paper-based and online developmental screening tools [5,6,8]; and the fact that early development lays the very foundation for a child's growth and development and "lifelong trajectory" **[7,9]**.

This pilot study explored an innovative use of mobile phones and text messaging to expand the availability of validated, parent-reported developmental screening, especially among low-income populations covered by Medicaid. The use of mobile phones and text messages may be a particularly effective way to reach young families at risk, since 100% of adults between the ages of 18 and 29 years and 92% of all adults with incomes below \$30,000 surveyed by the Pew Research Center in January 2018 reported that they owned a cell phone of some kind [10]. Further, in as early as 2011, a Pew survey found that "95% of 18-29 year olds use the text messaging feature on their phones" [11].

This pilot study addresses several gaps in the current literature. First, although paper-based and online developmental screening tools are well documented and evaluated [6,8,12], to our knowledge, there are no published assessments of the use of validated text messages by parents to report on the developmental milestones. In one study, as part of the Baby Steps program, researchers conducted a user study of 14 Hispanic families who received shortened versions of the Ages & Stages screening questions by text message [13]. The researchers found that parents liked the text-based tool and based on the user responses, concluded that "text messaging is a feasible tool for supporting parents in tracking and monitoring their child's development" [13]. A recent systematic review of multiple systematic reviews of mobile health (mHealth)

interventions (including text messaging) included no references to studies of developmental screening but concluded that text message reminders have a consistent impact on public health outcomes such as appointment attendance and improved treatment adherence for some chronic conditions [14].

Second, although the need for developmental screening is most acute among underserved, low-income populations, according to a recent review article, overall "research regarding the use of mHealth interventions for the populations that need it most remains sparse" [15]. This review [15] also cites the study partner *Text4baby* [16] as an exception that specifically targets low-income pregnant women and mothers of infants receiving Medicaid [15]. Since its launch in 2010, the free national text messaging service Text4baby has delivered more than 430 million messages with health and parenting tips (G Perez-Bonany, personal communication, Dec 2018), appointment reminders, and health surveys corresponding with the due date of the mother or the age of the infant [17, 18].

Third, although there are many examples of assessments of the usability and acceptability of web-based health interventions, there are very few rigorous assessments of the usability of mHealth technologies [19]. This pilot study adapted measures from the Health IT Usability Evaluation Model, which is based on experience with the evaluation of Web-based programs and tested with several mHealth programs [19].

The aims of this pilot study were to build and assess the usability and acceptability of a text-based validated developmental screening tool for infants of low-income mothers as part of a plan to implement the lessons learned in a large-scale deployment and trial, potentially via an existing mHealth service such as *Text4baby*. Three hypotheses guided the study: (1) It is technically feasible to create a text-based version of an existing validated developmental screening tool; (2) low-income mothers will find text-based developmental status; and (3) low-income mothers whose infants "may be behind" may find using the tool and receiving immediate feedback about their infants' developmental status less acceptable than mothers who receive feedback that their infants are "doing well."

The pilot study also aimed to determine whether infants who "may be behind" in one or more developmental domain could be followed up after the mother received the results of the screening. The initial findings are presented here; additional findings and lessons concerning the follow-up and maternal actions following the screening will be presented in a subsequent paper.

Methods

Screening Tool

The study team built a text-based developmental screening tool on the *Text4baby* technology platform based on Parents' Evaluation of Developmental Status: Developmental Milestones (PEDS:DM), a validated paper- and Web-based screen [12]. The team then worked with the Maryland Department of Health and Mental Hygiene (MDHMH); Prince George's County's Women, Infants and Children (WIC) Program; and Infant and Toddlers Program (ITP) to pilot the tool with low-income mothers of infants aged 8-10 months. The MDHMH Institutional Review Board approved the study.

Technical Feasibility of a Text-Based Developmental Screening Tool

A number of validated tools are used to conduct developmental screening; most are paper-based tools and generally administered in a provider's office, daycare center, or other site. The most current list of accepted tools is presented in the 2018 Technical Specifications for the Child Core Set of health quality measures for Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program [6]. AAP also provides links to validated screening tools and supporting documentation [5]. Although some of these tools have been adapted for online administration, to our knowledge, none are currently available in a text format.

Our study team selected its screening tool following a review of three validated tools [8] (Multimedia Appendix 1) that are also cited by AAP and Medicaid [5,6]. All three tools are characterized by the coverage of multiple mental, behavioral, and developmental domains; appropriateness for infants below the age of 12 months and through early childhood; consistency with AAP recommendations; use of parental responses based on their own observations; and accuracy and strong validation studies referenced in the review (>70% specificity and sensitivity) [8].

Of these three validated tools, the PEDS:DM is the most amenable to adaptation to an interactive text format. Each of the PEDS:DM questions for the target age is less than 160 characters long, so each question could be sent in a single text message (Table 1). Further, the PEDS:DM covers the six developmental domains (fine motor, expressive language, receptive language, gross motor, self-help, and social-emotional) with only six questions, each written at an elementary grade reading level [8,20]. In contrast, Ages & Stages [8] uses 30 questions written at the 3rd-12th grade level, a number of which exceed the 160-character limit of a text message and would require editing for length as well as reading level to be suitable for use in a text-based tool appropriate for the target audience.

The study team worked with PEDS:DM to incorporate the questions and responses (Table 1) and feedback (Table 2) in a text format, build the tool on the *Text4baby* technology platform, and check the text version for quality. Neither the wording of the PEDS:DM questions nor the scoring criteria were altered.

PEDS:DM is generally administered in a provider's office by staff or self-administered on paper or online. The study team

developed a plan with the ITP of Prince George's County to ensure that follow-up was offered in person or by phone to mothers whose infants' results indicated that they "may be behind."

Recruitment and Enrollment of Low-Income Mothers

The study team was able to reach and recruit low-income mothers by partnering with the Maryland WIC program, an income-qualified program "designed to help low-income pregnant, postpartum, and breastfeeding women, infants, and children 5 years old or younger who are at nutritional risk" [21]. The Maryland WIC program defines low income as US \$37,296 annually for a family of three people [21].

Staff in two WIC clinics in Prince George's County offered a flyer about the study to mothers of infants aged 8-10 months who were visiting one of the clinics for services. Interested mothers were invited to a private area of the clinic where members of the study team described the study, answered questions, and advised the mothers that after completing the screening, they would receive a US \$20 gift card and a gift bag with information about their baby's development. The study team members then confirmed the eligibility of interested mothers to participate in the study. To be eligible, a mother needed to be the primary caretaker of an infant aged 8, 9, or 10 months; above the age of 18 years; able to speak and read English; and in possession of a mobile phone that was regularly used, including for texting. Eligible mothers filled out a form providing informed consent and were enrolled as participants in the study. After enrollment, the study team members collected information on participant and infant characteristics including age, gender, insurance status, and ethnicity/race (Table 3).

Usability

To measure usability, the study used objective data generated by the technology platform that reflected efficiency and effectiveness (Table 4). Study participants were asked to initiate the interactive screening tool by texting "DM" to the *Text4baby* short code 511411; this generated an automatic reply with the first of the PEDS:DM screening questions, asking the participants to respond by text message. Each time a participant texted a response to a question, the platform automatically sent a text message with the next question. After participants answered all six screening questions, a study team member asked them to review the questions and their responses. If they wished to make changes, study staff asked participants to text "DM" again to retake the screening questions.

Following any changes made, participants confirmed their answers by texting "RESULTS." In response, they received a message listing areas where their infant appeared to be "doing well" and, if indicated, a second message with any areas where he/she "may be behind" (Table 2). The mothers then received a final text message with recommended actions. Following the screening, study team members also provided participants with a letter containing the results intended for the infants' primary pediatrician from the Infants and Toddlers Program (under Part C of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act) or a qualified child care provider, a US \$20 gift card, and a gift bag that included a guide for parents on child development [22].

```
XSL•FO
```

The *Text4baby* technology platform captured system data on measures of participant interaction. These data included a record of all questions and responses and date and time stamps for all outgoing and incoming texts.

Acceptability

To measure acceptability, beginning two weeks after the screening, study staff called all mothers and administered a phone survey (Table 5) to those who replied. This phone survey included questions related to participants' experience using the text-based PEDS:DM and receiving feedback about their baby's development via text.

Two subsets of mothers who participated in the phone survey were invited to attend one of two focus groups—one included seven mothers whose infants were "doing well" in all domains and the other included seven mothers whose infants "may be behind" in one or more domain. An independent evaluator facilitated the focus groups. Participants received a gift card to cover transportation and other costs. The aim of the focus groups was to provide context and insight into the usability and acceptability of the tool and learn about maternal actions following the screening (to be presented in a subsequent paper).

Analysis

Usability and acceptability were examined among participants overall and by the developmental screening status of their infants. Applicable systems and phone survey data were used to assess each measure. In addition, observations made by mothers in the focus groups that related to usability and acceptability were included. A coding scheme was applied to qualitative data from interviews and focus groups to identify key themes.

Descriptive analyses were used to analyze quantitative systems and phone survey data. Where appropriate, quantitative analysis was performed using the Chi-square test. In many of the cases, there were too many zero cells, and therefore, statistical analysis could not be performed.

Results

Technical Feasibility

It was possible to take the existing validated PEDS:DM questions and program them on the *Text4baby* technology platform (Tables 1 and 2). Because the screening questions were already at a low reading level (second grade) and short (under 160 characters), it was not necessary to make any changes to their wording. Furthermore, because the response options were closed, simple, and clear (ie, "no," "a little," and "yes"), it was only necessary to add instructions (eg, "Reply 1 for no"). There were no changes in the thresholds for determining risk. The study team devised additional text messages to facilitate administration, deliver results, and provide appropriate feedback for the participants.

Table 1. Developmental screening tool: questions and response options. Responses in italics indicate that the baby is meeting the milestone.

Topic of message	PEDS:DM ^a questions for children aged 8-10 months	Response options	Text version	Characters (includ- ing spaces), n
Fine motor	Can your baby poke at things with just his/her first finger?	No, A little, Yes	Can your baby poke at things with just his/her first finger? Reply 1 for No, Reply 2 for A lit- tle, Reply 3 for Yes.	115
Expressive language	When you say your baby's name, does he or she stop and look at you?	No, Sometimes, <i>Most of the time</i>	When you say your baby's name, does he or she stop and look at you? Reply 1 for No, Re- ply 2 for Sometimes; Reply 3 for Most of the time.	136
Receptive language	How many different sounds, such as "muh," "bah," "duh," or "guh" does your baby say?	None, One, Two or more	How many different sounds, such as "muh," "bah," "duh," or "guh" does your baby say? Reply 1 for None, Reply 2 for One, Reply 3 for 2 or more.	142
Gross motor	Can your baby get around on hands and knees or by scooting on his or her bottom?	No, Sometimes, Yes	Can your baby get around on hands and knees or by scooting on his or her bottom? Reply 1 for No, Reply 2 for Sometimes, Reply 3 for Yes.	136
Self-help	Does your baby try to get to toys that are out of reach?	No, A little, Yes	Does your baby try to get to toys that are out of reach? Reply 1 for No, Reply 2 for A little, Reply 3 for Yes	111
Social emotional	Does your baby like to play peek- a-boo?	No/Never tried, A little/Yes	Does your baby like to play peek-a-boo? Reply 1 for No/Never tried, Reply 2 for A little/Yes.	93

^aPEDS:DM: Parents' Evaluation of Developmental Status: Developmental Milestones



Table 2. Developmental screening tool: feedback

Johnson et al

Feedback	Results in text	Characters (includ- ing spaces), n
For mothers reporting 1/more met milestones	Based on your answers, your baby does well [using hands and fingers, listening, talking, using arms and legs, learning to take care of self, getting along with others]	Varied
For mothers reporting 1/more unmet milestones	Based on your answers, your baby may be behind [using hands and fingers, listening, talking, using arms and legs, learning to take care of self, getting along with others]	Varied
For mothers reporting all milestones met	Thanks, Mom! Keep up with how your baby is learning and growing. Go to www.pgc- itp.net ^a or call 301 265-8415 if you have questions.	128
For mothers reporting 1/more unmet milestones	Please call Prince George's Infants & Toddlers right away at 301 265-8415 for FREE help for your baby. Talk with baby's Dr. & childcare provider too.	148

^aWebsite currently unavailable.

Participants' Characteristics

A total of 81 low-income mothers of infants aged 8-10 months were recruited and enrolled in the study: 93% (75/81) of the mothers reported that their infants were on Medicaid, 2% (2/81) had no insurance, 4% (3/81) had private insurance, and 1% (1/81) did not know her child's insurance status (Table 3). Seventeen percent (14/81) of the mothers said that they had less education than a high school degree, 37% (30/81) had a high school degree, and 46% (37/81) had some college or higher education.

Nearly half of the mothers (49%, 40/81) indicated that they were Hispanic/Latina, 42% (34/81) identified as African American, and 5% (4/81) identified as white (non-Hispanic). In addition, 57% of the participants (46/81) listed English, 37% (30/81) listed Spanish, and 6% (5/81) listed another language as the first language spoken at home.

Of note, 15 mothers (19%) reported that their infant had been born prematurely compared to a statewide prematurity rate of 10.5% among all women and 12.5% among African American women in Maryland [23].

Most participants (91%, 74/81) reported using a mobile phone with internet access, and 9% (7/81) reported using a basic phone without internet access. Ninety percent of the participants (73/81) reported that they had a monthly texting plan that provided unlimited text messaging, 5% reported a monthly plan with limited texting (4/81), 1% (1/81) paid on a per-message basis, and 4% (3/81) did not know what their texting plan provided.

There were no statistically significant differences between subsets of these low-income mothers for any of the demographic and other characteristics except previous screening. Mothers who reported that their infant had been previously screened were significantly more likely to have infants who were "doing well" in comparison with those who did not report a previous screening (P<.02). Overall, 47% of the mothers reported that their infant previously received a similar screening (38/81); this proportion is higher than the national average and the Maryland statewide rate of 43% [1].

Usability

RenderX

The assessment of usability of the screening tool focused on five objective measures of efficiency and effectiveness: initiation

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e10814/
```

of the screening tool, completeness of responses to screening questions, time required, ability to receive results, and follow-up of infants who "may be behind" (Table 4).

Several mothers had connectivity issues with their phones inside one of the clinics but were able to connect by moving closer to a window. One of the mothers received a message from her carrier that the carrier would charge her for text messages. Since the study protocol specified that messages would be free, the study team lent her an alternative phone to use for the study.

All participants—mothers whose infants "may be behind" or were "doing well"—were able to text "DM" to the short code 511411 on their mobile phones (100%, 81/81). All were able to initiate the screening and successfully trigger the first question. In addition, all were able to trigger and enter one of the indicated responses to each of the six questions (100%, 81/81). A total of 79% (64/81) successfully submitted responses to all six questions on their first attempt. The remaining 21% (17/81) submitted final responses on the second or, in the case of one mother, third time. Three of these participants required additional time because of technology/connectivity issues. Four restarted the tool during submission of the six responses because they made an error in one or more responses.

After entering all responses to the last question, a study team member asked all participants to review their responses. Among the fourteen participants who changed one or more of their responses when they answered the questions for a second time, 86% (12/14) changed their response to Question 1 ("Poke"). Response to Question 2 ("Baby's Name") was the second most frequently changed: Half of those who changed their responses (7/14) changed their response to this question.

One focus group participant described her confusion about the meaning of "poke" as follows:

I got kind of confused when they said poking. Poking, how? What does that mean? I had to re-read it again. I was thinking—Poke what?

Additionally, although only three participants changed their answers to Question 6 ("Peek-a-boo"), some expressed concern about this question in the focus groups:

Peek-a-boo? I did not understand. I had a hard time understanding what it was all about. Actually, that my baby was doing that.

 Table 3. Demographic and other characteristics of participants and their infants.

Characteristics	All participants (N=81)	"Doing well" (N=51)	"May be behind" (N=30)	<i>P</i> value for "Doing well" vs "May be behind"
Mother's age (years), mean (SD) ^a	27.6 (5.7)	27.9 (5.5)	27.1 (6.1)	.53
Mother's education, n (%)				
Less than high school	14 (17)	10 (20)	4 (13)	.18
High school graduate	30 (37)	15 (29)	15 (50)	b
Some college or higher	37 (46)	26 (51)	11 (37)	_
Mother's race/ethnicity, n (%)				
Non-Hispanic/African American	34 (42)	23 (45)	11 (37)	.86
Hispanic/Latina ^c	40 (49)	24 (47)	16 (53)	_
Non-Hispanic, white	4 (5)	2 (4)	2 (7)	_
Other	3 (4)	2 (4)	1 (3)	_
Infant's gender, n (%)				
Female	41 (49)	29 (57)	12 (40)	.14
Male	40 (51)	22 (41)	18 (60)	_
Language spoken at home, n (%)				
English	46 (57)	28 (55)	18 (60)	.70
Spanish	30 (37)	19 (37)	11 (37)	—
Other (eg, Amharic or French)	5 (6)	4 (8)	1 (3)	—
Infant born prematurely, n (%)				
Yes	15 (19)	9 (18)	6 (20)	.79
No	66 (81)	42 (82)	24 (80)	—
Infant's source of health insurance, n (%)				
Medicaid	75 (93)	49 (98)	26 (87)	.30
No health insurance	2 (2)	1 (2)	1 (3)	_
Private insurance	3 (4)	1 (2)	2 (7)	_
Don't know	1 (1)	0 (0)	1 (3)	_
Type of text messaage plan, n (%)				
For each text message	1 (1)	0 (0)	0 (0)	.12
Monthly for unlimited texts	73 (90)	47 (92)	27 (90)	_
Monthly for a limited number of texts	4 (5)	1 (2)	3 (10)	_
Don't know	3 (4)	3 (6)	0 (0)	_
Screening status ^d , n (%)				
All 6 milestones met	48 (59)	_	_	—
5 or fewer milestones met	33 (41)	_	_	—
Final screening status ^e , n (%)				
All 6 milestones met	51 (63)	_	_	_
5 or fewer milestones met	30 (37)	_	_	_
Previous screening of infant, n (%)				
Yes	38 (47)	30 (59)	8 (27)	<.02
No	40 (49)	20 (39)	20 (67)	_
Missing	3 (4)	1 (2)	2 (7)	_

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e10814/

XSL•FO RenderX

^aOne participant did not provide her age.

^bNot applicable.

^cMothers who provided another related term for race (eg "Spanish" or "Guatemala") or who did not respond to the question were identified as Hispanic/Latina if they also indicated that they spoke Spanish at home.

^dAs submitted by mothers via the screening tool.

^eIn 3 cases, the mother indicated that she had made a mistake on a single question after she had received the results, which changed the infant's screening status. The final screening status reflects the amended responses in these cases. This status is reflected in the letter prepared for the baby's provider, a copy of which was also given to the mother.

Table 4. Usability of a text-based developmental screening tool.

Measures of efficiency and effectiveness	Overall (N=81)	"Doing well" (N=51)	"May be behind" (N=30)
Efficiency, n (%)			
Initiation of tool (participants able to text "DM" to 511411 and trigger developmental screening questions)	81 (100)	51 (100)	30 (100)
Responding to screening questions			
Participants able to trigger and respond to all 6 developmental screening questions	81 (100)	51 (100)	30 (100)
Attempts required to complete all 6 developmental screening	questions		
Completed on first attempt	64 (79)	a	_
Completed on second attempt	16 (20)	—	—
Completed on third attempt	1 (1)	_	—
Time required for completion (average amount of time to complete all 6 screening questions), min	4.39	4.38	4.4
Effectiveness, n (%)			
Receiving results (participants receiving results by text following completion of screening questions),	81 (100)	51 (100)	30 (100)
Follow-up of infants with one/more missed milestones: Did the moprogram?	other of infant wit	h one/more missed milest	one meet/talk with ITP ^b
ITP representative met with mother (only)	_	_	3 (10)
ITP representative met with and reached the mother by phone	_	_	9 (30)
ITP representative reached the mother by phone (only)	_	_	16 (53)
ITP representative called but was not able to reach mother (did not meet with)	_	_	2 (7)

^aNot applicable.

^bITP: Infants and Toddlers Program.

To follow-up with the 30 mothers whose responses indicated that their infants "may be behind," the study team took a number of steps that will be described in detail in a forthcoming paper: All 30 mothers received a text message encouraging them to call the ITP. On the days when an ITP representative was present in the WIC clinic during the study, she met with any mother whose infant had one or more unmet milestones. She also attempted to call all these mothers to administer the follow-up survey. By the end of the study, the ITP representative had met or talked with all but two of the mothers (93%, 28/30).

Acceptability

Acceptability of the screening tool was assessed by a phone survey by using subjective measures of ease of use, usefulness, and satisfaction (Table 5). It was possible to reach and interview 80% of study participants (65/81). Almost all interview participants said that it was "Easy" (40%, 26/65) or "Very Easy" (58%, 38/65) to answer the six text message developmental screening questions; none said it was "Hard" or "Very Hard" (Table 5). As described by one focus group participant, "I have two kids and I'm on the phone or busy with kids. It's easier to answer the questions on a phone than to have to talk on the phone." A higher percentage of the participants whose infants were "doing well" said the text messages were "Very Easy" (70%, 28/40), compared to those whose infants "may be behind" (40%, 10/25). Because of the number of zero cells, it was not possible to perform statistical tests on these data.



RenderX

 Table 5. User assessment of the developmental screening tool.

User perceptions of ease of use, usefulness, and reported satisfaction	Overall (N=65), n (%)	Infants "doing well" (N=40), n (%)	Infants who "may be behind" (N=25), n (%)
Perceived ease of use			-
How hard or easy was it to answer the six text messages that asked	d you questions about yo	ur baby?	
Very easy to answer the questions	38 (58)	28 (70)	10 (40)
Easy to answer the questions	26 (40)	12 (30)	14 (56)
Hard or very hard to answer the questions	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Missing response	1 (2)	0 (0)	1 (4)
How did you feel about how much time (the screening questions) t	ook?		
The right amount of time	62 (95)	38 (95)	24 (96)
Too much time	2 (3)	2 (5)	0 (0)
Needed more time	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Missing response	1 (2)	0 (0)	1 (4)
Perceived usefulness			
Would you want to answer text questions like this again and get re	esults about how your ba	by is doing when you	r baby is older?
Yes	65 (100)	40 (100)	25 (100)
No	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Would you recommend the text messages that asked you questions	s about your baby to a fr	iend with a baby?	
Yes	64 (97.5)	39 (97.5)	25 (100)
Maybe	1 (2.5)	1 (2.5)	0 (0)
No	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Satisfaction			
Overall, how did you feel about giving answer to the 6 text messag with feedback about how your baby is learning and growing?	es that asked questions a	about your baby and g	getting text messages
Very good, it was helpful	52 (80)	33 (83)	19 (76)
Good, it was okay	12 (18)	6 (15)	6 (24)
Average, it was neither good or bad	1 (2)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Poor	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Unhelpful	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
How much did you like or dislike getting text messages with result	ts about how your baby i	s doing?	
Liked a lot, liked getting the feedback by text	37 (57)	25 (62.5)	12 (48)
Good, it was OK to get the feedback by text	25 (38)	15 (37.5)	10 (40)
Neither good or bad, I didn't care how I got the feedback	1 (2)	0 (0)	1 (4)
Disliked, I did not like getting the feedback by text <i>or</i> totally neg- ative, I would not want to receive feedback by text again	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Missing response	2 (3)	0 (0)	2 (8)

Among all participants, the time required to complete the developmental screening (ie, the time between first texting "DM" and submitting the final response) was 4 minutes and 39 seconds on an average. All but three of the phone survey participants who provided an answer (95%, 62/65) felt that the amount of time it took to answer the six text messages was "the right amount of time." As one mother explained, "The questions were easy and I could answer them quickly."

All but one of the mothers surveyed said they would recommend the text-based screening to a friend (97.5%, 64/65), and all mothers reported that they wanted to answer screening questions again when their baby was older (100%, 65/65).

Mothers were asked to assess the overall experience of answering the questions and getting results by text: 80% of all mothers interviewed reported that it was "very good, it was helpful" (52/65) and 18% reported that it was "good, it was okay" (12/65). Only one mother reported that it was "average,"

XSL•FO RenderX

and no mother rated it as poor or unhelpful. When specifically asked to assess the value of obtaining results of the screening by text, almost all mothers responded that they liked receiving feedback by text "a lot" (57%, 37/65) or that it was "good, OK" (38%, 25/65). Although a lower percentage of respondents whose infants "may be behind" liked receiving feedback by text "a lot" or found it "good, OK" than the respondents whose infants were "doing well," it was not possible to calculate statistics due to the number of cells with zero data.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The primary aims of this pilot study were to assess the usability and acceptability of a validated interactive text message-based tool for developmental screening of infants of low-income mothers as a strategy to make developmental screening more broadly available, particularly among low-income populations.

This pilot study found that it was feasible to create an interactive text-based screening tool based on a validated instrument, and low-income mothers of infants aged 8-10 months found the tool both usable and acceptable. The findings of this study are important because the ubiquity of mobile phones (100%) [10] and texting (95%) [11] among Americans aged 18-29 years creates the potential to make screening widely available to parents of infants, including those from low-income households and on Medicaid who are at a heightened risk of developmental delays especially in the early years.

Usability and Acceptability

Despite a long history of theory-based approaches for assessing the usability and acceptability of web interfaces, there is a paucity of literature on mHealth usability and the inherent challenges of mHealth usability assessments such as small screens and the lack of software that captures physical interactions with devices [19]. There are perhaps even greater challenges in capturing user experience in a text intervention. For example, users own a variety of devices from basic mobile phones to feature-rich mobile phones of varying sizes, and the screening tool may appear quite different depending on the device used. In addition, devices and platforms capture very limited data on interactivity beyond the time and content of interactive messages sent and received.

This study therefore focused on practical measures of performance reflecting actual use of the intervention and user assessments of their experience. The study found no differences in any of the measures of usability according to the infants' developmental status or any of the demographic or socioeconomic characteristics. All mothers were able to respond to all questions and complete the screening (100%, 81/81) including the 21% of mothers who wanted to change one or more responses (17/81). Challenges due to poor mobile coverage in one of the clinics did not prevent participants from successfully completing the screening.

With regard to acceptability, mothers, including those who received a report that their infant "may be behind," valued the tool as well as the experience of using it and receiving results by text. Almost all mothers ranked the experience "very good"

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e10814/
```

or "good" and all but one said that they would recommend it to a friend. All mothers in the study expressed the desire to repeat the screening in the future when their infants were older.

There were several lessons learned that should be considered in future iterations and research. First, although the pilot study focused on infants aged 8-10 months, future research and implementation should extend the tool to cover additional ages recommended by AAP and Medicaid's Child Core Set of health quality measures [4-6]. Second, words matter. The wording of one of the screening questions was associated with the highest error rates and should be reviewed and tested. Third, although there was no difference in the measures of usability for Spanish and English speakers in this pilot study, future iterations should offer a choice of language to the users. Fourth, the observation that mothers whose infants "may be behind" were even less likely to report a previous screening suggests that this approach could potentially reach and identify infants at the highest risk of developmental delay, who do not have a medical home and who might otherwise not be identified in a timely way. Fifth, a critical concern in conducting a developmental screening is how to refer mothers whose infants "may be behind" for further screening and, if indicated, diagnosis and treatment for their infants as required and supported by the Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnostic and Treatment benefit of Medicaid [6]. The ability of the ITP representative to reach 93% (28/30) of mothers whose infants "may be behind" in person in the clinic or by phone for possible follow-up was therefore an important aspect of the study process. Clearly, this is only the first, albeit necessary, step to ensure that at-risk infants receive the required diagnosis and appropriate treatment in a timely manner.

Implementation and Evaluation Approaches

To our knowledge, this is the first study to use texting of a validated tool to conduct developmental screening in the United States and to assess such a tool with a low-income population largely enrolled in Medicaid. It is therefore important to incorporate the lessons learned in this study about usability and acceptability and test the effectiveness of this approach on a larger scale including in a randomized clinical trial [24]. Although many mHealth studies do not include an implementation component [15], this study was designed with a view toward large-scale implementation and evaluation.

The combination of broadly available mobile technology, a valid screen, and the partnerships put in place for this study—with *Text4baby*, the State of Maryland WIC program, and Prince George's County ITP program—provides a potential model for scaling up and further evaluation of an approach to promote widespread access to developmental screening and potentially reach at-risk populations. Largescale mobile health programs such as *Text4baby* could make the developmental screening tool available to mothers enrolled in that program where follow-up is available from an infant's pediatrician or an early intervention program such as ITP. To connect parents of infants who "may be behind" to follow-up, this study suggests that phone calls, in this study's case, from the ITP to parents, following screening may be an effective method.

The text-based screening tool could also be used and evaluated in a medical home or other care setting. As noted in a recent

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

review of mobile health applications to promote early language development, "m-Health could provide a natural extension of interventions and messages delivered within the primary care setting" [9]. For example, the waiting room staff could ask a parent to trigger the screening tool by sending a text message to a designated number. The parent could then receive and review the results immediately with the infant's pediatrician or another provider.

In both cases, there could be advantages of embedding developmental screening in a broader texting program such as *Text4baby*. Parents could be sent additional text messages with information about resources for child development and tailored parenting tips as well as reminders to attend well-baby visits, a strategy that has been shown to be effective in increasing attendance rates [25].

Limitations and Strengths

Limitations of this pilot study include its relatively small sample size and primary focus on descriptive data. Participants recruited from two WIC clinics located near a major metropolitan area had higher educational levels than the United States average levels [26]. Maryland also has one of the highest rates of developmental screening in the United States [1]. Study participants may not reflect the overall population of low-income mothers of infants in this age cohort, given that more than half the mothers reported that their infants had had an earlier developmental screening. As part of explaining the purpose of the study and assuring that participant consent was "informed," the study team likely raised awareness of developmental domains beyond the information provided in the screening messages. In addition, this pilot study did not include an independent test of validity of the text version as compared to a more traditional format.

The study has several important strengths. Because of the partnership with WIC and its clinics in Prince George's County, the study was able to reach and recruit low-income mothers whose infants may be at elevated risk for developmental delays. Due to the partnership with ITP, it was possible to reach and offer follow-up to mothers whose infants "may be behind." The study also focused on user experience and input in the early stages of development and testing of an innovative mHealth tool with lessons that should be incorporated in future implementation and research.

Conclusions

This pilot study addresses the low rates of developmental screening among low-income populations in the United States by investigating how to build on the dramatic growth in the coverage of mobile technology and the broad use of texting within this population.

The study concluded that a validated developmental screening tool delivered by text message to mobile phones is both usable and acceptable by low-income mothers of infants. The results and lessons learned in this study can inform further evaluation with larger sample sizes and at other recommended ages. It also offers insights for potential models for scalable implementation of validated developmental screening using text messaging to screen and support mothers of infants.

The combination of broadly available mobile technology and the partnerships put in place for this study with *Text4baby*, the State of Maryland's WIC program, and Prince George's County ITP program holds promise for scaling up and further evaluating a model to promote more widespread developmental screening.

This study contributes to the growing body of evidence supporting the feasibility as well as the effectiveness of using text messaging to address important health outcomes and disparities. Studies have documented the impact of text messaging programs on health knowledge, appointment attendance, vaccination compliance, and other health behaviors. The findings of this study extend mHealth research to support developmental screening and address services needed by at-risk populations.

Acknowledgments

Research reported here was supported by the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development of the National Institutes of Health (NIH), under the Small Business Innovation Research (SBIR) Award (Number 1 R43 HD072664-01A1) to Voxiva, Inc, from the Small Business Innovation Research grants program. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH.

The authors would like to express appreciation to the mothers who participated in this study and to individuals and institutions who made this study possible. The Maryland Department of Health and Mental Hygiene (MDHMH) and Prince George's County Health Department were enthusiastic supporters of the study; they referred this study to the MDHMH Institutional Review Board for review, linked the study team to the clinics where mothers were recruited, and made valuable suggestions for how this model could be scaled up and extended statewide. Jacqueline Marlette-Boras and Gay Hutchen of MDHMH made significant contributions to the study. The staff of the Women, Infants and Children Program clinics in Hyattsville and Cheverly invited mothers attending their clinics to participate and hosted the study, providing space and support to test the prototype and conduct the focus groups.

Dr Frances Page Glascoe, developer of Parents' Evaluation of Developmental Status: Developmental Milestones (PEDS:DM), provided free access to PEDS:DM for study participants and made significant contributions as a consultant to the development of the prototype, the design and conduct of the study, and the development of a model to scale up development screening through a partnership with *Text4baby*. The author, MD, first suggested the idea of using text messaging to administer a valid parent-reported developmental screening tool in *Text4baby*. Amy Pirretti and Danielle Garfinkel at Healthy Mothers, Healthy Babies and Megan Hopkins, Josh Kench, Lalida Thaweethai, and Khadija Turay of Voxiva contributed to this study.

Conflicts of Interest

PRJ co-founded, held stock in, and served as a senior executive of Voxiva, recipient of the Small Business Innovation Research grant (#1 R43 HD072664-01A1) and *Text4baby*. PRJ is currently a stockholder in Welltok Inc, which acquired Voxiva and *Text4baby* in 2018.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Summary of developmental screening tools [6]. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 213KB - pediatrics v2i1e10814 app1.pdf]

References

- Hirai AH, Kogan MD, Kandasamy V, Reuland C, Bethell C. Prevalence and Variation of Developmental Screening and Surveillance in Early Childhood. JAMA Pediatr 2018 Sep 01;172(9):857-866 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2018.1524] [Medline: 29987317]
- Boyle CA, Boulet S, Schieve LA, Cohen RA, Blumberg SJ, Yeargin-Allsopp M, et al. Trends in the prevalence of developmental disabilities in US children, 1997-2008. Pediatrics 2011 Jun;127(6):1034-1042. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2010-2989</u>] [Medline: <u>21606152</u>]
- 3. National Research Council (US), Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Integrating the Science of Early Childhood Development. From Neurons to Neighborhoods: The Science of Early Childhood Development. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2000. URL: https://www.nap.edu/read/9824/chapter/1 [WebCite Cache ID 750VMJ6UV]
- 4. Council on Children With Disabilities, Section on Developmental Behavioral Pediatrics, Bright Futures Steering Committee, Medical Home Initiatives for Children With Special Needs Project Advisory Committee. Identifying infants and young children with developmental disorders in the medical home: an algorithm for developmental surveillance and screening. Pediatrics 2006 Jul;118(1):405-420. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2006-1231] [Medline: 16818591]
- 5. Screening Tools.: American Academy of Pediatrics. Screening Technical Assistance and Resource Center; 2018. URL: https://screeningtime.org/star-center/#/screening-tools#top [accessed 2018-12-22] [WebCite Cache ID 70UxmvEub]
- Core Set of Children's Health Care Quality Measures for Medicaid and CHIP (Child Core Set) Technical Specifications and Resource Manual for Federal Fiscal Year 2018 Reporting. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/ quality-of-care/downloads/medicaid-and-chip-child-core-set-manual.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-12-01] [WebCite Cache ID 74KUcOq0v]
- Burak EW, Rolfes-Haase K. Using Medicaid to Ensure the Healthy Social and Emotional Development of Infants and Toddlers. URL: <u>https://ccf.georgetown.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Medicaid-and-IECMH_FINAL.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-01-11] [WebCite Cache ID 75Lf6dzjv]
- 8. Dunkle M, Hill J. Developmental Checkups for All Children: Three Good Choices for Practices and Providers.: Developmental and Behavioral News: American Academy of Pediatrics; 2009. URL: <u>http://publichealth.lacounty.gov/cms/docs/</u> <u>ThreeGoodChoices.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-06-27] [WebCite Cache ID 70UwsUDDq]
- 9. McClure C, Cunningham M, Bull S, Berman S, Allison MA. Using Mobile Health to Promote Early Language Development: A Narrative Review. Acad Pediatr 2018;18(8):850-854. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.acap.2018.07.010</u>] [Medline: <u>30098442</u>]
- 10. Pew Research Center Internet & Technology. Mobile Fact Sheet. 2018 Feb 05. URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheet/</u> <u>mobile/</u> [accessed 2018-06-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6yYV6czOX]
- 11. Smith A. Americans and Text Messaging.: Pew Internet and American Life Project; 2011 Sep 19. URL: <u>http://pewinternet.org/Reports/2011/Cell-Phone-Texting-2011.aspx</u> [accessed 2018-12-01] [WebCite Cache ID 74KURxTr9]
- 12. Brothers, Glascoe F, Robertshaw NS. PEDS: developmental milestones--an accurate brief tool for surveillance and screening. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2008 Apr;47(3):271-279. [doi: 10.1177/0009922807309419] [Medline: 18057141]
- 13. Suh H, Porter JR, Racadio R, Sung YC, Kientz JA. Baby Steps Text: Feasibility Study of an SMS-Based Tool for Tracking Children's Developmental Progress. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2016;2016:1997-2006 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 28269959]
- Marcolino MS, Oliveira JAQ, D'Agostino M, Ribeiro AL, Alkmim MBM, Novillo-Ortiz D. The Impact of mHealth Interventions: Systematic Review of Systematic Reviews. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jan 17;6(1):e23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8873] [Medline: 29343463]
- Anderson-Lewis C, Darville G, Mercado RE, Howell S, Di Maggio S. mHealth Technology Use and Implications in Historically Underserved and Minority Populations in the United States: Systematic Literature Review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jun 18;6(6):e128 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8383] [Medline: 29914860]
- 16. Text4baby. URL: <u>https://text4baby.org/</u> [accessed 2019-01-11] [WebCite Cache ID 75LfbM9mH]
- 17. Gazmararian JA, Elon L, Yang B, Graham M, Parker R. Text4baby program: an opportunity to reach underserved pregnant and postpartum women? Matern Child Health J 2014 Jan;18(1):223-232. [doi: 10.1007/s10995-013-1258-1] [Medline: 23494485]
- Whittaker R, Matoff-Stepp S, Meehan J, Kendrick J, Jordan E, Stange P, et al. Text4baby: development and implementation of a national text messaging health information service. Am J Public Health 2012 Dec;102(12):2207-2213. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2012.300736] [Medline: 23078509]

- Brown W, Yen P, Rojas M, Schnall R. Assessment of the Health IT Usability Evaluation Model (Health-ITUEM) for evaluating mobile health (mHealth) technology. J Biomed Inform 2013 Dec;46(6):1080-1087 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jbi.2013.08.001</u>] [Medline: <u>23973872</u>]
- 20. Parents' Evaluation of Developmental Status Developmental Milestones (PEDS:DM). URL: <u>https://pedstest.com/</u> <u>AboutOurTools/LearnAboutPEDSDM/</u> [accessed 2019-01-11] [WebCite Cache ID 75Lfnk8ud]
- 21. Online Women Infants and Children Services. Maryland: Women Infants and Children Office URL: <u>https://www.womeninfantschildrenoffice.com/maryland-wic-income-guidelines-wi20</u> [accessed 2018-12-21] [WebCite Cache ID 74pzm8QoQ]
- 22. Maryland State Department of Education, Grow Smart Workgroup Good Start. Healthy Beginnings: Supporting development and learning from birth through three years of age. Baltimore, MD: Maryland State Department of Education; 2010 Nov. URL: <u>http://cte.jhu.edu/onlinecourses/HealthyBeginnings/HBFINAL.pdf</u> [WebCite Cache ID 74KTa74R0]
- 23. March of Dimes Peristats. Arlington, Virginia: March of Dimes; 2018. 2018 Premature birth report card for Maryland URL: https://www.marchofdimes.org/peristats/tools/reportcard.aspx?reg=24 [accessed 2018-12-21] [WebCite Cache ID 70UyRMkWL]
- 24. Carter A, Liddle J, Hall W, Chenery H. Mobile Phones in Research and Treatment: Ethical Guidelines and Future Directions. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Oct 16;3(4):e95 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4538] [Medline: 26474545]
- 25. Guy R, Hocking J, Wand H, Stott S, Ali H, Kaldor J. How effective are short message service reminders at increasing clinic attendance? A meta-analysis and systematic review. Health Serv Res 2012 Apr;47(2):614-632 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6773.2011.01342.x] [Medline: 22091980]
- 26. Ryan C, Bauman K. Educational Attainment in the United States:2015. Current Population Reports 2016 Mar;P20-578:2015 [FREE Full text]

Abbreviations

AAP: American Academy of Pediatrics
ITP: Infants and Toddlers Program
MDHMH: Maryland Department of Health and Mental Hygiene
mHealth: mobile health
PEDS:DM: Parents' Evaluation of Developmental Status: Developmental Milestones
WIC: Women, Infants and Children Program

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 18.04.18; peer-reviewed by A Ben-Sasson, L Thompson, S Badawy; comments to author 13.05.18; revised version received 10.07.18; accepted 08.12.18; published 30.01.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Johnson PR, Bushar J, Dunkle M, Leyden S, Jordan ET Usability and Acceptability of a Text Message-Based Developmental Screening Tool for Young Children: Pilot Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e10814 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e10814/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/10814</u> PMID:<u>31518329</u>

©Pamela Ryden Johnson, Jessica Bushar, Margaret Dunkle, Sharon Leyden, Elizabeth T Jordan. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 30.01.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

A 12-Week Electronic Mentoring Employment Preparation Intervention for Youth With Physical Disabilities: Pilot Feasibility Randomized Controlled Trial

Sally Lindsay¹, BA, MA, PhD; Elaine Cagliostro², BA, MA; Joanne Leck³, BMath, MBA, PhD; Jennifer Stinson⁴, RN, PhD

¹Bloorview Research Institute, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, Department of Occupational Science & Occupational Therapy, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

²Bloorview Research Institute, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada

³Telfer School of Management, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

⁴Hospital for Sick Children, Bloomberg Faculty of Nursing, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Sally Lindsay, BA, MA, PhD Bloorview Research Institute, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital Department of Occupational Science & Occupational Therapy University of Toronto 150 Kilgour Road Toronto, ON, M4G 1R8 Canada Phone: 1 416 425 6220 Email: <u>slindsay@hollandbloorview.ca</u>

Abstract

Background: Youth with disabilities are at high risk of unemployment compared with youth without disabilities. They often encounter challenges in accessing vocational programs that meet their needs. One promising approach that could help to address barriers that youth encounter while also enhancing social support is through electronic mentoring (e-mentoring). Although there is an increase in e-mentoring for youth with disabilities, little is known about its impact for youth with physical disabilities.

Objective: This study aimed to assess the acceptability and initial impact of a Web-based peer electronic mentor employment intervention for youth with physical disabilities.

Methods: The *Empowering Youth Towards Employment* intervention was evaluated using a pilot randomized controlled trial (RCT). Youth, aged 15-21 years, with physical disabilities were randomly assigned to an intervention (ie, mentored) or control (ie, not mentored) group. Trained mentors (ie, near peers) with a physical disability led the online discussion forums and provided peer support and resources for 12 modules (1 topic per week over 12 weeks). Primary outcomes focused on self-determination, career maturity, and social support. We also explored program adherence and dosage, participant satisfaction, and areas for improvement.

Results: A total of 13 youth (mean age 17.3 years, SD 1.88; 54%, 7/13 female) completed the RCT. In the intervention group (n=9), 56% (5/9) of the youth were females, and in the control group (n=4), 50% (2/4) of the youth were female. Participants reported satisfaction with the program and that it was feasible and acceptable. Participants' mean engagement level with the program was 5.22 (SD 2.48) for the intervention group and 5.40 (SD 4.56) for controls. Participants in the intervention group demonstrated significant improvements in self-determination (t_{12} =2.49; P<.04) compared with the control group. No adverse events were reported.

Conclusions: The *Empowering Youth Towards Employment* is a promising intervention that enhances self-determination among youth with physical disabilities.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT02522507; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02522507 (Archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/6uD58Pvjc)

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.2196/resprot.8034

RenderX

KEYWORDS

social support; mentor; employment; youth; disabled persons; rehabilitation; occupational therapy

Introduction

Background

Although many young people with disabilities are willing and capable of working, they encounter many personal, environmental, and socio-contextual challenges (eg, inaccessible jobs and discrimination) in finding and maintaining meaningful employment [1]. Their persistently low employment rates are about half or less compared with youth without disabilities [2-4]. Although youth with disabilities could benefit from employment training programs, they are often not tailored to meet the needs of youth with disabilities (eg, self-care at work, disclosing a disability, and requesting accommodations). Of the programs that are targeted toward people with disabilities, they often focus on youth with intellectual or developmental disabilities, whereas less attention has been paid to youth with physical disabilities [1,3,4]. There are limited evidence-based employment preparation programs for youth with disabilities in Canada [5,6]. For example, a systematic review by Hanif et al [5] focusing on employment preparation programs for youth with physical disabilities found only 8 empirical studies in this area. Although there is limited research on this particular population, the findings are promising and show potential to improve self-confidence, self-awareness, goal setting, and knowledge of career options [5]. Although some evidence suggests that vocational programs can influence employment outcomes for youth with disabilities, much further research is needed [5]. Focusing on youth with physical disabilities is important because they arguably have different needs regarding developmental tasks, social development, and role functioning [7,8]. Furthermore, this period of emerging adulthood is an optimal time to help youth develop critical job and independence skills [<mark>9</mark>].

Mentoring involves developing a relationship between a more experienced individual who serves as a role model and shares knowledge with a less experienced individual [10,11] and can help provide youth with informational, practical, and emotional assistance to enhance coping skills as youth transition to adulthood [12-15]. Mentoring has beneficial impacts on job training, educational attainment, social skills, self-esteem, self-efficacy, work ethic, and employment outcomes [16-18]. Mentoring is particularly useful for groups that are considered to be disadvantaged, such as youth with disabilities [15,19]. Research on mentoring programs among youth without disabilities shows that they are a cost-effective way to augment vocational and educational services while also promoting positive behaviors (eg, self-efficacy, quality of life, and employment skills) [12,20-23]. A meta-analysis focusing on youth without disabilities showed that the key ingredients of peer mentor interventions involve trained mentors, monitored implementation, structured activities, and parental involvement [20]. Until recently, most mentoring programs (in general and those specific to employment) have not included nor specifically

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12088/
```

XSL•FO

targeted youth with disabilities [15,18]. A common challenge with mentoring programs is that it is often difficult to meet face-to-face. Thus, having a Web-based format can help to overcome some of these challenges [24]. Peer electronic mentoring (e-mentoring) may be 1 way to help youth to gain valuable employment preparation skills in an accessible format. Research demonstrates that Web-based platforms can influence learning and behavior change [25-27]. Web-based formats are particularly relevant for youth, given that the majority of them seek information and communicate over the internet [28]. E-mentoring formats are also flexible in regard to matching participants to a mentor and asynchronous communication [29].

Rationale

This study addresses an important gap in the literature by offering a Web-based employment preparation intervention for youth with physical disabilities. Such youth often encounter different challenges compared with youth with invisible disabilities or chronic illnesses because their condition is often visible, and they also encounter difficulties in mobilities, speech, independence, coping, stigma, and social exclusion [30]. Our intervention aims to strengthen youth's employment preparation skills including self-determination, career maturity, and social support, all of which can have beneficial effects for employment outcomes [15,19,31-34].

Methods

Objective

Our main objective was to assess the feasibility, acceptability, and initial efficacy (ie, pilot randomized controlled trial, RCT) of an electronic mentor (e-mentor) employment preparation intervention for youth with physical disabilities for improving self-determination, career maturity, and social support compared with controls. A secondary objective includes exploring program adherence and dosage, participant satisfaction, and areas for improvement.

Design

A pilot RCT, with an embedded qualitative design [35], was chosen to test the feasibility and initial efficacy of the *Empowering Youth Towards Employment* intervention for youth with physical disabilities. This intention to treat design involves an intervention group that received employment preparation Web-based modules and a peer e-mentor. Meanwhile, the control group received the Web-based modules only (no mentor) but could interact with other participants within their group. We administered pre- and postsurveys (immediately following the completion of the intervention) for both groups (intervention and control). We followed the Medical Research Council Framework for the development and evaluation of RCTs to guide our design [36]. We focused on the development and feasibility phases to establish the theoretical underpinnings and modeling to test the feasibility of key intervention components

[36]. The qualitative data comprised open-ended survey questions and researcher's observation field notes.

The rationale, design, content, and length of our intervention was based on 2 systematic reviews focusing on employment preparation interventions for youth with physical disabilities [5] and best practices of peer mentorship for improving employment outcomes [15] and 2 scoping reviews on improving the inclusion of people with disabilities in the workforce [37] and mentoring practices for a diverse workforce [38]. We also conducted needs assessments regarding informational and social support for youth with disabilities [7,39].

Procedures and Randomization

We received institutional research ethics board approval (from a pediatric hospital and a university). Eligible participants were sent an information letter and phone call from the research team. The research assistant screened all participants and obtained informed written consent before enrolling them in the intervention. Once participants consented, they were randomized into an intervention or control group using a block size of 10 [40]. Participants were then emailed the presurvey (see measures below). Next, a research assistant contacted participants to inform them of their group assignment and instruct them on the procedures to be followed (see Figure 1 for trial schema).

Intervention (Experimental Group)

The purpose of the intervention was to provide meaningful support and access to evidence-based employment resources so that youth can begin thinking about preparing for employment. The content and length of our intervention were evidence-informed by 2 systematic reviews, a scoping review, and a needs assessment conducted by our team [5,15,37,39]. It was cocreated with a knowledge user advisory group and consists of 12 modules (1 per week over 12 weeks) that were delivered by youth peer mentors in a password-protected online discussion forum (see Multimedia Appendix 1 for topics). Each module contained informative resources and interactive materials (ie, articles and videos) that could be viewed at their own pace, homework, and discussions led by trained peer mentors. The group-based intervention involved up to 10 participants per group plus 2 mentors (ie, trained near-peers who have a physical disability). Youth were given access to a separate password-protected area of AbilityOnline website, a safe forum for youth with disabilities. It was important to note that we piloted the 12-week format before switching to a 4-week format (reported elsewhere) [6].



Figure 1. Search process flow diagram.



Youth mentors presented each of the topics to mentored participants in the same order using a script. To ensure treatment fidelity, each mentor received the same training and regular check-ins with project staff. They provided their own personal experiences and examples related to each topic and were instructed to respond to all posts while offering informational, emotional, and social support, which they received training in. The asynchronous discussion forum was available to all participants in the group (eg, intervention or control). Participants were instructed to log in to the forum at least once a week, which they could do at a time that was convenient for them. Mentors posted their availability (ie, when they would be in the forum) if participants wanted to discuss something in real time. To be considered for the role of a peer mentor, eligible young adults had lived experience with a physical disability, some employment experience, and have completed the 3-day Youth Peer Mentor Training program that runs out of a pediatric rehabilitation hospital [41]. Mentors also completed project-specific training (ie, active listening, perspective taking, confidentiality, maintaining boundaries, positive role modeling, trust building through interactive training, and mentoring) before starting. Mentors included 2 youth (1 male and 1 female, mean age 21.5 years) who had a physical disability. Mentors

RenderX

introduced the topics in the same order and were trained to respond to participants' comments in a similar supportive and positive-focused manner [6].

Control Group

The control group had access to a separate password-protected group within the Web-based forum that contained the modules only, and they did not receive peer mentorship [6]. Instead, a researcher posted the weekly discussion topics but was instructed to not reply to any participant posts. Youth participants within the control group could interact with other participants in their group, but such discussions were not facilitated by a mentor.

Recruitment

Participants were recruited from June to September 2016 through invitation letters sent from a pediatric hospital and disability organizations through referrals and advertisements. Potential participants also contacted us if they were interested in participating. Inclusion criteria involved the following: (1) able to read and write in English, (2) aged 15 to 25 years, (3) have access to a computing device with internet access, (4) currently enrolled in or recently completed a high school

diploma in the applied or academic stream (to screen for cognitive impairment), (5) have no paid work experience, and (6) youth with a physical disability (eg, cerebral palsy, spina bifida, muscular dystrophy, and spinal cord injury) [6]. Here, we refer to disability as impairment, activity limitation, and participation restriction, whereby a disability and functioning are shaped by interactions between health conditions and contextual factors [42]. Our rationale for this age group and also choosing youth without employment experience was that youth with disabilities often start their first job later than youth without disabilities [39]. Exclusion criteria involve those who recently completed or who are currently participating in another employment preparation or peer support intervention [6].

Information packages were mailed to 330 potential participants, and the research team followed up with potential participants via phone (n=298) or email (n=32) to assess interest and availability for the study. If youth were interested in participating in the study, they were then screened for eligibility by a researcher, and if eligible, they were required to sign a written consent or assent form before taking part in the study. We were able to reach and assess 193 participants for eligibility. A total of 173 participants were excluded (see Figure 1 for reasons). All the 13 participants who joined the study provided written consent, completed a presurvey, signed up for the intervention website, and completed the postsurvey after the completion of the intervention. A total of 20 participants expressed interest in the study, met the inclusion criteria, and provided written consent. Using a block size of 10, participants were randomly assigned into either the experimental (ie, mentored) or control group (see Figure 1 for trial schema).

A total of 7 participants dropped out of the study. Of the participants, 1 dropped out of the intervention group because of medical complications, and 6 participants dropped out of the control group (see Figure 1 for reasons). A total of 13 participants completed the intervention and postsurveys (9 intervention and 4 controls).

Outcome Measures

In addition to basic demographic information (see Table 1), participants completed 3 standardized measures at baseline and at completion of the study to explore self-determination [43], career maturity inventory attitude scale [43], and multidimensional scale of perceived social support [44]. These standardized measures have good internal consistency, construct-related and criterion validity, and test-retest reliability and have been widely used for youth with disabilities [43-46]. Given that the focus of this study was feasibility, these outcome measures were exploratory to examine variances to help determine appropriate outcomes and sample size for future full-scale RCTs.

The first outcome measure, Arc's Self-Determination Scale [46], consists of a self-report measure that assesses self-determination for adolescents with disabilities, with subscales on autonomy, acting on the basis of preferences and abilities (postschool directions), goal setting, and task performance (eg, "I make my own my own meals or snacks" and "I make long-range career plans"). The scale includes I do not even if I have the chance (0), I do sometimes when I have

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12088/
```

a chance (1), I do most of the time when I have a chance, and I do every time I have the chance (3) [46].

The second outcome measure, Career Maturity Inventory Attitude Scale [43,45], is a 25-item agree (1) or disagree (0) scale where responses form the bases for 5 subscales relating to career decision making including orientation, involvement, independence, compromise, and decisiveness (eg, "there is no point in deciding on a job when the future is so uncertain," "I don't know what courses I should take in school." and "I keep changing my occupational choice") [45,47].

The third measure, Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support, includes a 12-item questionnaire that captures perceived social support from various sources (ie, parents, siblings, friends, and peers). Example items include "there is a special person who is around when I am in need," "my family really tries to help me," and "I can count on my friends when things go wrong." The scale involves the following: very strongly disagree (0), strongly disagree (1), mildly disagree (2), neutral (3), mildly agree (4), strongly agree (5), and very strongly agree (6). Scores are summed for a total score, with higher scores reflecting higher values of social support [47].

Secondary measures include Web-based usage (ie, number of times logged in and length of time on the forum); how much they liked each topic, based on the Web-hosting *Drupal* platform analytics. We also describe adherence with the intervention, engagement (self-rated scale of 0-10, with higher scores reflecting higher engagement in the program), and satisfaction with the program as measured through open-ended questions in the postsurveys. Other parameters explored included recruitment accrual rates, program adherence, and satisfaction with the intervention, along with suggestions for improvement.

Data Analysis

Data were analyzed using IBM SPSS, version 25. Descriptive statistics were used to describe the sample characteristics at baseline using means and SD for continuous variables and frequencies and portions for categorical variables. t tests were conducted to compare baseline characteristics between the intervention and control groups. Separate analyses were conducted for each outcome. Holm's sequential correction will be applied to control for type I error. Effect sizes were determined using Cohen d, with 0.2 as indicative of a small effect, 0.5 medium effect, and 0.8 large effect. A level of .05 was used as the criterion for statistical significance.

Qualitative analysis of the open-ended survey questions and researcher's field notes involved 2 team members reviewing all data independently, and then, they compared the findings and analyzed them thematically through an open-coding, constant comparison approach [48]. Any discrepancies were resolved through discussion of the themes and reevaluated until consensus was reached. We kept a log of the key decisions made throughout the analysis to help improve the credibility of our findings [48].

Results

Sample Characteristics

A total of 13 adolescents (mean age 17.3, SD 1.88; 54% female; range 15-21 years) completed the study, which ran from July 2016 to December 2016. A total of 6 participants had cerebral palsy, 4 had muscular dystrophy, 2 had Charcot Marie tooth disease, and 1 had metabolic bone disease. A total of 6 participants in the intervention group and 4 in the control group used an assistive or mobility device. The majority of the

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of participants and mentors.

participants (6 intervention, 4 control) were currently enrolled in school. The remainder completed high school or were unemployed. There were no significant differences between the groups on demographic variables at baseline (see Table 1).

In regard to self-rated engagement in the intervention, there were no significant differences between the intervention (mean 5.22, SD 2.48) and control groups (mean 5.40, SD 4.56). Both groups spent a similar amount of time on the website (intervention: mean 1.1 hours, SD 1.3; control: mean 1.55 hours, SD 1.85).

Demographic characteristics	Participants		Mentors (n=2)	
	Intervention (n=9)	Control (n=4)		
Age (years), mean (SD)	17.8 (1.7)	16.25 (1.89)	21.5 (1.5)	
Sex (n)				
Male	4	2	1	
Female	5	2	1	
Disability type (n)				
Cerebral palsy	4	2	1	
Muscular dystrophy	3	1	0	
Charcot Marie tooth disease	2	0	0	
Metabolic bone disease	0	1	0	
Other physical disability	0	0	1	
Use an assistive or mobility device (n)	6	4	2	
Currently enrolled in school (n)	6	4	2	
Total time spent on the website (hours), mean (SD)	1.1 (1.3)	1.55 (1.85)	6.38 (5.41)	
Number of posts and messages, mean (SD)	6.77 (6.49)	3.0 (4.69)	35.5 (6.36)	
Number of logins, mean (SD)	34.3 (59.0)	7.25 (3.68)	99.5 (85.55)	
Self-rated engagement, mean (SD)	5.22 (2.48)	5.40 (4.56)	7 (0)	

Although the intervention group logged in more times (intervention: mean 34.3, SD 59.0; control: mean 7.24, SD 3.68) and posted more messages on average than controls (intervention: mean 6.77, SD 6.49; control: mean 3.0, SD 4.69), the differences between the groups were not significant.

Primary Outcome Analysis

Our primary outcome for this study focused on the feasibility of the *Empowering Youth Towards Employment* intervention. *t* tests (between time 1 and time 2) were computed to examine differences on each outcome including self-determination, career maturity, and social support. Separate analyses were conducted for each outcome. There were no significant differences on outcome measures at baseline. After controlling for baseline scores, participants in the intervention group had significantly improved self-determination scores after the intervention compared with those in the control group (t_{12} =2.49; *P*<.03; *d*=.70; see Tables 2 and 3 for comparison of outcome measures between the 2 groups). There were no significant differences in career maturity or social support between the intervention and control groups following the intervention.

Program Adherence and Dosage

Mentors delivered the intervention as instructed in the protocol and posted a unique topic once a week. The researchers monitored this through the discussion boards. The mentor's role was also to respond to participant comments, which was done majority (82%) of the time. A total of 18% of the messages posted by participants did not get a response from mentors. A total of 2 of these messages were follow-up responses from participants on a specific topic. In a few instances, mentors posted a longer, more generic statement that addressed several different comments rather than addressing each specific participant.

The control group ran as planned, where a research assistant posted 1 topic per week, which included general information and discussion questions. The researcher who posted the topics in the control group did not respond to any of the participants' posts in the forum, as directed in the protocol. All 12 topics were posted at the beginning of the week as prescribed, and the full extent of the intervention was delivered to participants.

Participant Satisfaction With the Intervention

A total of 8 out of 9 (89%) of intervention group participants and 4 out of 4 (100%) of the control group participants said they would recommend the intervention to others. In their open-ended survey responses, participants described their level of satisfaction with the intervention and whether they would recommend it to others. Specifically, youth in both the intervention and control groups reported satisfaction with receiving information and feedback. A total of 3 participants in the intervention and 3 in the control group reported enjoying the information provided in the intervention, especially the employment preparation content and disability specific resources. For example, a participant in the intervention group commented that the intervention "gives a lot of advice on how to get to work where you want to and how to overcome the disability, which is helpful" [#1-09]. Furthermore, giving and receiving feedback was another aspect that participants (5 intervention, 1 control) appreciated. Such advice included feedback from peer mentors related to career strategies, overcoming disability-related challenges, and sharing

experiences related to the intervention topics. For example, 1 intervention group participant shared:

I was able to suggest some things I did that helped me with some of my issues which I hope helped my colleagues. [#1-03]

Participants also expressed contentment with the Web-based format of the intervention, stating it was "well-organized" [#1-02] and that the Web-based format "was the easiest one to learn from and get information from" [#1-05]. Furthermore, 7 participants in the intervention group had positive feedback regarding the social interaction and social support components provided through the intervention. For example, a participant shared that they "enjoyed connecting with...the mentors because it made the ideas of transition to postsecondary seem less daunting" [#1-05]. Another youth highlighted a benefit of the program:

It is very important to hear the opinions of people with disabilities. So, if someone feels alone they know they're not the only ones going through certain situations. [#1-02]

 Table 2. Descriptive statistics on participant outcomes (time 1) by group.

Variable	Intervention group (n=9), mean (SD)	Control group (n=4), mean (SD)	t (df)	<i>P</i> value	Effect size (Cohen <i>d</i>)
Self-determination	22.3 (5.17)	14.5 (3.69)	3.35 (12)	.06	0.88
Career maturity	13.0 (3.27)	13.0 (7.02)	0 (12)	>.99	0
Social support	49.5 (21.07)	58.0 (17.7)	-1.005 (12)	.33	0.21

Table 3.	Differences i	n outcomes	between	experimental	and control	groups	(time 2).
						<u> </u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Variable	Intervention group (n=9), mean (SD)	Control group (n=4), mean (SD)	t (df)	P value	Effect size (Cohen <i>d</i>)
Self-determination	23.0 (5.78)	13.5 (7.59)	2.49 (12)	.03	0.7
Career maturity	13.75 (3.10)	15.25 (4.11)	-0.71 (12)	.49	0.71
Social support	49.5 (21.07)	60.5 (13.27)	-0.946 (12)	.36	0.32

One of the main goals of the intervention was to provide employment resources and information to participants, which was deemed as helpful by most participants, such as participant #1-04, who stated:

The study was very informative and helped a lot with my plans for my career.

A participant in the control group also discussed that they enjoyed the program because "you get good information and tips" [#2-03].

Areas for Improvement

Some participants had suggestions about how the intervention could be improved. For example, some participants noted that it would be helpful to have more prompts to keep them engaged throughout the 12 weeks. Lack of engagement was often associated with personal reasons (ie, too busy or forgetting to log in, too shy to participate, etc). For instance, a participant in the intervention group explained: *I enjoyed the program; however my summer became very busy and I regret not being able to engage in the program.* [#1-02]

Another participant suggested:

Sometimes I forgot to check the website during the week so it would be helpful to receive an email reminding me to check any updates. [#1-03]

One participant in the intervention group who had logged in few times but did not post describes:

I needed greater clarity on time frame and expectations. I'm sorry I was a passive participant and did not engage in the discussions more. [#1-01]

A total of 3 intervention participants and 1 control group participant mentioned that they found it difficult to remember to log in to the website or had limited access to a computer, which made it difficult to participate on a regular basis.

Other participants wanted improvements to the website. For instance, a participant in the control group explained that they



found the "layout of the website was confusing...and hard to navigate" [#2-05]. Meanwhile, a participant in the intervention group suggested:

The website could have a better UI (User Interface) so it has a better feel. [#1-09]

Discussion

Principal Findings

Our findings show that the Empowering Youth Towards Employment intervention demonstrated acceptability and preliminary evidence of impact in 1 of the outcome measures within a sample of youth with physical disabilities. Youth with disabilities are considered a vulnerable population that has unique vocational needs [15]. Helping them to gain employment skills is important because they often encounter significantly higher unemployment rates compared with youth without disabilities [6,49]. Therefore, providing mentoring and resources within a Web-based forum is 1 potential way that can help to engage youth with disabilities within an accessible format [50]. Peer mentors can act as role models who help to normalize the experience of transitioning to work for those who have a disability. Knowing that others have gone through a similar experience may help to increase their motivation for pursuing vocational interests [51,52]. Youth may be more receptive to receiving information from a peer who is closer in age [52]. Previous research shows that mentoring is a promising mechanism that can help to enhance youth's inclusion while also offering support and coping strategies [53]. Web-based platforms can also influence learning and behavior change [26]. Our study is novel in that it offers an employment preparation program through an e-mentor platform. Most previous studies focus on self-management and health-related outcomes.

Our results indicated significant improvements in self-determination (large effect) among the youth in the intervention (ie, mentored) group. Previous research shows that there is a strong link between mentoring and improvements in self-efficacy [54], self-determination [55,56], and self-confidence [57]. For example, Gregg et al's [55] study explored the effectiveness of virtual mentoring to enhance the persistence of secondary and postsecondary students with learning disabilities in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics and found improved self-determination [55]. Indeed, helping youth to develop their self-determination and self-advocacy skills is important because it is critical for optimizing their participation and inclusion in society [58-60].

A total of 2 of the measures within our study, career maturity and social support, showed no significant improvement following the intervention. These findings are somewhat surprising and contrast other e-mentor interventions focusing on youth with visual impairments and blindness (using a mixed format including face-to-face and group-based activities, email, and phone calls) that found significant improvement in career decision making [61]. Another study involving 8 e-mentoring sessions to enhance the transition to college for youth with disabilities [62] found significant improvements in career decision self-efficacy. This discrepancy could be partly a result of the small sample size, differences in the disability types

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12088/
```

explored, the length of the mentoring interventions, differences in the measures used, and lack of control groups in these studies.

Research shows that early vocational experiences are associated with the development of career maturity and vocational identity, contributing to a positive career trajectory [33,34]. Vocational maturity is characterized by the extent to which one is concerned with seeking out a career choice; investigating and planning for an occupation; stable occupational preference over time; realistic attitudes toward work; and habits, interests, and abilities that match one's occupational preference [33,63]. Most studies exploring career maturity among youth with disabilities focus on the college age [31]. Given that the average age of our sample was younger, it could be that youth are still very early on in their development and need more time and experience to further develop their career maturity.

Our results also showed no significant improvements in social support within the time frame of this study. This finding could be a result of the social support provided by peer mentors (eg, encouragement and sharing experiences), perhaps acting as a mediating factor affecting self-determination [32]. For example, research shows that employment success can be achieved through social relationships [64] or perhaps, the participants in our study already had good support systems in place from family and friends. Some research suggests that the e-mentoring process lacks verbal communication cues, which result in more impersonal or superficial relationships between mentor and mentee, and therefore, more informal or conversational language should be used to encourage closeness [53,65]. Interestingly, participants expressed satisfaction in social interactions and support from the intervention in the open-ended survey responses.

Our findings highlighted participants' satisfaction with the intervention, and the majority would recommend it to other youth. Somewhat surprising, however, is that their self-reported levels of engagement were somewhat lower than expected. This could have been because of the 12-week length of the program and many youth were busy with school and often found it difficult to participate as often as they would have hoped to. We observed that engagement levels, based on the number of posts per topic, decreased over the course of the 12-week intervention. We recommend that the research team and youth mentors check in more regularly with the participants to help keep them engaged throughout the intervention. Other studies on mentoring among youth with disabilities show that having small group activities [66] and family support [21,67] can help keep participants engaged, along with timely responses from mentors [65].

Our results showed lower than expected engagement levels, which suggest that the intervention may not be appropriate in its current form for youth with physical disabilities. The intervention could benefit from flexibility in the length of the program to increase acceptability to a larger group of youth. Some youth may have found it difficult to remain engaged for 12 weeks, especially with ongoing school commitments. Our findings are consistent with past research focusing on youth without disabilities, showing that maintaining engagement of participants within an e-mentor format can be challenging, and

XSL•FO RenderX

engagement may decrease as the intervention progresses [68,69]. One topic per week may also not be enough interaction to keep youth engaged, as research shows that frequent and consistent contact is useful for a successful mentoring relationship [65,70,71]. Therefore, we recommend that a shorter, more condensed format, perhaps over the summer months when youth are not as busy with school, may be more suitable.

Limitations and Future Directions

It is important to consider the limitations of this study, which focused on the feasibility and initial impact of the intervention. First, we were underpowered in some of the analyses. Our sample size was small, and we recruited from only 1 site, which limits the generalizability of the findings. Second, some youth who completed a presurvey and participated in the discussion forum did not complete a postsurvey, which excluded them from the analysis. This was particularly the case for the control group. Therefore, it is important to note that more of the participants in the intervention group stayed in the study. The design of future interventions should consider how to maintain engagement of participants who are in the control group. Third, we included various types of physical disabilities, and each have different needs and concerns regarding preparing for employment and could have affected the results. Fourth, we were unable to determine the number of participants who looked at the resources and modules and the amount of time that they spent looking at them, which is an important factor that could influence the outcomes that we explored. Finally, the host website that we used for this intervention went through several upgrades during the course of the intervention that caused some technical difficulties that some participants experienced. This could have affected their participation and engagement in the study.

Future studies should be directed in several areas. First, given the relatively low self-rated engagement levels, future research should have specific engagement strategies to keep participants engaged (in both the intervention and the control groups). This could involve regular check-ins to see if participants need any help with posting, reminders to contribute to the discussion, or involving a variety of different components such as face-to-face or in-person components [19]. Further support may be needed for participants who are shy or reluctant to post. Finally, further research should explore whether any potential gains from this or other similar interventions last over the long term.

Conclusions and Implications

The Empowering Youth Towards Employment intervention is promising in that it enhances self-determination among youth with physical disabilities. There is a growing emphasis on the importance of including a process evaluation as part of an RCT [72]. This study shows that a process evaluation can provide valuable information about an intervention, which is critical if it going to be fully implemented into practice. Furthermore, findings from the process evaluation will help interpret the outcomes of the intervention. Our results show that the length of the intervention seemed too long for both the mentors and the participants. We recommend condensing the length of the intervention into a 1-month format that would also fit into the youth's schedule. It is important to balance addr essing the primary mentoring goal of helping youth to develop employment-related skills with fostering a meaningful mentoring relationship with participants. We recommend that further mentor training and ongoing support is needed to help facilitate this. Furthermore, our results suggest that there is value in having peer mentors who have a disability. Most previous peer mentoring studies have a mentor that does not have a disability.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by a Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council (grant #435-2015-0568). The first author holds a career award from the Ontario Ministry of Research and Innovation in addition to Kimmel Matching Fund through the Bloorview Research Institute. The authors would like to thank *AbilityOnline* and the staff, students, and volunteers in the Transitions and Inclusive Environments lab for their support in this project.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Overview of weekly topics. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 43KB - pediatrics_v2i1e12088_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 CONSORT - EHEALTH checklist (V 1.6.1). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 3MB - pediatrics_v2i1e12088_app2.pdf]

References

1. Lindsay S. Discrimination and other barriers to employment for teens and young adults with disabilities. Disabil Rehabil 2011;33(15-16):1340-1350. [doi: 10.3109/09638288.2010.531372] [Medline: 21067349]

- Till M. Canadian Survey on Disability. 2012. A profile of the labour market experiences of adults with disabilities among Canadians aged 15 years and older URL: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/89-654-x/89-654-x2015005-eng.</u> pdf?st=11fIY639 [WebCite Cache ID 75WKID9Q9]
- 3. Carter EW, Trainor AA, Ditchman N, Swedeen B, Owens L. Community-based summer work experiences of adolescents with high-incidence disabilities. J Spec Educ 2009 Nov 13;45(2):89-103. [doi: 10.1177/0022466909353204]
- 4. Trainor AA, Lindstrom L, Simon-Burroughs M, Martin JE, Sorrells AM. From marginalized to maximized opportunities for diverse youths with disabilities: a position paper of the Division on Career Development and Transition. Career Dev Transition Except Individ 2008 Apr 22;31(1):56-64. [doi: 10.1177/0885728807313777]
- Hanif S, Peters H, McDougall C, Lindsay S. A systematic review of vocational interventions for youth with disabilities. In: Altman BM, editor. Factors in Studying Employment for Persons with Disability. Bingley, West Yorkshire, England: Emerald Publishing Limited; 2017:181-202.
- Lindsay S, Stinson J, Stergiou-Kita M, Leck J. Improving transition to employment for youth with physical disabilities: protocol for a peer electronic mentoring intervention. JMIR Res Protoc 2017 Nov 16;6(11):e215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.8034] [Medline: 29146566]
- Lindsay S, Adams T, McDougall C, Sanford R. Skill development in an employment-training program for adolescents with disabilities. Disabil Rehabil 2012;34(3):228-237 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/09638288.2011.603015] [Medline: 21977978]
- Barnfather A, Stewart M, Magill-Evans J, Ray L, Letourneau N. Computer-mediated support for adolescents with cerebral palsy or spina bifida. Comput Inform Nurs 2011;29(1):24-33; quiz 34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NCN.0b013e3181f9db63] [Medline: 21099541]
- 9. Arnett J. Emerging adulthood: what is it, and what is it good for? Child Dev Perspect 2007;1(2):68-73. [doi: 10.1111/j.1750-8606.2007.00016.x]
- 10. Stumbo NJ. Evidence-based practices in mentoring students with disabilities: four case studies. JSESD 2009 Nov 01;14(1):33-54. [doi: 10.14448/jsesd.03.0003]
- 11. Karcher MJ, Kuperminc GP, Portwood SG, Sipe CL, Taylor AS. Mentoring programs: a framework to inform program development, research, and evaluation. J Community Psychol 2006 Nov;34(6):709-725. [doi: 10.1002/jcop.20125]
- 12. Stinson JN, McGrath PJ, Hodnett ED, Feldman BM, Duffy CM, Huber AM, et al. An internet-based self-management program with telephone support for adolescents with arthritis: a pilot randomized controlled trial. J Rheumatol 2010 Sep;37(9):1944-1952. [doi: 10.3899/jrheum.091327] [Medline: 20595280]
- Fraas M, Bellerose A. Mentoring programme for adolescent survivors of acquired brain injury. Brain Inj 2010 Jan;24(1):50-61. [doi: <u>10.3109/02699050903446781</u>] [Medline: <u>20001483</u>]
- 14. Funnell MM. Peer-based behavioural strategies to improve chronic disease self-management and clinical outcomes: evidence, logistics, evaluation considerations and needs for future research. Fam Pract 2010 Jun;27(Suppl 1):i17-i22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/fampra/cmp027] [Medline: 19509083]
- Lindsay S, Fellin M. A systematic review of mentorship programs to facilitate transition to post-secondary education and employment for youth and young adults with disabilities. Disabil Rehabil 2016 Jul;38(14):1329-1349 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/09638288.2015.1092174] [Medline: 26497325]
- 16. Campbell-Whatley GD. Mentoring students with mild disabilities: the "nuts and bolts" of program development. ISC 2001 Mar 01;36(4):211-216. [doi: 10.1177/105345120103600403]
- Shem K, Medel R, Wright J, Kolakowsky-Hayner SA, Duong T. Return to work and school: a model mentoring program for youth and young adults with spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord 2011 Apr;49(4):544-548. [doi: <u>10.1038/sc.2010.166</u>] [Medline: <u>21135861</u>]
- Sword C, Hill K. National Center on Secondary Education and Transition. Creating mentoring opportunities for youth with disabilities: Issues and suggested strategies URL: <u>http://ncset.org/publications/issue/NCSETIssueBrief 1.4.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-02-22] [WebCite Cache ID 76Ntdw9Xw]
- 19. Lindsay S, Munson M. National Mentoring Resource Center. 2018. Mentoring For Youth With Disabilities URL: <u>http://nationalmentoringresourcecenter.org/images/PDF/Mentoring_for_Youth_with_Disabilities_Population_Review.pdf</u> [WebCite Cache ID 75WK3sNiw]
- 20. DuBois DL, Holloway BE, Valentine JC, Cooper H. Effectiveness of mentoring programs for youth: a meta-analytic review. Am J Community Psychol 2002 Apr;30(2):157-197 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1023/A:1014628810714] [Medline: 12002242]
- 21. Powers L, Sowers J, Stevens T. An exploratory randomized study of the impact of mentoring on the self-efficacy and community-based knowledge of adolescents with severe physical challenges. J Rehabil Med 1995;61(1):33-41 [FREE Full text]
- 22. Southwick SM, Morgan CA, Vythilingam M, Charney D. Mentors enhance resilience in at-risk children and adolescents. Psychoanal Inq 2007 Apr 12;26(4):577-584. [doi: 10.1080/07351690701310631]
- 23. Lindstrom L, Doren B, Post C, Lombardi A. Building career PATHS (postschool achievement through higher skills) for young women with disabilities. CDQ 2013 Dec 09;61(4):330-338. [doi: <u>10.1002/j.2161-0045.2013.00059.x</u>]
- 24. Elliott C, Leck J. Shattering glass: e-mentoring and the advancement of diversity. Int J Organiz Diverse 2016;16(4):1-15. [doi: 10.18848/2328-6261/CGP/v16i04/1-15]

RenderX

- 25. Lindsay S, Smith S, Bell F, Bellaby P. Tackling the digital divide: exploring the impact of ICT on managing heart conditions in a deprived area. Inf Commun Soc 2007 Feb;10(1):95-114. [doi: 10.1080/13691180701193127]
- 26. Nguyen HQ, Carrieri-Kohlman V, Rankin SH, Slaughter R, Stulbarg MS. Internet-based patient education and support interventions: a review of evaluation studies and directions for future research. Comput Biol Med 2004 Mar;34(2):95-112 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0010-4825(03)00046-5] [Medline: 14972630]
- 27. Eysenbach G, Powell J, Englesakis M, Rizo C, Stern A. Health related virtual communities and electronic support groups: systematic review of the effects of online peer to peer interactions. Br Med J 2004 May 15;328(7449):1166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.328.7449.1166] [Medline: 15142921]
- 28. Lenhart A. Pew Research Center. 2015. A majority of American teens report access to a computer, game console, smart phone and a tablet URL: <u>http://www.pewresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/9/2015/04/</u> PI TeensandTech Update2015_0409151.pdf [accessed 2019-01-18] [WebCite Cache ID 75WJrtHkC]
- 29. Thompson L, Jeffries M, Topping K. E mentoring for e learning development. IETI 2010 Aug;47(3):305-315. [doi: 10.1080/14703297.2010.498182]
- 30. Lindsay S, McPherson AC. Experiences of social exclusion and bullying at school among children and youth with cerebral palsy. Disabil Rehabil 2012;34(2):101-109 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/09638288.2011.587086] [Medline: 21870932]
- 31. Ohler J, Levinson E, Barker W. Career maturity in college students with learning disabilities. CDQ 1996;44(3). [doi: 10.1002/j.2161-0045.1996.tb00259.x]
- 32. Field S, Sarver MD, Shaw SF. Self-determination: a key to success in postsecondary education for students with learning disabilities. Remedial Spec Educ 2016 Aug 18;24(6):339-349. [doi: 10.1177/07419325030240060501]
- 33. Super D, Savickas M, Super C. A life-span, life-space approach to career development. In: Brown D, Brooks L, editors. Career choice and development. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 1996.
- 34. Fabian ES. Urban youth with disabilities: factors affecting transition employment. Rehabil Couns Bull 2016 Aug 13;50(3):130-138. [doi: 10.1177/00343552070500030101]
- 35. Plano Clark VL, Schumacher K, West C, Edrington J, Dunn LB, Harzstark A, et al. Practices for embedding an interpretive qualitative approach within a randomized clinical trial. J Mix Methods Res 2013 Jul;7(3):219-242. [doi: 10.1177/1558689812474372]
- 36. Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M, Medical Research Council Guidance.. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. Br Med J 2008;337:a1655 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 18824488]
- 37. Lindsay S, Goodfellow A, Stergiou-Kita M, Kirsh B, Lero D. Inclusionary business practices for recruiting and retaining people with disabilities. In: Physical Disabilities: Perspectives, Risk Factors and Quality of Life. New York: Nova Science publishers; 2017.
- Leck J, Elliott C, Bourgeois E, Kemp K. Knowledge Synthesis Grant Final Report. 2014. Mentoring a Diverse Workforce URL: <u>http://www.ruor.uottawa.ca/bitstream/10393/30698/1/TelferSchool_WP-2014-01_Leck_Elliott_Bourgeois_Kemp.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-02-24] [WebCite Cache ID 76Q4lmfWp]
- Lindsay S, McDougall C, Menna-Dack D, Sanford R, Adams T. An ecological approach to understanding barriers to employment for youth with disabilities compared to their typically developing peers: views of youth, employers, and job counselors. Disabil Rehabil 2015;37(8):701-711 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/09638288.2014.939775] [Medline: 25014127]
- 40. Hsu L. Random assignment procedures. In: Nezu A, Nezu C, editors. Evidence-based outcome research: A practical guide to conducting randomized controlled trials for psychosocial interventions. New York: Oxford; 2008.
- 41. Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital. 2018. Youth mentorship program URL: <u>https://hollandbloorview.ca/</u> programsandservices/therapeuticrecreationandlifeskills/youth/youthmentorshipprogram [WebCite Cache ID 75WJEmKnz]
- 42. World Health Organization. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO; 2015. Disabilities URL: <u>https://www.who.int/topics/disabilities/</u> en/ [accessed 2019-01-18] [WebCite Cache ID 75WIwr2vM]
- 43. Adelstein DM, Webster DW. Cross-sectional, longitudinal and composite longitudinal data on the Career Maturity Inventory Attitude Scale. J Vocat Behav 1979 Feb;14(1):102-111. [doi: 10.1016/0001-8791(79)90052-6]
- Zimet GD, Powell SS, Farley GK, Werkman S, Berkoff KA. Psychometric characteristics of the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support. J Pers Assess 1990;55(3-4):610-617. [doi: <u>10.1080/00223891.1990.9674095</u>] [Medline: <u>2280326</u>]
- 45. Crites JO, Savickas ML. Revision of the career maturity inventory. J Career Assess 2016 Jul 25;4(2):131-138. [doi: 10.1177/106907279600400202]
- 46. Shogren KA, Wehmeyer ML, Palmer SB, Soukup JH, Little TD, Garner N, et al. Understanding the construct of self-determination: examining the relationship between the Arc's Self-Determination Scale and the American Institutes for Research Self-Determination Scale. Assess Eff Interv 2008 Mar;33(2):94-107. [doi: 10.1177/1534508407311395]
- 47. Zimet GD, Dahlem NW, Zimet SG, Farley GK. The multidimensional scale of perceived social support. J Pers Assess 1988 Mar;52(1):30-41. [doi: <u>10.1207/s15327752jpa5201_2</u>]
- 48. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]



- 49. Lindsay S, McDougall C, Sanford R, Menna-Dack D, Kingsnorth S, Adams T. Exploring employment readiness through mock job interview and workplace role-play exercises: comparing youth with physical disabilities to their typically developing peers. Disabil Rehabil 2015;37(18):1651-1663. [doi: 10.3109/09638288.2014.973968] [Medline: 25323394]
- 50. Bierema L, Merriam S. E-mentoring: using computer mediated communication to enhance the mentoring process. Innovat High Educ 2002;26(3):211-227. [doi: 10.1023/A:1017921023103]
- 51. Dennis C. Peer support within a health care context: a concept analysis. Int J Nurs Stud 2003 Mar;40(3):321-332. [Medline: 12605954]
- 52. Ahola KS, Stinson JN, Ruskin D, Forgeron P, Harris L, van Wyk M, et al. iPeer2Peer program: a pilot feasibility study in adolescents with chronic pain. Pain 2016 May;157(5):1146-1155. [doi: <u>10.1097/j.pain.00000000000496</u>] [Medline: <u>26808145</u>]
- 53. Shpigelman CN, Weiss PL, Reiter S. E-mentoring for all. Comput Human Behav 2009 Jul;25(4):919-928. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2009.03.007]
- 54. Ammerlaan J, van Os-Mendendorp H, de Boer-Nijhof N, Scholtus L, Kruize AA, van Pelt P, et al. Short term effectiveness and experiences of a peer guided web-based self-management intervention for young adults with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2017 Oct 13;15(1):75 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12969-017-0201-1] [Medline: 29029616]
- 55. Gregg N, Galyardt A, Wolfe G, Moon N, Todd R. Virtual mentoring and persistence in STEM for students with disabilities. Career Dev Transit Except Individ 2016 May 25;40(4):205-214. [doi: 10.1177/2165143416651717]
- 56. Gregg N, Wolfe G, Jones S, Todd R, Moon N, Langston C. STEM e-mentoring and community college students with disabilities. JPED 2016;29(1):47-63 [FREE Full text]
- Stewart M, Barnfather A, Magill-Evans J, Ray L, Letourneau N. Brief report: an online support intervention: perceptions of adolescents with physical disabilities. J Adolesc 2011 Aug;34(4):795-800. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.adolescence.2010.04.007</u>] [Medline: <u>20488511</u>]
- 58. Deci EL, Ryan RM. Self-determination theory: a macrotheory of human motivation, development, and health. Can Psychol 2008;49(3):182-185. [doi: 10.1037/a0012801]
- 59. Eisenman LT. Self-determination interventions: building a foundation for school completion. Remedial Spec Educ 2016 Aug 18;28(1):2-8. [doi: 10.1177/07419325070280010101]
- 60. Mumbardó-Adam C, Shogren KA, Guàrdia-olmos J, Giné C. Contextual predictors of self-determined actions in students with and without intellectual disability. Psychol Schs 2016 Dec 27;54(2):183-195. [doi: <u>10.1002/pits.21987</u>]
- 61. Bell EC. Mentoring transition-age youth with blindness. J Spec Educ 2010 Jun 25;46(3):170-179. [doi: 10.1177/0022466910374211]
- 62. Kim K, Choi H. The influence of e-mentoring with college students with disabilities on career decision self-efficacy and college preparation for high school students with disabilities. Korean J Special Edu 2017 Sep 30;52(2):149-169. [doi: 10.15861/kjse.2017.52.2.149]
- 63. Smedley M, Levinson E, Barker W, DeAngelis D. Differences in career maturity among adjudicated and non adjudicated male students with and without disabilities. J Employ Couns 2003;40:108-122. [doi: 10.1002/j.2161-1920.2003.tb00861.x]
- 64. Rhodes JE, Grossman JB, Resch NL. Agents of change: pathways through which mentoring relationships influence adolescents' academic adjustment. Child Dev 2000;71(6):1662-1671. [Medline: <u>11194264</u>]
- 65. Shpigelman C, Gill CJ. The characteristics of unsuccessful e-mentoring relationships for youth with disabilities. Qual Health Res 2013 Apr;23(4):463-475. [doi: 10.1177/1049732312469115] [Medline: 23221100]
- 66. Francis G, Gross J, Turnbull A, Turnbull R. The family employment awareness training (FEAT): a mixed-method follow-up. J Vocat Rehabil 2013;39(3):167-181. [doi: 10.3233/JVR-130652]
- 67. Luecking R, Wittenburg D. Providing supports to youth with disabilities transitioning to adulthood: case descriptions from the Youth Transition Demonstration. J Vocat Rehabil 2009;30(3):241-251. [doi: <u>10.3233/JVR-2009-0464</u>]
- 68. Kasprisin CA, Single PB, Single RM, Muller CB. Building a better bridge: testing e-training to improve e-mentoring programmes in higher education. Mentor Tutor Partner Learn 2003 Apr;11(1):67-78. [doi: 10.1080/1361126032000054817]
- 69. Kramer JM, Ryan CT, Moore R, Schwartz A. Feasibility of electronic peer mentoring for transition-age youth and young adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities: project teens making environment and activity modifications. J Appl Res Intellect Disabil 2018 Jan;31(1):e118-e129. [doi: 10.1111/jar.12346] [Medline: 28247558]
- 70. DiRenzo MS, Linnehan F, Shao P, Rosenberg WL. A moderated mediation model of e-mentoring. J Vocat Behav 2010 Apr;76(2):292-305. [doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2009.10.003]
- 71. Deutsch NL, Spencer R. Capturing the magic: assessing the quality of youth mentoring relationships. New Dir Youth Dev 2009;2009(121):47-70. [doi: 10.1002/yd.296] [Medline: 19358185]
- 72. Wierenga D, Engbers LH, Van Empelen P, Duijts S, Hildebrandt VH, Van Mechelen W. What is actually measured in process evaluations for worksite health promotion programs: a systematic review. BMC Public Health 2013;13:1190 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-1190] [Medline: 24341605]

Abbreviations

e-mentor: electronic mentor



RenderX

e-mentoring: electronic mentoring **RCT:** randomized controlled trial

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 07.09.18; peer-reviewed by A Alriksson-Schmidt, S Lin; comments to author 07.01.19; revised version received 18.01.19; accepted 10.02.19; published 29.03.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Lindsay S, Cagliostro E, Leck J, Stinson J A 12-Week Electronic Mentoring Employment Preparation Intervention for Youth With Physical Disabilities: Pilot Feasibility Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12088 URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12088/ doi:10.2196/12088 PMID:31518315

©Sally Lindsay, Elaine Cagliostro, Joanne Leck, Jennifer Stinson. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 29.03.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

A 4-Week Electronic-Mentoring Employment Intervention for Youth With Physical Disabilities: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial

Sally Lindsay¹, BA, MA, PhD; Elaine Cagliostro², MA; Jennifer Stinson³, PhD; Joanne Leck⁴, PhD

¹Department of Occupational Science and Occupational Therapy, University of Toronto and Bloorview Research Institute, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Sally Lindsay, BA, MA, PhD Department of Occupational Science and Occupational Therapy University of Toronto and Bloorview Research Institute Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital 150 Kilgour Road Toronto, ON, M4G 1R8 Canada Phone: 1 416 425 6220 ext 3654 Email: <u>slindsay@hollandbloorview.ca</u>

Abstract

Background: Youth with disabilities are more likely to live in poverty and be unemployed compared with youth without disabilities. Such trends are often a result of a lack of support, inaccessible jobs, environmental barriers, and discriminatory attitudes toward people with disabilities. Youth with disabilities also face barriers in accessing vocational preparation programs. One encouraging way that could help address challenges that youth encounter is by providing support through electronic mentoring (e-mentoring).

Objective: The objective of this study was to assess the feasibility of a 4-week Web-based peer e-mentoring employment intervention for youth with physical disabilities.

Methods: We conducted a pilot randomized controlled trial (RCT) to evaluate our intervention, *Empowering youth towards employment*. Participants included youth aged 15 to 25 years who were randomly assigned to an experimental (mentored) or control (nonmentored) group. Our intervention involved having trained youth mentors (ie, near peers who also had a disability) lead Web-based discussion forums while offering peer support and resources, which involved 12 modules (3 topics a week for 4 weeks). Primary outcomes focused on implementation (ie, feasibility and acceptability), whereas secondary outcomes focused on effectiveness (ie, measures of self-determination, career maturity, and social support).

Results: A total of 28 youth (mean age 19.62, SD 3.53; 14/28, 50% female) completed the RCT in 3 intervention groups and 2 control groups (intervention n=18, control n=10). Participants reported satisfaction with the program and that it was feasible and acceptable. Youth's mean engagement level with the program was 6.44 (SD 2.33) for the experimental group and 5.56 (SD 3.53) for controls. Participants in the intervention group did not demonstrate any significant improvements in social support, career maturity, or self-determination compared with those in the control group. No adverse events were reported.

Conclusions: The *Empowering youth towards employment* e-mentoring intervention needs further testing with a larger sample and different length of formats to understand how it may have an impact on employment outcomes for youth with disabilities.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT02522507; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02522507 (Archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/77a3T4qrE)

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12653) doi:10.2196/12653

KEYWORDS

RenderX

social support; mentor; youth; rehabilitation; occupational therapy

²Bloorview Research Institute, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada

³Lawrence S Bloomberg Faculty of Nursing, Hospital for Sick Children, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

⁴Telfer School of Management, University of Ottawa, Toronto, ON, Canada

Introduction

Background

There is a growing literature highlighting the benefits of having a diverse workforce and, particularly, hiring people with disabilities [1]. Although there have been many encouraging improvements in this area, people with disabilities, and particularly youth, continue to experience lower employment rates compared with youth without disabilities. For example, the employment rate for youth in Canada aged 20 to 24 years with a severe disability is 35% and youth with a mild or moderate disability is 57% compared with 87% of youth without disabilities [2]. A similar pattern exists for youth aged 15 to 19 years where 40% of those with disabilities are employed compared with 51% of youth without disabilities [3]. Gaining employment skills is important because engagement in paid employment is a social determinant of health that is linked with improving independence and quality of life [4-6]. Many youth with disabilities would like to work and are capable of doing so but encounter many barriers in preparing for and finding employment [7-9]. Even more concerning is that 34% of youth with disabilities, aged 16 to 24 years, are neither working nor in school [10].

Employment preparation programs are often not designed to meet the needs of youth with physical disabilities [6,11]. Although some programs exist, they are mostly focused on youth with developmental or intellectual disabilities. Youth with physical disabilities arguably encounter different needs and challenges in terms of social development and role functioning [5,12]. A recent systematic review focusing on employment preparation programs for youth with physical disabilities highlighted that there is very limited evidence-based programming for youth [11]. Of the handful of studies in this area, youth with disabilities showed promise with improvements in self-confidence, goal setting, and knowledge of career options [11]. Given the various challenges that youth with disabilities encounter, more efforts are needed to help youth prepare for and engage in meaningful employment [7].

Mentoring is a potential way to strengthen the inclusion of youth with disabilities in employment while also offering meaningful social support [13-15]. A mentor refers to someone who is more experienced, acts as a role model, and shares experiences with a less experienced individual. Research shows that mentoring relationships have potential to offer informational, practical, and emotional support; self-determination; quality of life; and career development goals [13,16-21]. There is a small but growing literature on mentoring programs for youth with disabilities, most of which has focused on traditional face-to-face mentoring. A main challenge with this type of mentoring is that it is often difficult to find and access mentors [13]. Therefore, a potential advantage of electronic mentoring (e-mentoring) is that it is in a format that allows for flexibility in matching a mentor with a mentee and also has asynchronous communication [22]. E-mentoring can help to overcome inequities and provide opportunities to underserved groups such as youth with

disabilities [14,15]. Given that Web-based platforms can influence learning and behavior change [23-25], they may offer a promising way to help youth with disabilities to learn essential employment preparation skills. Our intervention aims to strengthen employment readiness skills of youth with disabilities, including their self-determination, career maturity, and social support, all which can improve employment outcomes [13,15,26-28].

Objectives

Our objective was to assess the feasibility (ie, pilot randomized controlled trial [RCT]) of a 4-week e-mentoring intervention focused on youth with physical disabilities for improving self-determination, career maturity, and social support compared with controls.

Methods

Design

We used a pilot RCT with an embedded qualitative design [29] to assess the feasibility of the *Empowering youth towards employment* (ie, 4-week e-mentoring) intervention for youth with physical disabilities. We followed the Medical Research Council Framework for the development and evaluation of RCTs to guide our design [30]. We focused on the development and feasibility phase to ascertain the theoretical foundations and to assess the feasibility of intervention components [6,30]. The intervention group received mentorship from trained youth mentors who guided them through 12 module topics in a Web-based forum [6]. The control group only had access to the Web-based modules and did not receive mentorship.

The content of our intervention was based on several systematic reviews conducted by our team focusing on employment preparation interventions for youth with physical disabilities [11], improving the inclusion of people with disabilities in the workforce [31], and best practices of peer mentorship for improving employment outcomes for youth with disabilities [13]. Needs assessments with youth who have a physical disability also informed the types of informational and social support they look for in a Web-based format [12,32].

Sample and Recruitment

We recruited youth from a pediatric rehabilitation hospital from April 2017 to August 2018. A researcher sent invitation letters to potentially eligible participants meeting the following inclusion criteria: able to read and write in English, aged 15 to 25 years with a physical disability, have access to a computing device with internet access, currently enrolled in or recently completed a high school diploma in the applied or academic stream, and have no paid work experience [6]. We define disability as an impairment, activity limitation, or participation restriction whereby a disability and functioning are shaped by interactions between health conditions and contextual factors [33]. We excluded youth who had recently completed or who were currently participating in employment preparation or peer support intervention [6].

Figure 1. CONSORT flow diagram.



Our aim was to achieve a sample of approximately 80 participants (40 experimental and 40 control) [6] with an alpha of .05 and power of 80% based on the guidelines of Cohen [34] and Hertzog [35]. A total of 37 participants met the inclusion criteria and provided written consent. We used a block size of up to 10 participants who were randomly assigned into an experimental (ie, mentored) or control group (nonmentored; see Figure 1 for trial schema). We ran 5 different groups in the summers of 2017 and 2018, of which 3 were experimental and 2 were control. A total of 7 participants (5 experimental and 2 control) did not complete the postsurvey, and 2 participants dropped out of the study before completion. Moreover, 28 participants completed the intervention and postsurveys (18 experimental and 10 controls).

Setting

RenderX

Youth received access to a password-protected area of a website, *AbilityOnline*, a safe forum for youth with disabilities.

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12653/
```

Peer Mentors

Each intervention group had a paid mentor including youth (ie, near peers) who had lived experience with a physical disability, were currently enrolled in postsecondary education, and had completed a 3-day Youth Peer Mentor training program held at a pediatric rehabilitation hospital [36]. A total of 2 of the experimental groups had 1 male and 1 female mentor who led the discussions, and 1 group had 1 male mentor. We also held project-specific training sessions that taught mentors about active listening, perspective taking, confidentiality, maintaining boundaries, positive role modeling, and trust building [6]. We instructed the mentors to introduce the topics in the same order and to respond in a supportive and positive means [6].

Procedures and Randomization

Ethics approval was obtained from a pediatric hospital and a university. A research assistant screened all potential participants

for inclusion and obtained written informed consent before including them in the project. After participants consented, they were randomized into an experimental or control group, with up to 10 participants per group (see Figure 1) [6,37]. A researcher then emailed the presurvey to each participant via *REDCap*. She then informed them of their group assignment and gave them instructions on how to log in to the project website.

Intervention (Experimental Group)

The Empowering youth towards employment (ie, 4-week e-mentor) intervention was developed to provide social and informational support regarding employment preparation for youth with disabilities [6]. The evidence-informed content [11,13] was cocreated with a knowledge user advisory group consisting of youth with disabilities and parents [6]. The content involved 12 modules where 3 different topics were delivered each week for over 4 weeks. The topics included the following: introduction and goal setting, life skills, managing disability at work, family role in supporting employment, aspirations and expectations, volunteerism, finding a job, social networking and community resources, preparing for job interviews, learning from professionals with disabilities, career pathways and transitions, and referrals [6]. The modules included interactive materials and resources that youth could go through on their own and at their own pace. The experimental group had access to 1 or 2 trained peer mentors through a password-protected Web-based (asynchronous) discussion forum [6]. Each module topic was led by a trained mentor and held in a group-based format, involving up to 10 youth participants and 1 to 2 mentors [6]. The youth mentors used a script to introduce each topic in the same way; however, they were encouraged to share their own relevant experiences. An earlier pilot 12-week version of this intervention is reported elsewhere [6,38]. On the basis of participant feedback that the original format of the program was too long, we condensed the format from 1 weekly topic for 12 weeks to 3 topics per week over 4 weeks [38].

Control Group

Participants in the control group (up to 10 per group) were given access to a separate password-protected area of the Web-based forum where they could see the modules but did not receive peer mentorship. Each module topic was posted by a researcher with the same timing as the experimental group, but they did not reply to posts. Participants could interact with other participants in the control group through the discussion forum; however, this was not moderated [6].

Outcome Measures

Primary outcomes of this study focused on implementation of the 4-week Web-based peer mentoring intervention as measured by recruitment and withdrawal rates, adherence with the intervention (ie, length of time online and number of times logged in), proportion of completed questionnaires, and engagement and satisfaction (ie, self-rated engagement in the study, whether they would recommend the program to others, and open-ended questions to assess satisfaction) [6]. Secondary outcome measures of this study focused on the preliminary estimates of effectiveness of the 4-week Web-based mentoring intervention. In our pre-post surveys, we collected demographic information and the following standardized measures: career maturity inventory attitude scale [39,40], multidimensional scale of perceived social support [41], and self-determination [42]. Each of these measures have been used for youth with disabilities and have good test-retest reliability, internal consistency, and construct-related and criterion validity [40,42,43]. The career maturity inventory attitude scale is a 24-item scale including agree and disagree items relating to career decision making (orientation, involvement, independence, compromise, and decisiveness) [26,40]. The multidimensional scale of perceived social support is a 12-item questionnaire that captures perceived support from several sources [41]. The scores are summed for a total score where a higher score indicates higher perceived social support [41]. Finally, the Arc's self-determination [42] is a self-report measure for adolescents with disabilities, with subscales on autonomy, acting on the basis of preferences, abilities, postschool directions, goal setting, and task performance.

Data Analysis

We analyzed the data using IBM SPSS, version 25. We used descriptive statistics to describe sample characteristics at baseline using means and SD for continuous variables and frequencies for categorical variables. We performed t tests to compare the baseline characteristics between the experimental and the control groups, separate analyses for each outcome. Analyses were conducted using an intent-to-treat approach. Linear regression models were used to test the intervention effects on outcome measures using an analysis of covariance with posttreatment measures compared between groups using baseline scores as covariates. A level of .05 was used as the criterion for statistical significance. The Holm sequential correction technique was used to control for type I error. We calculated effect sizes using Cohen d where 0.2 indicates a small effect, 0.5 medium effect, and 0.8 large effect.

Qualitative data (ie, open-ended survey questions) were analyzed thematically [44] to explore reasons for their satisfaction or dissatisfaction with the program and areas for improvement.

Results

Sample Characteristics

A total of 28 youth aged 15 to 25 years (mean age 19.62, SD 3.53; 14/28, 50% female) completed the Web-based program, split between the intervention and control groups. In addition, 12 youth had cerebral palsy, 6 with Duchenne muscular dystrophy or other neuromuscular disorder, 7 with spina bifida, and 3 with other (nonspecified) physical disabilities. Moreover, 22 of the 28 youth (78%) used an assistive or mobility device, and 19 out of 28 youth (68%) were currently enrolled in school. There were no significant differences in demographic variables or comfort with computers and discussion forums between the experimental and control groups at baseline (see Tables 1 and 2).

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of participants and mentors.

Demographics	Participants	Participants		
	Experimental (n=18)	Control (n=10)		
Age (years), mean (SD)	19.77 (3.49)	19.4 (3.56)	22 (2.64)	
Sex, n (%)				
Male	8 (44)	6 (60)	2 (67)	
Female	10 (56)	4 (40)	1 (33)	
Disability type, n (%)				
Cerebral palsy	6 (33)	6 (60)	0	
Duchenne muscular dystrophy and neuromuscular	3 (17)	3 (30)	0	
Spina bifida	6 (33)	1 (10)	0	
Other physical disability	3 (17)	0	3 (100)	
Use an assistive/mobility device, n (%)	15 (83)	7 (70)	3 (100)	
Currently enrolled in school, n (%)	11 (61)	8 (80)	2 (67)	

Table 2. Participant use and engagement in the program.

Variable	Participants, mean (SD)		Mentors, mean (SD)
	Experimental	Control	
Comfort with computers	2.58 (0.65)	2.46 (0.66)	a
Comfort with discussion forum	1.54 (0.72)	1.62 (1.04)	_
Time spent on the website, hours	5.22 (4.95)	2.95 (2.47)	25.3 (22.3)
Number of logins	7.17 (6.00)	7.66 (5.02)	72.3 (78.05)
Number of messages	8.58 (6.02)	8.11 (4.85)	65.6 (46.49)
Self-rated engagement	6.47 (2.40)	5.56 (3.53)	7.25 (0.27)

^aNot applicable.

Time Spent Online

The experimental group spent more time online (mean 5.22, SD 4.95) compared with the control group (mean 2.95, SD 2.47) and posted slightly more (experimental: mean 8.58, SD 6.02; controls: mean 8.11, SD 4.85), although the difference was not significant (see Table 2). Meanwhile, the mentors spent an average of 25.3 (SD 22.3) hours online, mean of 72.5 (SD 78.05) logins to the website, and mean 65.6 (SD 6.49) posts. Both groups logged in a similar average amount (experimental: mean 7.17, SD 6.00; controls: mean 7.66, SD 5.02).

Recruitment

We sent information packages via mail or email to 812 potential participations. A researcher followed up with participants via phone or email about 1 week after initial contact to assess for potential interest in the study. Youth who were interested in taking part were screened for eligibility, and if interested, they signed a written consent form. We reached and assessed 309 participants for eligibility. A total of 503 potential participants were unable to be contacted to participate in the study (see Figure 1 for reasons). Moreover, 37 participants were randomized (24 in the 3 experimental groups and 13 in the 2 control groups) and 28 completed the intervention or control and the postsurvey.

RenderX

Engagement and Satisfaction With the Intervention

The experimental group reported a higher self-rated engagement (mean 6.44, SD 2.33) compared with the control group (mean 5.56, SD 3.53), although the difference was not significant. There was a significant difference between the experimental group reporting that they would recommend the program to others compared with fewer of the controls 100%, (18/18) experimental and 78% (7/9) controls (P=.04). In the open-ended survey comments, participants described what they liked most about the program, including the career and life-skills content, shared experiences with mentors and other participants, and the format of the intervention (see Table 3).

Secondary Outcome Analysis

Parameters for our secondary outcome analysis explored recruitment and accrual rates, satisfaction with the intervention, and suggestions for improvement. Marginal models were computed to examine group differences on each outcome. No significant differences on outcome measures were noted at baseline. After controlling for baseline scores, no significant differences were found in career maturity, self-determination, or social support between the experimental and control groups after the intervention (see Table 4 for the comparison of secondary outcome measures between the 2 groups).
Table 3. Overview of themes and representative quotes. Quotes are provided in italics, the Participant ID is in brackets.

Theme	Experimental group	Control group
Engagement and sat- isfaction	This is a topic I have to start thinking aboutit initiated some good conversations between my mother and me. [#1-04]; It made me think about the things that are important for finding a job. [#2-08]	This program prepares you for how to find work and shows the different steps. [#5-02]; It covers things that school doesn't. [#3-07]
Connecting and learning from others	The responses from the mentors made me feel what I had to say meant something. It was so neat to learn from other's experiences and how I could relate. [#1-01]; (I liked) how there were other clients with a disabil- ity struggling with the same thing I am in terms of job searching that I can sort of relate to. [#2-02]; The different aspects and questions that were presented made me think about problem-solving skillsyou don't feel alone and you get different viewpoints from others. [#2-04]; As someone who is preparing themselves for work, I found that reading the strategies that were provided by the other participants in the study group was very helpful to me, as I can utilize them and apply them to my own job search. [#1-03]	My favorite part of the program was reading other participants responses. [#4-06]
Module content	Most topics were very thought provoking which allowed me to develop thought-out personal answers. [#1-02]	Being able to read other posts and see the differ- ences and similarities. I enjoyed the modules (power points) with useful knowledge. [#4-03]; I feel like the program did a good job of teaching how to get a career with a disability. [#3-07]
Areas for improve- ment	The website was challenging to use. [#5-03]	More people on at once and face-to-face interac- tions. [#5-03]; If there were more interaction and discussion, it would be more useful. [#4-06]; I al- ready struggle with communicating to strangers so I was reluctant to comment on others posts. [#4- 03]; I just hope next time the website works bet- terwhenever I tried to log in I had a problem with my password. [#5-01]

Table 4.	Descriptive	statistics on	particip	oant outcor	nes by	treatment	condition.
----------	-------------	---------------	----------	-------------	--------	-----------	------------

Variable	Pretreatment, mean (SD)		Posttreatment, mean (SD)		Test statistic F (df)	P value	Effect size (Cohen d)
	Experimental	Control	Experimental	Control			
Self-determination	17.76 (8.67)	22.77 (7.59)	17.94 (7.33)	25.50 (9.31)	3.01 (27)	.97	0.9
Career maturity	13.93 (4.59)	15.00 (4.27)	14.11 (4.55)	15.57 (4.57)	0.256 (27)	.61	0.32
Social support	56.82 (8.04)	55.22 (14.92)	51.82 (16.24)	59.22 (13.84)	2.10 (27)	.16	0.49

Discussion

Principal Findings

Improving the employment preparation skills of young people with disabilities is important for enhancing their inclusion in the workforce. Youth with disabilities continue to experience higher unemployment rates compared with youth without disabilities [7,45]. Consistent research shows that mentoring can help to improve academic and employment outcomes [13]. Offering peer mentorship through an accessible format may help to provide social support to youth with disabilities while engaging them to learn about employment preparation skills [6,13]. Our study addresses an important gap in the literature by offering a Web-based, group-based peer mentoring intervention to help youth with physical disabilities prepare for employment. Many youth with physical disabilities have difficulty accessing vocational training. A virtual learning environment can offer a space for participants to access key resources [46].

employment intervention was feasible and acceptable to the participants. Our findings show that the majority of participants were satisfied with the intervention and would recommend it to other youth. In the qualitative feedback, participants reported that the program was beneficial for employment preparation and interacting with other youth that have a disability, especially those in the experimental groups. Participants in the control groups reported satisfaction with content and employment readiness. These results are encouraging and help to show that there is a need for the content. Few participants within the control group described social interactions or sharing experiences with other youth, which could be because of the lack of a mentor to facilitate conversation. We also observed that among the few participants that posted in the control group, there was very little interaction between the participants. Previous studies show that having a moderator in a discussion forum can help participants to feel at ease while also providing information [46]. Given that both the experimental and control groups reported valuing the support provided, further work is

Our results indicate that the Empowering youth towards

needed to fully tease apart how much these sessions were valued because of the mentor's presence or because of the contact with and shared information with peers and overall social support.

The findings revealed that the self-reported engagement in the study was somewhat lower than that expected for participants in both the control and experimental groups. Other research similarly shows that maintaining engagement of participants in an e-mentoring study can be difficult [47,48]. The relatively low engagement in our study indicates that the intervention format and length might need adjustment and further testing. We decided to have a 4-week version of this e-mentoring intervention to account for youth's busy schedules during the school year; thus, we ran our intervention in the summer months. Their low engagement levels could have been because of youth's involvement in other activities and because they lacked time to participate fully in the program. Future studies should consider how best to keep youth engaged, perhaps through reminders or having a variety of different components (face-to-face, either in person or through Skype, and Web-based, etc), or embedded in another type of therapy or educational program. It may also be helpful to organize more synchronous, group-based discussions.

The findings of our secondary outcomes showed no significant differences between the experimental and control groups on self-efficacy, self-determination, or social support. These results differ from the outcomes of our 12-week version (ie, 1 weekly topic) of this intervention [6], where we found a significant improvement in self-determination in the experimental group compared with the controls. Although other studies on e-mentoring interventions for youth with disabilities have shown significant improvements in self-determination [20,49], very few of these studies had RCT or other rigorous designs [14]. Of the few studies that have had an RCT design, that is, Ammerlaan et al [49] explored the impact of their interactive, group-based website for youth with juvenile arthritis, they also found no significant differences between the experimental and control groups on self-efficacy, quality of life, or self-management. Therefore, further testing and RCTs are needed to better understand how we can best design (ie, format, length and content) an intervention for youth with physical disabilities. In altering the original format of our intervention from 12 weekly topics [38] to 3 topics per week over 4 weeks (ie, the study reported here), we hoped to increase engagement and potential outcomes; however, this was not the case. Although youth reported that they liked this format, there were no significant improvements in the outcome we measured. These results suggest that it may take time to see a change in social support, self-determination, and career maturity. Further research is needed to continue testing the optimal dosage and format of the intervention.

Our nonsignificant findings contrast some other studies using an e-mentor approach for youth with disabilities. For example, Bell [50] focused on youth with vision impairments and found significant improvements in career decision-making. The format of their intervention involved several components including face-to-face, group-based activities, email, and phone calls [50]. Meanwhile, Kim-Rupnow and Burgstahler [51] had a Web-based group mentoring program for youth with various types of disabilities and found significant improvements in career options, employment preparedness, perseverance, social skills, and self-advocacy. These previous studies suggest that several components are needed to help keep youth engaged in the program, an issue that was noted by the youth's self-reported engagement and also in their postsurvey comments. Most other research using an e-mentor intervention for youth with disabilities do not have a control group [14] and might account for some of the nonsignificant findings. Our results could also reflect that youth need more time to develop their career decision-making skills, which is something that may not be captured within a 4-week time frame.

Although the qualitative feedback from participants was encouraging regarding the social support they received during the intervention, this was not sufficient for detecting a significant difference in outcomes between the experimental and control groups. These findings may be because of it being a pilot and having insufficient power to detect changes. It could also be partly a result of the format or length of the intervention. For example, some youth expressed that they wanted more group-based and synchronous chats, which could help to improve their engagement and overall feeling of support. Other research on e-mentoring for youth with disabilities shows that such a forum can offer solution-focused support and shared experiences [52]. Previous studies show that a limitation of electronic forms of mentoring include that such forms of communication lack verbal cues and can result in impersonal relationships [14].

Limitations and Future Directions

There are several limitations within this study that are important to consider. First, given that this was a pilot feasibility RCT, the study may have been underpowered and we did not reach our original target sample size [6] that was recruited from 1 site, which limits the generalizability of the findings. Future studies should aim to recruit from more centers and also offer youth different timing options to maximize the sample size and power. We also recognize that the uneven distribution of experimental and control groups, which was because of a timing issue of recruitment (ie, during the summer months), could have affected the power and significance of the findings. We encountered issues with recruitment and had a low overall response rate. Future studies should consider recruiting through different mediums (ie, social media and Web-based forums), broadening the inclusion criteria (age range, disability type, and employment experience), and partnering with other organizations. Second, we were unable to establish how much time each participant spent reviewing the modules, which could influence their employment preparation skills, career maturity, and self-determination. Third, there were several technical difficulties with the website over the course of the study (ie, difficulties logging in, glitches because of website upgrades, etc). Fourth, there was staff turnover in the mentors who lead the discussion forum. Although they were provided the same training and had a similar level of experience, this could have affected outcomes. Fifth, we included various types of physical disabilities that differ in nature and how this could influence self-management of their condition [53] and youth employment. Future studies should consider focusing on a specific disability

XSL•FO RenderX

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12653/

type. Finally, the dosage of the intervention varied depending on how much people logged in and may have influenced outcomes. Other studies on e-mentoring for youth with disabilities have involved email, virtual environments, *Skype* video calls, and phone calls. Future research could consider incorporating some of these formats [14]. A recent review of e-mentoring for youth with disabilities found that the majority of studies involved one-to-one mentoring and some had a combination of both one-to-one and group-based mentoring [14]. Thus, future studies should consider offering more than 1 approach to maximize youth's engagement in the study. Further work is also needed to explore any potential gains from such interventions on employment over the longer term.

Conclusions

In conclusion, the *Empowering youth towards employment* intervention demonstrated that it is feasible and acceptable to the youth participants; however, we found no significant improvements in social support, self-determination, or career maturity compared with the controls.

Further adaptations to the format (including various components) and length of the intervention are needed to increase the acceptability to larger proportions of youth with physical disabilities. An RCT with an adequate sample size is required to assess the overall effectiveness of the program.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by a Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council (grant #435-2015-0568). SL holds a career award from the Ontario Ministry of Research and Innovation in addition to Kimmel Family Matching Fund through the Bloorview Research Institute. The authors would like to thank *AbilityOnline* and the staff, students, and volunteers in the TRansitions And Inclusive environments Lab (TRAIL) for their support in this project.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 CONSORT-eHEALTH checklist (V 1.6.1). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 132KB - pediatrics_v2i1e12653_app1.pdf]

References

- 1. Lindsay S, Cagliostro E, Albarico M, Mortaji N, Karon L. A systematic review of the benefits of hiring people with disabilities. J Occup Rehabil 2018 Feb 1:634-655. [doi: 10.1007/s10926-018-9756-z] [Medline: 29392591]
- 2. Turcotte M. Statistics Canada. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; 2014. Persons With Disabilities and Employment URL: <u>http://tinyurl.com/yxt98lyd</u> [accessed 2019-03-27] [WebCite Cache ID 77BIXmPIN]
- 3. Brennan S. Statistics Canada. 2006. Participation and activity limitation survey URL: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/</u>pub/89-628-x/89-628-x/209014-eng.pdf?st=tcmb6VXH [accessed 2019-03-27] [WebCite Cache ID 77BIhbx00]
- 4. Verhoef J, Miedema H, Van Meeteren J, Stam HJ, Roebroeck ME. A new intervention to improve work participation of young adults with physical disabilities: a feasibility study. Dev Med Child Neurol 2013 Aug;55(8):722-728 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/dmcn.12158] [Medline: 23621846]
- Barnfather A, Stewart M, Magill-Evans J, Ray L, Letourneau N. Computer-mediated support for adolescents with cerebral palsy or spina bifida. Comput Inform Nurs 2011;29(1):24-33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NCN.0b013e3181f9db63] [Medline: 21099541]
- Lindsay S, Stinson J, Stergiou-Kita M, Leck J. Improving transition to employment for youth with physical disabilities: protocol for a peer electronic mentoring intervention. JMIR Res Protoc 2017 Nov 16;6(11):e215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.8034] [Medline: 29146566]
- Lindsay S, McDougall C, Sanford R, Menna-Dack D, Kingsnorth S, Adams T. Exploring employment readiness through mock job interview and workplace role-play exercises: comparing youth with physical disabilities to their typically developing peers. Disabil Rehabil 2015;37(18):1651-1663. [doi: 10.3109/09638288.2014.973968] [Medline: 25323394]
- 8. Lindsay S. Discrimination and other barriers to employment for teens and young adults with disabilities. Disabil Rehabil 2011;33(15-16):1340-1350. [doi: 10.3109/09638288.2010.531372] [Medline: 21067349]
- Lindsay S, McPherson AC, Maxwell J. Perspectives of school-work transitions among youth with spina bifida, their parents and health care providers. Disabil Rehabil 2017 Dec;39(7):641-652. [doi: <u>10.3109/09638288.2016.1153161</u>] [Medline: <u>26987863</u>]
- 10. Fernandes-Alcantara A. Disconnected Youth: A Look at 16- to 24- Year Olds Who Are Not Working Or in School. Washington: Department of Labor; 2015:16-24.
- Hanif S, Peters H, McDougall C, Lindsay S. A systematic review of vocational interventions for youth with disabilities. In: Factors in Studying Employment for Persons with Disability (Research in Social Science and Disability, Volume 10). Bingley, United Kingdom: Emerald Publishing Limited; 2017:181-202.

- 12. Lindsay S, Adams T, McDougall C, Sanford R. Skill development in an employment-training program for adolescents with disabilities. Disabil Rehabil 2012;34(3):228-237 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/09638288.2011.603015] [Medline: 21977978]
- Lindsay S, Fellin M. A systematic review of mentorship programs to facilitate transition to post-secondary education and employment for youth and young adults with disabilities. Disabil Rehabil 2016 Jul;38(14):1329-1349 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/09638288.2015.1092174] [Medline: 26497325]
- 14. Lindsay S, Kolne K, Cagliostro E. Electronic mentoring programs and interventions for children and youth with disabilities: systematic review. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018 Oct 24;1(2):e11679. [doi: 10.2196/11679]
- 15. Lindsay S, Munson M. National Mentoring Resource Center. Mentoring for youth with disabilities URL: <u>http://tinyurl.com/</u> <u>yxo74vpm</u> [accessed 2019-01-18] [WebCite Cache ID 75WK3sNiw]
- Stinson J, Ahola KS, Forgeron P, Amaria K, Bell M, Kaufman M, et al. The iPeer2Peer Program: a pilot randomized controlled trial in adolescents with Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2016 Sep 2;14(1):48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12969-016-0108-2] [Medline: 27590668]
- 17. Fraas M, Bellerose A. Mentoring programme for adolescent survivors of acquired brain injury. Brain Inj 2010 Jan;24(1):50-61. [doi: 10.3109/02699050903446781] [Medline: 20001483]
- Cassiani C. University of Toronto. Toronto: University of Toronto; 2017. A peer e-mentoring employment program for youth with physical disabilities: what are the social supports that are needed and provided URL: <u>http://tinyurl.com/y62mg4q5</u> [accessed 2019-03-27] [WebCite Cache ID 77BOWw1QU]
- 19. Sword C, Hill K. University Digital Conservancy. 2003. Creating mentoring opportunities for youth with disabilities: issues and suggested strategies URL: <u>https://conservancy.umn.edu/bitstream/handle/11299/172875/NCSETIssueBrief_1.4.</u> pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- 20. Gregg N, Galyardt A, Wolfe G, Moon N, Todd R. Virtual mentoring and persistence in STEM for students with disabilities. Career Dev Transition Except Individ 2016 May 25;40(4):205-214. [doi: 10.1177/2165143416651717]
- 21. Cawthon SW, Johnson PM, Garberoglio CL, Schoffstall SJ. Role models as facilitators of social capital for deaf individuals: a research synthesis. Am Ann Deaf 2016;161(2):115-127. [doi: 10.1353/aad.2016.0021] [Medline: 27374739]
- 22. Thompson L, Jeffries M, Topping K. E mentoring for e learning development. Innov Educ Teach International 2010 Aug;47(3):305-315. [doi: 10.1080/14703297.2010.498182]
- 23. Lindsay S, Smith S, Bell F, Bellaby P. Tackling the digital divide: Exploring the impact of ICT on managing heart conditions in a deprived area. Inf Commun Soc 2007 Feb;10(1):95-114. [doi: 10.1080/13691180701193127]
- 24. Nguyen HQ, Carrieri-Kohlman V, Rankin SH, Slaughter R, Stulbarg MS. Internet-based patient education and support interventions: a review of evaluation studies and directions for future research. Comput Biol Med 2004 Mar;34(2):95-112 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0010-4825(03)00046-5] [Medline: 14972630]
- 25. Eysenbach G, Powell J, Englesakis M, Rizo C, Stern A. Health related virtual communities and electronic support groups: systematic review of the effects of online peer to peer interactions. Br Med J 2004 May 15;328(7449):1166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.328.7449.1166] [Medline: 15142921]
- 26. Ohler J, Levinson E, Barker W. Career maturity in college students with learning disabilities. Career Dev Q 1996;44(3):278-288. [doi: 10.1002/j.2161-0045.1996.tb00259.x]
- 27. Fabian ES. Urban youth with disabilities: Factors affecting transition employment. Rehabil Couns Bull 2016 Aug 13;50(3):130-138. [doi: 10.1177/00343552070500030101]
- 28. Super D, Savickas M, Super C. A life-span, life-space approach to career development. In: Brown D, Brooks L, editors. Career Choice and Development. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 1996:121-178.
- 29. Plano Clark VL, Schumacher K, West C, Edrington J, Dunn LB, Harzstark A, et al. Practices for embedding an interpretive qualitative approach within a randomized clinical trial. J Mix Methods Res 2013 Jul;7(3):219-242. [doi: 10.1177/1558689812474372]
- Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M, Medical Research Council Guidance. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. Br Med J 2008;337:a1655 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.a1655] [Medline: 18824488]
- 31. Lindsay S, Goodfellow A, Stergiou-Kita M, Kirsh B, Lero D. Inclusionary business practices for recruiting and retaining people with disabilities. In: Mitchell L, editor. Physical Disabilities: Perspectives, Risk Factors and Quality of Life. Hauppauge, New York, United States: Nova Science Publishers; 2017:1-32.
- 32. Lindsay S, McDougall C, Menna-Dack D, Sanford R, Adams T. An ecological approach to understanding barriers to employment for youth with disabilities compared to their typically developing peers: views of youth, employers, and job counselors. Disabil Rehabil 2015;37(8):701-711 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/09638288.2014.939775] [Medline: 25014127]
- World Health Organization. 2015. Disabilities URL: <u>https://www.who.int/topics/disabilities/en/</u> [accessed 2019-01-18] [WebCite Cache ID 75WIwr2vM]
- 34. Cohen J. A power primer. Psychol Bull 1992 Jul;112(1):155-159. [doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.112.1.155] [Medline: 19565683]
- 35. Hertzog MA. Considerations in determining sample size for pilot studies. Res Nurs Health 2008 Apr;31(2):180-191. [doi: 10.1002/nur.20247] [Medline: 18183564]

- 36. Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital. Toronto: Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital Youth mentorship program URL: <u>http://tinyurl.com/yxfpg979</u> [WebCite Cache ID 75WJEmKnz]
- 37. Hsu L. Random assignment procedures. In: Nezu A, Nezu C, editors. Evidence-Based Outcome Research: A Practical Guide to Conducting Randomized Controlled Trials for Psychosocial Interventions. New York: Oxford; 2008:179-200.
- Lindsay S, Cagliostro E, Leck J, Stinson J. A pilot feasibility randomized controlled trial of a 12-week electronic mentoring employment intervention for youth with physical disabilities. J Med Internet Res Paediatr Parent 2019 (forthcoming). [doi: 10.2196/preprints.12088]
- 39. Adelstein DM, Webster DW. Cross-sectional, longitudinal and composite longitudinal data on the Career Maturity Inventory Attitude Scale. J Vocat Behav 1979 Feb;14(1):102-111. [doi: 10.1016/0001-8791(79)90052-6]
- 40. Savickas ML, Porfeli EJ. Revision of the Career Maturity Inventory. J Career Assess 2011 May 26;19(4):355-374. [doi: 10.1177/1069072711409342]
- 41. Zimet GD, Dahlem NW, Zimet SG, Farley GK. The Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support. J Pers Assess 1988 Mar;52(1):30-41. [doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa5201_2]
- 42. Shogren KA, Wehmeyer ML, Palmer SB, Soukup JH, Little TD, Garner N, et al. Understanding the construct of self-determination: examining the relationship between the Arc's Self-Determination Scale and the American Institutes for Research Self-Determination Scale. Assess Eff Interv 2008 Mar;33(2):94-107. [doi: 10.1177/1534508407311395]
- Zimet GD, Powell SS, Farley GK, Werkman S, Berkoff KA. Psychometric characteristics of the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support. J Pers Assess 1990;55(3-4):610-617. [doi: <u>10.1080/00223891.1990.9674095</u>] [Medline: <u>2280326</u>]
- 44. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 45. Lindsay S, Adams T, Sanford R, McDougall C, Kingsnorth S, Menna-Dack D. Employers' and employment counselors' perceptions of desirable skills for entry-level positions for adolescents: how does it differ for youth with disabilities? Disabil Soc 2014 Jan 27;29(6):953-967. [doi: 10.1080/09687599.2013.874330]
- Lindsay S, Smith S, Bellaby P, Baker R. The health impact of an online heart disease support group: a comparison of moderated versus unmoderated support. Health Educ Res 2009 Aug;24(4):646-654 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/her/cyp001] [Medline: 19251770]
- 47. Kasprisin CA, Single PB, Single RM, Muller CB. Building a better bridge: testing e-training to improve e-mentoring programmes in higher education. Mentor Tutoring 2003 Apr;11(1):67-78. [doi: 10.1080/1361126032000054817]
- 48. Kramer JM, Ryan CT, Moore R, Schwartz A. Feasibility of electronic peer mentoring for transition-age youth and young adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities: Project Teens making Environment and Activity Modifications. J Appl Res Intellect Disabil 2018 Jan;31(1):e118-e129. [doi: 10.1111/jar.12346] [Medline: 28247558]
- 49. Ammerlaan J, van Os-Mendendorp H, de Boer-Nijhof N, Scholtus L, Kruize AA, van Pelt P, et al. Short term effectiveness and experiences of a peer guided web-based self-management intervention for young adults with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2017 Oct 13;15(1):75 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12969-017-0201-1] [Medline: 29029616]
- 50. Bell EC. Mentoring transition-age youth with blindness. J Spec Educ 2010 Jun 25;46(3):170-179. [doi: 10.1177/0022466910374211]
- Kim-Rupnow WS, Burgstahler S. Perceptions of students with disabilities regarding the value of technology-based support activities on postsecondary education and employment. J Spec Educ Technol 2016 Aug;19(2):43-56. [doi: 10.1177/016264340401900204]
- 52. Cassiani C, Stinson J, Lindsay S. The nature of social support in a peer-e-mentoring employment program for youth with disabilities. Disabil Rehabil 2019 (forthcoming).
- 53. Lindsay S, Kingsnorth S, Hamdani Y. Barriers and facilitators of chronic illness self-management among adolescents: a review and future directions. J Nurs Chronic Illn Health Care 2011;3:186-208. [doi: 10.1111/j.1752-9824.2011.01090.x]

Abbreviations

e-mentor: electronic mentor e-mentoring: electronic mentoring RCT: randomized controlled trial



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 30.10.18; peer-reviewed by J Waite-Jones, E Hall; comments to author 24.01.19; revised version received 07.02.19; accepted 25.02.19; published 24.04.19. <u>Please cite as:</u> Lindsay S, Cagliostro E, Stinson J, Leck J A 4-Week Electronic-Mentoring Employment Intervention for Youth With Physical Disabilities: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12653 URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12653/ doi:10.2196/12653 PMID:31518302

©Sally Lindsay, Elaine Cagliostro, Jennifer Stinson, Joanne Leck. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 24.04.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

"If You Let Them, They Will Be on It 24 Hours a Day": Qualitative Study Conducted in the United States Exploring Brazilian Immigrant Mothers' Beliefs, Attitudes, and Practices Related to Screen Time Behaviors of Their Preschool-Age Children

Ana Cristina Lindsay^{1*}, DDS, MPH, DrPH; Carlos André Moura Arruda^{2*}, BA, MPH; Márcia MT Machado^{2*}, RN, PhD; Mary L Greaney^{3*}, MPH, PhD

- ²Department of Community Health, School of Medicine, Federal University of Ceara, Fortaleza, Brazil
- ³Department of Kinesiology, University of Rhode Island, Kingston, RI, United States

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Ana Cristina Lindsay, DDS, MPH, DrPH Department of Exercise and Health Sciences University of Massachusetts Boston 100 Morrissey Boulevard Boston, MA, 02125 United States Phone: 1 6172877579 Fax: 1 6172877500 Email: <u>Ana.Lindsay@umb.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: The increasing prevalence of excessive screen time (ST) among children is a growing public health concern, with evidence linking it to an increased risk of overweight and obesity among children.

Objective: This study aimed to explore the beliefs, attitudes, and practices of Brazilian immigrant mothers living in the United States related to their preschool-age children's ST behaviors.

Methods: A qualitative study comprising 7 focus group discussions (FGDs) was conducted with Brazilian immigrant mothers living in the United States. All FGDs were audio-recorded and professionally transcribed verbatim. The Portuguese transcripts were analyzed using thematic analysis.

Results: In total, 37 women participated in the FGDs. Analyses revealed that although most mothers expressed concerns for their preschool-age children's ST, nearly all viewed ST as an acceptable part of their children's daily lives. Furthermore, mothers perceived that ST has more benefits than disadvantages. The mothers' positive beliefs about (eg, educational purposes and entertainment) and perceived functional benefits of ST (eg, ability to keep children occupied so tasks can be completed and facilitation of communication with family outside the United States) contributed to their acceptance of ST for their preschool-age children. Nevertheless, most mothers spoke of needing to balance their preschool-age children's ST with other activities. Mothers reported using several parenting practices including monitoring time and content, setting limits and having rules, and prompting their children to participate in other activities to manage their preschool-age children's ST.

Conclusions: This study provides new information on the beliefs, attitudes, and practices of Brazilian immigrant mothers living in the United States related to their preschool-age children's ST. Study findings revealed several potentially modifiable maternal beliefs and parenting practices that may provide important targets for parenting- and family-based interventions aimed at limiting preschool-age children's ST.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e11791) doi:10.2196/11791

KEYWORDS Brazil; immigrants; mothers; child, preschool; screen time

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e11791/

¹Department of Exercise and Health Sciences, University of Massachusetts Boston, Boston, MA, United States

Introduction

Background

The increasing prevalence of excessive screen time (ST) among children is a growing public health concern [1-3]. ST is time spent with any type of screen, including mobile phones, tablets, televisions (TVs), video games, computers, etc [4]. A growing number of studies have documented excessive ST (\geq 2 hours per day) among preschool-age children (aged 2 to 5 years) [4-11], and some studies have linked excessive ST to an increased risk of overweight and obesity among children [4,12,13].

Preschool-age children's increasing ST has prompted several countries, including the United States, to develop ST guidelines [4,14,15]. The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) ST guidelines updated in 2016 encourage parents and guardians of preschool-age children to limit ST to equal to or less than 1 hour per day [4]. In addition, AAP recommends that parents and guardians restrict ST during mealtimes and keep ST devices including TVs out of children's bedrooms [4]. Nevertheless, evidence shows that many children have more than 1 hour of ST daily, have TVs in their bedrooms, and watch TV during meals [16-18]. Moreover, research conducted in the United States has identified socioeconomic and racial and ethnic disparities in ST among children [18-21].

Much of the available research examining ST among children has focused on TV viewing and indicates that the amount of TV time and presence of a TV in a child's bedroom are associated with an increased risk of overweight and obesity [22-25]. Similarly, recent research is starting to document that the use of other ST devices is associated with an increased risk of overweight and obesity [12,13,26,27]. Several mechanisms have been hypothesized to explain this association, including the idea that ST displaces physical activity and contributes to its decrease [1,4,24]. It also has been hypothesized that ST leads to an increased energy intake due to eating during ST, and that exposure to food marketing affects children's food and beverage attitudes, preferences, purchase requests, and consumption (eg, advertisement of energy-dense and low nutrient-dense foods). Furthermore, it also has been hypothesized that ST contributes to reduced sleep duration and increased sedentary time (ie, low energy expenditure), which contribute to an increased weight status [4,12,24,26-28].

Interventions designed to reduce excessive ST in early childhood may have health benefits during childhood but may also help reduce chronic disease risks when healthy ST behaviors are carried into adulthood [13,29-31]. Many habits children develop during early childhood are established at home, making the home an important early social environment where children develop habits that impact their weight status and health [30-33]. Parents play a central role in establishing a home environment that promotes or hinders the process of children developing healthy habits including ST [34,35]. Evidence suggests that parents' beliefs, attitudes, role modeling, and ST parenting practices (eg, establishing and enforcing ST rules and monitoring ST) influence children's ST [34-36]. Recent studies have begun to document parental perceptions of young children's ST and

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e11791/

parental ST practices [33-36]. However, research examining parenting and early childhood ST among low-income, minority, and immigrant parents is still limited [8,19-21,26]. This research is needed to develop and refine interventions tailored to meet the needs of these population groups that are at increased risk of obesity and related chronic diseases [6,13,24,28].

Objectives

Brazilians are a rapidly increasing Latino immigrant population group in the United States, but only limited research has focused on health-related behaviors that may affect Brazilian immigrant children's health [37]. Brazilians share many cultural characteristics with other Latin American population groups but represent many different ethnic backgrounds, including Africans, Europeans, and native Brazilians [37,38]. Portuguese is the official language of Brazil and an important cultural difference between Brazilians and other Latin American population groups that primarily speak Spanish [38]. According to the 2006 to 2010 American Community Survey of the approximately 400,000 Brazilian immigrants living in the United States, nearly half live in the northeastern states, mostly in Massachusetts (MA, about 19%), New York, and New Jersey [37]. A recent study conducted in the Greater Boston area of MA found that 48.2% of Brazilian immigrant children (aged 3 to 12 years) were overweight or had obesity [39].

Understanding parents' beliefs, attitudes, and practices related to their preschool-age children's ST is essential for the identification of modifiable factors that can be addressed in interventions designed to discourage excessive ST and ultimately reduce the risk of obesity. No existing research conducted in the United States, to our knowledge, has examined Brazilian immigrant mothers' beliefs, attitudes, and practices related to preschool-age children's ST. This exploratory qualitative study addresses this research gap.

Methods

Study Design, Setting, and Sample

This study was conducted in 2 MA cities and is part of a larger ongoing mixed-methods research study (113 unique families to date) with Brazilian immigrant families living in the Greater Boston area, MA, examining parenting styles and parenting practices related to the risk of childhood obesity (eg, eating, physical activity, sleep, and ST) [40-44].

Focus group discussions (FGDs) were used to gain an in-depth understanding of mothers' beliefs, attitudes, and practices related to ST behaviors of their preschool-age children. FGDs were used, as they are valuable techniques for working in diverse cultural settings because of the rich information the discussion reveals [45].

Ethics and Consent

This study received ethical approval from the University of Massachusetts–Boston Ethics Board (IRB # 2013060).

Data Collection

Participants were recruited (March 2017 to August 2017) through flyers posted at local Brazilian businesses and

XSL•FO RenderX

community-based social and health services agencies, as well as through announcements and events at predominantly Brazilian churches. Interested participants either called the telephone number listed on the flyers or spoke to the study staff at church events. The study staff assessed eligibility and invited women to participate if they had at least one child aged 2 to 5 years, were of Brazilian ethnicity, were born in Brazil, and had been living in the United States for at least 12 months. Participants also were recruited using a snowball sampling technique [43], with women enrolled in the study asking their Brazilian friends with preschool-age children if they would be interested in participating in the study.

Before each FGD, the moderator (ACL) explained in Portuguese the study's purpose, FGD procedures, and study confidentiality and obtained written and oral informed consent from all participants. A native Brazilian-Portuguese speaker (ACL), trained in qualitative research methods, moderated all FGDs in Portuguese using a semistructured discussion guide with questions adapted from previous studies [29,44]. The FGD guide explored participants' beliefs, attitudes, and parenting practices related to their preschool-age children's ST. The guide also explored mothers' beliefs, attitudes, and practices related to physical activity and sleep [43,44]. The guide was piloted in an FGD with 4 Brazilian immigrant mothers and then refined (eg, rewording some questions and changing the order of some questions) before use. Data from the pilot FGD were not included in this study.

Before each FGD, participants were asked to think about their preschool-age children when participating in the discussion. A trained, bilingual (Portuguese and English) research assistant (GDA) took notes during all FGDs, which were audio-recorded and lasted between 60 min and 80 min. The moderator and research assistant met for about 15 min after each FGD to identify new themes and review recurring themes that were entered into a grid that was used to follow emerging themes and to determine when data saturation occurred.

FGD participants completed a brief, self-administered questionnaire in Portuguese at the end of each FGD that assessed education, marital status, use of health care services including participation in government-sponsored health and nutrition programs (eg, Women, Infants, and Children and Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program), and length of time living in the United States. Participants also completed the Short Acculturation Scale for Hispanics, a 12-item measure scale validated for use with Latinos, including Mexican Americans, Cuban Americans, Puerto Ricans, Dominicans, and Central and South Americans [46].

Data Analysis

A professional transcriptionist and native Brazilian speaker transcribed all audio recordings verbatim. After this, 2 experienced qualitative researchers and native Portuguese speakers (ACL and CAMA) analyzed the Portuguese transcripts using thematic analysis, an iterative process of coding the data in phases to create meaningful patterns [47,48]. Each researcher read several transcripts numerous times to become familiar with the content and generate initial codes [48]. They then independently coded transcripts manually but met regularly to

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e11791/
```

XSL•FO

discuss coding and to identify and resolve disagreements in coding [48,49]. The coded text describing similar ideas was grouped and sorted to identify emergent themes and subthemes. Finally, salient text passages were extracted and translated into English to be used as illustrative quotes for the emergent themes. Descriptive statistics and frequencies were calculated for data collected in the sociodemographic survey using Microsoft Excel 2008 (Microsoft, Redmond, WA, USA).

Participants

A total of 7 FGDs (range of 4 to 7 participants per FGD) with Brazilian immigrant mothers (n=37) were held at the 2 local churches between April and August 2017. Of the 37 mothers, 7 (approximately 19%) were recruited through the use of snowball sampling technique.

Mothers were aged 26 to 41 (mean 35.3, SD 2.8) years. Most participants were married (34/37, 92%) and had 2 children (33/37, 89%). The majority (21/37, 72%) had graduated from high school and owned their own housecleaning business (34/37, 92%). Approximately half (19/37, 51%) reported a family income of US \$40,000 or less, which is considered as low income for a family of 4 in MA, whereas the rest reported an annual income between US \$40,000 and US \$60,000, which is considered to be a low-middle income [49]. Participants were from 3 main regions of Brazil (eg, the Southeast [eg, Espirito Santo, Sao Paulo, and Minas Gerais], the South [eg, Santa Catarina], and the Midwest [eg, Goias and Mato Grosso]), with the majority (22/37, 65%) from the state of Minas Gerais. In addition, the majority spoke Portuguese at home (34/37, 92%), watched TV in Portuguese (35/37, 95%), and reported that most of their friends were Brazilians (32/37, 87%). Mothers had lived in the United States for an average of 6.7 (SD 2.84) years, and their mean acculturation score was 1.43 (SD 0.77), indicating that they identified more closely with Brazilian culture than with that of the United States.

Results

Overview

A total of 7 FGDs were conducted before saturation, with no new themes or subthemes emerging during the last FGD. Thematic analysis identified 9 emergent themes with 11 subthemes related to ST, which were classified into 2 domains: (1) mothers' beliefs and attitudes toward their preschool-age children's ST behaviors (5 themes and 8 subthemes), and (2) the home's social and physical environment impacts on preschool-age children's ST behaviors (4 themes and 3 subthemes; see Multimedia Appendix 1). Multimedia Appendix 2 shows themes and subthemes with representative quotes translated to English to illustrate findings.

Domain 1: Mothers' Beliefs and Attitudes Toward Their Preschool-Age Children's Screen Time Behaviors

Theme 1: Perceptions and Concerns About Preschool-Age Children's Screen Time Behaviors

All mothers reported that their preschool-age children had ST, with most reporting they had between 2 and 3 hours of ST per day. Mothers explained that ST occurred throughout the day

but that it was most common in the early morning when they (parents) were getting ready for work and in the evening when they (mothers) were preparing dinner or doing household chores, during dinner-time, and before their children's bedtime. Some mothers discussed that their preschool-age children had more ST on the weekends than during the week.

Moreover, most mothers reported that they had some concern about the quantity of their preschool-age children's ST. In addition, a couple of mothers felt that their preschool-age children were "addicted" to ST. These mothers stated that their children would often become emotional and "have meltdowns if their devices were taken away." In contrast, a few mothers reported not being concerned about their preschool-age children's ST because they perceived their children to be active and healthy.

Subtheme 1.1: Mothers Perceive Benefits and Disadvantages of Screen Time

Nearly all mothers spoke of ST having benefits for their preschool-age children, with most perceiving more benefits than disadvantages. Mothers viewed ST as a source of education and felt that their children's cognitive development benefitted from educational ST. In addition, several mothers mentioned that because their children are growing up in a digital era, learning digital skills from a young age will be beneficial when their children are older. A few mothers spoke with pride of their preschool-age children's skills using different digital devices (eg, mobile phones, tablets, and computers). Furthermore, mothers spoke of ST allowing their children to easily communicate with family and friends in Brazil using video chats. Several mothers mentioned that their children were able to get online on their own to communicate with relatives in Brazil.

Despite a generally positive view of ST, many mothers also felt that ST has negative consequences for their preschool-age children as it can interfere with children's outdoor play, sleep, interest in interacting with others, as well as family time. A few mothers also stated that ST, with the exception of watching TV, was a solitary activity for their preschool-age children, and they thought excessive ST might lead to decreased social interactions.

Theme 2: Reasons for Screen Time

Mothers reported 3 main reasons for their preschool-age children's ST: (1) entertainment, (2) education, and (3) as a parenting tool. The majority of mothers mentioned that their children used ST for entertainment, including watching videos and cartoons, playing electronic games, etc. Traditional TV sets, tablets, and mobile phones were the devices children used most often for entertainment. Most mothers also reported that their preschool-age children used ST to watch educational programs that taught them language and math skills (eg, counting, shapes). Many mothers allowed ST to safely occupy their children while they did household chores or ran errands with their preschool-age children. In addition, a few mothers used ST as a parenting tool to manage their preschool-age children's behavior in public.

Theme 3: Mothers Accept Screen Time as an Integral Part of Children's Daily Lives

Although most mothers reported that they had some concern about the amount of ST, most of them accepted ST as a part of their preschool-age children's lives. Mothers said that their children are growing up in a digital era, with widespread access to and of technology, and felt that it is important to recognize and accept that their children are growing up in different times and that technology is now an integral part of daily life.

Subtheme 3.1: Mothers Perceive a Need for Balance

Despite an overall acceptance of ST as an integral part of their preschool-age children's daily lives, most mothers felt that it is important to find a balance between allowing their children to have ST and encouraging them to be active and play outdoors. Nonetheless, the majority of mothers reported that they found this challenging.

Theme 4: Socioenvironmental Influences on Screen Time

As discussed below, mothers reported that their social and physical environment influenced their children's ST.

Subtheme 4.1: Increased Accessibility and Affordability of Technology in the United States

Mothers talked about the accessibility and affordability of technology in the United States (vs in Brazil) and said that this contributed to their preschool-age children's increased ST. Several mothers reported that although ST devices were less accessible and more costly in Brazil, technology had also become part of daily life of their family members and friends in Brazil.

Subtheme 4.2: Siblings Influence Preschool-Age Children's Screen Time

Several mothers mentioned that older siblings influenced their preschool-age children's ST behaviors. Mothers explained that their preschool-age children were exposed to multiple types of ST devices at a younger age than their older children, as older siblings had and used many types of ST devices.

Subtheme 4.3: Preschool-Age Children's Screen Time Is Influenced by Children' Friends

Nearly all mothers spoke of social pressures for children's ST and access to technology. They explained that within their children's social environments (eg, school, neighborhood, and social groups), ST was the norm and that this contributed to an expectation and acceptability of ST being part of daily life for their family.

Subtheme 4.4: Caregivers Influence Preschool-Age Children's Screen Time

Mothers with preschool-age children enrolled in daycare spoke of their children's daycare having policies related to the use of TV and personal ST devices (eg, limited TV watching, not allowing ST devices). Mothers felt that these policies reduced their preschool-age children's daytime ST. In contrast, a few mothers whose children were cared for by grandmothers or other relatives when they were working mentioned that their preschool-age children had excess ST during the day. Most of

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e11791/
```

these mothers felt that it was difficult to monitor and restrict their preschool-age children's ST when relatives were caring for them.

Subtheme 4.5: Adult Family Members and Parents' Friends Influence Mothers' Perceptions of Screen Time and Their Preschool-Age Children's Screen Time

Mothers spoke of their perceptions of ST and their management of ST being influenced by their husbands, family members, and friends. Some mothers mentioned that their husbands were less concerned about and more accepting of their preschool-age children's ST and that this made them wonder whether they were worried too much.

As discussed previously, a few mothers felt that having relatives care for their preschool-age children impacted their children's ST. Mothers reported that they often disagreed with relatives about the amount of ST their children should have but felt they have little control over their preschool-age children's ST when they are at work. In addition, some mothers reported valuing the opinion of their friends who limited ST and felt that if other parents were monitoring and limiting ST, it was easier for them to do the same.

Subtheme 4.6: Parents' Screen Time Behaviors Influence Children's Screen Time

Across all FGDs, nearly all mothers felt that their ST habits influence their preschool-age children's. They recognized the importance of adults modeling healthy screen use, but almost half acknowledged that they not always do this, with several mothers mentioning that they were "always on" their mobile phones. In addition, some mothers felt it was difficult to set and enforce ST limits for their children when they were often on their own devices.

Theme 5: Screen Time Is Influenced by the Weather

Across all FGDs, mothers reported that their preschool-age children have more ST during the cold weather when their children spent more time indoors and the days were shorter (getting dark earlier). Some mothers mentioned that their children have less ST during the warmer weather months (eg, summer) when they have considerably more opportunities to play outdoors.

Domain 2: The Home's Physical and Social Environment Impacts Children's Screen Time Behaviors

Theme 6: Screen Devices Readily Available at Home

Mothers reported having multiple ST devices at home including TV sets, video game consoles, tablets, iPads, and mobile phones. Mothers perceived that this widespread availability of and access to multiple types of ST devices (stationary and mobile) impacted their preschool-age children's ST throughout the day. Across all FGDs, mothers mentioned that the affordability of ST devices in the United States increased their children's access to these devices. Mothers spoke of having more disposable income since immigrating and mentioned that this afforded their families to have multiple types of ST devices. In addition, some mothers said that the availability of multiple ST devices (mobile and stationary) made it very challenging to manage their children's

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e11791/
```

XSL•FO RenderX ST. Some mothers viewed personal mobile devices as being more problematic to manage than traditional TVs.

Theme 7: Watching Television and Playing Video Games With Their Children

Some mothers reported that they and especially their husbands watched TV and played video games with their children. For example, several mothers mentioned that their husbands liked to watch sports (eg, soccer matches, car races) with their children. In addition, a few mothers stated that they often had the TV on in the background while their children were playing and when they were doing daily household chores.

Theme 8: Parenting Practices to Manage Children's Screen Time

The majority of mothers spoke of the importance of managing their preschool-age children's access to and use of ST devices. Mothers reported that they monitored their preschool-age children's ST (time and content), set limits, and implemented rules (eg, no TV during meals, no more than 1 straight hour of ST) to manage ST use. Mothers also spoke of prompting their preschool-age child to be active and play outdoors in an effort to reduce ST. Specific parenting practices used by mothers to manage their children's ST are discussed below.

Subtheme 8.1: Monitoring Screen Time and Content

Most mothers monitored the amount and content of their preschool-age children's ST to ensure that their children were viewing age-appropriate content. Moreover, although some mothers monitored the amount of ST, several reported that it was easy to lose track of ST when they were not at home or when they were busy at home.

Subtheme 8.2: Implementing Screen Time Rules Can Be Challenging

Some mothers reported having rules for ST such as time limits in the morning and evening, no ST during mealtime, etc. Furthermore, a few mothers mentioned hiding the TV remote control and their children's tablets as a strategy to reduce ST use. Nevertheless, several mothers acknowledged that setting limits and implementing rules are challenging. Finally, a few mothers reported using "warnings" as a strategy to help their preschool-age children transition out of ST to another activity. These mothers felt that giving their children a "time's up warning" helped avoid meltdowns. A few mothers admitted to making exceptions and "breaking set rules" and using ST when they needed a break.

Subtheme 8.3: Prompting Children to Do Something Else

Mothers spoke of prompting their children to do something else (eg, play outside, color, and play with toys) as a frequent strategy to reduce their children's ST or as a strategy to end ST.

Theme 9: Mothers' Confidence in the Ability to Manage Children's Screen Time

When queried on their ability to manage their children's ST, some mothers reported they were confident in their ability to monitor and limit their preschool-age children's ST. In contrast, others felt that managing their children's ST is challenging, with several mothers stating that it is easier to set a rule but

enforcing it in a sustainable way is more difficult. Moreover, a few mothers explained that parents need to agree on managing ST, and a few mothers said that sometimes their husbands would not set or enforce ST rules.

Discussion

Principal Findings

To date, there is a paucity of information available on how minority and immigrant parents perceive and manage their preschool-age children's ST [8,19-21,31]. In addition, to our knowledge, no studies have focused on ST of preschool-age children of Brazilian immigrant families living in the United States. To address this gap, this qualitative study explored Brazilian immigrant mothers' beliefs, attitudes, and practices related to their preschool-age children's ST behaviors. This information is essential for the development and implementation of culturally sensitive interventions that are compatible with Brazilian immigrant parents' and families' beliefs, attitudes, and practices related to children's ST.

Although we asked mothers to think of their preschool-age children when discussing the FGD topics, several mothers discussed these topics within the context of the whole family, including older and younger children. This contextual discussion is consistent with previous qualitative research, including our own [21,30,50,51], and indicates the importance of the family within Latino communities. It also suggests that the family should be considered the unit of change and that interventions focusing on promoting healthy ST will likely be more successful if they consider the entire family unit, including adults (eg, mothers, fathers, and other relatives such as grandmothers) and children (younger and older children).

Although most mothers in this study expressed concerns for their preschool-age children's ST, nearly all viewed ST as an acceptable part of children's daily lives. Mothers spoke of their children growing up in a digital world with widespread use of technology and mentioned that this was very different from when they were children in Brazil. These findings are consistent with previous research [13,28,52,53] and suggest that successful interventions will be those that acknowledge the current reality of ST as an integral part of a family's life and help parents identify positive ways to expose their children to ST in ways that are compatible with their developmental age. Interventions should focus on helping parents identify quality ST while adhering to current ST recommendations.

This study's findings revealed that mothers perceived that ST had more benefits than disadvantages. Overall, mothers perceived that the information and skills that their children are gathering and learning during ST would serve their children well in the future. Nearly all mothers reported that ST was an acceptable source of entertainment if not excessive. Mothers also mentioned that ST facilitated regular communication with family and friends in Brazil. Finally, mothers felt that allowing their children ST aided in their ability to manage household chores and complete errands as it kept their children occupied and safe. Previous research suggests that positive beliefs (eg, educational purposes and entertainment) and functional beliefs

(eg, mothers getting things done and regular communication with family living abroad) are important reasons for the parents' acceptance of ST for their young children [54-57]. This study's findings in tandem with the extant research further reinforce the importance of intervention messages incorporating parents' positive and functional beliefs of ST for their preschool-age children and framed within the social context of the day-to-day life of immigrant, working families.

Mothers in this study viewed that all family members as well as their friends and their children's friends influenced their preschool-age children's ST habits. In addition, mothers spoke of their social networks influencing their views and acceptance of ST as part of children's daily life. These findings concur with previous research documenting interpersonal influences on children's ST behaviors [58-60] and suggest the importance of addressing these influences to promote healthy ST behaviors among preschool-age children of Brazilian immigrant families.

Although more research is needed, it is worth noting that some mothers participating in this study reported that their husbands and partners did not perceive their preschool-age children's ST behaviors as problematic and expressed minimal or no concerns for their children's ST. In addition, most mothers reported their husbands watched TV and played video games with their children, which is consistent with previous research conducted among other populations [50,61]. This is important as research shows that children have increased ST when parents have ST themselves [50,61-64]. Moreover, many mothers participating in this study reported limited support from their husbands in their efforts to set up and enforce rules to limit ST. Previous studies suggest that mothers and fathers have different parental influences on their children's ST behaviors and both should be included in interventions [61-63]. Our findings, combined with those of previous research, suggest that future parenting interventions designed for Brazilian immigrant families should be family-focused and involve other family members, including fathers. In addition, interventions should address possible incongruent beliefs and concerns of parents within the same household and campaign for awareness among fathers of the adverse consequences of excessive ST for young children.

In this study, several aspects of the home's social and physical environment emerged as influences on preschool-age children's ST including the accessibility to and availability of multiple ST devices, which was perceived as providing young children having older siblings with early and frequent ST exposure. Furthermore, parents viewed their ST as influencing their preschool-age children's ST. The results of this study are similar to those of previous research that indicate an association between the home's social and physical environment and the development of children's early behaviors including ST [11,19,30,33,41,65]. This finding suggests that family-centered interventions should address not only children's but also parents', siblings', and other family members' ST and incorporate parental role modeling of healthy ST behaviors. Most Brazilian immigrant mothers participating in this study mentioned the importance of finding a balance for their children's screen use. These findings are important, and suggest that interventions should be designed to increase parents' awareness about the negative consequences of excessive ST

and highlight the importance of limiting their preschool-age children's ST.

Consistent with previous research [10,21,26,64-68], mothers participating in this study used several parenting practices such as monitoring time and content, setting limits and having rules, and prompting their children to do something else to manage their preschool-age children's ST. Previous research suggests that parental monitoring, especially maternal ST monitoring, is associated with less ST for children [56,62]. Similarly, previous evidence suggests that setting limits and having ST rules are associated with children's ST [34,56,62,63]. Nevertheless, several mothers in this study acknowledged that it can be challenging to sustain and enforce parenting practices to manage their children's ST, especially given the availability of multiple screen devices at home. These findings are supported by previous research [57] and suggest the need for interventions that promote the development of parenting skills to enhance parents' confidence to set and enforce family rules to promote healthy ST.

Limitations

Study results should be considered in light of study limitations. The findings are based on a nonrandom and purposeful sample of low-income, Brazilian immigrant mothers in 2 MA communities, which limits generalizability. There is also a possibility of selection bias as mothers with a heightened interest in or awareness of the importance of child health behaviors may have been more likely to participate in the study. Moreover, the use of snowball sampling to recruit participants might have resulted in the recruitment of study participants who share similar beliefs, attitudes, and behaviors related to ST of their preschool-age children. Thus, further research is needed to

increase generalizability and to explore whether results apply to a broader group of Brazilian immigrants. In addition, this study did not objectively assess children's ST and sedentary behavior, and this is a limitation, given that evidence suggests that parents' sedentary behaviors including ST influence their children's behaviors.

Finally, this study included only mothers, and this is a limitation given the increasing evidence suggesting the importance of including both parents in child health promotion and obesity prevention research and interventions [62,69]. Future research can address these limitations by exploring beliefs, attitudes, and behaviors of preschool-age children and their Brazilian immigrant parents (mothers and fathers) from other communities across the United States, selecting a larger sample size and employing multiple data collection methods, including both qualitative and quantitative methods, and objectively assessing parents' and children's ST.

Conclusions

This qualitative study provides new information on the beliefs, attitudes, and practices of Brazilian immigrant mothers living in the United States related to their preschool-age children's ST behaviors. Study findings revealed several potentially modifiable maternal beliefs, attitudes, and parenting practices that may provide important targets for parenting- and family-based interventions aimed at promoting children's healthy ST. Future research should explore Brazilian immigrant fathers' and grandparents' beliefs, attitudes, and parenting practices related to preschool-age children's ST. This information will be important for the design of ST interventions tailored to meet the needs of Brazilian immigrant children and families.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the women who participated in the study and the personnel at the 2 churches who assisted with study recruitment. The authors are also grateful for Gabriela P De Andrade's assistance with recruitment of study participants and data collection. This study was supported by a grant from the Aetna Foundation Inc (grant number 11-02395) for which ACL is the principal investigator.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Emergent themes and subthemes identified in the analyses. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 20KB - pediatrics v2i1e11791 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Emergent themes and subthemes with illustrative quotes. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 40KB - pediatrics_v2i1e11791_app2.pdf]

References

 Robinson TN, Banda JA, Hale L, Lu AS, Fleming-Milici F, Calvert SL, et al. Screen media exposure and obesity in children and adolescents. Pediatrics 2017 Nov;140(Suppl 2):S97-101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-1758K] [Medline: 29093041]

- 2. Sampasa-Kanyinga H, Standage M, Tremblay MS, Katzmarzyk PT, Hu G, Kuriyan R, et al. Associations between meeting combinations of 24-h movement guidelines and health-related quality of life in children from 12 countries. Public Health 2017 Dec;153:16-24. [doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2017.07.010] [Medline: 28818582]
- Schmidt M, Haines J, O'Brien A, McDonald J, Price S, Sherry B, et al. Systematic review of effective strategies for reducing screen time among young children. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2012 Jul;20(7):1338-1354 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/oby.2011.348] [Medline: 22222926]
- 4. Hill D, Ameenuddin N, Reid-Chassiakos Y, Cross V, Radesky J, Hutchinson J, et al. Media and young minds. Pediatrics 2016 Nov;138(5) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-2591]
- Beets MW, Bornstein D, Dowda M, Pate RR. Compliance with national guidelines for physical activity in U.S. preschoolers: measurement and interpretation. Pediatrics 2011 Apr;127(4):658-664 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-2021] [Medline: 21422082]
- Davison KK, Edmunds LS, Wyker BA, Young LM, Sarfoh VS, Sekhobo JP. Feasibility of increasing childhood outdoor play and decreasing television viewing through a family-based intervention in WIC, New York State, 2007-2008. Prev Chronic Dis 2011 May;8(3):A54 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 21477494]
- Hesketh KD, Hinkley T, Campbell KJ. Children's physical activity and screen time: qualitative comparison of views of parents of infants and preschool children. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2012 Dec 28;9:152 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-9-152] [Medline: 23270548]
- 8. Asplund KM, Kair LR, Arain YH, Cervantes M, Oreskovic NM, Zuckerman KE. Early childhood screen time and parental attitudes toward child television viewing in a low-income Latino population attending the special supplemental nutrition program for women, infants, and children. Child Obes 2015 Oct;11(5):590-599 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/chi.2015.0001] [Medline: 26390321]
- 9. Lee EY, Hesketh KD, Rhodes RE, Rinaldi CM, Spence JC, Carson V. Role of parental and environmental characteristics in toddlers' physical activity and screen time: Bayesian analysis of structural equation models. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2018 Feb 9;15(1):17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-018-0649-5] [Medline: 29426324]
- Van der Geest KE, Mérelle SY, Rodenburg G, Van de Mheen D, Renders CM. Cross-sectional associations between maternal parenting styles, physical activity and screen sedentary time in children. BMC Public Health 2017 Dec 29;17(1):753 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4784-8] [Medline: 28962600]
- 11. Carson V, Janssen I. Associations between factors within the home setting and screen time among children aged 0-5 years: a cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health 2012 Jul 23;12:539 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-539] [Medline: 22823887]
- 12. Dalton MA, Longacre MR, Drake KM, Cleveland LP, Harris JL, Hendricks K, et al. Child-targeted fast-food television advertising exposure is linked with fast-food intake among pre-school children. Public Health Nutr 2017 Jun;20(9):1548-1556 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S1368980017000520] [Medline: 28416041]
- van Grieken A, Ezendam NP, Paulis WD, van der Wouden JC, Raat H. Primary prevention of overweight in children and adolescents: a meta-analysis of the effectiveness of interventions aiming to decrease sedentary behaviour. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2012 May 28;9:61 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-9-61] [Medline: 22640437]
- 14. Australian Government Department of Health. 2010. Move and play every day: national physical activity recommendations for children 0 to 5 years URL: <u>https://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/content/</u> F01F92328EDADA5BCA257BF0001E720D/\$File/FS% 200-5yrs.PDF [accessed 2018-12-19] [WebCite Cache ID 74nJ60I9r]
- Tremblay MS, Leblanc AG, Carson V, Choquette L, Connor Gorber S, Dillman C, Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology. Canadian physical activity guidelines for the early years (aged 0-4 years). Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2012 Apr;37(2):345-369
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1139/h2012-018] [Medline: 22448608]
- Rideout VJ, Saphir M. Commonsense Media. 2013 Oct 23. Zero to Eight: Children's media use in America URL: <u>https://www.commonsensemedia.org/research/zero-to-eight-childrens-media-use-in-america-2013</u> [accessed 2018-12-28] [WebCite Cache ID 74zlJIRpH]
- Lapierre MA, Piotrowski JT, Linebarger DL. Assessing the relationship between pediatric media guidance and media use in American families. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2014 Oct;53(12):1166-1173. [doi: <u>10.1177/0009922814540038</u>] [Medline: 24970464]
- Domoff SE, Lumeng JC, Kaciroti N, Miller AL. Early childhood risk factors for mealtime TV exposure and engagement in low-income families. Acad Pediatr 2017;17(4):411-415 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2016.12.003] [Medline: 27979749]
- Tandon PS, Zhou C, Sallis JF, Cain KL, Frank LD, Saelens BE. Home environment relationships with children's physical activity, sedentary time, and screen time by socioeconomic status. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2012 Jul 26;9:88 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-9-88] [Medline: 22835155]
- Downing KL, Hinkley T, Hesketh KD. Associations of parental rules and socioeconomic position with preschool children's sedentary behaviour and screen time. J Phys Act Health 2015 Apr;12(4):515-521 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1123/jpah.2013-0427] [Medline: 25155232]

- Thompson DA, Schmiege SJ, Johnson SL, Vandewater EA, Boles RE, Zambrana RE, et al. Screen-related parenting practices in low-income Mexican American families. Acad Pediatr 2018 May 16;18(7):820-827 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2018.05.002] [Medline: 29777781]
- 22. Dennison BA, Russo TJ, Burdick PA, Jenkins PL. An intervention to reduce television viewing by preschool children. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2004 Feb;158(2):170-176. [doi: 10.1001/archpedi.158.2.170] [Medline: 14757609]
- 23. Epstein LH, Roemmich JN, Robinson JL, Paluch RA, Winiewicz DD, Fuerch JH, et al. A randomized trial of the effects of reducing television viewing and computer use on body mass index in young children. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2008 Mar;162(3):239-245 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/archpediatrics.2007.45] [Medline: 18316661]
- Ekelund U, Brage S, Froberg K, Harro M, Anderssen SA, Sardinha LB, et al. TV viewing and physical activity are independently associated with metabolic risk in children: the European Youth Heart Study. PLoS Med 2006 Dec;3(12):e488 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0030488] [Medline: 17194189]
- 25. Jordan AB, Hersey JC, McDivitt JA, Heitzler CD. Reducing children's television-viewing time: a qualitative study of parents and their children. Pediatrics 2006 Nov;118(5):e1303-e1310. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2006-0732</u>] [Medline: <u>17079531</u>]
- Okely AD, Ghersi D, Hesketh KD, Santos R, Loughran SP, Cliff DP, et al. A collaborative approach to adopting/adapting guidelines The Australian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines for the early years (Birth to 5 years): an integration of physical activity, sedentary behavior, and sleep. BMC Public Health 2017 Nov 20;17(Suppl 5):869 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4867-6] [Medline: 29219094]
- 28. Wahi G, Parkin PC, Beyene J, Uleryk EM, Birken CS. Effectiveness of interventions aimed at reducing screen time in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2011 Nov;165(11):979-986.
- 29. Lindsay AC, Sussner KM, Kim J, Gortmaker S. The role of parents in preventing childhood obesity. Future Child 2006;16(1):169-186. [Medline: <u>16532663</u>]
- Ochoa A, Berge JM. Home environmental influences on childhood obesity in the Latino population: a decade review of literature. J Immigr Minor Health 2017 Dec;19(2):430-447 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10903-016-0539-3] [Medline: 28005241]
- 31. Lampard AM, Jurkowski JM, Davison KK. The family context of low-income parents who restrict child screen time. Child Obes 2013 Oct;9(5):386-392 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/chi.2013.0043] [Medline: 24004326]
- 32. De Decker E, De Craemer M, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Wijndaele K, Duvinage K, Koletzko B, ToyBox-study group. Influencing factors of screen time in preschool children: an exploration of parents' perceptions through focus groups in six European countries. Obes Rev 2012 Mar;13(Suppl 1):75-84 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2011.00961.x] [Medline: 22309066]
- 33. Määttä S, Kaukonen R, Vepsäläinen H, Lehto E, Ylönen A, Ray C, et al. The mediating role of the home environment in relation to parental educational level and preschool children's screen time: a cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health 2017 Sep 2;17(1):688 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4694-9] [Medline: 28865436]
- Jago R, Solomon-Moore E, Toumpakari Z, Lawlor DA, Thompson JL, Sebire SJ. Parents' perspectives of change in child physical activity & screen-viewing between Y1 (5-6) & Y4 (8-9) of primary school: implications for behaviour change. BMC Public Health 2018 Apr 19;18(1):520 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5445-2] [Medline: 29673403]
- 35. Bentley GF, Turner KM, Jago R. Mothers' views of their preschool child's screen-viewing behaviour: a qualitative study. BMC Public Health 2016 Aug 4;16:718 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3440-z] [Medline: 27492488]
- 36. Thompson JL, Sebire SJ, Kesten JM, Zahra J, Edwards M, Solomon-Moore E, et al. How parents perceive screen viewing in their 5-6 year old child within the context of their own screen viewing time: a mixed-methods study. BMC Public Health 2017 Jun 1;17(1):471 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4394-5] [Medline: 28569195]
- 37. Jouët-Pastré C, Braga LJ, editors. Becoming Brazuca: Brazilian Immigration to the United States. Cambridge, Mass: David Rockefeller Center for Latin American Studies, Harvard University Press; 2008:382.
- Lima A, Siqueira CE. Scholarworks University of Massachusetts Boston. 2007 Nov 1. Brazilians in the U.S. and Massachusetts: A demographic and economic profile URL: <u>https://scholarworks.umb.edu/gaston_pubs/50/</u> [accessed 2018-12-19] [WebCite Cache ID 74nJCGVat]
- Tovar A, Hennessy E, Must A, Hughes SO, Gute DM, Sliwa S, et al. Feeding styles and evening family meals among recent immigrants. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2013 Jun 26;10:84 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-10-84] [Medline: 23803223]
- 40. Lindsay AC, Wallington SF, Greaney ML, Hasselman MH, Machado MM, Mezzavilla RS, et al. Sociocultural and environmental influences on Brazilian immigrant mothers' beliefs and practices related to child feeding and weight status. Matern Child Health J 2017 May;21(5):1085-1094. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10995-016-2207-6</u>] [Medline: <u>28032238</u>]
- 41. Lindsay AC, Wallington SF, Lees FD, Greaney ML. Exploring how the home environment influences eating and physical activity habits of low-income, Latino children of predominantly immigrant families: a qualitative study. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2018 May 14;15(5) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph15050978] [Medline: 29757941]

- 42. Lindsay AC, Wallington SF, Greaney ML, Hasselman MH, Tavares Machado MM, Mezzavilla RS. Brazilian immigrant mothers' beliefs and practices related to infant feeding: a qualitative study. J Hum Lact 2017 Aug;33(3):595-605. [doi: 10.1177/0890334416676267] [Medline: 27881729]
- 43. Lindsay AC, Moura Arruda CA, Tavares Machado MM, De Andrade GP, Greaney ML. Exploring how Brazilian immigrant mothers living in the USA obtain information about physical activity and screen time for their preschool-aged children: a qualitative study. BMJ Open 2018 Aug 6;8(8):e021844 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-021844] [Medline: 30082357]
- 44. Lindsay AC, Moura Arruda CA, Tavares Machado MM, De Andrade GP, Greaney ML. Exploring Brazilian Immigrant Mothers' Beliefs, Attitudes, and Practices Related to Their Preschool-Age Children's Sleep and Bedtime Routines: A Qualitative Study Conducted in the United States. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2018 Dec 4;15(9) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph15091923] [Medline: 30181465]
- 45. Kidd PS, Parshall MB. Getting the focus and the group: enhancing analytical rigor in focus group research. Qual Health Res 2000 May;10(3):293-308. [doi: 10.1177/104973200129118453] [Medline: 10947477]
- 46. Marin G, Sabogal F, Marin BV, Otero-Sabogal R, Perez-Stable EJ. Development of a short acculturation scale for Hispanics. Hisp J Behav Sci 1987 Jun 1;9(2):205. [doi: <u>10.1177/07399863870092005</u>]
- 47. Ritchie J, Spencer L, O'Connor W, Lewis J. Carrying out qualitative analysis. In: Qualitative Research Practice: A Guide for Social Science Students and Researchers. London, UK: Sage Publications; Jan 2003:219-262.
- 48. Vaismoradi M, Turunen H, Bondas T. Content analysis and thematic analysis: implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. Nurs Health Sci 2013 Sep;15(3):398-405. [doi: <u>10.1111/nhs.12048</u>] [Medline: <u>23480423</u>]
- 49. Census Bureau. 2016. Income URL: <u>https://www.census.gov/topics/income-poverty/income/about.html</u> [accessed 2018-07-27] [WebCite Cache ID 74nJus3wl]
- 50. Lindsay AC, Wallington SF, Muñoz MA, Greaney ML. A qualitative study conducted in the USA exploring Latino fathers' beliefs, attitudes and practices related to their young children's eating, physical activity and sedentary behaviours. Public Health Nutr 2018 Feb;21(2):403-415. [doi: 10.1017/S1368980017002579] [Medline: 28994358]
- Cespedes EM, McDonald J, Haines J, Bottino CJ, Schmidt ME, Taveras EM. Obesity-related behaviors of US- and non-US-born parents and children in low-income households. J Dev Behav Pediatr 2013 Oct;34(8):541-548 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/DBP.0b013e3182a509fb] [Medline: 24131876]
- 52. Downing KL, Best K, Campbell KJ, Hesketh KD. Informing active play and screen time behaviour change interventions for low socioeconomic position mothers of young children: what do mothers want? Biomed Res Int 2016;2016:2139782 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2016/2139782] [Medline: 28053979]
- 53. Downing KL, Salmon J, Hinkley T, Hnatiuk JA, Hesketh KD. Feasibility and efficacy of a parent-focused, text message-delivered intervention to reduce sedentary behavior in 2- to 4-year-old children (mini movers): pilot randomized controlled trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Feb 9;6(2):e39 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8573] [Medline: 29426816]
- Lampard AM, Jurkowski JM, Davison KK. Social-cognitive predictors of low-income parents' restriction of screen time among preschool-aged children. Health Educ Behav 2013 Oct;40(5):526-530 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1090198112467800] [Medline: 23239766]
- 55. Hamilton K, Spinks T, White KM, Kavanagh DJ, Walsh AM. A psychosocial analysis of parents' decisions for limiting their young child's screen time: an examination of attitudes, social norms and roles, and control perceptions. Br J Health Psychol 2016 May;21(2):285-301. [doi: 10.1111/bjhp.12168] [Medline: 26462456]
- 56. Jago R, Zahra J, Edwards MJ, Kesten JM, Solomon-Moore E, Thompson JL, et al. Managing the screen-viewing behaviours of children aged 5-6 years: a qualitative analysis of parental strategies. BMJ Open 2016 Mar 1;6(3):e010355 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010355] [Medline: 26932143]
- 57. Solomon-Moore E, Matthews J, Reid T, Toumpakari Z, Sebire SJ, Thompson JL, et al. Examining the challenges posed to parents by the contemporary screen environments of children: a qualitative investigation. BMC Pediatr 2018 Apr 7;18(1):129 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12887-018-1106-y] [Medline: 29626932]
- 58. Edwards MJ, Jago R, Sebire SJ, Kesten JM, Pool L, Thompson JL. The influence of friends and siblings on the physical activity and screen viewing behaviours of children aged 5-6 years: a qualitative analysis of parent interviews. BMJ Open 2015 May 14;5(5):e006593 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006593] [Medline: 25976759]
- Downing KL, Hinkley T, Salmon J, Hnatiuk JA, Hesketh KD. Do the correlates of screen time and sedentary time differ in preschool children? BMC Public Health 2017 Mar 29;17(1):285 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4195-x] [Medline: 28356094]
- 60. Hoyos Cillero I, Jago R, Sebire S. Individual and social predictors of screen-viewing among Spanish school children. Eur J Pediatr 2011 Jan;170(1):93-102 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00431-010-1276-6] [Medline: 20814697]
- Turner BJ, Navuluri N, Winkler P, Vale S, Finley E. A qualitative study of family healthy lifestyle behaviors of Mexican-American and Mexican immigrant fathers and mothers. J Acad Nutr Diet 2014 Apr;114(4):562-569. [doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2013.12.010] [Medline: 24529984]

- Lloyd AB, Lubans DR, Plotnikoff RC, Collins CE, Morgan PJ. Maternal and paternal parenting practices and their influence on children's adiposity, screen-time, diet and physical activity. Appetite 2014 Aug;79:149-157 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2014.04.010] [Medline: 24751915]
- 63. Jago R, Sebire SJ, Lucas PJ, Turner KM, Bentley GF, Goodred JK, et al. Parental modelling, media equipment and screen-viewing among young children: cross-sectional study. BMJ Open 2013 Apr 24;3(4):e002593 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-002593] [Medline: 23619088]
- 64. Yamada M, Sekine M, Tatsuse T. Parental internet use and lifestyle factors as correlates of prolonged screen time of children in Japan: results from the Super Shokuiku School Project. J Epidemiol 2018 Oct 5;28(10):407-413 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2188/jea.JE20170100] [Medline: 29576604]
- 65. Veldhuis L, van Grieken A, Renders CM, Hirasing RA, Raat H. Parenting style, the home environment, and screen time of 5-year-old children; the 'be active, eat right' study. PLoS One 2014 Feb 12;9(2):e88486 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0088486] [Medline: 24533092]
- 66. Jago R, Davison KK, Thompson JL, Page AS, Brockman R, Fox KR. Parental sedentary restriction, maternal parenting style, and television viewing among 10- to 11-year-olds. Pediatrics 2011 Sep;128(3):e572-e578 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-3664] [Medline: 21859910]
- 67. Bjelland M, Soenens B, Bere E, Kovács É, Lien N, Maes L, et al. Associations between parental rules, style of communication and children's screen time. BMC Public Health 2015 Oct 1;15:1002 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-2337-6] [Medline: 26428894]
- 68. Langer SL, Crain AL, Senso MM, Levy RL, Sherwood NE. Predicting child physical activity and screen time: parental support for physical activity and general parenting styles. J Pediatr Psychol 2014 Jul;39(6):633-642 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsu021] [Medline: 24812256]
- Davison KK, Gicevic S, Aftosmes-Tobio A, Ganter C, Simon CL, Newlan S, et al. Fathers' representation in observational studies on parenting and childhood obesity: a systematic review and content analysis. Am J Public Health 2016 Nov;106(11):e14-e21. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2016.303391] [Medline: 27631735]

Abbreviations

AAP: American Academy of PediatricsFGD: focus group discussionMA: MassachusettsST: screen timeTV: television

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 02.08.18; peer-reviewed by U Athar; comments to author 12.10.18; revised version received 03.12.18; accepted 09.12.18; published 21.01.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Lindsay AC, Moura Arruda CA, Machado MMT, Greaney ML "If You Let Them, They Will Be on It 24 Hours a Day": Qualitative Study Conducted in the United States Exploring Brazilian Immigrant Mothers' Beliefs, Attitudes, and Practices Related to Screen Time Behaviors of Their Preschool-Age Children JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e11791 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e11791/</u> doi:10.2196/11791 PMID:31518308

©Ana Cristina Lindsay, Carlos André Moura Arruda, Márcia MT Machado, Mary L Greaney. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 21.01.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

A Free Virtual Reality Experience to Prepare Pediatric Patients for Magnetic Resonance Imaging: Cross-Sectional Questionnaire Study

Jonathan Ashmore^{1,2,3}, BSc (Hons), MSc, PhD; Jerome Di Pietro⁴, BA (Hons); Kelly Williams⁵, BSc, PGD; Euan Stokes², BSc; Anna Symons², DipHE; Martina Smith², BSc; Louise Clegg⁶, DClinPsych; Cormac McGrath⁷, BSc (Hons), PhD

³Centre for Neuroimaging Sciences, King's College London, London, United Kingdom

⁵King's College Hospital, London, United Kingdom

⁷Radiological Sciences & Imaging, Regional Medical Physics Service, Belfast Health and Social Care Trust, Belfast, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Jonathan Ashmore, BSc (Hons), MSc, PhD Department of Medical Physics and Bioengineering NHS Highland Old Perth Road Inverness, United Kingdom Phone: 44 07760712289 Fax: 44 1463704542 Email: jonathan.ashmore@nhs.net

Abstract

Background: A magnetic resonance image (MRI) is a diagnostic test that requires patients to lie still for prolonged periods within a claustrophobic and noisy environment. This can be difficult for children to tolerate, and often general anesthetic (GA) is required at considerable cost and detriment to patient safety. Virtual reality (VR) is a newly emerging technology that can be implemented at low cost within a health care setting. It has been shown to reduce fear associated with a number of high-anxiety situations and medical procedures.

Objective: The goal of the research was to develop a VR resource to prepare pediatric patients for MRI, helping to reduce anxieties in children undergoing the procedure.

Methods: A freely accessible VR preparation resource was developed to prepare pediatric patients for their upcoming MRI. The resource consists of an app and supporting preparation book and used a series of panoramic 360 degree videos of the entire MRI journey, including footage from within the bore of the scanner. The app, deployed via the Android Play Store and iOS App Store, can be viewed on most mobile phones, allowing a child to experience an MRI in VR using an inexpensive Google Cardboard headset. The app contains 360 degree videos within an animated, interactive VR interface designed for 4 to 12-year-olds. The resource was evaluated as part of a clinical audit on 23 patients (aged 4 to 12 years), and feedback was obtained from 10 staff members. In 5 patients, the resource was evaluated as a tool to prepare patients for an awake MRI who otherwise were booked to have an MRI under GA.

Results: The VR preparation resource has been successfully implemented at 3 UK institutions. Of the 23 patients surveyed, on a scale of 1 to 10, the VR resource was rated with a median score of 8.5 for enjoyment, 8 for helpfulness, and 10 for ease of use. All patients agreed that it made them feel more positive about their MRI, and all suggested they would recommend the resource to other children. When considering their experiences using the resource with pediatric patients, on a scale of 1 to 10, the staff members rated the VR resource a median score of 8.5 for enjoyment, 9 for helpfulness, and 9 for ease of use. All staff believed

¹Department of Medical Physics and Bioengineering, NHS Highland, Inverness, United Kingdom

²Department of Neuroradiology, King's College Hospital, London, United Kingdom

⁴Faculty of Life Sciences & Medicine, King's College London, London, United Kingdom

⁶South London and the Maudsley NHS Trust, London, United Kingdom

it could help prepare children for an awake MRI, thus avoiding GA. A successful awake MRI was achieved in 4 of the 5 children for whom routine care would have resulted in an MRI under GA.

Conclusions: Our VR resource has the potential to relieve anxieties and better prepare patients for an awake MRI. The resource has potential to avoid GA through educating the child about the MRI process.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e11684) doi:10.2196/11684

KEYWORDS

virtual reality; MRI; anxiety

Introduction

The claustrophobic and noisy environment of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) can be difficult for patients to tolerate and at times can lead to patient movement during the scan or even to the scan being aborted. If the resultant images are undiagnostic, this may require the patient to be rescanned under sedation or general anesthesia (GA). Children represent a particularly sensitive patient group to such effects where the rescan rate and need for GA is considerably higher than in adults. In a recent study it was shown that the use of GA in pediatric MRI has risen from 21% to 28% over 3 years, an effect attributed to the increased use of 3 Tesla MRI systems, which produce superior image quality but have an associated increased sensitivity to patient motion [1].

Despite this increase, previous work has shown that appropriate preparation can successfully reduce the need for anesthesia in younger patients. In one study, through the effective use of multiple preparation resources, anesthesia rates were reduced from 47% to 27% [2]. A variety of methods have been reported to prepare children for MRI including the use of informational videos [3], mock scanners [4], play tunnels, vibrating mats with MRI scanner audio simulations [5], and the use of small scale models for demonstrating the MRI procedure to children [6]. Having a process to avoid anesthesia is also preferred among parents [7,8].

There are numerous benefits to both the patient and the institution in avoiding an MRI scan with GA. With an awake MRI, the risks of possible adverse reaction to GA or other forms of sedation are removed, which although unlikely can still occur [9]. Research has demonstrated that anesthesia can be highly anxiety-provoking for children and parents [10] because there is the need to fast prior to GA and a recovery period requiring them to remain in clinical care for typically 1 to 2 hours. Because the GA requires medical intervention, there are also significant costs associated with the equipment and clinical team required to administer the procedure.

In recent years, the use of virtual reality (VR) in medicine has undergone rapid growth with applications in surgery [11], teaching and training [12], anxiety reduction for medical procedures [13-15], and treatment for a variety of diseases [16-18]. This increase in popularity has been driven by the development of consumer-level VR headsets that use a standard mobile phone (eg, Google Cardboard and Daydream View, Google LLC; Gear VR, Samsung Electronics Co Ltd) or a PC (eg, Oculus Rift, Facebook Technologies LLC; Vive, HTC Corporation) for their computer processing. In particular, the Google Cardboard format has potential for large-scale distribution, since most modern mobile phones have the technology to be incorporated into a simple, cheap headset to display content in the VR format. Distribution of content is now easily facilitated via YouTube, which has native cardboard compatibility, or Google Play for Android devices and the App Store for iOS devices. Creating VR content is also now more achievable with the availability of consumer-level 360° cameras that allow amateur film makers to create and easily distribute 360° footage for viewing within a VR headset.

In this paper, we report on a freely accessible resource that uses 360° video footage to acclimatize a pediatric patient for an upcoming MRI using VR. The resource was created as a tool to help lower anxiety associated with MRI, reduce motion-related image artifact, and decrease the need for GA by increasing awake MRI compliance.

Methods

The Virtual Reality Magnetic Resonance Imaging Journey

The VR resource was developed to facilitate preparation of pediatric patients for MRI in a number of settings. First, the resource was developed to be used by health play specialists in their role supporting extremely anxious patients. Second, the resource was to be available to patients with upcoming MRI appointments. Information was included in their appointment letter regarding how to download the resource. By using the resource at home, the child would be in a familiar and safe environment that may better facilitate learning and discussion. Third, we used the resource in the MRI waiting area for anxious patients and parents prior to their MRI. Finally, the resource was used during the anesthetic preassessment process several weeks prior to a patient's MRI under GA. In this setting, the resource may help guide the decision regarding whether an awake MRI is achievable. All these use cases were suggested by health play specialists and radiographers whose daily role it was to prepare patients for MRI. Both groups had active involvement in the design of the resource and informed the development from the beginning using relevant insights from their roles in health care. They highlighted the importance of showing the pathway that a child undergoes when having an MRI, specifically focusing on key parts of the journey to help the patient to understand and experience each aspect of their upcoming scan. These included (1) arriving at the reception and the waiting area, (2) participating in the MRI safety screening process, (3) highlighting where the radiographer sits during the scan, (4) introducing the children to the scan room, (5) allowing

XSL•FO RenderX

them to experience being in the scanner, and (6) saying goodbye after their scan. All elements were captured via 360° video and incorporated into the resource. The use of 360° video rather than computer-generated content facilitated scalability to other sites that could capture custom footage for their own bespoke version. The resource was aimed at children between ages 4 and 12 years, an age group where appropriate preparation can greatly increase the chance that the child will tolerate and lie still for their scan. The resource was deployed as a free downloadable app and a supporting preparation book. Having the two helped facilitate the different interactions required by different patients and provided a choice of resource for the patient to access. The aim of the app was to produce a continually immersive VR experience of the entire MRI journey, easily accessible for home use. The preparation book helped facilitate a greater interaction between clinical staff and anxious patients. Rather than a continual immersive experience, it fostered discussion outside of VR and, when appropriate, the individual 360° videos could be displayed to the patient using the VR headset.

Incorporating the entire MRI journey into the resource was felt to be important since all elements in the journey can induce anxiety for a child. It was hoped that the virtual experience would better allow children to understand their role and the roles of others when coming for an MRI, helping them to feel involved with their own care. It was designed to highlight the expectation of them in the process and facilitated rehearsal of the procedure. The resource aimed to address common questions asked by children coming for an MRI (eg, concerns that the scanner may touch or hurt them). There was a focus to keep the content positive while realistic, using child-friendly terminology (eg, calling the head coil, used to acquire the MRI images, a helmet) together with highlighting that children could watch their own DVD during the scan.

All persons who appeared in the videos or photos provided consent for their footage and pictures to be used according to our standard hospital policies.

Capturing 360° Footage

The 360° degree video footage was captured on a 2016 Gear 360 camera (Samsung Electronics Co Ltd) controlled remotely using a Samsung Galaxy S7 mobile phone. For all footage outside the scanner, the camera was positioned using a monopod with tripod stand base at a typical six-year-old child eye height. This allowed for the feeling of being present from the child's perspective when the videos were viewed within a VR headset. Short video segments were captured where the radiographer and parent actors played out the role as though the child were attending for their scan. We tried to keep the footage length to a minimum time (ideally less than 1 minute) to ensure it

remained engaging for the intended young audience but still informative. Initial attempts were made to move the camera during the journey, but it was found that this movement when displayed in a VR headset created a feeling of nausea and this idea was abandoned. Instead stationary footage was taken from key steps of the journey, and the patient was "teleported" via interactions with the app or preparation book from one area of the radiology department to subsequent areas as they progressed along their journey.

The camera was found to function correctly within an operating 1.5T MRI scanner. Scanners tested included the Magnetom Aera 1.5T (Siemens Healthineers), Signa HDx (GE Healthcare), and the Ingenia and Achieva 1.5T (Koninklijke Philips NV). An initial investigation was undertaken by the Magnetic Resonance Safety Expert (MRSE; JA, CMcG) to assess the safety of the camera within the MRI system, and footage was obtained from within the scanner under direct supervision of the MRSE. It was found that the camera did contain some ferromagnetic components which led to mild attractive forces. The weight of the camera mostly overcame these forces except at the location of highest spatial gradient (at the flaring of the MRI scanner bore). To ensure the camera did not become a projectile, it was taped into place on top of a standard phantom that was supplied with the MRI system.

By fixing the camera onto the phantom, we ensured the scanner would receive a measurable signal allowing it to operate as normal. To provide the illusion of a body for the camera footage, an inflatable mannequin with the head sealed down was dressed in child's clothing, and the camera, attached to the phantom, acted as the head of the mannequin (see Figure 1).

The 360° footage was successfully obtained during scanner operation with the camera controlled via the Samsung Galaxy S7 phone from within the scan room. Footage was acquired for the localizer and approximately 1 minute of a spoiled gradient echo sequence. In this sequence, the flip angle was reduced to 1 degree to minimize specific absorption rate exposure to the camera. Initially, the camera showed no detrimental effects while in the scanner or after being removed. However, after approximately 10 sessions of capturing footage, the camera started to automatically shut down during footage acquisition within the scanner. At first it was thought the scanner was causing the camera battery to rapidly drain. However, when the camera was removed from the high magnetic field of the scanner, it would operate again as normal, and to the best of our knowledge there was seemingly limited battery drain and no permanent damage. We found it was possible to maximize the camera operating time for filming in the scanner by ensuring the camera was fully charged prior to filming (typically the maximum filming time would be 2 minutes).



Figure 1. Setup for filming 360 degree video within an operating magnetic resonance imaging scanner.



Footage was downloaded to the mobile phone, and the Samsung Gear 360 app was used to stitch the two images from the camera sensors into a single equirectangular image. This stitched image was then downloaded to a MacBook Pro for video postprocessing using the package iMovie v10.1.2 (Apple Inc). Editing steps included cropping the video timeline to remove unwanted footage from the start and end. Volume levels were modified to ensure consistency across the clips, and the volume of the operating scanner was reduced such that it was realistic to what a patient would experience during their scan. Audio from the DVD shown during the scan was not captured and instead was layered over the video during postprocessing to ensure the volume was appropriately set. The editing package iMovie outputs video with a 16:9 aspect ratio, and this was subsequently cropped to a 2:1 aspect ratio using the open-source video transcoder HandBrake (360° video has a 2:1 aspect ratio because the field of view is 360° along the horizontal direction by 180° along the vertical). The final 360° video was injected with metadata using the 360 Video Metadata Tool provided by Google.

The App

The app was created within the Unity development environment (Unity Technologies) and was deployed to both Android and iOS devices via hosting on Google Play and the App Store for free download. The app was designed with a VR format suitable for Google Cardboard–compatible headsets (VR mode) and for use in a standard non-VR format (tablet mode) for patients who did not have a Google Cardboard headset.

The app was designed to be fun and interactive, allowing the child to view the 360° videos in any order or repeat a single video. To maintain a child's interest, the videos were embedded and accessed via a stylized cartoon environment. A virtual character chosen to match the target patient age, complete with

voiceover, was created as a conscious design decision to enable engagement with the target audience.

In tablet mode, swipe and touch interactions were used for selecting and navigating within the 360° videos. In VR mode, the gaze selection method and standard Cardboard buttons were enabled for selecting, pausing, and exiting videos. An initial trial of the app highlighted that many users were not aware of the gaze feature typically used in a VR environment, so a tutorial was built into the app to help the user become accustomed to interacting within VR prior to starting their virtual MRI journey for the first time.

We undertook an iterative development cycle of testing to ensure that the app worked on a variety of devices and platforms. For VR, this required additional optimization to ensure that playback across a wide range of devices did not fall below 60 frames per second, where it is recognized that VR-based nausea can be experienced. Furthermore, to ensure the app supported devices across a range of technical specifications, the playback resolution of the video clip was downgraded from the original 4K resolution to 1920x960. This resulted in minimally reduced video clarity and sharpness but with the benefit of decreased download file size (from 480 MB to 161 MB). We found that this final build size was an important consideration because users often have limited storage capacity on their devices. To overcome this, a version of the app was created with the videos being streamed from a remote server rather than being embedded in the app. This was found to reduce the app size to 22 MB. However, to successfully play back the videos, a fast internet connection is required. We found the availability and reliability of such a network in a hospital setting to be limited at times, and given the additional costs of hosting a server from which to stream the videos, we decided not to release the streaming version of the app.

Ashmore et al

The Preparation Book

The preparation book was developed to support the app and allowed for closer interaction between the child and health play specialists, radiographers, and parents and to provide a choice of resource for the patient (Multimedia Appendix 1). It contained photos highlighting the same parts of the MRI journey as the app, maintaining consistency of persons acting as radiographers and parents. The electronic version of the preparation book contained hyperlinks to load the 360° videos of the MRI journey that were hosted on YouTube. When displayed using a mobile phone, the videos could be loaded directly from the preparation book and displayed in a Google Cardboard headset using the YouTube Cardboard functionality.

This preparation book was developed in Word (Microsoft Corporation) and exported to a PDF file format for easy distribution and better display on mobile and tablet devices. A shortened version was also developed for specific use within the radiology department to prepare a child immediately prior to their scan. This omitted the stages of arriving at the reception and the safety screening since it was typically given to patients after these stages were complete.

Implementation and Evaluation

Within the hospital, mobile devices were used with the Z4 mini-headset (BoboVR), and for home use, a disposable Google Cardboard version 2 headset (Access VR Solutions) was mailed to patients. The BoboVR Z4 mini had a faux leather face-pad making it cleanable and therefore the most suitable for use within a hospital environment where the risk of infection must be controlled. The head straps were removed from the headset such that the patient simply held the headset to their face. Given our resource had a maximum VR exposure time of approximately 5 minutes, simply holding the headset was preferred as this avoided the need for adjustments to the straps and allowed for rapid removal of the headset if the patient wanted to stop the experience (eg, if suffering from VR-based simulation sickness).

The evaluation of the resource was undertaken following the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence Evidence Standards Framework for Digital Health Technologies [19]. The goal of the evaluation was to gather anonymous feedback on the initial implementation helping to inform further enhancements of the resource to improve the patient experience. The evaluation is ongoing as part of a registered clinical audit in accordance with King's College Hospital standard policies and procedures.

We recruited 23 patients (median age 9 years, range 4 to 12 years) attending the Neuroradiology Department at King's College Hospital during the period November 2016 to February 2017. Patients voluntarily participated in an anonymous survey and were selected to include those who had never had an awake MRI (19/23) or had had an MRI more than 1 year ago (4/23). An upper age limit was set due to the nature of the resource, which was designed to be appropriate for users up to approximately age 12 years. The lower age range was set by the minimum age for which a child was booked to have an awake MRI during the evaluation period. Since the purpose of

the evaluation was to provide initial feedback on the resource, a patient group without medical complexities was chosen (ie, patients were excluded if they suffered from a physical or nonphysical disability such as cerebral palsy or autism, which may inhibit their interaction with the VR environment). Patients were identified through the radiology information system as having an appointment for an upcoming brain or spine MRI. The patient was either mailed a headset for them to trial the resource at home or were provided with the resource immediately prior to their MRI when they arrived for their scan. All patients voluntarily participated in an anonymous questionnaire (see Multimedia Appendix 2) which assessed their experience using the preparation resource with a standard 10-point or 5-point Likert scale.

Ten King's College Hospital staff were also surveyed including health play specialists (2/10), radiographers (7/10), and a health care assistant (1/10; see Multimedia Appendix 3). Staff were included if they had experience using the preparation resource during the patient evaluation period. The survey questionnaire used 10-point and 5-point Likert scales to evaluate staff experience using the resource in preparing children for an MRI.

The app was provided to 5 patients who were originally considered for an MRI under GA. After allowing the child to experience the app, it was thought that the GA could be avoided, and in these patients an awake MRI was attempted. All subsequent images were then evaluated for patient motion artifact.

Results

Versions of the preparation resource have been created for the MRI journeys for three UK hospitals including King's College Hospital, The Royal Belfast Hospital for Sick Children, and NHS Highland, freely available under the titles "My MRI at King's," "Virtual Reality MRI," and "My MRI at Raigmore," respectively.

All versions have the same interface/template and differ only in the embedded 360° videos or photos, which are specific to each hospital site. Sample images are shown in Figures 2 and 3 that highlight the cartoon style interactive interface and stills from the 360° videos. Also shown are the corresponding sections from the preparation book.

The results of the patient questionnaire are shown in Multimedia Appendix 4, which highlights a positive response to the preparation resource. An unexpected outcome of the patient feedback was the impact the app had on parents, several of whom commented on the feedback forms that the app allowed them to better understand their child's upcoming MRI, helping to reduce their own anxieties and enabling them to better prepare their child.

The results of the staff questionnaire appear to highlight that staff members believe the preparation resource to be a useful tool (Multimedia Appendix 5). All ten staff members surveyed answered questions 1 through 8, while question 9 was not answered by health play specialists since they have limited involvement in directly scanning patients.

Ashmore et al

Figure 2. Screen shots from the 'Where the Radiographer Sits' stage of the MRI preparation resource: (a) app cartoon interface, (b) corresponding 360° video, and (c) corresponding page from the preparation book.



Figure 3. Screen shots from the 'Lying Down, Having Your Scan' stage of the MRI preparation resource: (a) app cartoon interface, (b) corresponding 360° video, and (c) corresponding page from the preparation book.



Of the 5 patients originally booked for MRI under GA, 4 were able to tolerate an awake MRI. In one case, the child's anxiety levels prohibited them from entering the scan room, and GA had to be administered. In all cases, no movement was noted by the scanning radiographer or suggested in the radiology reports.

Discussion

Principal Findings

In this paper we report the technical aspects involved in creating our preparation resource that uses 360° video footage displayed via an inexpensive VR headset to create an immersive virtual

XSL•FO RenderX

MRI scan experience. Our evaluation highlights both patients and staff responding positively to the resource and the potential it has as a tool to reduce the need for GA.

While acquiring the 360° footage, we experienced some of the well-known pitfalls of creating VR content, many of which are previously described in a similar use of VR to prepare patients for anesthetics procedures [15]. This includes inadvertently inducing feelings of nausea in the viewer by acceleration in the VR environment. Although not fully understood and with a variety of causes, VR sickness can be triggered by conflicting sensory inputs from the visual system, vestibular system, and nonvestibular proprioceptors [20]. Additionally, there is a need to be conscious of filming close to objects and people—the VR equivalent to invading personal space.

These issues are well described in the VR literature and are key aspects to consider if a VR experience is to feel immersive and fulfill the place and plausibility illusion [21]. In a practical sense, when obtaining 360° footage we found it important to undertake quality control of the content. This was done by immediately viewing the footage within a VR headset so we could assess for any VR-specific issues and correct them immediately rather than realizing these issues at a later date.

There has been limited research involving the use of VR in children, and concerns remain regarding its safe use. These concerns include the potential for physical harm, since VR encourages the user to undertake movements while being blinded to the actual physical environment; VR-based simulation sickness [22]; and the potential effect VR has on the child's vision and balance [23]. To address these concerns, the use of VR equipment often comes with an age restriction from the manufacturer. In the case of the equipment used in this work (Google Cardboard-based headsets), the manufacturer suggests their headset "can be used by children but under adult supervision." For our purposes, the time spent in VR was limited to approximately 5 minutes (the length of the resource). This is similar to the maximum exposure introduced by other research groups aiming to protect younger children from any adverse effects [24]. These risks were documented in a risk assessment and explained to the parents prior to use. If at any point the patient felt uncomfortable with the experience, the headset could be removed immediately.

We developed two methods to deliver our 360° video content to patients. First, we created an app for free download from the Android Google Play and iOS App Store. We considered deploying to other VR platforms that provide a higher quality and more immersive VR experience (eg, Samsung Gear VR, Google Daydream, Oculus Rift, and HTC Vive environments). However, given the low cost and greater potential for distribution, the Google Cardboard format was in our view the best choice, enabling hospital workers and patients' families to easily download and use the app with no previous experience with VR. Furthermore, deployment to Android and iOS enables the app to be viewed in tablet mode, which can be useful for patients who do not have a Google Cardboard headset or cannot tolerate the VR environment. Examples include postoperative patients or patients with physical disabilities who cannot easily move.

In younger patients and where there was support from trained clinical staff, the preparation book enabled a closer interaction between staff and child, something that is particularly important for children with high levels of anxiety associated with MRI. Preparation books are widely used by health play specialists in hospitals, and children respond well to seeing visual images and having age-appropriate information that allows them to understand and process what will be happening to them. The preparation book presented here aimed to be an interactive resource. The electronic version linked directly to the 360° videos for viewing within a VR headset. By offering a selection of preparation resources (eg, app or preparation book), choices are provided and individual learning needs for patients of different ages are better met. The need for age-appropriate resources has previously been noted in the literature [7].

Patient and staff surveys highlighted the potential benefit of the preparation resource as a source of information for relieving patient anxieties but also as an enjoyable experience for the child. This enjoyment could be in part due to the novelty factor of VR, where the child may have engaged more with the content due to them experiencing the technology for the first time. In our evaluation we did not assess for any previous exposure to VR or 360° video content, and therefore as the technology becomes ubiquitous, there is potential for our resource to be less engaging and less effective. Literature, however, shows that traditional resources such as preparation booklets and mock scanners reduce patient anxiety in MRI, and numerous studies have measured the benefits of such preparation with patient questionnaires, heart rate measurements [25], or blood prolactin and cortisol levels after the scan [26]. In one study, however, it was found that such preparation had potential to increase anxieties [27].

The only negative patient feedback was from a 12-year-old who felt the app was too babyish. Similarly, the staff survey suggested from their experience the applicable maximum age for the resource was 11 years. On a positive note, the staff survey highlighted that in some cases staff felt the preparation resource potentially reduced patient motion and scan time due to increased compliance. A similar result has been previously reported in a prospective controlled study where patient preparation resources have shown significant reductions in patient motion [5]. The advantage of our resource is that it can be used at any location in the hospital, and parents can use the resource to prepare their child at home.

Limitations

The purpose of our survey was to provide feedback on our preparation resource to improve and further enhance the patient experience. We did not consider a research-based approach involving, for example, a control group, and so our results are not generalizable without further related work. Likewise, no control group was considered when we applied our resource to the patient case studies who were booked for GA, as our focus was on evaluating the potential for the app to avoid GA. The benefits of preparation resources have previously been investigated in controlled studies that have concluded such interventions can successfully obviate the need for patient sedation [8,28]. In future work, we aim to follow a similar

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

methodology using our VR-based preparation and considering anxiety scores, GA rates, and the presence of motion artifact in images for patients who have been prepared using our VR resource compared to traditional preparation techniques such as preparation booklets and pamphlets.

Conclusion

The VR preparation resource presented in this article is a novel tool for hospital staff and parents to relieve anxieties of pediatric

patients and potentially increase awake MRI scan compliance. The resource is freely available for download on multiple platforms and as such could easily be used by any site scanning children. The method developed could be recreated by others with little effort and has the potential to be expanded to other patient journeys. Our initial experiences using the resource provided nearly unanimous positive feedback, and it was shown for some patients that it potentially helped avoid the need for GA while undergoing MRI.

Acknowledgments

The authors kindly acknowledge the crucial input of the wider London, Belfast and Inverness Virtual Reality MRI teams into the video and photographic content for each of the projects. Special thanks go to six-year-old Aoibhínn McGrath, who provided the voiceovers for all versions of the app. Additionally, we would like to acknowledge the funding support from the following organizations: Children's MRI Scanner Appeal; Kingfishers, King's College Hospital; The Archie Foundation; and the Centre for Neuroimaging Sciences, King's College London.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Preparation book. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 911KB - pediatrics_v2i1e11684_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Patient questionnaire. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 156KB - pediatrics_v2i1e11684_app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Staff questionnaire. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 185KB - pediatrics v2i1e11684 app3.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Patient survey results. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 15KB - pediatrics_v2i1e11684_app4.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 5 Staff survey results. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 19KB - pediatrics_v2i1e11684_app5.pdf]

References

- Uffman JC, Tumin D, Raman V, Thung A, Adler B, Tobias JD. MRI utilization and the associated use of sedation and anesthesia in a pediatric ACO. J Am Coll Radiol 2017 Jul;14(7):924-930. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jacr.2017.01.025</u>] [Medline: <u>28325486</u>]
- Rothman S, Gonen A, Vodonos A, Novack V, Shelef I. Does preparation of children before MRI reduce the need for anesthesia? Prospective randomized control trial. Pediatr Radiol 2016 Oct;46(11):1599-1605. [doi: 10.1007/s00247-016-3651-6] [Medline: 27314584]
- McGlashan HL, Dineen RA, Szeszak S, Whitehouse WP, Chow G, Love A, et al. Evaluation of an internet-based animated preparatory video for children undergoing non-sedated MRI. Br J Radiol 2018 Jul;91(1087):20170719. [doi: 10.1259/bjr.20170719] [Medline: 29688030]
- 4. de Bie HM, Boersma M, Wattjes MP, Adriaanse S, Vermeulen RJ, Oostrom KJ, et al. Preparing children with a mock scanner training protocol results in high quality structural and functional MRI scans. Eur J Pediatr 2010 Sep;169(9):1079-1085 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00431-010-1181-z] [Medline: 20225122]
- 5. Barnea-Goraly N, Weinzimer SA, Ruedy KJ, Mauras N, Beck RW, Marzelli MJ, Diabetes Research in Children Network (DirecNet). High success rates of sedation-free brain MRI scanning in young children using simple subject preparation

protocols with and without a commercial mock scanner—the Diabetes Research in Children Network (DirecNet) experience. Pediatr Radiol 2014 Feb;44(2):181-186 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00247-013-2798-7] [Medline: 24096802]

- Cavarocchi E, Pieroni I, Serio A, Velluto L, Guarnieri B, Sorbi S. Kitten scanner reduces the use of sedation in pediatric MRI. J Child Health Care 2018 Jul 26:1367493518788476. [doi: 10.1177/1367493518788476] [Medline: 30049224]
- Walker B, Conklin HM, Anghelescu DL, Hall LP, Reddick WE, Ogg R, et al. Parent perspectives and preferences for strategies regarding nonsedated MRI scans in a pediatric oncology population. Support Care Cancer 2018 Jun;26(6):1815-1824. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-017-4009-9] [Medline: 29260390]
- Törnqvist E, Månsson A, Hallström I. Children having magnetic resonance imaging: a preparatory storybook and audio/visual media are preferable to anesthesia or deep sedation. J Child Health Care 2015 Sep;19(3):359-369. [doi: 10.1177/1367493513518374] [Medline: 24486815]
- 9. Kannikeswaran N, Mahajan PV, Sethuraman U, Groebe A, Chen X. Sedation medication received and adverse events related to sedation for brain MRI in children with and without developmental disabilities. Paediatr Anaesth 2009 Mar;19(3):250-256. [doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9592.2008.02900.x] [Medline: 19143958]
- Manyande A, Cyna AM, Yip P, Chooi C, Middleton P. Non-pharmacological interventions for assisting the induction of anaesthesia in children. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015 Jul 14(7):CD006447. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD006447.pub3</u>] [Medline: <u>26171895</u>]
- Khor WS, Baker B, Amin K, Chan A, Patel K, Wong J. Augmented and virtual reality in surgery-the digital surgical environment: applications, limitations and legal pitfalls. Ann Transl Med 2016 Dec;4(23):454 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/atm.2016.12.23] [Medline: 28090510]
- Pelargos PE, Nagasawa DT, Lagman C, Tenn S, Demos JV, Lee SJ, et al. Utilizing virtual and augmented reality for educational and clinical enhancements in neurosurgery. J Clin Neurosci 2017 Jan;35:1-4. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jocn.2016.09.002</u>] [Medline: <u>28137372</u>]
- Jimenez YA, Cumming S, Wang W, Stuart K, Thwaites DI, Lewis SJ. Patient education using virtual reality increases knowledge and positive experience for breast cancer patients undergoing radiation therapy. Support Care Cancer 2018 Aug;26(8):2879-2888. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-018-4114-4] [Medline: 29536200]
- 14. Marquess M, Johnston SP, Williams NL, Giordano C, Leiby BE, Hurwitz MD, et al. A pilot study to determine if the use of a virtual reality education module reduces anxiety and increases comprehension in patients receiving radiation therapy. J Radiat Oncol 2017 Mar 22;6(3):317-322. [doi: 10.1007/s13566-017-0298-3]
- 15. O'Sullivan B, Alam F, Matava C. Creating low-cost 360-degree virtual reality videos for hospitals: a technical paper on the dos and don'ts. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jul 16;20(7):e239 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9596] [Medline: 30012545]
- Maples-Keller JL, Bunnell BE, Kim S, Rothbaum BO. The use of virtual reality technology in the treatment of anxiety and other psychiatric disorders. Harv Rev Psychiatry 2017;25(3):103-113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/HRP.00000000000138] [Medline: 28475502]
- 17. Tashjian VC, Mosadeghi S, Howard AR, Lopez M, Dupuy T, Reid M, et al. Virtual reality for management of pain in hospitalized patients: results of a controlled trial. JMIR Ment Health 2017 Mar 29;4(1):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.7387] [Medline: 28356241]
- Chirico A, Lucidi F, De Laurentiis M, Milanese C, Napoli A, Giordano A. Virtual reality in health system: beyond entertainment. A mini-review on the efficacy of VR during cancer treatment. J Cell Physiol 2016 Feb;231(2):275-287. [doi: 10.1002/jcp.25117] [Medline: 26238976]
- 19. NICE Evidence Standards Framework for Digital Health Technologies—December 2018. URL: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/</u> <u>Media/Default/About/what-we-do/our-programmes/evidence-standards-framework/digital-evidence-standards-framework.</u> <u>pdf</u> [accessed 2019-01-31] [WebCite Cache ID 75pjCdlpv]
- 20. Reason J, Brand J. Motion Sickness. New York: Academic Press; 1975.
- 21. Slater M. Place illusion and plausibility can lead to realistic behaviour in immersive virtual environments. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 2009 Dec 12;364(1535):3549-3557 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1098/rstb.2009.0138] [Medline: 19884149]
- 22. Treleaven J, Battershill J, Cole D, Fadelli C, Freestone S, Lang K, et al. Simulator sickness incidence and susceptibility during neck motion-controlled virtual reality tasks. Virtual Reality 2015 Jun 10;19(3-4):267-275. [doi: 10.1007/s10055-015-0266-4]
- Yamada-Rice D, Mushtaq F, Woodgate A, Bosmans D. Children and virtual reality: emerging possibilities and challenges. 2017. URL: <u>http://digilitey.eu/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/CVR-Final-PDF-reduced-size.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-01-31] [WebCite Cache ID 75pj0Mjpa]
- 24. Aubrey JS, Robb M, Bailey J, Bailenson J. Virtual reality 101: what you need to know about kids and VR. URL: <u>http://www.commonsensemedia.org/sites/default/files/uploads/pdfs/csm_vr101_final.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-02-25] [WebCite Cache ID 75pjw6aWX]
- Viggiano MP, Giganti F, Rossi A, Di Feo D, Vagnoli L, Calcagno G, et al. Impact of psychological interventions on reducing anxiety, fear and the need for sedation in children undergoing magnetic resonance imaging. Pediatr Rep 2015 Feb 24;7(1):5682 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4081/pr.2015.5682] [Medline: 25918624]
- 26. Tazegul G, Etcioglu E, Yildiz F, Yildiz R, Tuney D. Can MRI related patient anxiety be prevented? Magn Reson Imaging 2015 Jan;33(1):180-183. [doi: 10.1016/j.mri.2014.08.024] [Medline: 25172986]

- Hartman JH, Bena J, McIntyre S, Albert NM. Does a photo diary decrease stress and anxiety in children undergoing magnetic resonance imaging? A randomized, controlled study. J Radiol Nurs 2009 Dec;28(4):122-128. [doi: 10.1016/j.jradnu.2009.08.002]
- 28. Carter AJ, Greer MC, Gray SE, Ware RS. Mock MRI: reducing the need for anaesthesia in children. Pediatr Radiol 2010 Aug;40(8):1368-1374. [doi: 10.1007/s00247-010-1554-5] [Medline: 20186541]

Abbreviations

GA: general anesthesia MRI: magnetic resonance imaging MRSE: Magnetic Resonance Safety Expert NHS: National Health Service VR: virtual reality

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 11.08.18; peer-reviewed by C Evans, N Peres; comments to author 09.10.18; revised version received 31.01.19; accepted 18.02.19; published 18.04.19.

Please cite as:

Ashmore J, Di Pietro J, Williams K, Stokes E, Symons A, Smith M, Clegg L, McGrath C A Free Virtual Reality Experience to Prepare Pediatric Patients for Magnetic Resonance Imaging: Cross-Sectional Questionnaire Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e11684 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e11684/</u> doi:10.2196/11684 PMID:31518319

©Jonathan Ashmore, Jerome Di Pietro, Kelly Williams, Euan Stokes, Anna Symons, Martina Smith, Louise Clegg, Cormac McGrath. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 18.04.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Cyberbullying Among Adolescents: Stakeholder-Driven Concept Mapping Approach

Megan Andreas Moreno¹, MD Pediatrics, MPH (Epidemiology), MSEd; Nikita Midamba², MS; Henry S Berman³, MD Pediatrics; Peter S Moreno⁴, JD; Mike Donlin⁵, BA; Erik Schlocker³, MSW

¹Department of Pediatrics, University of Wisconsin Madison, Madison, WI, United States

²Seattle Children's Research Institute, Seattle, WA, United States

³Seattle Children's Hospital, Seattle, WA, United States

⁴Department of Continuing Studies, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, United States

⁵The School Safety Center, Office of the State Superintendent, Olympia, WA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Megan Andreas Moreno, MD Pediatrics, MPH (Epidemiology), MSEd Department of Pediatrics University of Wisconsin Madison 2870 University Ave Suite 200 Madison, WI, 53705 United States Phone: 1 608 263 2846 Fax: 1 608 263 3770 Email: mamoreno@pediatrics.wisc.edu

Abstract

Background: Cyberbullying includes bullying behaviors on the Web; these behaviors are inconsistently measured and lack standardized definitions. The Uniform Definition of Bullying provides a consensus-based definition of bullying, and it highlights the need for an evidence-based definition of a model for cyberbullying.

Objective: Toward understanding the key elements and constructs defining cyberbullying, the objective of this study was to develop a stakeholder-driven conceptual model of cyberbullying.

Methods: Concept mapping is a validated research method that leverages both qualitative and quantitative approaches to integrate stakeholder input on complex topics. This process was used to develop a concept map and adapt it through participant input to a conceptual model. The validated concept mapping approach includes 5 steps: preparation, generation (brainstorming), structuring (sorting), representation (statistical analysis), and interpretation. We recruited stakeholder participants, including adolescents, as well as parents and professionals representing education, health, and the justice system. Analysis included hierarchical cluster analysis to develop a cluster map representing cyberbullying, followed by adaptation of that map to a conceptual model through qualitative participant feedback.

Results: A total of 177 participants contributed to the concept mapping process, including 69% females, 50% adults, and 68% Caucasian, representing each of our stakeholder groups. A total of 228 brainstorming items were generated and sorted into a concept map that included 9 clusters. Clusters included topics that had strong overlap with traditional bullying, such as consequences for perpetrators and targets, with example items "alienating" and "crippling." Some clusters were unique, such as cyberbullying techniques, with example item "excessive messaging," and characteristics of the cyberbullying experience, with example item "constant." Through the interpretation step, a conceptual model emerged, illustrating connections and distinctions between traditional bullying and cyberbullying.

Conclusions: We found that in generating a stakeholder-driven concept map of cyberbullying, participants could not describe cyberbullying without integrating key concepts from traditional bullying. On the basis of our conceptual model, there are unique characteristics of cyberbullying that suggest that uniform definitions of bullying need to be evaluated to ensure their application to cyberbullying.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12683) doi:10.2196/12683



KEYWORDS

cyberbullying; adolescent

Introduction

Background

Bullying is both a public health and a criminal justice problem that occurs throughout the world, and bullying can happen at many stages in the life course, from childhood to adolescence, even into adulthood. Although traditional "schoolyard" bullying remains problematic, over the past decade, technologies have provided new platforms on which bullying can occur. It is estimated that 19.6% of children of ages 14 to 18 years were bullied on school property, and 14.8% of children aged 14 to 18 years were electronically bullied [1]. These electronic forms of contact may include social networking websites (eg, Instagram, Twitter), Web-based games, instant messaging, short message service text messaging, and mobile phone pictures. This phenomenon has come to be known as cyberbullying. It is estimated that 1% to 41% of US adolescents have perpetrated cyberbullying and 3% to 72% have been targets [2].

Consequences of Bullying and Cyberbullying

Previous studies have examined the substantial negative effects that cyberbullying can have on both targets and perpetrators. Adolescents who have experienced cyberbullying report higher levels of depression and lower self-esteem [3]. Furthermore, emotional distress, anger, sadness, detachment, externalized hostility, and delinquency are more common in targets of cyberbullying than in the general population [2]. Many of these effects are also seen in targets of traditional bullying, suggesting similarities in the negative consequences of these phenomena [4].

Current Challenges in Understanding Cyberbullying

Assessing the prevalence of cyberbullying remains challenging, partly as the field lacks a conceptual approach or an operational definition of the term [5]. A consistent definition can support tracking of cyberbullying over time, and it has been called out as one of the major challenges in the field [6]. In the realm of traditional bullying, collaboration across experts in the field led to the development of a consensus-driven definition. Led by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), the Uniform Definition of Bullying is as follows: Bullying is any unwanted aggressive behavior(s) by another youth or group of youths who are not siblings or current dating partners; bullying involves an observed or perceived power imbalance, and it is repeated multiple times or is highly likely to be repeated. Bullying may inflict harm or distress on the targeted youth, including physical, psychological, social, or educational harm [7]. Within this definition, 4 different types of bullying behavior are commonly identified: physical, verbal, relational, and damage to property [6]. Observational studies have shown that the different forms of bullying of youths may overlap [8,9]. Within the CDC definition, cyberbullying is considered bullying by digital electronic means. Thus, cyberbullying is considered a context in which bullying occurs.

The extent to which the Uniform Definition can be applied to cyberbullying remains uncertain. A previous study that used focus groups with college students to discuss whether the Uniform Definition applied to cyberbullying found that students were wary of applying the definition. Participants in this study described elements of cyberbullying that they felt were distinct from the Uniform Definition, including their perception that cyberbullying often involves less emphasis on aggression, intention, and repetition than other forms of bullying [10]. A conceptual model describing key elements of cyberbullying could contribute to understanding the key components of cyberbullying and assessing how it may be similar or different compared with traditional bullying. A data-driven conceptual model could potentially provide evidence to inform definitions, measurement approaches, or future interventions.

Study Purpose

Thus, the purpose of this study was to develop a stakeholder-informed conceptual model for cyberbullying. To fulfill this purpose and ensure the model was driven by participant views and data, concept mapping methodology was applied. This validated methodology has been applied toward developing conceptual frameworks to describe complex topics [9-11]. Previous concept mapping studies have been applied to complex topics, such as intimate partner violence, physical rehabilitation experiences, and adolescent sexuality [12-14]. This method has also been used in previous health research to provide insights into mental health and illness [10,12,14,15]. The outcome of this process is a concept map, a visual representation of the key concepts and their interrelationships. The final map that is created is entirely in the language of the participants, and it produces an easily interpreted visual representation that can be adapted to represent a conceptual model.

Methods

Study Setting and Design

This study was conducted in Washington State, and this study recruited participants from academic and community settings. The study design was concept mapping. The Western Institutional Review Board approved this study.

Participants and Recruitment

The concept mapping approach is ideally suited for data collection from stakeholders relevant to the concept under investigation. To ground our conceptual framework in views of stakeholders involved in cyberbullying, participants included adolescents and young adults, aged 12 to 21 years, as these youth are those who directly experience cyberbullying. We also included parents of the youth of these ages, as parents are often involved when their children are cyberbullying. In selecting additional stakeholders for this study, we considered the evidence that cyberbullying can occur at home, at school, and in the community [16,17]. Thus, we included educators, including teachers and administrators. We also included

XSL•F() RenderX

professionals typically involved in cyberbullying prevention and identification or intervention: health professionals, such as physicians, nurses, social workers, researchers and counselors, and professionals involved in law and policy, including attorneys. Additional eligibility criteria included English speaking. Concept mapping studies typically use qualitative-sized samples of approximately 50 to 80 participants in total [9], often with higher numbers of participants at the data generation and interpretation steps (brainstorming and interpretation steps). As we had several stakeholder groups involved in this study, we planned to include a larger number of participants to ensure we achieved stakeholder representation across each concept mapping step and across the number of groups involved in this study [11]. All participants were recruited through purposeful sampling from academic and community organizations between March 2013 and December 2015. Purposeful sampling included contacting local schools, parent organizations, and universities to identity participants. Each adult participant gave written consent for participation; parental consent and adolescent assent were obtained for youth participants. Before the start of each data collection, participants completed a survey that included questions about age, gender, race/ethnicity, and role (ie, student, professional, and parent). Participants who completed the survey were provided a US \$5 incentive, and participants who completed all other stages of data collection were provided a US \$20 incentive.

Concept Mapping

The concept mapping methodology was chosen, as it directly involves participants and balances group consensus with individual contribution, as some steps require group participation, whereas others are done individually. The method also allows for the consolidation of key concepts from a broad array of initial data points. A total of 5 steps are involved with the concept map creation process: preparation, generation, structuring, representation, and interpretation [9]. As we wanted to use our concept map to and wanted it to translate to a draft conceptual model, we also added a final step to propose and get feedback on a conceptual model.

Preparation

The goal of preparation was to develop a focus prompt to encourage brainstorming statements from participants in the generation step. The prompt was specifically designed to be an open-ended question that required participants to complete a sentence to achieve consistent phrasing. We developed a focus prompt of "A behavior or characteristic of cyberbullying is...". This prompt was pilot tested with a convenience sample of adolescents, researchers, and health care providers before its use for data collection.

Generation (Brainstorming) Sessions

The goal of the brainstorming step was to generate a list of participant-generated items with sufficient breadth and depth to represent the full spectrum of ideas related to what defines cyberbullying. The concept mapping literature describes 2 approaches to collect brainstorming responses: Web-based survey and focus groups. To develop a brainstorming list with sufficient breadth and depth to inform our concept map, we

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12683/
```

used both approaches. First, individual brainstorming responses were conducted using a secure Web-based survey tool. The goal of the Web-based brainstorming approach was to allow for greater reach in participant sampling among the adult professional population. Second, brainstorming was conducted using a semistructured focus group format. Focus groups allowed for interaction among participants, as well as opportunities for participants to build on each other's thoughts [18]. Each focus group included 5 to 8 participants and lasted between 45 and 90 min. Focus groups with youths were held separately from focus groups with adults. During focus groups, after obtaining consent and providing instructions, the facilitator presented the focus prompt to the group. Participants were initially given 10 min to write individual responses to the prompt on paper. Thereafter, the topic was opened for group discussion toward further idea generation and revision. At the conclusion of the session, all written responses were collected from the participants; any additional ideas that were discussed by the group as a whole were recorded by the facilitator through transcription of the audio recording. All focus groups were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim. A total of 2 investigators reviewed the transcripts to identify items to contribute to the brainstorming list. The brainstorming list was reviewed by 2 investigators to eliminate redundancy, and it was compiled into 1 revised list, representing all ideas and statements generated by the brainstorming step.

Structuring (Sorting) Sessions

The goal of the structuring step was to sort the statements generated in the brainstorming step. To form overarching constructs, this process provides insights into how individual ideas are related. In the sorting step, participants were given a stack of index cards, each of which had a single written item from the revised brainstorming list. Individuals were asked to sort the cards into categories that made sense to them and create a label for each pile. All groups were determined by the participants, each item could be sorted into only 1 group, and every group needed at least 1 item within it.

Representation

The goal of representation was to apply quantitative approaches to analyze the data toward creation of a visual point map representing individual items. Analyses were conducted using the Concept Systems Core software Build 2016.062.11 (Concept Systems Inc) and SAS software version 9.3 (SAS Institute). Sort data were organized into a square symmetric-similarity matrix (SSSM) for each participant. In this process, pairs of brainstorming ideas were tested to determine if they had been grouped together. An overall SSSM was constructed by summing the matrices for all participants. Multidimensional scaling (MDS) of the overall SSSM was used to produce a 2-dimensional point map [19]. The point map represented all items in a 2-dimensional plane; items that were commonly grouped together were closer together on the point map. Items that were rarely or never grouped together were further apart on the point map. Stress index was calculated to assess the fit of the MDS solution to the data. Stress indices ranging from 0.10 to 0.35 indicate acceptable fit for concept mapping, with lower values indicating better fit [9,12]. The cluster map was

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

created by applying hierarchical cluster analysis over the overall SSSM. During this step, the software analyzes the data to perform cluster analysis and MDS to create a visual representation of the ideas in the form of clusters. The analysis process groups the ideas according to the results of the MDS into clusters. Items that were similarly categorized by participants appear closer together on the map than items that were not commonly categorized together. We then reviewed the point map overlaid with a range of clusters generated by the Concept Systems software. The role of the investigators was to use a consensus-driven iterative process to identify the cluster arrangement with the strongest theoretical support. Using the point map, the concept mapping software generates sequential versions of the concept map with a change of 1 cluster per version. The upper bound of the range of cluster arrangements examined was 2 SDs above the mean number of statement groups produced during the sort process. The lower bound of the range of number of clusters was the minimum number of clusters created by any participant. The analysis process included reviewing cluster arrangements sequentially and identifying the optimal cluster solution through an iterative process. Finally, the investigators assigned a label to each cluster on the basis of the theoretical construct described by its constituent statements. Each cluster was initially named by the software on the basis of the ideas generated by participants; names were reviewed and revised for clarity by 3 raters. The draft concept map was reviewed by all investigators to ensure it was qualitatively consistent and logical. Any revisions to the map were based on consensus of the investigators.

Interpretation

The first goal of these sessions was to conduct focus groups to allow participants to view, discuss, and interpret the concept map. The discussion was led by a facilitator and began with an introduction and review of the concept mapping methodology. The steps of the project and the focus prompt were reviewed; thereafter, the preliminary concept map was introduced. Participants were asked to discuss cluster groupings and labels, as well as to explore the overall structure of the map. Each group was asked ways in which the map represented the definition of cyberbullying and the ways it could be improved. After concluding focus groups, the data were transcribed verbatim and evaluated by 2 investigators. All focus groups were analyzed for comments reinforcing elements of the concept map, as well as suggesting edits to the map. A total of 2 investigators identified areas of consensus and used these to modify the concept map. If consensus was not reached via 2 investigators, a third was asked to review data and determine a decision on whether to modify the concept map. Following finalization of the concept map, the investigators then identified feedback specific to a conceptual model. The draft conceptual model was developed on the basis of feedback from participants in the interpretation groups. Similar to the abovementioned, 2 investigators identified areas of consensus and used these to modify the model. If consensus was not reached via 2 investigators, a third was asked to review data and determine a decision.

Translation to a Conceptual Model

We concluded focus groups in the interpretation step by asking about the transition to a conceptual model. We wanted to ensure the conceptual model was representative of the concept map and get input on the transition to such a model. Using a draft conceptual model, we then conducted a final series of key informant interviews to obtain feedback on both the concept map and the conceptual model to ensure alignment. These interviews were also recorded and transcribed verbatim. A total of 2 investigators reviewed transcripts. They identified areas of consensus around elements of the conceptual model and proposed edits to the model to reflect participant feedback.

Results

Participants

A total of 177 participants contributed to the study. A total of 80 participants contributed the generation step; this included 37 Web-based survey participants and 43 focus group participants across 6 groups. In the structuring session, 26 participants completed sort activities. In the interpretation step, a total of 71 participants contributed to a focus group or key informant interview. Youth had an average age of 17 (SD 2.25), and adults had an average age of 43 (SD 12.9). There were 50% of adults over age 21; adult professionals included 24% health professionals, 22% clinical researchers, 12% educators, and 2% attorneys. Table 1 provides demographic information of our participants across the concept mapping process.



Moreno et al

Table 1. Participant demographics across steps of the concept mapping process.

Demographics of participants across concept mapping steps	Step 2: Brain- storming <i>focus</i> groups (n=43)	Step 2: Brain- storming <i>surveys</i> (n=37)	Step 3: Sorting activity (n=26)	Step 5: Interpreta- tion <i>focus groups</i> (n=63)	Translation to con- ceptual model <i>key</i> <i>informant interviews</i> (n=8)	Total
Gender, n (%)	·				•	
Female	34 (79)	32 (86)	17 (65)	34 (54)	5 (62.5)	122 (69)
Male	8 (19)	5 (14)	8 (31)	29 (46)	3 (37.5)	53 (30)
Unknown	1 (2)	0 (0)	1 (4)	0 (0)	0 (0)	2 (1)
Age, n (%)						
Adults over 21 years of age	5 (12)	35 (95)	19 (73)	21 (33)	8 (100)	88 (50)
Youth aged 21 and under	21 (49)	0 (0)	6 (23)	37 (59)	0 (0)	64 (36)
Age unknown	17 (40)	2 (5)	1 (4)	5 (8)	0 (0)	25 (14)
Race/ethnicity, n (%)						
Black/African American	3 (7)	2 (5)	2 (8)	4 (6)	1 (12)	12 (7)
Asian/Pacific Islander	1 (2)	8 (22)	2 (8)	11 (17)	0 (0)	22 (12)
Caucasian	31 (72)	25 (68)	20 (77)	40 (64)	5 (64)	121 (68)
Hispanic/Latino	2 (5)	1 (3)	1 (4)	2 (3)	1 (12)	7 (4)
Native American	3 (7)	0 (0)	0 (0)	4 (6)	0 (0)	7 (4)
Mixed race	1 (2)	0 (0)	0 (0)	3 (4)	1 (12)	4 (2)
Other/unknown	2 (5)	1 (3)	1 (4)	0 (0)	0 (0)	4 (2)
Role, n (%)						
Student	22 (51)	1 (3)	5 (19)	28 (44)	0 (0)	56 (32)
Health professional	13 (30)	8 (22)	1 (4)	15 (24)	2 (25)	39 (22)
Educator/teacher	3 (7)	1 (3)	5 (19)	0 (0)	0 (0)	9 (5)
Administrator/librarian	0 (0)	9 (24)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	9 (5)
Researcher	0 (0)	13 (35)	6 (23)	14 (27)	6 (75)	40 (24)
Social worker	0 (0)	2 (5)	0 (0)	1 (2)	0 (0)	3 (2)
Counselor	0 (0)	3 (8)	1 (4)	1 (2)	0 (0)	5 (3)
Law professional	0 (0)	(0)	3 (12)	0 (0)	0 (0)	3 (2)
Other/unknown	5 (12)	0 (0)	5 (19)	3 (3)	0 (0)	13 (7)
Parent/nonparent, n (%)						
Parent	4 (9)	0 (0)	13 (50)	7 (12)	2 (25)	26 (15)
Nonparent	0 (0)	0 (0)	11 (42)	52 (83)	6 (75)	63 (35)
Unknown	39 (91)	37 (100)	2 (8)	10 (0)	0 (0)	88 (50)

Step 2: Generation

Step 4: Representation

A total of 311 statements were produced during the generation step of data collection. Refining the statement list led to removing of duplicate statements (n=18) and merging of similar statements (n=65). The final list of brainstorming statements included 228 unique aspects of cyberbullying.

Step 3: Structuring

During the sorting procedure, participants sorted the statements into individual groups, the number of groups ranged between 4 and 30 individual groups (mean 12.9, SD 6.1, median 11).

The stress value for the fit of the MDS solution to the structuring data was 0.3 for the 9 cluster solution, indicating adequate fit. Overall, the 9 cluster solution presented in Figure 1 was found to represent the best fit for the data after assessing a total of 10 unique cluster solutions, ranging between 2 and 12 clusters. The 9 clusters depicted on the Cyberbullying Concept Map are described in Table 2.

XSL•FO

Figure 1. Cyberbullying concept map developed by stakeholders including adolescents and young adults, parents, community members such as educators, clinicians and attorneys. Each number represents a single item proposed by participants, and the clusters represents how participants sorted items into groups of alike concepts.



Table 2. Cyberbullying concept map clusters.

Cluster number	Proposed name	Example items
1	Characteristics of perpetrators and targets	Lack of empathy, afraid to go back to school, and "small minds"
2	Consequences for perpetrators and targets	Alienating, crippling, and devastating
3	Characteristics of the bullying experience	Aggressive, intent to harm, disrespect, and hostile
4 and 8	Bullying techniques	Ostracize, antagonize, and "mean girls"
5	Characteristics of the cyberbullying experience	Anonymous, constant, and perceived lack of consequences
6	Cyberbullying techniques	Making unwanted posts go viral, excessive messaging
7	Cyberbullying cases	Sending rude messages from someone else's account to get people mad at the person
9	Perceived vulnerabilities	Negative statements about clothes, family situation, intelligence, social status, appearance, and sexuality

Step 5: Interpretation

The interpretation step first involved reviewing the concept map and discussing participant perceptions of that map. Discussions by participants consistently centered on how to describe cyberbullying as a phenomenon that was perceived as both similar to and distinct from traditional bullying. Common topics of discussion included that many characteristics and motivations for bullying were considered to be similar and sometimes identical for both cyberbullying and traditional bullying. However, participants felt strongly that there were unique aspects to cyberbullying, including novel methods or situations in which bullying could arise, as well as providing new tools for bullying perpetrators. For example, participants described

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12683/
```

RenderX

that a unique aspect of cyberbullying was that cyberbullying situations could arise from innocuous comments on the Web that are taken out of context or jokes that go too far. These messages can be virally spread, such that they then represent bullying. As an example, an adolescent described how compliments posted on the Web can be twisted to become "backlash compliments, like oh your hair looks *great* [emphasis added]." The adolescent further described that these sarcastic comments were more likely to be "liked" or "shared," allowing them to be seen and disseminated by others. Another example described by a parent was learning that her son's school was having a Web-based "draft," described as follows: "they are actually, like, doing a draft, a first round draft, about which girls they want to take to the prom and ranking them, it is all done

online." It was described that this scenario may not be considered a traditional bullying situation but that it could have similar negative impacts on youth who were the targets. In these scenarios, the initial communication or situation may not have been unwanted or aggressively hurtful, but the situation could devolve into bullying because of the format of Web-based communication. Another area in which participants noted unique aspects of cyberbullying was how the Web-based environment provides tools so that a target of bullying can "turn the tables" to become a perpetrator. A quote from an adolescent described the following:

...cause when you're in person you can see the physical build of the person and if they're bigger than you, you don't usually want to pick a fight with them. But on the internet, it's just a screen in front of you with a username and they're all the same that way.

This quote describes participants' views of how a target of bullying can achieve power by using a "screen in front of you" to bully his/her perpetrator. Participants frequently discussed their perceptions of heightened fluidity of the roles of perpetrator and target in cyberbullying situations. The interconnectedness of traditional in-person bullying and cyberbullying was also a common topic. One example quote from an adolescent described the following:

Umm so the people I know that, or the people that I've known that have been cyberbullied usually they're the targets from like bullying at school and they go and try to pass the pain on the internet to someone else, so it's kind of like a circle going around like that cause they can't like, they're not like, the smaller guy can't beat up the bigger guy, so he goes on the internet and destroys him on the internet, and the bigger guy comes back and destroys the little guy at school, so it's just like a circle between the two.

A notable trend in participant contributions to the topic is that so many spoke from personal experiences with cyberbullying scenarios. Adolescents spoke about situations they or their peers had experienced. Parents often shared situations their children had experienced. A parent described the following:

I wrote down some based on, um, experience one of our daughters had about a year ago. Uh, repeated contacts that were unwanted, so, just continuous contacting, right, um, when not asked for, attempt to push beliefs on to the recipient that are not those of the recipient, uh, profane language if, of course it's

Translation to a Conceptual Model

On the basis of participant input, the conceptual model of cyberbullying included the relationship between cyberbullying and bullying (Figure 2). Key aspects of the conceptual model included the overlap in bullying perpetrators and targets, which includes clusters 1 and 9 from the concept map. Important characteristics of bullying perpetrators suggested by participants included bullying as "a way to deal with insecurities," which was suggested by a teacher. A characteristic of bullying targets nominated by a legal professional was "afraid to go back to school." Within the circle describing bullying targets were specific characteristics that were nominated as denoting particular risk for bullying, including being of racial or sexual minority groups. Some shared characteristics of both perpetrators and targets included "depression risk," suggested by several participants, including adults and adolescents. The conceptual model also included 2 overlapping boxes, with the larger describing characteristics of the bullying experience; these included descriptors, such as disrespectful, mean, and aggressive. Overlapping this box was a smaller box representing unique characteristics of cyberbullying proposed by participants, such as "hides behind screen" (adult, parent). Similarly, a larger box described bullying techniques, including false information, public shaming, or belittling. Overlapping this box was a smaller box representing techniques that were specific to cyberbullying, including "displaying negative images" (adult, health professional) "covering with false names" (adult, social worker), and "virtual clique" (adult, administrator). Nestled within this box was a smaller box in which specific examples of cyberbullying cases were described, including "photo-sharing without consent" (adult, parent). The construct describing consequences to bullying perpetrator and targets was a shared construct. Participants reflected that they did not perceive specific differences between cyberbullying and traditional bullying for this construct. An area of discussion in which there was a lack of consensus was whether the concept map or conceptual model appropriately represented the role of bystanders. A quote from an older adolescent was, "I feel like this entire thing is just focused on the bully and the victim and not just, it's just on them, and not the bystanders." However, other youth discussed viewing cluster 4 on the concept map as adequately representing the role of bystanders.



Figure 2. Conceptual model of cyberbullying and its relationship with bullying. Cluster numbers on the diagram are from cyberbullying concept map in parentheses.



Discussion

Summary

This study used a concept mapping approach to gain insights and perspectives from stakeholders toward a concept map and a stakeholder-driven conceptual model of cyberbullying. During the brainstorming step, stakeholders generated a diverse and expansive list of statements describing cyberbullying. The sorting procedure yielded a robust concept map of 9 clusters that comprised characteristics of the people involved, actions, and consequences that define bullying and cyberbullying. After our concept mapping process, we utilized stakeholder insights to develop a conceptual model that illustrates areas in which cyberbullying is similar to and unique from traditional bullying. This conceptual model represents participants' perception of cyberbullying and suggests that cyberbullying can be best understood within the context of all bullying behavior, with recognition of the unique challenges it presents.

Principal Findings

A major finding of this study is the several ways in which bullying and cyberbullying were aligned. This finding is aligned with emerging literature supporting strong connections between bullying and cyberbullying. Recently studies have illustrated that individuals involved in bullying often experience different types of bullying within a given situation, which may include

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12683/
```

RenderX

verbal, physical, and cyber experiences [18,20]. Similarly, we found that a key area of overlap between cyberbullying and traditional bullying includes characteristics of the individuals involved. This study's participants described characteristics of both bullying perpetrators and targets that applied to traditional bullying and cyberbullying, including describing bullying as a way to address insecurities. Participants emphasized the fluidity of roles between perpetrator and targets for both cyberbullying and bullying. They noted that an adolescent's ability to engage in cyberbullying would not be limited by physical or social power; thus, cyberbullying may augment the fluidity of roles between perpetrator and target. This fluidity in roles is supported by Olweus' descriptions of "the bullying circle" in which targets may become perpetrators (and vice versa) depending on situations and circumstances [21]. The Uniform Definition of bullying describes that bullying behavior involves an actual or perceived power imbalance. In this study, the fluidity in roles of perpetrator and target does not seem to represent a shift in the actual power of the individual, but it could represent power derived from the tool that is used to bully: the internet. Another area of similarity between cyberbullying and traditional bullying was that the consequences of both were described in a single construct in the interpretation diagram. This single construct implies that our diverse stakeholders, including educators, legal experts, health professionals, as well as teens themselves, perceive that significant and similar negative consequences

result from both cyberbullying and traditional bullying. A second critical finding is the areas in which stakeholders elucidated their perceptions of differences between cyberbullying and traditional bullying. These included characteristics of the bullying experience, including the capacity for anonymity by "hiding behind screens" in cyberbullying. The role of anonymity in cyberbullying has been noted in previous studies [2]. However, traditional bullying is not without the capacity for anonymous actions, including sending threatening notes anonymously or damaging property secretly. Even so, the perceptions of participants about anonymous bullying via the internet was a topic of concern and even alarm for many participants. Finally, the concept map and accompanying conceptual model serve as data-driven visual representations of the complexity of bullying. This complexity is illustrated in our concept map, and it includes shared characteristics among perpetrators and targets, a variety of tools and approaches to consider, and negative consequences for both actors. Our findings support a need for research that considers mechanisms or processes that can explain how an individual may experience bullying and its consequences differently, depending on the context of that bullying event or situation. A "person by situation by context" interaction has been applied to research in other areas, and the recent National Academies of Science, Engineering, and Medicine report supports integration of these frameworks into research on bullying [21]. This study's findings provide a conceptual model to understand an individual's journey through these experiences, but further work is needed to understand how context plays a role in determining outcomes of a bullying event or experience.

Limitations

Several limitations to this study should be considered. Traditional concept mapping methodology provides guidelines for small numbers of participants at each stage. To provide additional depth to this process, we included a larger number of participants than is typically involved in concept mapping to represent the various stakeholders who are involved in cyberbullying. As we used a purposeful sample, this study's participants are not generalizable, and they may have had similar perspectives. However, this study's findings that many participants provided insights and quotations from direct experience with cyberbullying support our purposeful sampling approach to engage a stakeholder involved in cyberbullying situations. Furthermore, the majority of data collection was focused in 1 geographic location. This study focused on cyberbullying applied to adolescents; we did not specifically target or include cyberbullying as applied to children or adults. Further work should investigate whether findings may generalize to young-adult age groups, in which cyberbullying has been shown to be common [22,23]. Finally, we modified the traditional concept mapping approach by adding a translation to the conceptual model step using key informant interviews. This step adds value to this study's outcomes, but this is by definition outside the typical 5-step concept mapping process.

Implications

Despite these limitations, this study has important implications in illustrating the key factors that define cyberbullying from the perspectives of stakeholders. The conceptual model developed in this project illustrates what key factors have been internalized by stakeholders both through direct experience and through exposure to sources, such as schools, media, and patients. The arrangement of concepts in our conceptual model suggests that cyberbullying cannot be considered a distinct entity from bullying, which is supported by the recent National Academies report [21]. However, stakeholders perceive that there are aspects of cyberbullying that support it as more than just another bullying context. Although the Uniform Definition of bullying was created to apply to bullying across all types and contexts, this study illustrates that there is still a strong public perception that cyberbullying presents distinct opportunities and challenges compared with traditional constructs of bullying. To unify efforts to prevent and intervene with bullying, as well as to measure and assess it over time, future work must address these stakeholder perceptions. To promote acceptance and uptake of the Uniform Definition of bullying among stakeholders, it is possible that the definition would benefit from evaluation for the context of cyberbullying or consideration toward adding language to clarify its application to cyberbullying. This study's findings suggest that clarifications to the Uniform Definition may include acknowledgment that power imbalance may be created by tools such as the internet rather than cyberbullying being solely considered as a preexisting condition within a perpetrator. As the Uniform Definition is meant to be used by educators, policy makers, and researchers in the realms of both traditional bullying and cyberbullying, it is important to ensure consistency in interpretation and application of this definition across these stakeholder groups. Implications for policy include providing clarity and consistency in language when measuring bullying and in policies that address bullying. Assessment tools may need to clarify whether questions about bullying behavior include cyberbullying, and they may need to use consistent terms and language to ensure responses are valid across populations and over time. Furthermore, most states currently have separate policies for addressing bullying and cyberbullying, which may contribute to public perceptions that these represent separate entities [21]. This study's findings support that integration of these concepts is supported by the overlap in key concepts. Implications for health providers working with teens and their parents include understanding that assessments for bullying need to address both traditional bullying and cyberbullying. Asking questions in a clinic that encompass both experiences or are open ended-such as "have you ever had any experiences with bullying?-may promote open discussion about the different types of bullying or different roles a teen may have played. Furthermore, providers can acknowledge that experiencing either or both types of bullying is common and consequential. Fortunately, newer studies suggest that interventions designed to address cyberbullying also affect bullying, further illustrating the strong connection across bullying behavior [20,24].

Conclusions

In conclusion, findings support that cyberbullying is best understood in the broader context of bullying, but findings also support that stakeholder perceptions about the uniqueness of cyberbullying are strong. Bullying presents a complex set of

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```
JMIR PEDIATRICS AND PARENTING

behavior within roles that may be fluid and may lead to negative consequences for both perpetrators and targets. Findings may be applied toward achieving greater consistency in our definitions, assessments, and policies regarding bullying, and findings may be applied toward working toward a shared understanding of key concepts in bullying with stakeholders who are in the field, addressing bullying with teens and their parents as part of their everyday jobs.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the stakeholders for their contributions to the study. This study was funded by the National Institute of Justice, grant 2013-IJ-CX-0051.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2015 May 29. Youth Risk Behavior Survey URL: <u>http://www.cdc.org/yrbs</u> [accessed 2019-05-31] [WebCite Cache ID 78mq4ZNcA]
- 2. Patchin J, Hinduja S. Bullies move beyond the schoolyard a preliminary look at cyberbullying. Youth Violence Juv Justice 2006;4(2):148-169 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1541204006286288]
- Ybarra M, Mitchell K, Wolak J, Finkelhor D. Examining characteristics and associated distress related to internet harassment: findings from the Second Youth Internet Safety Survey. Pediatrics 2006 Oct;118(4):e1169-e1177. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2006-0815] [Medline: 17015505]
- 4. Slonje R, Smith PK. Cyberbullying: another main type of bullying? Scand J Psychol 2008 Apr;49(2):147-154. [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9450.2007.00611.x] [Medline: 18352984]
- 5. Hinduja S, Patchin J. Cyberbullying: neither an epidemic nor a rarity. Eur J Dev Psychol 2012;9(5):539-553 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/17405629.2012.706448]
- Turner H, Finkelhor D, Hamby SL, Shattuck A, Ormrod RK. Specifying type and location of peer victimization in a national sample of children and youth. J Youth Adolesc 2011 Aug;40(8):1052-1067. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10964-011-9639-5</u>] [Medline: 21373905]
- Bradshaw C, Waasdorp T, Johnson S. Overlapping verbal, relational, physical, and electronic forms of bullying in adolescence: influence of school context. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol 2015;44(3):494-508. [doi: <u>10.1080/15374416.2014.893516</u>] [Medline: <u>24738548</u>]
- 8. Kota R, Shoohs S, Moreno M. Characterizing cyberbullying among college students: hacking, dirty laundry, and mocking. Societies 2014;4(4):549-560. [doi: 10.3390/soc4040549]
- 9. Trochim W. An introduction to concept mapping for planning and evaluation. Eval Program Plann 1989;12(1):1-16. [doi: 10.1016/0149-7189(89)90016-5]
- 10. Trochim WM, Cook JA, Setze RJ. Using concept mapping to develop a conceptual framework of staff's views of a supported employment program for individuals with severe mental illness. J Consult Clin Psychol 1994 Aug;62(4):766-775. [Medline: 7962880]
- 11. Trochim W, Kane M. Concept mapping: an introduction to structured conceptualization in health care. Int J Qual Health Care 2005 Jun;17(3):187-191. [doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzi038] [Medline: 15872026]
- 12. Shern D, Trochim W, LaComb CA. The use of concept mapping for assessing fidelity of model transfer: an example from psychiatric rehabilitation. Eval Prog Plann 1995 Apr;18(2):143-153. [doi: 10.1016/0149-7189(95)00005-V]
- O'Campo P, Burke J, Peak GL, McDonnell KA, Gielen AC. Uncovering neighbourhood influences on intimate partner violence using concept mapping. J Epidemiol Community Health 2005 Jul;59(7):603-608 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jech.2004.027227] [Medline: 15965146]
- Bayer AM, Cabrera LZ, Gilman RH, Hindin MJ, Tsui AO. Adolescents can know best: using concept mapping to identify factors and pathways driving adolescent sexuality in Lima, Peru. Soc Sci Med 2010 Jun;70(12):2085-2095 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.03.001] [Medline: 20382462]
- Burke JG, O'Campo P, Peak GL, Gielen AC, McDonnell KA, Trochim WM. An introduction to concept mapping as a participatory public health research method. Qual Health Res 2005 Dec;15(10):1392-1410. [doi: 10.1177/1049732305278876] [Medline: 16263919]
- 16. Landstedt E, Persson S. Bullying, cyberbullying, and mental health in young people. Scand J Public Health 2014 Jun;42(4):393-399. [doi: 10.1177/1403494814525004] [Medline: 24608094]
- 17. Lenhart A. Cyberbullying and Online Teens. Washington, DC: Pew Internet and American Life Project; 2007. URL: <u>https://www.pewinternet.org/</u> [accessed 2019-05-31] [WebCite Cache ID 78mp6iQ2L]

RenderX

JMIR PEDIATRICS AND PARENTING

- Wang J, Iannotti RJ, Nansel TR. School bullying among adolescents in the United States: physical, verbal, relational, and cyber. J Adolesc Health 2009 Oct;45(4):368-375 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.03.021] [Medline: 19766941]
- 19. Olweus D. Peer harassment: A critical analysis and some important issues. In: Peer Harassment in School: The Plight of the Vulnerable and Victimized. New York: Guilford Press; 2001:3-20.
- 20. Waasdorp T, Bradshaw C. The overlap between cyberbullying and traditional bullying. J Adolesc Health 2015 May;56(5):483-488. [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.12.002] [Medline: 25631040]
- 21. National Academy of Sciences. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2016. Preventing Bullying Science, Policy, Practice URL: <u>https://www.nap.edu/catalog/23482/preventing-bullying-through-science-policy-and-practice</u> [accessed 2019-05-31] [WebCite Cache ID 78mqXD7xL]
- 22. MacDonald C, Roberts-Pittman B. Cyberbullying among college students: prevalence and demographic differences. Soc Behav Sci 2010;9:2003-2009. [doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.12.436]
- 23. Molluzzo J, Lawler C. A study of the perceptions of college students on cyberbullying. Inf Syst Edu J 2012;10(4):84 [FREE Full text]
- 24. Palladino B, Nocentini A, Menesini E. Evidence-based intervention against bullying and cyberbullying: evaluation of the NoTrap! program in two independent trials. Aggress Behav 2016;42(2):194-206. [doi: <u>10.1002/ab.21636</u>] [Medline: <u>26879897</u>]

Abbreviations

CDC: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention **MDS:** multidimensional scaling **SSSM:** square symmetric-similarity matrix

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 06.11.18; peer-reviewed by M DeJonckheere, S Sethi; comments to author 21.02.19; revised version received 17.03.19; accepted 10.05.19; published 28.06.19.

Please cite as:

Moreno MA, Midamba N, Berman HS, Moreno PS, Donlin M, Schlocker E Cyberbullying Among Adolescents: Stakeholder-Driven Concept Mapping Approach JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019;2(1):e12683 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2019/1/e12683/</u> doi:10.2196/12683 PMID:<u>31518321</u>

©Megan Andreas Moreno, Nikita Midamba, Henry S Berman, Peter S Moreno, Mike Donlin, Erik Schlocker. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 28.06.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

